# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Megan Lee Mickum

4/06/2016

# Discovery and synthesis of immunogenic glycan antigens from Schistosoma mansoni

By

Megan Lee Mickum

Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

> Richard D. Cummings, Ph.D. Advisor

> > Eric Ortlund, Ph.D. Committee Member

> > Bruce Levin, Ph.D. Committee Member

Tracey Lamb, Ph.D. Committee Member

Max Cooper, M.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

# Discovery and synthesis of immunogentic glycan antigens from *Schistosoma* mansoni

By

Megan Lee Mickum B.S., Texas A&M University, 2010

Advisor: Richard D. Cummings, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

2016

## Abstract

# Discovery and synthesis of immunogenic glycan antigens from Schistosoma mansoni

By

## Megan Lee Mickum

Glycans are pervasive at the host-pathogen interface, both as stimulators of innate immunity and targets of adaptive immunity for a multitude of pathogens including parasitic helminthes. In the case of schistosomiasis, a disease caused by infection with trematodes of the Schistosoma species, glycans play a prominent role the modulation of the host immune system and humoral responses. Glycan structures on schistosome glycoconjugates have gained increasing attention as alternative vaccine and serodiagnostic targets, and a deeper understanding of worm glycans could potentially ignite innovative new strategies for lessening the mortality and morbidity caused by these parasites. A major limitation in the study of the immunogenicity and biological functions of schistosome glycans has been the lack of adequate quantities of the parasite glycans as well as the lack of specific tools needed for identification and study of immune relevant glycans. We sought to generate high affinity and specific IgG monoclonal antibodies to schistosome glycans to facilitate the purification and tracking of immunogenic parasite glycans, and developed a natural N-glycan microarray from S. mansoni egg glycoproteins to identify specific antigenic epitopes within the egg glycome which are the targets of adaptive immunity in infected hosts. We then began to "decipher the schistosome glycogenome" by utilizing genomics technologies to develop a semi-synthetic approach for heterologous expression of schistosome glycosyltransferases to generate significant glycan structures. These studies demonstrated the importance of the unique linkages and high levels of fucosylation found in complex schistosome glycans, the success of shotgun glycomics to elucidate host immune targets, and the extremely complex and still enigmatic specificity and functionality of the glycosyltransferase families responsible for the generation of the worm glycome. This work should encourage and support future studies on *Schistosoma's* uniquely fucosylated glycans to elucidate their role in worm biology, explore their feasibility as immune targets, and facilitate the development of novel diagnostic approaches and glycoconjugate vaccine platforms.

# Discovery and synthesis of immunogenic glycan antigens from Schistosoma mansoni

By

Megan Lee Mickum B.S., Texas A&M University, 2010

Advisor: Richard D. Cummings, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

2016

#### Acknowledgements

First, I want to thank my mentor, Dr. Richard Cummings. Dr. Cummings' enthusiasm for science is certainly infectious and has always been an amazing source of inspiration for me. Some of my fondest memories include Dr. Cummings wandering through the lab and sharing stories from his days at the bench to whomever was around and eager to listen. I am truly thankful for his support and guidance throughout graduate school. I would also like to thank the members of my dissertation committee, Dr. Bruce Levin, Dr. Tracey Lamb, Dr. Eric Ortlund, and Dr. Max Cooper for all their insights and encouragement during the course of my studies. Many of your comments during my committee meetings helped me to propel the research forward in new and exciting directions. A special thanks to Dr. Alex Escobar for his mentorship in teaching and helping guide me towards a career in education.

To everyone in the Cummings lab (past and present), thank you all for making the lab a fun place to come to work every day. It has been a delight to spend my days (and sometimes nights) with you all and I've greatly missed everyone since to move to Boston. I know you are all doing amazing things and Harvard is lucky to have you. Special thanks to Nina, Jamie, and Kris for being wonderful members of Team Schisto, who never let me get too discouraged and always had a helpful suggestion or experiment to try. And to Sandy, for always lending an ear and a smile when I needed it. I'm not sure you realize how much we all adore you.

To all the friends I've made in graduate school, your support has been instrumental. I will always cherish our dinner nights, seminar text conversations, and adventures in the North Georgia Mountains, the lake, and vegan eating. The memories we created and the friendships we found in each other are like no other. Y'all rock, and are officially honorary Aunts and Uncles to Mini-Mickum.

To my family, there are not enough words to express how much your love and support have meant to me during graduate school. Thank you for listening to me when I complain about my experiments not working or why I couldn't repeat something important. Mom and Dad, since day one you encouraged me, kindled my passion for science, and impressed upon me the value of hard work and education. To my sister Clare, thank you for surviving graduate school and showing me it can be done. Thank you for always knowing how to help after a long day/week/month in the lab, and for always lending me a listening ear after my failures or successes. And to the most important person, my husband Spencer- Your love, support, and encouragement has kept me going, especially through this difficult last year. You may not have always understood exactly what I was working on, but you never failed to tell me that I could accomplish anything. I genuinely don't think I could have done this without you. Thanks for always reminding me what was waiting for us at the end of the tunnel. I love you more than you could know. I like to think that if we can make it through doctorate degrees at the same time, we can do just about anything. Lastly, to our son- It will be many years before you know this, but you were with me as I diligently completed this dissertation. That one kick really helped when I was stuck on part of my discussion, so thanks for that. I can't wait to meet you, kiddo.

# **Table of Contents**

Distribution A	greement	i
Abstract		.iv
Acknowledger	nents	. vi
Table of Conte	ents	viii
List of Figures		xiii
List of Tables		xv
Abbreviation I	_ist	xvi
Chapter 1.	Introduction	1
1.1 Glob	al state of schistosomiasis	1
1.1.1	Burden of helminth disease	1
1.1.2	Schistosoma life cycle	2
1.1.3	Clinical manifestations	3
1.1.4	Diagnostics	4
1.1.5	Current treatment and control measures	5
1.2 Impo	ortance of schistosome glycoconjugates	6
1.2.1	Structural features of helminthic glycans	7
1.2.2	Parasitic glycan gimmickry	12
1.2.3	Immune modulation	12
1.2.4	Innate immune responses to schistosome glycans	13
1.2.5	Adaptive immune responses to schistosome glycans	18
1.2.6	Glycans interactions with intermediate hosts	.25
1.3 Glyc	otechnologies and approaches	. 27
1.3.1	Glycan synthesis and glycoconjugate production	. 27
1.3.2	Glycan microarrays	. 28
1.3.3	Limitations in glycan research and historical approaches	. 30
1.3.4	A genomic approach	31
1.4 Schi	stosome glycan biosynthesis pathways	35
1.4.1	N-glycans	37
1.4.2	O-glycans	38
1.4.3	Glycolipids	. 39
1.4.4	GPI-anchored glycoproteins	40
1.4.5	Glycosaminoglycans and proteoglycans	41

1.4.	6 Terminal motifs
1.5	Project aims
Chapter 2	2. IgG monoclonal antibody F2D2 binds the difucosylated FLDNF glycan epitope 52
2.1	Introduction
2.2	Materials and Methods 55
2.2.	1 Materials
2.2.	2 Parasites
2.2.	3 Production of Hybridoma
2.2.	4 Propagation of Hybridoma Cells in Serum Free Media 57
2.2.	5 Purification of Secreted mAb F2D2 by MEP HyperCel
2.2.	6 Preparation of Neoglycoproteins
2.2.	7 Preparation of soluble egg extracts and other detergent extracts
2.2.	8 Preparation of Cross-Reactive Proteins
2.2.	9 Preparation of Snail Hemolymph
2.2.	10 ELISA of Proteins and Nepglycoconjugates
2.2.	11 ELISA of Periodate/Borohydride Treated Antigens
2.2.	12 ELISA in the Presence of Free Haptenic Sugars
2.2.	13 Glycosidase Treatments
2.2.	14 SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis
2.2.	15 Periodate/Borohydride Treatment and Western Blot Analysis
2.2.	16 Beta-Elimination and Western Blotting
2.2.	17 Enzymatic Release and Labeling of N-glycans from KLH
2.2.	18 Immobilization of monoclonal antibody F2D2 to Ultralink hydrazine biosupport 67
2.2. Ultr	19 Affinity Purification of PNGase F Released AEAB-labeled KLH Glycans on F2D2- alink Column
2.2.	20 Mass Spectrometry Analysis of KLH Glycans
2.3	Results
2.3. SEA	
2.3.	2 Purification and Characterization of mAb F2D271
2.3. Bior	F2D2 binds to glycan epitopes from keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and mphalaria glabrata hemolymph (BGH)
2.3.	4 Fucose is a major determinant of the mAb F2D2-binding epitope
2.3. from	5 The glycan epitope bound by mAb F2D2 is present on N-glycans of glycoproteins n SEA, KLH AND BGH77
2.3.	6 β-elimination of SEA, KLH and BGH

2.3. AE	7 Identification of the structure of the glycan epitope bound by mAb F2D2 using AB-labeled KLH derived glycans
2.4	Discussion
2.5	Acknowledgments
Chapter glycan m	3. Identification of antigenic glycans from <i>Schistosoma mansoni</i> using a shotgun egg nicroarray
3.1	Introduction
3.2	Materials and Methods
3.2.	1 Materials
3.2.	2 Isolation of Schistosoma mansoni Eggs and Life Stages
3.2.	3 Infected Sera
3.2.	4 Schistosome Egg Glycan Isolation and Labeling
3.2. Ana	5 Separation of AEAB-labeled Glycans (GAEABs) by HPLC and Mass Spectrometry alysis
3.2.	.6 Array printing, Binding Assays, and Scanning
3.2.	7 Parasite Lysates, SDS-Page, and Western blots
3.2.	8 Immunofluorescence Imaging
3.2.	9 Schistosomula Killing Assay
3.3	Results
3.3.	1 Preparation of N-glycans from Schistosoma mansoni Eggs 100
3.3.	2 Identification of Antigenic Egg N-glycan Fractions for Further Purification 105
3.3. N-g	3 Preparation and Characterization of the 2-Dimensional Schistosome Egg Shotgun glycan Microarray (2D-SSGM)
3.3. mai	4 Anti-FLDNF Antibody Shares Common Binding Pattern with Sera from S. nsoni-infected Animals and Humans on 2D-SSGM
3.3.	5 FLNDF Epitope is Expressed on S. mansoni Intramammalian Life Stages 113
3.3.	.6 F2D2 Kills Schistosomula in vitro
3.3. Seq	7 Proposed Structures for Antisera Glycan Targets using Metadata-Assisted Glycan uencing (MAGS)
3.4	Discussion
3.5	Acknowledgements
Chapter	4. Schistosoma mansoni α1,3-Fucosyltransferase-F Generates the Lewis X Antigen . 132
4.1	Introduction
4.2	Materials and Methods
4.2.	1 Materials
4.2.	2 Cloning of S. mansoni FuT-F

4.2.3	Expression of smFuT-F-pGen2 in HEK Freestyle Cells	. 136
4.2.4	SDS-Page and Western Blot of smFuT-F-GFP Expression	136
4.2.5	Purification of Recombinant smFuT-F-GFP	137
4.2.6	Glycan AEAB Labeling and Purification	137
4.2.7	Fucosyltransferase Assays	138
4.2.8	Mass Spectrometry of FuT Products	139
4.2.9	Glycobead Assay	139
4.2.10	Schistosoma Life Stages	140
4.2.11	Quantitative RT-PCR of FuT Transcription Levels	. 141
4.3 Rest	ults	143
4.3.1	Identification and cloning of a possible Lewis type fucosyltransferase	143
4.3.2	Expression of smFuT-F-pGen2 generates a recombinant GFP fusion protein	147
4.3.3	smFuT-F-GFP adds fucose to type II glycan chains	149
4.3.4	smFuT-F generates the Lewis X motif	153
4.3.5	Acceptor specificity of smFuT-F-GFP	154
4.3.6	Temperature and cation requirement smFuT-F-GFP	160
4.3.7	Expression of smFuT-F mRNA in various intra-mammalian life stages	. 161
4.4 Disc	cussion	163
4.5 Ack	nowledgements	167
Chapter 5.	Schistosoma mansoni $\beta$ 1,4-GalNAcTransferase generates LacdiNAc glycans.	168
5.1 Intro	oduction	168
5.2 Mat	erials and Methods	. 170
5.2.1	Materials	170
5.2.2	Cloning of S. mansoni βGalNAcT	. 171
5.2.3	Expression of smβGalNAcT-pGen2 in HEK Freestyle Cells	171
5.2.4	Purification of Recombinant smβGalNAcT-GFP	172
5.2.5	SDS-Page and Western Blot of smβGalNAcT-GFP	. 172
5.2.6	Glycan Digestion, AEAB Labeling, and Purification	173
5.2.7	GalNAcT Enzymatic Assay	173
5.2.8	Mass Spectrometry of Glycans	. 174
5.3 Rest	ults	175
5.3.1	Selection of smβ1-4GalNAcT	175
5.3.2	Expression of recombinant smβGalNAcT-GFP	178
5.3.3	smβGalNAcT adds GalNAc to terminal GlcNAc in a β-linkage	179

5.4	Discussion	32
5.5	Acknowledgments	36
Chapter (	6. Discussion	37
6.1	Aim I: Identification of immunogenic glycan antigens and reagent development 18	37
	Aim II: Development of semi-synthetic approach for heterologous expression or syltransferases	
6.3	Future directions	€€
6.4	Conclusions	<del>)</del> 9
Referenc	es	)0

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1.1 The Schistosoma life cycle
Figure 1.2. Interactions of helminth glycans with immune cells and regulatory pathways
Figure 1.3 Generation of a glycan microarray and data output
Figure 1.4. Deciphering the glycogenome and enzymatic reactions of glycoslytranferases
Figure 2.1. Purification and characterization of the binding specificity and isotype of monoclonal antibody F2D2 by ELISA and Western blot
Figure 2.2. Determination of binding specificity of mAb F2D2 towards serologically cross-reactive antigens of schistosomes
Figure 2.3. Identification of the glycan epitopes recognized by mAb F2D2 by hapten inhibition ELISA and glycosidase treatment
Figure 2.4. Western blot analysis of extracts of <i>Schistosoma mansoni</i> , keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and <i>Biomphalaria grablata</i> hemolymph after mock treatment or PNGase F treatment 78
Figure 2.5. F2D2 western blot analysis of extracts after mock treatment or treatment with sodium hydroxide NaOH
Figure 2.6. Mass spectra for F2D2 purified glycans from KLH containing the FLDNF structure. 83
Figure 3.1. Strategy for the preparation of <i>S. mansoni</i> egg glycan microarrays
Figure 3.2. First dimension HPLC separation of S. mansoni egg GAEABs 102
Figure 3.3. <i>S. mansoni</i> egg glycans on 1D microarrays are mostly recognized by fucose and mannose binding lectins
Figure 3.4. A subset of <i>S. mansoni</i> egg glycans from the 1D HPLC microarrays are recognized by antibodies in infected sera from mice, rhesus, and human
Figure 3.5. Separation of <i>S. mansoni</i> egg glycan by 2D HPLC for the 2D-SSGM 108
Figure 3.6. Separation of <i>S. mansoni</i> egg glycans by 2D HPLC reveals lectin and monoclonal antibody binding specificities
Figure 3.7. Infected sera from mice, rhesus, and humans bind <i>S. mansoni</i> egg glycans in a similar pattern to F2D2 antibody
Figure 3.8. The F2D2 antibody target, FLDNF, is expressed on all mammalian life stages and can kill schistosomula <i>in vitro</i>
Figure 3.9. MALDI-TOF MS profiles of the 2D-SSGM fractions: 7-3, 7-4, 7-5, 9-4, and 9-5 116
Figure 3.10. MALDI-TOF MS profiles of the 2D-SSGM fractions: 9-8, 10-4, 10-6, 11-4, and 11- 5
Figure 3.11. MALDI-TOF MS profiles of the 2D-SSGM fractions: 11-6, 13-4, 13-6, 13-7, and 13-8.
Figure 3.12. MALDI-TOF/TOF profile of peak 1926.564 in Fraction F11-5 124
Figure 3.13. MALDI-TOF profile of F2D2 and sera targeted S. mansoni egg glycans 126
Figure 4.1. Selection, cloning, and expression of Schistosoma mansoni FuT-F 147

Figure 4.2. Analysis of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards common Schistosoma terminal motifs. 148
Figure 4.3. MS <sup>n</sup> fragmentation of smFuT-F LNnT pentose product
Figure 4.4 smFuT-F-GFP generates Le <sup>x</sup> antigen and is bound by monoclonal antibody F8A1.1.
Figure 4.5. Characterization of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards sialylated and poly-N-acetyllactosamine acceptors
Figure 4.6. Characterization of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards branched type I and type II acceptors
Figure 4.7. Characterization of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards N-glycans acceptors 159
Figure 4.8. α1,3-fucosyltransferase gene transcription in intra-mammalian <i>Schistosoma mansoni</i> life stages
Figure 5.1 Computational analysis of potential β1-4GalNAcTs
Figure 5.2. Expression of the smβGalNAcT-pGen2 construct in HEK-F cells
Figure 5.3. Activity of smβ1,4-GalNAcT toward glycans acceptors
Figure 5.4 smβGalNAcT adds HexNAcs to glycan acceptors
Figure 5.4. Analysis of the triose product synthesized by smβ1,4-GalNAcT
Figure 6.1. Cellular engineering for the production of specific immunity to schistosome glycan determinants
Figure 6.2. Summary of possible future directions

# List of Tables

Table 1.1 A selection of helminth glycans involved in innate and adaptive immunity	11
Table 1.2. Components of the S. mansoni glycogenome.	36
Table 3.1. Common glycan structures in S. mansoni	90
Table 3.2. Summary of MAGS data for the 2D-SSGM	123
Table 4.1 qPCR Primers for transcription analysis	143
Table 4.2. Activity of smFuT-F-GFP towards selected glycan acceptors	150
Table 4.3. Effect of various assay conditions on smFuT-F activity	161
Table 5.1. Glycan acceptors for smβGalNAcT reactions.	179

# **Abbreviation List**

AA-M $\Phi$  - alternatively activated macrophage

AAL - Aleuria aurantia lectin

AcOH - acetic acid

ADCC - antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity

AEAB - 2-amino-N-(2-aminoethyl)-benzamide

- ALG altered in glycosylation
- $\alpha GAb anti-glycan antibody$

APC - antigen presenting cell

 $asialo-bGP (Na2) - asialolated Bermuda grass pollen (Gal\beta4GlcNAc\beta2Man\alpha3(Gal\beta4GlcNAc\beta2Man\alpha6)Man\beta-4GlcNAc\beta4GlcNAc\beta)$ 

AT - after treatment with praziquantel

BGH - Biomphalaria glabrata hemolymph

BMGP - bovine milk glycoprotein

BPL - Bauhinia purpurea lectin

- BSA bovine serum albumin fraction V
- BS90 BS-90 resistant Biomphalaria glabrata hemolymph
- BT before treatment with praziquantel
- BTH-Bulinus truncatus hemolymph
- CAA circulating anodic antigen
- CCA circulating cathodic antigen
- CDC Centers for Disease Control
- CF N-glycan core  $\alpha$ 3 Fucose (Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3GlcNAc)
- CFG consortium for functional glycomics
- CLR c-type lectin receptor

ConA - concanavalin A

- CS chondroitin sulfate
- CT cholera toxin
- CX N-glycan core xylose (Xylβ1-2GlcNAc)
- CV column volumes
- DALYs disability-adjusted life-years
- DC dendritic cell
- DC-SIGN Dendritic Cell-Specific Intercellular adhesion molecule-3-Grabbing Non-integrin
- deoxyHex deoxy hexose sugar
- $dF-LDN-dF-Fuc\alpha 1-2Fuc\alpha 1-3GalNAc\beta 1-4(Fuc\alpha 1-2Fuc\alpha 1-3)GlcNAc$
- DHB 2,5-Dihydroxybenzoic acid
- DMEM Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
- DMSO dimethyl sulfoxide
- Dol-P dolichol phosphate
- DSA Defined schistosome-type glycan microarray
- ds-Jurkats desialylated jurkat cells
- DTT dithiotreitol
- EDTA ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- EGTA ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
- ELISA enzyme-linked immuno assay
- ESI Electrospray Ionization
- FBS fetal bovine albumin
- FLDN Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc
- $FLDNF-Fuc \alpha 1\text{-}3GalNAc \beta 1\text{-}4(Fuc \alpha 1\text{-}3)GlcNAc$

FREPs - fibrinogen-related proteins

Fuc- fucose

- FuT fucosyltranserase
- GAEAB glycan AEAB conjugate
- GAG glycosaminoglycan

Gal - galactose

- GalT Galatosyl transferase
- GalNAcT N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase
- GalNAc N-acetyl galactosamine
- GBP glycan binding protein
- GlcNAcT N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase
- GlcA glucuronic acid
- GlcNAc N-Acetyl glucosamine
- GFP green fluorescent protein
- GPI glycosylphosphatidylinositol
- GSI-B4 Griffonia simplicifolia lectin I
- GSL-II Griffonia simplicifolia lectin II
- HEK human embryonic kidney cell
- Hex hexose sugar
- HexNAc N-acetylhexoseamine sugar
- HPA Helix pomatia agglutinin
- HPLC high pressure liquid chromatography
- HRP horseradish peroxidase
- HS heparin/heparan sulfate

- IFN- $\gamma$  interferon  $\gamma$
- IL-1 interleukin 1
- IL-10 interleukin 10
- IL-4 interleukin 4
- IL-5 interleukin 5
- IL-6 interleukin 6
- KEGG Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes
- KLH Keyhole limpet hemocyanin
- $LDN-LacdiNAc~(GalNAc\beta1-4GlcNAc)$
- LDN-dF GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4(Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3)GlcNAc
- $LDNF fucosylated LacdiNAc (GalNAc\beta1-4(Fuc\alpha1-3)GlcNAc)$
- $LDNFP-lacdiNAc\ fucopentaose;\ GalNAc\beta 1-4[Fuc\alpha 1-3]GlcNAc\beta 1-3Gal\beta 1-4Glc$
- $LDNT-LacdiNAc\ tetratose;\ GalNAc\beta 1-4GlcNAc\beta 1-3Gal\beta 1-4Glc$
- $Le^{X}$  Lewis X (Gal $\beta$ 1-4(Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3)GlcNAc)
- LN LacNAc, N-acetyllactosamine (Galβ1-4GlcNAc)
- $LNFPIII Lacto-N-fucopentaose III (Gal\beta1-4(Fuc\alpha1-3)GlcNAc\beta1-3Gal\beta1-4Glc)$
- LNnT lacto-N-neo-tetraose (Gal

  β1-4GlcNAc
  β1-3Gal
  β1-4Glc)
- LPS lipopolysaccharide
- LTL- Lotus tetragonolobus lectin
- LTPs larval transformation products
- M3GN2 Man<sub>3</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>
- MAA Maackia amurensis agglutinin
- mAb monoclonal antibody
- Man-mannose

 $Man_5GlcNAc_2 - Man\alpha 6(Man\alpha 3)Man\alpha 6(Man\alpha 3)Man\beta - 4GlcNAc\beta 4GlcNAc\beta$ 

- MAGS metadata-assisted glycan sequencing
- MALDI-TOF Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (time of flight)
- MDA mass drug administration
- MGL macrophage galactose-binding lectin
- MR mannose receptor
- MS mass spectrometry
- MS<sup>n</sup> multistage mass spectrometry
- MW- molecular weight
- $Na2 Gal\beta 4 Glc NAc\beta 2 Man \alpha 3 (Gal\beta 4 Glc NAc\beta 2 Man \alpha 6) Man \beta 4 Glc NAc\beta 4 Glc NAc \beta 4 Glc NA$
- NIH National Institute of Health
- NIAID National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases
- NK natural killer cells
- NMR nuclear magnetic resonance
- PAMPs pathogen-associated molecular patterns
- PBS- phosphate buffer saline
- PGC porous graphitized carbon column
- PHA-L Phaseolus vulgaris agglutinin L
- PHA-E Phaseolus vulgaris agglutinin E
- PNA peanut agglutinin PLA<sub>2</sub>- honeybee phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>
- PNGase A/F N-Glycosidase A/F
- Poly-LN poly-N-acetyllactosamine
- PRRs as pattern-recognition receptors
- PVDF polyvinylidene difluoride

- OPD o-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride
- RACE PCR Rapid amplification of cDNA ends polymerase chain reaction
- RCA-I Ricinus communis agglutinin I
- RFUs relative fluorescence units
- SEA soluble egg extract
- SFM serum free media
- Sjp Schistosoma japonicum protein
- Smp Schistosoma mansoni protein
- SNA Sambucus nigra agglutinin
- SSGM shotgun schistosome glycan microarray
- SWAP soluble worm antigen
- TBS Tris buffered saline
- TFA trifluoroacetic acid
- TGF- $\alpha$  transforming growth factor  $\alpha$
- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TMD transmembrane domain
- Tn O-linked (Ser/Thr)  $\alpha$ -GalNAc
- TNF- $\alpha$  tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$
- UEA-I Ulex europaeus I
- WGA wheat germ agglutinin
- WFA Wisteria floribunda agglutinin
- WHO World Health Organization
- Xyl xylose
- XYLT xylosyltransferase

### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

Large portions of this chapter have been derived from works originally published in Frontiers in Immunology (1) and Frontiers in Genetics (2).

# Megan L. Mickum, Nina S. Prasanphanich, Jamie Heimburg-Molinaro, Kristoffer Leon and Richard D. Cummings

## 1.1 Global state of schistosomiasis

#### 1.1.1 Burden of helminth disease

Helminths are multicellular parasitic worms that comprise a major class of human pathogens. The three classes of helminths – nematodes, trematodes and cestodes - account for half of the WHO-designated "Neglected Tropical Diseases," and infect 1-2 billion of the world's poorest people. Soil-transmitted helminths (gastrointestinal nematodes including *Ascaris, Trichuris, Necator sp.*) and schistosomes (blood-dwelling trematodes) are the most common (3-6). Although great strides have been made through implementation of chemotherapy and improved sanitation, massive amounts of suffering due to helminth infections persist, and to date, no vaccines for helminths or any human parasite exist.

Schistosomiasis, in particular, is a debilitating vascular disease caused by an infection with parasitic helminthes of the *Schistosoma* species. It is a major public health concern in many developing countries with a wide range of clinical manifestations (5,7-9). More than 240 million people are infected and, in sub-Saharan Africa alone, 280,000 people per year die of schistosomiasis (10,11). Like other helminthic infections, these parasitic worms have a complex life cycle that alternates between an intermediate mollusk host and a definitive vertebrate host resulting in significant morbidity and mortality for the infected human or animal. While the mortality rates are lower than diseases like HIV and malaria, some researchers report that the burden of schistosomiasis rivals HIV and malaria in years of life and productive life lost due to disability and/or death (disability adjusted life years, DALYs) (9,12-15). In light of the

socioeconomic impact of this disease in otherwise poverty-stricken areas in over 70 tropical and subtropical countries, schistosomiasis is considered the third most important parasitic disease in terms of public health impact, has been designated a Neglected Tropical Disease, and is a true "societal poverty trap."(3,5,6,13,16).

## 1.1.2 Schistosoma life cycle

Schistosomes are trematodes of the family *Schistosomatidae* with five strains of clinical importance in humans: S. mansoni, S. haematobium, S. japonicum, S. mekongi, and S. intercalatum (8,9,16). As depicted in **Figure 1.1**, schistosomes lead a complex life cycle utilizing a mollusk and mammal host. Schistosoma eggs are shed in the stool from infected mammals and eventually contaminate fresh water sources in regions with poor sanitation. Eggs in river and lake water hatch, producing miracidia, which infect the intermediate snail host. Within the snails the parasites undergo several rounds of asexual reproduction via mother and daughter sporocysts eventually giving rise to cercariae, the infective stage for humans and animals. Cercariae are shed from the headfoot of a snail as a free-swimming body with a bifurcated tail. Their powerful tail and secreted chemicals allow cercariae to burrow through the skin of exposed humans and animals. During this process they lose their tail and are transformed to schistosomula, the larval stage of the worm. This transformation is accompanied with pronounced changes in shape, metabolism, and expression of antigenic glycoconjugates (17-19). The schistosomula migrate into veins, passing through the lung vasculature, and eventually reside in a strain-specific location in the vasculature, where they mature to adulthood. S.mansoni and S. japonicum home to the intestines, with S. mansoni residing in the portal vein draining the large intestine and S. japonicum in the small intestine. S. haematobium live in the urinary bladder plexus. Adult male and female worms pair and lay hundreds of eggs per day. Some eggs pass through the wall of the intestine or bladder and are excreted in the stool or urine to complete the life cycle. Other eggs are fated to move through the blood stream and eventually lodge in organs, such as the liver and spleen (8,10,16,20).



Figure 1.1 The Schistosoma life cycle.

(Adapted from the Division of Parasitic Diseases and Malaria, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and reprinted under Fair Use)

## 1.1.3 Clinical manifestations

The symptoms of schistosomiasis are largely dependent on the infection intensity or egg and worm burden. As a result, the symptoms experienced can range from asymptomatic or mild, to organ damage, cancer, and death in extreme chronic cases. In endemic regions infections manifest with mild symptoms such as anemia, malnutrition, and delayed physical/cognitive development (5,6,21). Non-endemic cases often experience more severe symptoms during the acute phase including fever and chills, termed Katyama fever, accompanied with cercarial dermatitis. Chronic infection arises slowly and is accompanied by pathological changes in affected organs. Symptoms include portal hypertension, hepatosplenomegaly, inflammation and fibrosis of the liver, as well as organ damage from cell-mediated immune responses to granulomas (16,22-24). Morbidity, measured in disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) or years of life and productive life lost due to disability and/or early death, reflects the debilitating impact of chronic infection. Schistosomiasis is responsible for the loss of more than 1.7 million DALYs per year primarily as the result of sever disease resulting in organ damage and hemorrhage (25,26). However, this is probably a vast underestimation considering DALYs fail to account for the social and economic consequences associated with a more mild infection (5,9,13,14).

#### 1.1.4 Diagnostics

Schistosomiasis is routinely diagnosed by the presence of eggs in the stool or urine, depending on the infecting strain. However, eggs are not consistently shed, the severity of infection (worm burden) cannot be accurately determined from egg count, and false negatives are still common. These traditional diagnostic methods are laborious, insufficient to detect low level infection or track variations in worm burden, and eggs of different helminth species endemic in the same area can sometimes be difficult to differentiate (27-30). Commercial ELISA-based detection kits are available for diagnosis of some parasites including malaria (*Plasmodium* species), cryptosporidiosis, and giardia in stool, urine or serum samples. For schistosomiasis and/or infection with *filariasis* and *trichinellosis*, antibody-based tests are available only by special request from the CDC and are not likely to benefit those in endemic areas (31,32). Antibody tests are generally sensitive, but they suffer several drawbacks such as inability to differentiate between active (acute or chronic) and past infections, cross-reactivity among multiple helminth species, and difficulty of performance in the field (30,31). Carbohydrates as diagnostic antigens might be a superior alternative. Recent studies have uncovered this new set of potential diagnostic antigens, found in serum and urine, for schistosomiasis and other helminths. A dipstick test for the schistosome

excreted circulating cathodic antigen (CCA) (**Table 1.1**), whose antigenicity is due to Lewis X ( $Le^{X}$ ) repeats, is now commercially available (33,34). This test is easier to perform in the field, has higher sensitivity than a single Kato-Katz smear, and it can detect prepatent infections in very young children (33,35,36).

#### 1.1.5 Current treatment and control measures

Curative drugs, such as prazequantial, do exist, however their effectiveness is dependent on both the life stage of the worm and the presence of the host's humoral immunity (13,37-40). Tissue-dwelling eggs can be excreted for several weeks after treatment. During the same period juvenile worms, which are not affected by the drug treatment, can mature or newly acquired infections can become productive (13,30,37). The current standard is mass drug administration (MDA) campaigns to treat populations, such as community schools, as opposed to targeting infected individuals. Nevertheless, donations of praziquantel are currently meeting only 5-10% global need for schistosomiasis (4,13), and cessation of drug treatment for even a few years can result in recurrence of high levels of schistosome infection, as if the community had never been treated (13,14,41,42). Other control measures include improved water management, monitoring larval shedding in high risk transmission regions, and focal molluscicide application. Implementation of these control measures are a major challenge, and schistosomiasis is still spreading to new regions (14,43-48). Unfortunately, blanket MDA campaigns do not stop the cycle of reinfection. Coupling MDA with sanitation improvements is a great stride for the control and eventual elimination of this disease, however significant helminth infections persist. In addition to the lack of drug availability, a major concern associated with MDA is the development of worm resistance to praziquantel. Resistant schistosomes can be generated in the lab, and reduced susceptibility to praziquantel has been reported in some human schistosomiasis-endemic areas (49-52). Only one new anti-helminthic, tribendimidine, has become available in the last thirty years (53,54). A vaccine is greatly needed due to the high disease burden, high rates of post-treatment reinfection, and the inability of chemotherapy-based drugs to break the cycle of transmission (55-57).

Development of a vaccine has been a long and fruitless journey. Irradiated, larval schistosomes were the first platform tested, however this approach was impractical for several reasons. There were concerns with radiation dosage, repeated exposure, and vast variation of protection in animal models. Also maintaining a complex life cycle in large scale is incredibly difficult and the danger associated with manufacturing this type of vaccine meant it was not a practical approach (55,58-61). More modern vaccine development has shifted towards recombinant, protein based vaccines. In the 1990s, six Schistosoma mansoni proteins were chosen by the WHO to undergo independent laboratory testing. None of these protein vaccines reached the required effectiveness required to move past animal testing (62,63). Two candidates have more recently reached the clinical phase. Bilhvax (Sh28-GST) has progressed through phase I, II and III trials, however, there has been a more than ten-year delay in publishing the results (64). Several other candidates, including Sm14, may enter clinical trials soon, or are progressing through the preclinical pipeline (57). Other studies have focused on the difficulty of identifying effective targets for helminth vaccines and inducing the proper character of immune response (65-67). In regard to schistosomes, the primary protein targets have been membrane-spanning proteins of the tegument, however these proteins may not accessible to the host immune response due to a dense glycocalyx surrounding the adult worms (67-69).

# 1.2 Importance of schistosome glycoconjugates

It has long been accepted that glycans and glycoconjugates of schistosomes play an essential role in the biology of the parasite, in particular with regard to host-pathogen interactions, however their specific functions remain unclear (7,70-74). Over the past few decades researchers have found that schistosomal glycans are bioactive and can induce innate and adaptive

immunological responses (75-78). Circulating antigens have also proven useful as diagnostics in human and animal hosts (33,35,79,80). A deeper understanding of these glycans and glycoconjugates, and their ability to modulate the immune system, could potentially ignite innovative new strategies for lessening the mortality and morbidity caused by these parasites.

#### 1.2.1 Structural features of helminthic glycans

The surface of the schistosome, as well as secreted and excreted products, are rich in glycans and serve as the main site of parasite-host interactions. The schistosome surface is complex and poorly understood and the expression of surface proteins and glycans is highly variable throughout its life stages (69,81,82). Unlike nematodes, which are protected by a cuticle, schistosomes are covered a syncytial layer of cells called the tegument. The tegument is comprised of secreted lipid-rich membranocalyx and glycan-rich glycocalyx, which includes membrane, secreted glycoconjugates, and associated materials. While the glycocalyx is partially lost upon transformation of cercariae to schistosomula it remains clearly prominent in adult worms (83-86).

Within the surfaces and secretions, parasitic helminths produce of many different glycoproteins, containing complex N- and O-glycans, and glycolipids; a mojority of these glycans are unusual and structurally distinct from host glycans (some are depicted in **Table 1.1**). Helminths, such as *S. mansoni*, neither synthesize sialic acid nor acquire it from their hosts, whose glycans typically terminate in sialic acid (70). Helminth glycans commonly terminate with  $\beta$ -linked GalNAc (87-90), often in the sequence GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc (termed the LacdiNAc motif, LDN), which is not commonly present in vertebrate glycans. In addition, many helminths use unusual sugars, such as tyvelose, found in N-glycans of *T. spiralis* (91-93), which may be useful in both resistance to infection (94) and diagnostics (95,96). Several helminths also generate unusual modifications of sugars, such as the phosphorylcholine modification of glycans of *E. granulosus* (97,98), the free-living *Caenorhabditis elegans* (99,100), and *A. suum* (101). Other examples include the 2-O-methylation of fucose and 4-O-methylation of galactose in highly antigenic glycans

of *T. canis* (102,103). In *S. mansoni* glycans, unique additions of fucose residues are seen on both GlcNAc and GalNAc residues in the LDN motif, giving rise to FLDN, LDNF, poly-LDNF, dF-LDN-dF (89,104-110), as well as unique fucose/xylose modifications of the N-glycan core (70,77,111) (**Table 1.1**). Some nematodes, of which *C. elegans* is best studied, also oddly modify their core fucose residues with galactose (112-114). Interestingly, only the trematode *S. mansoni* (89,115,116) and the cattle lungworm nematode *Dictyocaulus viviparous* (117) have been shown to synthesize glycans containing the terminal motif of the Lewis X (Le<sup>X</sup>) antigen, variants of which are also expressed commonly on human cells (116,118). Schistosomes synthesize novel glucuronate-containing glycans on glycoproteins, such as the CAA structure (119). The core structures of the glycolipids in helminths are also unlike those of mammals, such as the presence of the "schisto motif" GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ -Cer (88) of *S. mansoni*, and the "arthro motif" Man $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ -Cer of *A. suum* (101), instead of the mammalian "lacto motif" Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc $\beta$ -Cer.

Glycan	Structure	Species	Antigenic?	Receptors	Effects/functions	Reference
LN	B4 B2	S. mansoni*	No		Granuloma induction	van de Vijver et al. (227)
Lewis x (Lex)	0 04 02 0 a 3 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04 04	S. mansoni*	Yes	DC-SIGN, MR (weak)	B cell proliferation, IL-10 production, TH2 bias, immunosuppressive, antibodies can mediate complement lysis of leukocytes	Srivatsan et al. (59), Velupillai and Harn (102), Nyame et al. (63), van Die et al. (117), Meevissen et al. (120)
Poly-Lex	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	S. mansoni *	Yes			Srivatsan et al. (59), van Roon et al. (228), Mandalasi et al. (60)
LDN	<b>1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1</b>	S. mansoni *	Yes	MGL; galectin-3	Granuloma induction; possible molecular mimicry with snail host; antibodies to LDN lyse schistosomula <i>in vitro</i>	Srivatsan et al. (27), Neeleman et al. (28), Nyame et al. (122, 224), van den Berg et al. (100), van Vliet et al. (119), van de Vijver et al. (227), Meevissen et al. (120), Yoshino et al. (284)
LDNF	3	Schistosoma spp.*, H. contortus, T. spiralis	Yes	DC-SIGN; MGL; MR; CD62E (E-selectin)	DC maturation; antibodies correlate with protection to <i>H.</i> <i>contortus</i>	Srivatsan et al. (27), Nyame et al. (223), van Die et al. (117), van Vliet et al. (119), van Liempt et al. (118), Meevissen et al. (120), van Stijn et al. (128)
Poly-LDNF		S. mansoni	Yes	DC-SIGN		Kawar et al. (289), van Liempt et al. (118), Wuhrer et al. (48, 229)

O Galactose ☐ N-Acetylgalactosamine ● Glucose ■ N-Acetylglucosamine ● Mannose ▲ Fucose 📩 Xylose ◆Glucuronic acid ● Tyvelose 🗛 Asparagine Ser/Thr Serine/Threonine Pc Phosphorylcholine Methyl

Glycan	Structure	Species	Antigenic?	Receptors	Effects/functions	Reference
FLDN LDN-DF	<b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b> <b>1</b>	S. mansoni S. mansoni	Yes Yes	DC-SIGN	Stimulates IL-10, IL-6, and TNF-α production by PBMC	Naus et al. (234), van Remoortere et al. (233), de Boet al. (236), Meevissen et al. (120), Frank et al. (51) van der Kleij et al. (116), Naus et al. (234), Frank et al. (51), van Remoortere et al. (233)
FLDNF		S. mansoni	Yes		Antibodies to FLDNF are protective in rats	Geyer et al. (50), Grzych et al. (171, 221, 222), Wuhrer et al. (46), Kantelhardt et al. (49)
DF-LDN-DF	a <sup>2</sup> a <sup>2</sup> +/- a <sup>2</sup> a <sup>2</sup> a <sup>2</sup> a <sup>3</sup> a <sup>3</sup> b <sup>4</sup> a <sup>3</sup> a <sup>3</sup> b <sup>6</sup> - a-S er/Thr	S. mansoni	Yes		Diagnostic in urine	Robijn et al. (243, 250)
Core β2 Xyl, core α3 Fuc		S. mansoni	Yes		Th2 biasing of DCs	Faveeuw et al. (114), Meevissen et al. (120)
Circulating cathodic antigen (CCA)	$O^{\beta 4} \stackrel{4}{=} 3 O^{\beta 4} \stackrel{4}{=} 3 O^{\beta 4} \stackrel{4}{=} 3 O^{\beta 4} \stackrel{4}{=} 3 O^{\beta 4} \stackrel{4}{=} 3 O^{-\beta 4} \stackrel{4}{=} 3 O^{-\beta 4} $	S. mansoni	Yes		Diagnostic (urine, sera)	Deelder et al. (65), van Dam et al. (245)
Circulating anodic antigen (CAA)	B3 B	S. mansoni	Yes		Diagnostic (urine, sera), forms antibody-antigen complexes	Deelder et al. (65), Vermeer et al. (244)

(Continued)

Glycan	Structure	Species	Antigenic?	Receptors	Effects/functions	Reference
Tyvelose	<b>BBBBBBBBBBBBB</b>	T. spiralis	kes.		Antibodies to tyvelose are protective and diagnostic	Ellis et al. (30), Reason et al. (31), McVay et al. (215), Bolás-Fernandez and Corral Bezara (72)
Galα1- 3GalNAc	O <sup>d3</sup>	H. contortus	Yes		Antibodies to Gala1-3GalNAc are protective	van Stijn et al. (257)
Gal-Fuc	P2 0 3 9 4 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	C. elegans, A. suum	Yes	Endogenous and fungal galectins; human Gal-1	Fungal CGL2 kills <i>C. elegans</i>	Yán et al. (54), Butschi et al. (80), Takeuchi et al. (57, 58)
Galα1- 4Galβ1- 3GalNAc	0 <sup>a4</sup> 0 <sup>b3</sup> 0 <sup>b3</sup> 0 <sup>b3</sup> 0 <sup>b3</sup>	Echinococcus spp.	Yes		Diagnostic	Koizumi et al. (254), Díaz et al. (255)
PC-glycan	Pc	Filarial and Gl nematodes, <i>E.</i> granulosus	Yes		Anti-inflammatory (both Th 1 and Th2); nematode development	Fletcher et al. (41), Peters et al. (217), Paschinger et al. (37), Rzepecka et al. (142), Grabitzki et al. (39)
Methylated Fuc/Gal	1 ± 2 = 0.5 er/Thr	<i>Toxocara</i> spp.	Yes			Khoo et al. (43), Koizumi et al. (44)
PC- glycolipids	PC 6 16 24 63 64 64 6 Ceramide	Ascaris spp.	Yes		Inhibits LPS-induced B cell proliferation and macrophage, IL-12 release; induces PBMC to produce Th1 cytokines	Lochnit et al. (132), Deehan et al. (133), van Riet et al. (134)
Defined determir the determinant. Xyl and Fuc resid noted if they have	Defined determinants (common names are indicated) recognized by either antibodies or glycan-binding proteins and lectins are indicated in the blue background boxes, along with the known helminths expressing the determinants. Note that many structures are composite examples, and that some complex and branched glycans may possess one or more of these determinants, such as outer branch LDN-DF and inner core XyI and Fuc residues. The asterisk indicates glycan motifs that can also be made in marmanalian hosts, but are not necessarily cross reactive, due to differences in surrounding structures. Their antigenicity is also noted if they have been confirmed as antibody targets, as well as any known receptors and demonstrated functions, in vitro or in vivo, with selected corresponding references.	ed by either antibodies or ; mples, and that some con can also be made in mam as any known receptors a	glycan-binding pro nplex and branche imalian hosts, but ind demonstrated	teins and lectins are indic d glycans may possess or are not necessarily cross functions, in vitro or in vi	ated in the blue background boxes, alo te or more of these determinants, such reactive, due to differences in surrour o, with selected corresponding referer	ng with the known helminths expressing th as outer branch LDN-DF and inner core riding structures. Their antigenicity is also noes.

Table 1.1 A selection of helminth glycans involved in innate and adaptive immunity.(Reprinted from Frontiers in Immunology (1) with permission).

# 1.2.2 Parasitic glycan gimmickry

The unusual nature and antigenicity of parasitic helminth glycans belies the commonly held belief among immunologists and parasitologists that parasites do not express antigenic glycans, but rather cloak themselves in parasite-synthesized and/or host-acquired antigens to avoid immune recognition in what has been termed "molecular mimicry" or "antigen sharing" (120-123). However, as previously mentioned, modern studies of schistosomes and other helminth glycoconjugates show that the glycans generated by these organisms are unique and contain features very unlike those of vertebrate hosts (1,77). This concept may no longer be tenable as a general description in regard to parasitic helminths, which synthesize few glycans resembling their vertebrate hosts. In fact, glycans constitute a major portion of the host's antigenic targets in several helminth infections (124-129). When true molecular mimicry by infectious organisms does occur, such as the structural similarity between mammalian ganglioside GM1 and the terminal structure of the lipooligosaccharide from *Campylobacter jejuni*, the mimicry is associated with pathological autoimmunity, as seen in Guillain–Barré syndrome (130,131). Interestingly, few of the antibodies to helminth glycans cross-react with host glycans. The only well-known example of this is  $Le^{X}$ (118). This suggests that even helminth glycans sharing some features with rare mammalian glycoconjugates, such as LDN and LDNF (Table 1.1), are presented in a unique fashion on parasites. These observations, as well as the evidence that parasite-derived glycans are bioactive as well as immunogenic, have led to the concept of "glycan gimmickry:, which highlights the key roles of parasite glycans in immunomodulation and evasion of host responses (132).

## 1.2.3 Immune modulation

It has long been recognized that schistosomes (and other helminths) glycans harbor potent immunomodulatory properties and have been found to induce innate and adaptive immune responses in the host (72,73,78,133,134). Understanding this process could translate to improved outcome of disease, co-infections, as well as aid in the development of anti-schistosome vaccines (55,56,62). Parasite molecules involved in skewing towards a Th2 environment and downregulation of the immune response are potential treatments for autoimmune or inflammatory conditions. There has already been success in treating animal models of type-1 diabetes, colitis, and multiple sclerosis with therapeutic helminthic infection (135-137). For example, the Le<sup>X</sup> trisaccharide, a common glycan motif in schistosome eggs, is a potent inducer of the Th2 responses often via recognition by Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) (78,133,134,138-141). In fact, schistosome egg antigens can suppress TLR-induced dendritic cell (DC) activation when internalized by a combination of DC-SIGN, mannose receptor (MR), and/or macrophage galatose lectin (MGL) (142,143). Le<sup>X</sup> can also induce proliferation of B cells, the production of suppressive cytokines IL-10 in peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and function as initiators and/or modulators of granuloma formation (138,144). The mechanisms of the mammalian immune responses to parasitic helminths, and whether it is favorable to the host or the parasite, is incredibly complex.

## 1.2.4 Innate immune responses to schistosome glycans

In some mammalian hosts the adaptive response may help to prevent, limit, or eradicate the infection, while in others it appears ineffectual (145). The ability of adaptive effector mechanisms to limit or clear infection likely depends, in large part, on cues received from the innate response. The innate response functions both to limit the pathology of the infection and directly contributes to destruction and expulsion of worms. However, the parasites have evolved glycan gimmickry approaches to battle the host responses. The balance arrived at in a chronic infection may result in asymptomatic infection even though humans rarely clear all of the infecting organisms (145,146).

Antigen-presenting cells (APC) including dendritic cells (DC) and macrophages (M $\Phi$ ) initially encounter invading pathogens and are crucial for regulation of the type of adaptive immune response (147,148) (**Figure 1.2**). Helminths induce effector cell generation consisting of Th2, T

regulatory cells (Tregs) and alternatively activated (AA) M $\Phi$  (149-152), which may contribute to the capacity of helminths to counteract inflammation associated with autoimmune disease. Pathogen recognition is mediated by two classes of specialized pattern recognition receptors on APC, the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), which are instrumental in regulation of adaptive immunity (153-156). There are over a dozen different C-type lectins expressed in DC and Langerhans cells, and many other glycan-binding proteins, such as selectins, siglecs, and galectins expressed by lymphocytes, all of which have potential to interact with parasite-derived glycans (156,157). TLRs function as pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) that can recognize a wide variety of foreign molecular patterns (pathogen-associated molecular patterns or PAMPs), as seen for example where they recognize the many variants of LPS. While CLRs can also function as PRRs, their specificity is often much more restricted, as seen for example with dectin-1, which is a receptor for  $\beta$ -glucan (158). The balance between CLR- and TLR-mediated signals appears crucial to determine the balance between tolerance and immunity (143,153,159,160).



Figure 1.2. Interactions of helminth glycans with immune cells and regulatory pathways.

(A) Glycan-binding proteins such as the C-type lectin receptor (CLR) DC-SIGN in cooperation with Toll-like receptors (TLRs), such as TLR4, regulate dendritic cell responses to parasite glycans. (B) Schematic representation of the role of dendritic cells (DC) and macrophages (M $\Phi$ ) in inducing an anti-inflammatory adaptive immune response upon contact with helminth glycans. (Reprinted from Frontiers in Immunology (1) with permission).
Little has been done on direct effects of intact worms on APCs, and the mechanistic roles of glycans in glycan gimmickry, but several studies using soluble extracts of worms or their eggs have demonstrated the importance of helminth glycans in innate immunomodulation. Early observations showed that egg deposition was responsible for the Th2 character of chronic murine schistosomiasis (161). The Harn group followed up on these observations by showing that LNFPIII, a human milk sugar containing Le<sup>x</sup>, induced B cell proliferation and IL-10 production by murine spleen cells (144). They also demonstrated that intranasal administration of S. mansoni soluble egg extracts (SEA) to mice promoted IgE and IgG1 production and induced secretion of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10, but not IFN- $\gamma$ , by lymphocytes (134,139). These responses were completely dependent on the presence of intact helminth glycans, since partial oxidation of glycans with periodate abolished the ability of SEA to stimulate these Th2 responses (139). Both SEA and soluble worm proteins from T. suis (TSWAP) inhibit LPS-induced secretion of many pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines from DCs (139,143,162). This suppressive effect was also periodate-sensitive, while protein denaturation at 80°C, and digestion of the glycoproteins with chymotrypsin had no effect (163). In addition, co-incubation of immature DC with LPS and helminth compounds induced a decrease of CD86 surface expression (143) and a strong upregulation of OX40L expression on the DC surface which was glycan-dependent (162,163). As previously mentioned, one of the glycan determinants which contributes to the Th2-biasing effect of SEA is Le<sup>x</sup>, (133,134,139-141), but other schistosome glycans can also induce Th2 biasing, such as core fucosylated/xylosylated Nglycans (164). The unique abilities of helminth glycolipids to drive Th2 bias may involve CD1drestricted T cells (164). Treatment of monocytes with S. mansoni egg glycolipids, but not adult worm glycolipids, stimulated IL-10, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  production, which was largely dependent on expression of the LDN-dF motif, indicating that helminth glycolipids can induce both pro- and antiinflammatory cytokine secretion (165).

In regard to the mechanisms of glycan recognition, several CLRs of DC and M $\Phi$ , such as DC-SIGN, bind selected glycans, such as Le<sup>X</sup>, LDNF and poly-LDNF (78,142) on the defined

glycan microarray from the Consortium for Functional Glycomics (CFG). Human M $\Phi$  MGL, expressed as an Fc fusion protein, binds to a subset of glycans on the CFG microarray, with highest recognition of those containing terminal GalNAc residues (166). Related studies using similar microarray approaches have also defined specific interactions of DC-SIGN, MR and MGL with schistosome glycans toward glycans containing Le<sup>X</sup> motifs, LDN, LDNF, as well as core  $\alpha$ 2-Xyl glycans (76). MGL is selectively expressed on APC with elevated levels on tolerogenic DC and AA-M $\Phi$  (167), suggesting a role of MGL in the homeostatic control of adaptive immunity. This is consistent with earlier studies showing that DC-SIGN binds components within soluble egg antigens (SEA) of *S. mansoni*, as do the CLRs MR and MGL (143). SEA expresses many of the fucosylated glycans used in the microarray studies above. In particular, LDNF and Le<sup>X</sup> antigens are expressed on all intra-mammalian stages of the parasite (89,168).

The CLRs mentioned above induce endocytosis of bound molecules for antigen presentation but do not induce classical signs of APC activation. They do, however, modulate the gene transcription induced by other receptors (**Figure 1.2**), such as NF- $\kappa$ B signaling downstream of TLRs (169). Interestingly, there is evidence that TLR4 may be involved in responses to *S. mansoni* Le<sup>X</sup>-containing glycans (133), indicating interactions and co-signaling via TLR and CLR may contribute to the overall polarization of immunosuppressive responses to the parasite infections. Recent studies in DC reveal the capacity of some CLRs to induce intracellular signaling cascades upon binding to pathogen-derived glycans, and show that CLR-induced signals intersect with the signaling pathways of several TLRs, including TLR2, TLR4 and TLR8. CLR signaling can "override" the response to a variety of otherwise pro-inflammatory TLR ligands such as LPS, instead inducing secretion of Th2-type or immunoregulatory cytokines, in a TLR-specific manner (76,159,170,171). In contrast, *S. mansoni* fucosylated glycolipids induce a pro-inflammatory response in DCs that is dependent on both DC-SIGN and TLR4 (172). The specific signaling interactions which contribute to this diverse response modulation are still being explored. Novel roles for CLRs interacting with schistosome glycoconjugates have been suggested by a glycoform

of RNAse termed omega-1 (173), where uptake by MR may contribute to RNAse internalization and impaired protein synthesis through degradation of both ribosomal and messenger RNA (174).

Thus, while much remains to be learned about parasite glycans and their bioactivities, the glycans of parasitic helminths have unique functions in innate immune responses and induce both CLR signaling as well as cross-talk with TLR signaling in the human system. The molecular mechanisms of glycan-dependent innate immune responses are also linked to the adaptive immune responses, as discussed below. Understanding these responses could well lead to the development of novel therapeutic glycans that could be useful in treating human diseases associated with inflammation and autoimmunity.

#### 1.2.5 Adaptive immune responses to schistosome glycans

Helminths infections present a dual challenge to immunologists: Firstly, there is an insufficient understanding of the immune effector mechanisms that successfully combat worms. Secondly, the study of adaptive immunity to eukaryotic pathogens has traditionally focused on protein, rather than glycan antigens. As previously mentioned, a substantial portion of the surface-exposed and secreted antigens of helminths consists of glycoconjugates (85,175,176). Thus, crucial insights into immunological control of helminth infection lie at the intersection of these two fields.

Due to the immunomodulatory effects of several glycoconjugates mentioned above, helminths usually elicit a Th2 response (**Figure 1.2B**). Non-endemic individuals newly exposed to *S. mansoni* can suffer from a more Th1-type acute disease known as Katayama fever, in which elevated levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6, accompany eosinophilia (177,178), but people in endemic regions rarely suffer acute symptoms. Instead, they seem to be pre-disposed to developing a chronic, Th2-type response, the onset of which coincides with egg-laying (178). This may stem from sensitization *in utero* or very early in life (179). The immune response to chronic helminth infection is dominated by a self-reinforcing Th2 feedback loop between cytokines IL-4, IL-5, IL-13 and prominent expansion of eosinophils and mast cells (67,145). Abundant antibodies of all subtypes are produced, especially IgE, IgG1 and IgG4 (146,180,181). In schistosomiasis, pathology is primarily due to eosinophilic (type 2) granulomas, consisting of macrophages, CD4+ T cells, eosinophils and collagen that surround eggs trapped in liver, intestinal or bladder tissue, which are eventually converted to fibrotic scars (178,182).

The regulatory response is crucial in control of chronic helminth disease, for the well-being of both host and parasite (**Figure 1.2B**). Schistosomes, hookworms, and filarial nematodes all promote the development of Tregs, production of regulatory cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  from multiple cell types, and IgG4, a non-complement fixing isotype. This type of response, collectively termed "modified Th2," serves to limit the immunopathology that would result from an uncontrolled Th2 amplification-loop, and allows the host to remain relatively healthy for the long duration of helminth infection (145,183,184). In concordance with this idea, schistosomiasis patients with chronic liver and spleen inflammation lack the IL-10 response to worm antigens, which is observed in chronic patients with low-level symptoms (146). AA-M $\Phi$  also aid in limiting worm-induced immunopathology. They are induced by Th2 cytokines like IL-4 and IL-13 as well as directly by products of several helminths, including *S. mansoni, F. hepatica*, filarial nematodes and tapeworms (151,176,185-187).

#### 1.2.5.1 Correlates of protection from helminth infection

Although the association of Th2-type immunity with helminths has been recognized for decades, we are still unraveling the effector mechanisms through which Th2 components control worm infections. Animal infections with gastrointestinal nematodes provide a model of an effective Th2-mediated response. Immunity to intestinal nematodes depends on Th2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, IL-9 and IL-13) and is antagonized by Th1 cytokines. Mast cells and basophils are critical for expulsion of GI worms in some animal models, but are not always necessary (188,189). Th2 cytokines have important protective effects directly on epithelial cells, including goblet cell

hyperplasia, increased smooth muscle contractility, and secretion of molecules that directly target worms (181,189,190).

Animal models of helminth infection have demonstrated that some immunological effector mechanisms are successful in combatting helminth infection. In the brown rat, which eliminates *S. mansoni* before patency, complement fixation, IgG2a and IgE levels, mast cell degranulation and eosinophil-mediated antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) have been cited in protection (191-196). In rhesus macaques, another protective model for schistosomiasis where adult worms become attenuated in the weeks after reaching patency, IgG-mediated complement killing of schistosomules and neutralization of adult worm enzymes have been demonstrated (197-199). Other animal models have shown that eosinophils, monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils can mediate *in vitro* ADCC of various helminth larvae including *S. mansoni*, *F. hepatica* and *S. stercoralis* (200-202).

In human schistosomiasis cohorts, some adults acquire fewer infections and have lower worm burdens compared to children and more susceptible adults (203). Eosinophilia, high IgE levels to heterogeneous antigens, as well as more specific antigens (Sm22), and high IgE/IgG4 ratios are the most well-established correlates of human resistance to schistosomiasis. IgG2, IgG4, and IgM which are, in some cases, against the same molecular species, are negatively correlated (204-208). IgA to the tegumental protein Sm28GST was also correlated with resistance in one study of human subjects (209). Human eosinophils can kill schistosomula *in vitro* via IgG from infection antisera (210,211), however, there is no direct evidence that ADCC occurs during the course of human infection, and eosinophilia can also be accounted for by the presence of type 2 granulomas (212). IgE also mediates mast cell degranulation, but mastocytosis was found to correlate with susceptibility to reinfection in one occupationally-exposed human cohort (213). The negative correlation of IgM, IgG4 and IgG2 with human resistance to schistosomiasis has been attributed to their ability to block IgE and IgG-mediated effector mechanisms *in vitro* (204,214-216). The factors

that stimulate skewing towards production of either protective or blocking antibodies, sometimes to the same targets, are unknown.

An alternative hypothesis for the association of IgE with protection from schistosomiasis has been formulated based on the recent observation that CD23<sup>+</sup> B cells are associated with resistance in a Kenyan cohort (217). B cells bind parasite-specific IgE through CD23, the low-affinity IgE receptor, and upon encountering parasite antigen, are activated by IgE crosslinking to endocytose the antigen. This mechanism could enable a large population of B cells to present parasite epitopes to T cells, which would in turn activate cognate parasite-specific B cells. The increasing amount of parasite-specific IgE could thus steadily increase the magnitude of the antibody response over the course of several infections, outweighing the immunosuppressive effects of some worm products (218). Such a robust IgE, IgG1, IgG3 and IgA antibody response would perhaps then be capable of destroying larvae and/or adult worms through a combination of the mechanisms, as discussed above.

T cell-mediated immunity may also play a role in the defense against helminth infection. Mice repeatedly vaccinated with irradiated *S. mansoni* cercaria develop a high level of protection which has been attributed to both Th1 and Th2 mechanisms, including complement activation,  $CD8^+$  T cell cytotoxicity against schistosomula, and T cells and macrophages trapping schistosomula as they migrate through the lung (219-222). The protection of these mice is dependent on both antibodies and T cells (223-225). The role of Th1 responses in humans is still unclear. In some populations endemic for schistosomiasis and lymphatic filariasis, a mixed Th1/Th2 profile is associated with an effective immune response, whereas in hookworm infection, only Th2 appears to be correlated with resistance (181,226). In some human populations, resistance to schistosome infection is correlated with increased production of IFN- $\gamma$  by CD4+ T cells stimulated with recombinant Sm14 protein and other antigens (227,228). Polymorphisms in the IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  genes have also been associated with resistance levels (229). Thus, while many possible *in vitro* and *in vivo* mechanisms against helminths have been described, it is yet unclear

which, if any, of these is implemented by a successful human immune response, and which would be desirable in an anti-helminthic vaccine.

#### 1.2.5.2 Glycans and adaptive immunity

Helminths use specialized mechanisms to invade host organisms and establish a niche in their tissues for long-term survival or to enable passage of eggs out of the host. Helminth glycans are involved in the establishment of such niches, and antibodies to glycans can interfere with this process. In schistosomiasis, eggs must traverse the endothelium and intestinal wall in order to exit the host via stool. Using *in vitro* models of egg attachment to human umbilical vein endothelial cells, antibodies to E-selectin and Le<sup>x</sup> were shown to decrease adhesion (230). Whether the ability of  $\alpha$ GAbs to interfere with host tissue interactions in the models is due to blockage of specific glycan-binding interaction or due to other neutralizing or physically damaging effects on the worms, is unclear. However, interference with invasion or adhesion through blocking surface glycans clearly represents an opportunity to induce protection and/or interfere with pathogenesis.

The antibody effector mechanisms most well-known to damage or kill schistosomes *in vitro* are ADCC and complement activation, and αGAbs are capable of both. Pioneering work by the Capron group used a semi-permissive rat model to isolate an IgG2a called IPLSm1. The antibody killed schistosomules *in vitro* via eosinophil-mediated ADCC and passively transferred resistance to naïve rats (195). IPLSm1 targeted a 38-kDa surface glycoprotein which was also recognized by infected monkey and human sera, and was cross reactive with Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin (KLH) glycans (231,232). Our present knowledge of KLH and schistosome cross-reactive glycans supports the hypothesis that IPLSm1 targeted the FLDNF glycan (109,110). The 38-kDa antigen was also used to develop an anti-idiotype vaccine, which conferred 50-80% protection to rats and induced antibodies that mediated ADCC (233). Mice also develop abundant antibodies to glycans, including IgE, IgG1 and IgG3 (but not IgG2) to LDNF, indicative of a skewing toward Th2-type antibody effector mechanisms such as ADCC (234). A murine IgM to

LDN isolated by our group mediates complement killing of schistosomula *in vitro* (168). The Harn group isolated three murine  $\alpha$ GAbs, two of which, an IgM against the Le<sup>X</sup> antigen and an IgG2b against an unknown carbohydrate antigen, were protective and mediated *in vitro* complement killing, and an IgG3 that was not (116,235).

Adaptive immunity to glycans may also be involved in aspects of helminth pathogenesis. LDN and LN-coated beads induce schistosomiasis-like granulomas in murine livers. It is unclear whether this model works through adaptive or innate mechanisms, but fucosylated glycans known to bind C-type lectins did not induce granulomas (236,237). The anti-Le<sup>X</sup> antibodies induced by schistosomes are cytolytic to human myeloid cell lines. These antibodies could potentially be responsible for mild neutropenia seen in infected humans, or for killing of schistosomula (118).

Antibodies generated by mammalian hosts to helminth glycans are not only abundant but highly specific. Schistosomes, for example, present the same glycan epitope in a variety of structural contexts, such as on N-glycans and O-glycans, or as single or multibranched glycans, as diagrammed in **Table 1.1**. The structural presentation of such epitopes as Le<sup>X</sup> and LDNF can vary among schistosome life stages, localization and sexes (107,108,238). Data from our lab and others have demonstrated that monoclonal antibodies and sera from infected hosts can discriminate against very similar epitopes, such as the monomeric, biantennary N-glycan, and multimeric forms of the Le<sup>X</sup> or LDNF trisaccharide epitopes (115,238). Given that some of these structural variants are somewhat similar to mammalian glycans, this high level of specificity could be crucial to developing an effective parasite-specific antibody response. Anti-schistosomal monoclonals with well-defined glycan specificity can be used to isolate parasite glycoconjugates and potentially identify novel vaccine targets including both glycan and protein epitopes (115).

Whether human resistance to helminth infection is mediated by  $\alpha$ GAbs is a fascinating but complex question, which has only been addressed in a handful of studies examining correlative evidence. One group observed that a Kenyan population showed decreases in IgG1 to FLDN and LDN-dF, and increases in IgM to LDN-dF and LDNF, over the course of two years after migrating from a non-endemic to schistosomiasis-endemic area; the same associations were seen with increasing age in the schistosomiasis-endemic resident population (208). Levels of IgE to worm glycolipids pre-praziquantel treatment were inversely correlated with egg burden two years after treatment in another population (239). Another investigator found that children had modestly higher titers of IgM and IgG than adults to most glycans (240). Collectively, these studies are difficult to interpret, due to the challenges of identifying human populations that truly show variable resistance and susceptibility (mechanisms of which likely differ among populations), the difficulty of obtaining glycan preparations that are both pure and accurately mimic the mode of presentation by the parasite, and the differential significance of antibody isotypes and sub-isotypes in human resistance. Further studies are needed to strengthen these correlations and more directly examine the role of  $\alpha$ GAbs in protection from schistosomiasis and other human helminth infections.

Other reports have indicated that antibodies to glycans can be non-protective or even block the development of resistance to helminths. *Heligmosomoides polygyrus*, a well-studied mouse model of gastrointestinal nematode infection, elicits a non-protective immunodominant response to an O-linked glycan on venom allergen Anacylostoma-secreted protein-like antigens (241). Following isolation of a protective IgG2a against *S. mansoni* 38-kDa antigen mentioned above, a second antibody (an IgG2c) that targeted the same glycan was isolated from infected rats. The IgG2c blocked the protective effect of the IgG2a *in vitro* and *in vivo*, which may be why a response to this epitope was correlated with infection in humans but not with resistance (214). It had earlier been hypothesized, based on results from a complex series of experiments on chronically-infected and radiation-attenuated cercariae vaccinated mouse sera, that levels of antibody to parasite surface antigens is not simply correlated with protection. Protection may instead depend on a particular balance of blocking and protective antibodies, possibly against the same antigens (242). Clearly such counteractive effects of antibodies to glycan antigens should be explored in more detail.

Anti-GAbs are also being considered for diagnostic purposes. Certain defined glycans including LDN, Le<sup>x</sup>, FLDN and LDN-dF have different antibody profiles (168,208,243,244). Other

highly fucosylated epitopes, such as FLDNF and dF-LDN-dF are possible diagnostic epitopes due to their unique expression on schistosomes. The monoclonal antibody 114-4D12, which targets dF-LDN-dF, can detect unconjugated oligosaccharides excreted from *S. mansoni* eggs in infection urine. MS/glycan based studies may lead to a new egg-load-related assay helpful in the detection of mild infections (31,245). However, given the differential responses to discrete glycans it is unclear whether the previously mentioned immunodiagnostic tools could differentiate between current and past infection. These carbohydrate-based antigens and  $\alpha$ GAbs are promising tools given that they are chemically stable, specific to particular helminth species, vary with stage of infection, and are expressed both on worm surfaces and in secreted products. Several glycan-based detection methods are now in the pipeline for schistosomiasis.

#### 1.2.6 Glycans interactions with intermediate hosts

Many of the schistosome glycans have been found to be potent antigens in vertebrate hosts, but their roles in snail infections are poorly understood (7,246,247). Emerging evidence suggests that schistosome glycoconjugates play a pivotal role in both cellular and humoral immune interactions between their molluscan intermediate hosts and the infecting larval stages (247-249).

There appears to be a role for fucosylated carbohydrate epitopes expressed by larval and adult schistosomes in parasite evasion in intermediate and definitive hosts (246,250,251). During invasion of the snail body, the miracidia penetrate the epithelium allowing for direct interaction of the snail tissues with the miracidial glycocalyx. The carbohydrate epitopes present on the surface of the miracidium during this time may be of prime importance during the invasion process. Recently, it was shown that *B. glabrata* synthesizes a broad battery of N-glycans on multiple glycoproteins comprising at least two carbohydrate determinants that cross-react with glycoconjugates from *S. mansoni* eggs (252).

It is well known that *S. mansoni* glycan expression is developmentally and stagespecifically regulated, but until recently, the glycan epitopes expressed in miracidia and sporocysts were largely unknown. Using a mass spectrometry approach for glycomic profiling, Hokke et al. found evidence for expression of multifucosylated, LDN-terminating di- and triantennary structures, as well as the presence of the truncated trimannosyl and core-xylosylated/core- $\alpha$ 1,3fucosylated N-glycans in miracidia (17). Lehr et al. demonstrated the surface expression of FLDN, FLDNF, LDNF and LDN-dF in miracidia and the presence of these, as well as non-fucosylated LDN, and Le<sup>X</sup> glycans in secondary sporocysts (17,246,252). Alpha-1,3-fucosylated LDN structures (FLDN, FLDNF, LDNF) are prominently expressed on the larval surface and amongst glycoproteins released during larval transformation and early sporocyst development. This stagespecific expression implies a role for these glycans in snail–schistosome interactions. Also, sharing of specific glycans FLDN and trimannosyl N-glycans with *B. glabrata* suggests an evolutionary convergence of carbohydrate expression between schistosomes and their snail host (246).

Larval glycans and/or their associated glycoconjugates might also be serving as PAMPs that interact with lectin-like PRRs (253). PRRs, such as toll receptor, C-type lectins, galectins, nucleic acid-sensing receptors, and the intracellular nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) occur both extracellularly and intracellularly, with the galectins being most notable in being both in the cytoplasm and in extracellularly (254,255). In terms of glycoconjugates in helminth infections and their interactions with all types of PRRs, little is known, and the most well studied interactions involve C-type lectins and galectins. There is also evidence that glycans may be important in intermediate hosts innate immunity and PRR recognition and may involve novel PRRs. During their development in the molluscan intermediate host, *S. mansoni* sporocysts release excretory/secretory glycoproteins that bind to lectin PRRs on the surface of the snail host hemocytes and are believed to modulate the ability of the hemocytes to interact with the developing larvae (249). The binding of glycoconjugates to *B. glabrata* hemocyte lectins can trigger the generation of parasite-killing reactive oxygen species, thereby mediating innate immune responses to invading miracidia (246,247,250,251,253,256).

Glycans may also be the targets of humoral immune responses mounted by the molluscan hosts against larval infection. *B. glabrata* snails respond to infection by secreting humoral factors into their hemolymph that bind and precipitate larval excretory/secretory antigens. These factors contain N- and C-terminal domains with similarities to immunoglobulin super-family proteins and fibrinogen, respectively, and are called fibrinogen-related proteins (FREPs) (247,253,257). To counteract FREPs, developing primary sporocysts envelope themselves in a glycan-rich environment comprised mainly of glycoproteins and other glycoconjugates referred to as larval transformation products (LTPs) (253,258). LTP glycoconjugates released during transformation are able to alter patterns of shared glycan epitopes by either binding and blocking, or by exposing them. This is a possible mechanism by which molecules released from early developing larvae may impact initial immune interactions at the host-parasite interface and shows the potent immune modulating effects of LTPs (253,259).

#### 1.3 Glycotechnologies and approaches

Our knowledge of immunorelevant parasitic glycans is limited by our knowledge of the parasite glycan structures themselves. Unlike the sequence of a protein, in which homologous protein sequences between species imply homologous functions, glycan sequences are more complex and seemingly slight changes in structures can profoundly affect biological activities in unpredictable ways. In spite of this complexity, advances in technology for studying glycan structures and defining the specificities of glycan-binding proteins have recently been made.

#### 1.3.1 Glycan synthesis and glycoconjugate production

Oligosaccharide enzymatic synthesis is extremely useful and highly specific, however with important limitations. Assuming the enzymes require to generate the glycans structure are known, is difficult and expensive to obtain enough enzyme to produce enough product for functional studies (260). Additionally there are many glycosidic linkages in parasites that appear to crucial components of several schistosome antigens and do not yet have a designated glycosyltransferase. For some glycan structures synthetic methods are also available, but require complicated protocols to achieve the specificity generated by enzymes. Great strides have been made in stream-lining and automating oligosaccharide synthesis, but it is still far from being able to generate the full repertoire of glycans seen in nature (261). Also, recent studies from our lab have shown that the chemical linkers added to reducing end of sugars during the generation of neoglycoconjugates can affect the immune response to those glycans in a species-specific way (262). This is an important caveat to remember utilizing these technologies for a vaccine platform.

#### 1.3.2 Glycan microarrays

Our group, in collaboration with the Consortium for Functional Glycomics (CFG), has spearheaded one of the most recent and innovative new glycoltechnologies: the glycan microarray (263). A glycan microarray consists of a library of derivatized glycans or glycopeptides linked to a slide (**Figure 1.3**). This can be a covalent linkage or captured on nitrocellulose-coated slides depending of the type of glycan library. The array can be interrogated with very small samples of glycan binding proteins (GPBs), such as lectins, antibodies or antisera, or even micro-organisms such as viruses and yeast. Samples are incubated on the slides, the unbound washed away, and bound sample detected using fluorescent secondary reagents (**Figure 1.3**). Scanning and quantitation of fluorescent signal for all bound GPBs is reflective of binding affinity within the sample. Glycan microarrays have been validated against traditional methods (Western blot, ELISA) as sensitive and specific serodiagnostics for human infections of *Trichinellosis* and *Salmonellosis*. Additional benefits including use of a very small sample volume, high sensitivity with low background, and detection of binding to distinct epitopes simultaneously (263,264).



Figure 1.3 Generation of a glycan microarray and data output.

Free reducing end glycans are synthesized or isolated from a natural source (tissue). The glycan library is chemically derivatized with a fluorescent ta or linker which allows for purification for pure samples or separation of multi-glycan mixtures via multidemential HPLC. Each glycan fraction is printed in equal amounts on a NHS-activated glass slide. Arrays are interrogated with fluorescently labeled GBPs, scanned, and analyzed for binding.

Our group use two microarray approaches to study immunoglycomics. One is termed the "shotgun" approach, where glycans are extracted from natural sources such as tissue sample in interest, derivatized with a fluorescent linker, and partially purified before printing (265-268). Using this method, the glycan structures within the library are initially undefined. Binding studies with antibodies or anti-sera identify structures of interest, which can subsequently be characterized using meta-data such as lectin and antibody binding, enzymatic treatments, compositional analysis, mass spectrometry and linkage analysis, a novel approach termed metadata-assisted glycan sequencing (MAGS) (269,270). More details regarding the application of this technology for schistosomes can be found in Chapter 3.

A second approach in the study of immunorelevant glycan antigens in schistosomes was the development of the defined Schistosomal-type array (DSA). As antigenic glycans are identified in the literature, we synthesize them via enzymatic or chemical methods and print them on an array. The DSA currently contains glycans and glycopeptides with LN, LDN, LDNF and Le<sup>X</sup> motifs on a variety of underlying core structures, truncated N-glycans with core xylose and/or core  $\alpha$ 3 fucose, poly-LDN and poly-LDNF, chitin oligosaccharides and several control structures. This tool was very helpful in determining the differential expression of anti-glycan antibodies in schistosome-infected or vaccinated species (271,272), however the DSA is limited by the glycans we can currently generate. It is pivotal that we broaden the range of structures that can be synthesized for this microarray tool.

#### 1.3.3 Limitations in glycan research and historical approaches

A major limitation in the study of parasitic glycans is that we are currently unable to chemically synthesize many of the structures in an affordable and facile manner. It is also not feasible to isolate significant quantities of individual glycans from the parasites at each developmental stage. In the past several years, the availability of genomic databases has allowed us and others to take an alternative approach using enzyme technology in a chemo-enzymatic approach to generate glycans and explore their recognition by antibodies and glycan-binding proteins (271-275).

The identification and sequencing of schistosome glycans began in the 1980's with the identification of unusual N- and O-glycans synthesized by short-term cultures of schistosomula and adult worms (87-89,104,276,277). Subsequent studies (105,106,119,278,279) (also see reviews by (1,7,70,72-74)) identified complex types of glycan structures in both membrane associated and circulating antigens. These types of studies, now generally recognized as structural glycomics, involve complex analyses incorporating tandem mass spectrometry (MS), nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and compositional and linkage analyses. Unfortunately, while the field has advanced tremendously in identifying many types of glycans synthesized by schistosomes and even glycan structures differences between sexes and schistosome species, it is likely that only a tiny

fraction of the total set of glycans synthesized by any stage of the parasite is known (105,107,234,280,281). Thus, much remains to be learned about the specific sequences and complete structures of schistosome glycans as well as their temporal and spatial expression. One obvious limitation to these studies is that schistosomes are parasites and must be isolated from infected animals, thus limiting their availability as well as creating potential problems in contamination by glycans from the hosts. While structural studies remain important for confirming hypothesized structures and characterizing glycan-protein interactions, a genome approach provides many advantages

#### 1.3.4 A genomic approach

While knowledge of schistosome glycans is woefully incomplete, the available evidence indicates that many different glycan linkages and sequences occur. In both simpler organisms, such as *C. elegans*, as well as exceedingly more complex organisms, such as mice and humans, many genes within the genome have been shown to encode enzymes responsible for elaboration of the glycome. These genes, typically referred to as comprising the glycogenome, encode glycosyltransferases, glycosidases, sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolizing enzymes important in glycan biosynthesis, nucleotide sugar transporters, and glycan-binding proteins. It is estimated that mice and humans have over 900 genes involved in elaboration and recognition of their glycomes (282). This background knowledge has set the stage for now exploring the glycogenomes of schistosomes and other parasites and identifying the genes important for elaboration of their glycomes.

In 2009 the nuclear genome of *S. mansoni* was published in *Nature* as a result of a successful international collaboration among multiple institutions (283). The analysis of the 363 megabase genome utilized several gene prediction algorithms, including the extended similarity group (ESG) method, which performs iterative sequence database searches and annotates a query sequence with Gene Ontology terms. At least 11,809 genes were annotated encoding over 13,000

transcripts with unusual intron sizes, distributions, and frequent alternative splicing. The annotated genome sequence was submitted to EMBL (accession numbers FN357292-FN376313) and GeneBD (http://www.genedb.org/Smansoni) (283-285). Shortly after the genome was published, SchistoDB (http://schistoDB.net/) was created to offer researchers a plethora of tools for genomic data mining. SchistoDB incorporates sequences and annotations for *S. mansoni* in a single directory. Several genomic scale analyses are available as well as expressed sequence tags, oligonucleotides, and metabolic pathways. By 2012, the directory was expanded by integrating the data sets from other *Schistosome* species, *S. japonicum* and *S. haematobium* (286-288). Current studies have utilized the genomic data to highlighted transcriptional differences seen throughout lifecycle progression and identify anti-schistosomal candidate molecules including fucosyltransferases via transcriptome analyses and gene microarrays (289,290).

The KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes) database uses large-scale molecular datasets generated by genome sequencing and other high-throughput experimental technologies to help scientists understand high-level functions and utilities of various biological systems. With the information generated from the *Schistosoma* genome sequences, KEGG Glycan constructed pathway maps on molecular interactions including glycan biosynthesis and metabolism that are annotated with the specific enzymes/proteins involved and the corresponding genes (http://www.genome.jp/kegg/glycan). The system also characterizes gene/protein functions across organisms, allowing for genes like glycosyltransferases to be finely classified within ortholog groups which may have been overlooked by previous sequence similarity algorithms (291-295).

With the amount of information now available, genomics technologies can be applied to unravel the biology of some of these parasites, including the complexity of glycan biosynthesis (**Figure 1.4, Table 1.2**). Given the vast assortment of glycan epitopes, as well as available databases, it can be predicted that schistosomes express a plethora of glycosyltransferases and other genes required for glycan biosynthesis. A more thorough understanding of the schistosome glycome could promise faster identification of targets for diagnostics and drug development, as well as a collaborative approach to antigen chemo-enzymatic synthesis and discovery for glycanbased vaccine platform.



# Figure 1.4. Deciphering the glycogenome and enzymatic reactions of glycoslytranferases.

The glycogenome represents the genes encoding the various glycosyltransferases, glycosidases, sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolizing enzymes important in glycan biosynthesis, and nucleotide sugar transporters. The glycosyltransferases generated from the glycotranscriptome in schistosomes represent a large class of predicted enzymes, often requiring metal cofactors (Me<sup>+</sup>) that synthesize glycans using donor nucleotide sugars to form glycosidic bonds to acceptors, here represented by a sugar-R, where R=sugar, protein or lipid to which sugars are linked. The products of the biosynthetic reactions have specific glycosidic linkages, e. g.  $\beta$ 1,4 or  $\alpha$ 1,3, and the glycans produced are often acceptors for additional enzymes, thus generating the complex set of glycans representing the glycome of the organism. (Reprinted from Frontiers in Genetics (2) with permission).

#### **1.4** Schistosome glycan biosynthesis pathways

Previous structural studies of schistosome glycoconjugates primarily depend on analytical techniques like mass spectrometry, but are limited due to insufficient quantities of glycans and the need to prepare glycans from for parasites isolated from infected hosts, as well as variation in glycan expression among the life stages, resulting in incomplete glycome profiling (74,107,108,259,296-298). Nevertheless, using the available glycan sequence data and developmentally-regulated expression of glycan antigens, it is predicted that schistosomes contain a multitude of different classes of glycosyltransferases involved in glycan biosynthesis and that their expression is differentially regulated by tissue and life stage (299-301). To date, very few of these enzymes in distinct glycan classes have been studied in detail, however, with the genomic data now available glyco-related genes might be easier to explore in the future (**Figure 1.4, Table 1.2**).

Category	# of Putative Genes		Gene ID	
lycosyltransferases:				
<ul> <li>Galactosyltransferases and N- acetylglucosaminyltransferases (GalTs and GnTs)<sup>1</sup></li> </ul>		Smp 058670 Smp 006930 Smp 210290 <sup>3</sup> Smp 146430 Smp 042720	Smp 056260 Smp 024650 Smp 015920 Smp 153110 Smp 149820 <sup>3</sup>	Smp 102400 Smp 007950 Smp 151210 Smp 151220
<ul> <li>N-acetylgalactosamine transferases (GalNAcTs)</li> </ul>	72	Smp 057620 <sup>3</sup> Smp 139230 <sup>3</sup> Smp 047240	Smp 159490 <sup>3</sup> Smp 211240	Smp 005500 <sup>3</sup> Smp 021370
- Fucosyltransferases (FuTs)	22 <sup>4</sup>	Smp 175120 Smp 194990 Smp 199790 Smp 030650 Smp 138730 Smp 193870 Smp 054300	Smp 175120 Smp 205640 Smp 154410 Smp 138750 Smp 211180 Smp 193620 Smp 209060	Smp 137740 Smp 028910 Smp 065240 Smp 212520 Smp 137730 Smp 142860 Smp 129750
- Xylosyltransferase	2	Smp 128310	Smp 125150	5mp 129700
iosynthesis Pathways:				
- N-Glycan	18 <sup>5,6</sup>	Smp 051360 Smp 055010 Smp 161590 Smp 035470 Smp 210360 Smp 018760	Smp 045430 Smp 177080 Smp 103930 Smp 055200 Smp 210370 Smp 018750	Smp 082710 Smp 052330 Smp 020770 Smp 105680 Smp 024580 Smp 143430
- O-Glycan	5 <sup>5</sup>	Smp 149820 <sup>3</sup> Smp 005500 <sup>3</sup>	Smp 057620 <sup>3</sup> Smp 139230 <sup>3</sup>	Smp 015949 <sup>3</sup>
- Glycolipid	$2^{5}$	Smp 160210	Smp 157080	
- GPI-anchor	145	Smp 154600 Smp 155890 Smp 046880 Smp 035080 Smp 053460	Smp 136690 Smp 155900 Smp 163640 Smp 128810 Smp 021980	Smp 145290 Smp 017730 Smp 152460 Smp 177040
- GAG	6 <sup>5</sup>	Smp 178490 Smp 075450	Smp 083130 Smp 134250	Smp 124020 Smp 210290 <sup>3</sup>
Grouped in database, see text for detain Tally in text references a subset of ge Listed in both glycosyltransferaseas an Genes have redundancies, see text refe Denotes current gene annotations disc Tally does not account for splice varia	nes (Ex: 3 β) nd pathways. erence for de ussed in the	tails.		-

### Table 1.2. Components of the S. mansoni glycogenome.

Synthesis pathways and corresponding GeneDB entries for *S. mansoni* genes as of 2014. (Reprinted from Frontiers in Genetics (2) with permission).

#### 1.4.1 N-glycans

The N-glycans found in *Schistosoma* glycoproteins feature high mannose and complextype structures common in eukaryotes and higher organisms (87,277). Thus, it appears that schistosomes follow the conventional pathway for N-glycan core synthesis, where the precursors are synthesized on the cytoplasmic face of the ER membrane beginning with dolichol phosphate (Dol-P) in a step-wise process catalyzed by *ALG* gene enzymes (for *al*tered in *g*lycosylation). Fourteen sugars are sequentially added before en bloc transfer of the entire structure to an Asn-X-Ser/Thr site in a protein. The protein-bound N-glycan is subsequently remodeled in the ER and Golgi by a complex series of reactions catalyzed by membrane-bound glycosidases and glycosyltransferases (302,303).

The genome of S. mansoni appears to contain homologs to the ALG genes required for synthesis and remodeling (**Table 1.2**). The splice variant Smp 051360.1 most likely functions as a UDP-N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) dolichylphosphotransferase which forms GlcNAc-P-P-Dol. A second GlcNAc and five mannose (Man) residues are subsequently added by specific glycosyltransferases to generate Man<sub>5</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>-P-P-Dol on the cytoplasmic side of the ER. Homologs in this pathway include Smp 045430.3 and Smp 082710 as UDP-N acetylglucosaminyltransferase (GlcNAcT) subunits (similar to ALG 14), Smp 055010 as a chitobiosyldiphosphodolichol  $\alpha$ -mannosyltransferase, Smp 177080 α-1.3as an mannosyltransferase (ALG 2), and Smp 52330 probably functions like asparagine-linked glycosylation protein 11 (ALG 11). Other genes responsible in forming the common 14-sugar lipidlinked precursor in animals, Glc<sub>3</sub>Man<sub>9</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>-P-P-Dolichol, are Smp 161590 (simply designated a glycosyltransferase but contains regions similar with an  $\alpha$ -1,6-mannosyltransferase), splice variants of Smp 103930 (a1,2-mannosyltransferase, and Smp 096910/Smp 15120 (a1,3glucosyltransferases) (283,302,303).

37

The transfer of the 14-sugar glycan in Glc<sub>3</sub>Man<sub>9</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>-P-P-Dolichol to Asn-X-Ser/Thr sequons of a newly synthesized protein is catalyzed by a set of proteins termed the oligosaccharyltransferase (OST) complex. *S. mansoni* genes likely to function as OST subunits are Smp 020770 ( $\alpha$  unit), Smp 035470 ( $\beta$  unit), Smp 055200 ( $\gamma$  unit), Smp 105680 (ribophorin I), and Smp 210360/210370 ( $\delta$  unit) (Chavan et al., 2005; Stanley et al., 2009; Berriman et al., 2009). After covalent attachment of the 14-sugar glycan (Glc<sub>3</sub>Man<sub>9</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>-Asn) a series of processing reactions trim the glycan using  $\alpha$ -glucosidases. Smp 024580 and Smp 018760 most likely remove the three Glc residues leaving the high mannose Man<sub>9</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>-Asn structure. Smp 018750 ( $\alpha$ -1,3-mannosidase) and Smp 143430 ( $\alpha$ -mannosidase II) remove mannose allowing for the N-glycans to be recognized and further extended/modified by glycosyltransferases, as discussed below, which generate the hybrid or complex-type N-glycans with terminal glycan motifs (87,108,277,283,303).

#### 1.4.2 *O-glycans*

O-glycosylation in schistosomes range from a single sugar residue to large, complex, multifucosylated structures fluctuating from 12 to at least 60 glycans in length in the cercarial glycocalyx (106,276,277). Many surface localized schistosome glycoproteins contain a simple O-linked GlcNAc, which probably occurs on intracellular and intranuclear glycoproteins (276,304). Other common structures include Gal $\beta$ 1-3(Gal $\beta$ 1-6)GalNAc (O-glycan shisto core) and mucin-type sequences including GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr (Tn antigen), Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr (T antigen, core 1), and Gal $\beta$ 1-3(GalNAc $\beta$ 1-6)GalNAc (core 2) with the core 1 structure being the most common (111,119,277,278). The more complex O-glycans contain unique repeating elements containing GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\alpha$ 1-3 units carrying fucosylated sequences linked to the internal GlcNAc and terminal GalNAc structures (276,305).

In vertebrates, the core 1 O-glycan disaccharide is also the most common of such O-glycan cores and is a precursor to more complex O-glycans such as extended core 1 and core 2 structures. The core 1 structure is synthesized from GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr by the addition of galactose, a reaction

catalyzed by the enzyme core 1 UDP-Gal:GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr  $\beta$ 1,3-galactosyltransferase (core 1  $\beta$ 3-Gal-T or T-synthase) (306-308). In *S. mansoni*, Smp 149820 is the only gene designated a glycoprotein-N-acetylgalactosamine  $\beta$ 3galactosyltransferase and is considered the ortholog to T-synthase (306), whereas *S. japonicum* has four genes annotated at core 1  $\beta$ 3-Gal-transferase (Sjp 005210, Sjp 0042730, Sjp 0055580, Sjp 0064840, Sjp 0093870) (283,286).

Several UDP-N-Acetylgalactosamine:polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases (GalNAc-transferases, ppGalNAcTs), which generate GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr have been identified and characterized in humans. While the human ppGalNAcTs show similarities in domain structures, sequence motifs, and conserved cysteine residues the overall amino acid sequence similarity of less than 50% suggests changes within this enzyme family during evolution (308). The *S. mansoni* ppGalNAcTs (Smp 005500, Smp 057620, Smp 139230, and Smp 159490) have similar amino acids similarity (approximately 30-50%) among them (283).

#### 1.4.3 Glycolipids

Schistosome glycolipids consist of galactosylcermide, glucosylceramides, and glycolipids with extended glycans emanating from the 'schisto core' (GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4Glc-ceramide). This is in contrast to the human glycolipid core which is lactosylceramide Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc-ceramide. Schistosomes synthesize glycosphingolipids with a similar method to vertebrates using a glucocerebroside precursor, but instead of using adding the galactose, as in animals, schistosomes instead generates the `schisto-core' structure by the addition of a  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAc residue (88,309). The simple schisto-core structure is extensively modified in egg glycosphingolipids of *S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum* with repeating GlcNAc motifs with multiple fucosylation units ((Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3)GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-R) (70,279). *S. mansoni* glycolipids are dominated by fucose. Cercariae often express terminal Le<sup>X</sup> and pseudo Lewis Y (Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4(Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3)GlcNAc; pseudoLe<sup>y</sup>) structures, while the Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3GalNAc terminal element was confirmed in *S. mansoni* egg glycolipids (309,310). Sequencing of the *S. mansoni* genome indicated that schistosomes contain a full complement of genes required for most lipid metabolic processes. In reference to ceramide as major precursor to glycosphingolipids, *S. mansoni* encodes two putative ceramide glucosyltransferase (Smp 160210 and Smp 157080) while *S. japonicum* genome contains four (Sjp 0094210, Sjp 0065630, Sjp 0054080, Sjp 0093880) (283,286). Although not a 'classical' sugar, the genome sequencing of *S. mansoni* also revealed a lipid deficiency where the worms must depend on its host as a source of inositol (283,311).

#### 1.4.4 GPI-anchored glycoproteins

It is well known that *S. mansoni* and other schistosome species, produce glycoproteins anchored to membranes through a glycosylphosphatidylinositol lipid anchor (GPI anchor) and thus lacking a transmembrane protein domain. Such GPI anchored glycoproteins have now been found in all animal cells, and were in the parasite world were first extensively studied in trypanosomes (312). Examples of common GPI-anchored proteins previously characterized in schistosomes include alkaline phosphatases and acetylcholinesterase (313-315). Both of *S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum* genomes contain annotations for acetylcholinesterase (Smp 154600, Smp 136690, Sip 0070510, Sjp 0045440, and Sjp 0036280), however only *S. mansoni* appears to have genes currently designated as alkaline phosphatases (Smp 145290, Smp 155890, and Smp 155900) (283,286). *S. mansoni* also expressed and 200 kDa GPI-anchored glycoprotein on its surface which is a target for antibodies which can act synergistically with praziquantal treatment (314,316). According to the database this protein is a product of the gene Smp 017730, however that record has not yet been subjected to final NCBI review (283).

Previously, details about the GPI-anchor biosynthesis pathway in schistosomes were unknown, however several putative proteins from the *S. mansoni* genome are believed to be involved. Phosphatidylinositol N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase catalyzes the first step of glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor formation in all eukaryotes. In mammalian cells, this enzyme is composed of at least five subunits (PIG-A, PIG-H, PIG-C, GPI1 and PIG-P), with PIG-A functioning as the catalytic subunit (313,317). A splice variant of Smp 046880 (termed Smp 046880.1) has around 50% identity with PIG-A isoforms in a variety of mammals. Smp 163640 and Smp 152460 also show homology with subunits PIG-P and GPI1 respectively. N-acetylglucosaminylphosphatidylinositol deacetylase (PIG-L), the enzyme responsible for the second step in GPI-anchor formation, and PIG-M, which transfers the first mannose to glycosylphosphatidylinositol on the lumenal side of the ER also show homology with the products from genes Smp 035080 and Smp 128810 (283,318,319). Other genes possibly involved in building the common GPI ethanolamine-glycan core include Smp 177040, Smp 053460, and Smp 021980. There is a probability that schistosomes also encode enzymes which allow for heterogeneity within the common core of GPI-anchors, like what is observed in mammals (283,320-322).

#### 1.4.5 Glycosaminoglycans and proteoglycans

Little is known about the glycosaminoglycan (GAG) or proteoglycan content of schistosomes. Two studies have isolated GAGs from schistosomes, demonstrating the presence of glycans resembling heparin/heparan sulfate (HS), chondroitin sulfate (CS) and hyaluronic acid (323,324). It has been hypothesized that heparin/heparan sulfate in the worm tegument could provide a mechanism of immune evasion by inhibiting the host clotting cascade; however, it has not been verified whether the GAGs isolated are from the parasite or the host and their structures have not been chemically defined (323).

The *Schistosoma* genomes indicate that much of the genetic machinery necessary for synthesizing GAGs is present. *S. mansoni*, *S. japonicum*, and *S. haematobium* all have genes homologous to the xylosyltransferase genes in mammals, mollusks, and nematodes which code for protein-O-xylosylation activity (XYLT1 and XYLT2 in mammals; XYLT or *sqv8* in *C. elegans*). These genes encode enzymes which catalyze the first step in addition of the HS/CS core to proteoglycans, and share the conserved domains Xylosyltransferase C terminal and Core-2/I-

branching enzyme. Other enzymes necessary for construction of the HS/CS core that have been characterized in *C. elegans* include *sqv3* (Gal-transferase I in mammals, encoded by β4GalT7), *sqv8* (GlcA transferase I) and *sqv7* (a UDP-GlcA/GalNAc transporter) (325). The three *Schistosoma* genomes possess genes homologous to each of these, containing the relevant conserved domains (β4GALT7: Smp 210290, Sjp 0062870, Sha 200402; UDP-GlcA/GalNAc transporter: Smp 178490; Sjp 0089300, Sha 103448; GlcA transferase I: Smp 083130, Sjp 0062810, Sha 108192). The enzymes that catalyze polymerization of HS chains in vertebrates are exotosins (EXTs), at least three of which are annotated for *S. mansoni* (Smp 172060, Smp 146320 – two splice variants, Smp 073220). Putative HS 2-O- and 6-O-sulfotransferases and a HS N-deacetylase/N-sulfotransferase are also annotated (Smp 124020, Smp 075450, Smp 134250; Sjp 0060410, Sjp 0082020, Sjp 0094660) (283,286). Interestingly, no homolog of 3-O-sulfotransferase, the activity of which is required for generating the anti-thrombin inhibitory motif of mammalian HS, was found (326).

Circulating anodic antigen (CAA) is another GAG-like, O-linked glycoprotein antigen excreted by schistosomes, which is also under investigation as a diagnostic target (327). CAA is completely unique among all previously identified glycan structures, consisting of the repeating trisaccharide GalNAc $\beta$ 1,6-(GlcA $\beta$ 1,3)-GalNAc $\beta$ 1,6-, although it slightly resembles the backbone sequence of mammalian chondroitin sulfate, a repeating disaccharide containing GalNAc and GlcA (119,328,329). Currently, there are no genes annotated as  $\beta$ 1,6-GalNAcT in the *Schistosoma* genomes.

Interestingly, the NCBI gene database contains a second gene annotated as a  $\beta$ 3GlcAT (Accession no. CAD98790.1) (286). The conserved residues and domains of  $\beta$ 3GlcAT responsible for donor (UDP-GlcA) and acceptor (UDP-Gal) binding, and other critical aspects of the enzyme function, have been characterized (330). The residues associated with donor binding are well-conserved in the schistosome genes. The conserved amino acids associated with acceptor binding are almost completely maintained among the human, mouse, *C. elegans, S. mansoni*, and Sjp

0062810  $\beta$ 3GlcAT genes. However, there is a 15-amino acid stretch within the acceptor binding region in which all the sequences are well-conserved except for the second *S. japonicum*  $\beta$ 3GlcAT gene. It is tempting to speculate that if the second  $\beta$ 3GlcAT indeed represents a distinct gene sequence, then it may be responsible for the addition of GlcA to CAA, a linkage that is otherwise unknown in the animal kingdom. Or, perhaps one of the EXT genes or splice variants could be involved in CAA synthesis.

#### 1.4.6 Terminal motifs

It should be noted that sialic acids, common terminal sugars of mammalian glycans, have never been demonstrated as part of schistosome glycan motifs (1,2). In animals and microbes, sialic acid must be activated for use in glycan biosynthesis by conjugation with CTP, a process catalyzed by CMP-Sialic acid synthetase (3). These are encoded by the CMAS gene, which is highly conserved among vertebrates and well-conserved even in other prokaryotes and eukaryotes (4). No genes with significant homology spanning the functional domains of this gene were found in *C. elegans* or *Schistosoma* genomes. Most of the structures of the following glycans are depicted in **Table 1.1**.

#### 1.4.6.1 LN and LDN

LacNAc (LN) and lacdiNAc (LDN) are terminal modifications in *Schistosoma* glycoproteins. LN is more typically found in mammalian glycan structures and is frequently modified through sialylation, fucosylation, sulfation, or other sugars to generate a wide range of glycan epitopes. Glycans containing the LDN motif are commonly expressed by many invertebrates, including schistosome intermediate hosts and human pathogens, but also sometimes occur in vertebrates including several mammalian glycoproteins (5-9). LDN determinants present in parasite glycans has been shown to generate a humoral response by the human immune system, and interestingly both LN and LDN expression can initiate the formation of a granuloma in humans (10,12,331).

Galactosyltransferases (GalTs) and N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases (GalNAcTs) are crucial to LN and LDN synthesis, respectively. The presence of  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT and  $\beta$ 1-4GalT activity were discovered using extracts created from *S. mansoni* and the bird schistosome *Trichobilharzia ocellata* (9,13,14). Unlike its mammalian homolog, the schistosome  $\beta$ 1-4GalT activity is not altered by the presence of  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin (15). While a family of human glycosyltransferases responsible for LN synthesis has been reported, the first  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT cloned and characterized was from *C. elegans* (3,6,16). The Ce $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT has been shown to be fully functional with the ability create the LDN antigen on transfected Chinese Hamster Ovary cells (13). An equivalent enzyme that creates the UDP-Gal: $\beta$ -1,4-GlcNAc linkage necessary for the LN structure has not been identified in *C. elegans*. These advancements in understanding glycosyltransferases are a necessary first step, but research is still far from understanding the complex regulation and glycomics of LN and LDN synthesis.

Currently the schistosome database contains several glycosyltransferases potentially capable of generating these glycans linkages. A search of the database yields three putative  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT and six  $\beta$ 1-4GalT sequences (5). The nucleotide sequences of the  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcTs contain little homology to the *C. elegans* equivalents. However, protein alignments show improved homology among the catalytic domains of the *S. mansoni* and *C. elegans*  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcTs with approximately 30-40% identity. Similar levels of homology are found when comparing the Ce $\beta$ 1-4GalTs to the putative  $\beta$ 1-4GalT sequences. However, the database is far from complete, with many gene sequences lacking exons responsible for transmembrane regions or parts of the catalytic domain.

#### 1.4.6.2 Fucosylated variants

The LN and LDN motifs of schistosomes are also prominently  $\alpha$ 3-fucosylated on GlcNAc, resulting in Le<sup>x</sup> and LDNF, respectively. These trisaccharides function as both immunomodulators and antigens during infection. They are perhaps the best characterized of the C-type lectin ligands

present in schistosomes and targeted by antibodies of many infected hosts, but their exact roles in infection have yet to be elucidated (8,9,16-19).

Both  $Le^{x}$  and LDNF have been documented on glycoproteins and glycolipids of all three major schistosome species (8,10,16,20).  $Le^{x}$  is also a common feature of mammalian glycosylation, although it is often sulfated or sialylated (6). Its expression in schistosomes appears to be limited to the intramammalian stages and is especially prominent in the adult worm gut (5,21-23).  $Le^{x}$  is also one of the major secreted schistosome antigens, with repeats of the antigen making up the polysaccharide portion of CCA found in serum and urine (24). LDNF appears to be expressed by all stages of the parasite, most highly by eggs and the intramolluscan stages (14,16,25,26). In contrast, expression of LDNF is highly restricted in mammals – in humans it has been identified in urokinase and glycodelin (9,13).

Alpha2- and  $\alpha$ 3-linked multifucosylated glycans are major constituents of a diverse group of immunologically important LDN derived epitopes. These epitopes contain unique linkages including polyfucose elements Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3-R and the Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3GalNAc-motif generating FLDN, FLDNF, LDN-dF and dF-LDN-dF variants (105,106,110,332). These structures are not documented in any other parasitic or mammalian host species and induce high antibody responses in humans and primates (110,208,243,244). In fact, FLDNF is believed to be the motif responsible for the serological cross-reactivity with *S. mansoni* glycoconjugates and keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) of the mollusc *Megathura crenulata* (82,109,110,231,333). Additionally, the chitobiose core (-GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-) in complex type N-glycans can contain  $\alpha$ 6-linked fucose and the non-mammalian  $\alpha$ 3-linked fucose (105,332). Such core modifications, especially  $\alpha$ 3- fucosylation, account for the interspecific immunological cross-reactivity observed among plant, insect, and helminth glycoproteins (281,332,334).

Prior to 2013 the fucosyltranferases (FuT) multigene family in *S. mansoni* was essentially unknown and most of the predicted genes not been substantively characterized (335-337). GeneDB designated 22 genes as putative FuTs with various specificities ( $\alpha$ 3-,  $\alpha$ 6-, O-). Two genes are further

annotated as functioning on the core (Smp 154410) or generating Lewis structures (Smp 193620), however this activity has not been verified (283). Analysis of the protein products from those genes revealed the database was incomplete, and the genes were fragments of what is expected in a full length FuT protein. Some gene products were prematurely truncated or missing or missing exons in the stem or catalytic domains (300,338,339). Ascertaining this problem with the database, Peterson *et.al.* 2013 (332) published a comprehensive *in silico* study using RACE (Rapid Amplification of cDNA Ends) PCR to determine the full-length transcripts of the FuT genes from a *S. mansoni* cDNA library. Their study identified six  $\alpha$ 3-FuTs (four new enzymes, one pseudogene, one previously discovered), six  $\alpha$ 6-FuTs, and two protein O-FuTs. Interestingly, no  $\alpha$ 2-FuTs were identified. The FuTs identified contain conserved motifs as well as characteristic transmembrane domains, consistent with their putative roles as fucosyltransferases (301,332,340). This new data, when grouped with previous transcript level results, suggest a possible mechanism for differential expression of fucosylated glycans in schistosomes (289,290,332).

#### 1.4.6.3 Polylactosamine and poly-lacdiNAc

S. mansoni, like mammals, generates extended poly-N-acetyllactosamine (Gal $\beta$ 1,4-GlcNAc $\beta$ 1,3-Gal $\beta$ 1,4-GlcNAc; poly-LN) chains which can be further modified, most notably in the form of poly-Le<sup>x</sup> (89). Poly-Le<sup>x</sup> has been demonstrated on N-glycans as well as on the secreted O-linked (possibly core 1 and/or core 2-linked) CCA (119,341). Unusually, *S. mansoni* is also able to form extended polymers of lacdiNAc (poly-LDN) and fucosylated lacdiNAc (poly-LDNF) (107,108). This is the only naturally-occurring example of such a structure; however, cloning of *C. elegans*  $\beta$ 1,4-GalNAcT and human  $\alpha$ 1,3-fucosyltransferase 9 into Chinese Hamster Ovary Lec8 cells resulted in poly-LDN and poly-LDNF on N-glycans (342,343). An active  $\beta$ 1,3-N-Acetylglucosaminyltransferase ( $\beta$ 3GnT) in human serum has also demonstrated useful in chemo-enzymatic generation of both poly-Le<sup>x</sup> and poly-LDN extension activities on synthetic acceptors (344,345). These data indicate that the  $\beta$ 3GnTs which normally generate poly-LN in mammals are

likely able to perform the reaction with either  $\beta$ -linked Gal or GalNAc as an acceptor. This is hypothesized to be the case in schistosomes as well (107), although the regulatory factors that allow extension of LDN in schistosomes but not in mammals are unknown.

Mammalian  $\beta$ 3GnTs are part of a family of structurally-related  $\beta$ 1,3-glycosyltransferase genes, which includes both GlcNAc- and Gal-transferases (346). The *Schistosoma* genomes contain several genes homologous to this family, some of which are annotated as  $\beta$ 3GnTs and others as  $\beta$ 3GalTs, which have the conserved Galactosyl-T domain as well as a transmembrane region (283,286,290). The enzymatic activities of the eight known mammalian  $\beta$ 3GnT genes have been well-characterized, and each appears to have preferred substrates, such as  $\beta$ 3GnT2, which extends poly-LN on 2,6-branches of tri- and tetra-antennary N-glycans, and  $\beta$ 3GnT3, which extends poly-LN on O-linked core 1 (346). As most of the *Schistosoma* genes have a similar level of protein sequence similarity to several of the mammalian  $\beta$ 3GnT and vica versa, they will need to be cloned and biochemically characterized in order to determine which are responsible for extension of poly-Le<sup>x</sup>, poly-LDN(F) on N-glycans and poly-Le<sup>x</sup> on O-linked CCA, for example. A better understanding of the genetic basis of these polymeric antigens would be helpful as they are thought to be important antigenic targets, immunomodulators and, in the case of CCA, a validated diagnostic antigen (34,35,107,238,271,272).

#### 1.4.6.4 Xylose

Core  $\beta$ 1,2-xylose linked to the  $\beta$ -mannose of N-glycans was first identified in plants and has since been recognized as a common modification of plant N-glycans and an important epitope of plant glycoprotein allergens.  $\beta$ 2-xylosylation was subsequently identified in molluscs and then in *S. mansoni* and *S. japonicum* egg glycoproteins as well as *S. mansoni* cercariae in mass spectrometry studies (105,298). Western blot experiments suggest that several nematode and helminth species carry core  $\beta$ 1,2-xylose and that it is variably expressed on glycoproteins of all of the intramammalian life stages of *S. mansoni*, with highest expression in cercaria and eggs (164,281). Core  $\alpha$ 3-fucosylated/core  $\beta$ 2-xylosylated egg glycoproteins are also drivers of the Th2immune response in mice and targeted by IgG in *S. mansoni*-infected mice, humans and rhesus monkeys (164,271). However, it is not clear what role such glycoconjugates play in schistosome infection, how they are developmentally regulated, and if antibodies to  $\beta$ 1,2-xylose contribute to protection.

There are two core  $\beta$ 1,2-xylosyltransferases annotated in the S. mansoni genome and three in the S. japonicum genome (283,286). Sjp 0055390 shares the greatest protein sequence similarity with other worm, mollusk and plant sequences annotated as  $\beta$ -(1,2)-xylosyltransferases, including the well-characterized  $\beta$ 1,2-xylosyltransferase from *Arabadopsis thaliana* (AtXYLT) (286). AtXYLT is a type-II transmembrane protein, similar to other Golgi glycosyltransferases, with a conserved domain of unknown function (DUF563) that also occurs in the S. japonicum protein. AtXYLT adds a xylose  $\beta$ -linked to the central mannose of the N-glycan core structure, possibly acting at several points after the addition of GlcNAc $\beta$ 1,2 to the  $\alpha$ 1,3-Mannose at the nonreducing end during Golgi N-glycan processing (347-349). Smp 125150 is a shorter sequence which is also annotated as a  $\beta_{1,2}$ -xylosyltransferase (283), but may be a partial sequence as it aligns well with the N-terminal domain of Sip 0055390 and AtXYLT but ends before the conserved DUF commonly associated with  $\beta$ 1,2-XYLTs. Transcriptome analysis (RNA-Seq) of the S. mansoni genome suggested that Smp 125150 expression was high in cercaria and decreased through the schistosomula stages to undetectable levels in adult worms (290), which is potentially in agreement with the  $\beta$ 2-xylosylation data described above from mass spectrometry and Western blot studies. These two genes therefore represent likely candidates for the *Schistosoma*  $\beta$ 1,2-xylosyltransferases, and their improved characterization would benefit the developmental and immunological understanding of these worms.

Armed with this new genetic knowledge, we can now begint to explore a multitude of different classes of glycosyltransferases involved in various pathways of antigenic glycan biosynthesis and that their expression. This could open up the schistsome glycome to more detailed studies of important antigens and their roles in worms biology and host-pathogen interactions.

#### 1.5 Project aims

#### Aim I: Identification of immunogenic glycan antigens and reagent development

• To better understand the structural features targeted by infection and develop *S*. *mansoni* specific glycan reagents and technologies (*Chapters 2-3*)

## Aim II: Development of semi-synthetic approach for heterologous expression of glycosyltransferases

• To better understand the biosynthethic pathways of *S. mansoni* glycan production and generate important glycan structures for future studies (*Chapters 4-5*)

While a substantial body of literature on the biology and immunology of schistosome infection exists, the science has yet to translate into more sophisticated solutions for diagnosis, treatment, or prevention. This stems from a poor understanding of protective immunological mechanisms, insufficient knowledge of unique molecular structures of helminths, and a lack of innovative vaccine strategies to protect against complex, multicellular pathogens. We believe complex carbohydrates of helminths present an exciting opportunity to fill these gaps. Many glycan motifs, within glycoproteins and glycolipids or secreted materials, are unique to helminths or to a particular worm species. They are abundant on worm surfaces and secretions, and humans vigorously target these glycans in the natural immune response. Advances in glyco-technology have steadily increased our ability to understand this often-overlooked area of host-pathogen interactions.

In terms of vaccine development, successful approach may need to target more than one epitope given the rapid turnover of helminth surface antigens and the variation in their expression among life stages. Glycan epitopes offer the advantage of being densely distributed on numerous glycoconjugates on the parasite surface, and expressed throughout multiple life stages. The schistosome is a well-characterized demonstration of this observation. Our group has shown that LDN and LDNF are expressed on the surface of *S. mansoni* cercariae, schistosomules, and adult worms as well as in soluble egg antigens (168), and that LDNF is expressed on all three major schistosome species (234). Other fucosylated variants which are not shared by mammalian hosts, such as LDN-dF and FLDNF, have been localized to eggs, cercariae, adult gut and tegument, and appear on numerous distinct glycoproteins and glycolipids as detected by ELISA, Western blotting, and Immunofluorescence of whole parasites and parasite sections (82,350). Further studies are needed to better define the antigenic glycan structures of helminths. Furthermore, in order for theses glycans antigens to be explored for their diagnostic or vaccine potential, we need to develop the appropriate reagents and tools.

The identification of novel glycans synthesized by schistosomes, acknowledgment of their unique functions as immunomodulators, and their recognition as antigens has raised awareness of their importance. The complementary elucidation of the genomes of *Schistosoma* species has now opened the way to linking the glycogenome to the glycome, which has important consequences for the future of research in this area. Knowledge of specific genes encoding key parasite enzymes important in glycan synthesis may lead to new drugs targeted block glycan synthesis or metabolism in the parasite. Such a strategy has the potential to target the parasites directly and/or to modulate the host's immune response to the parasite, both of which could have therapeutic value. The availability of identified and functional genes for schistosome glycosyltransferases could lead to their use in semi-synthetic strategies to synthesize glycans that are very difficult to obtain from chemical synthesis. Using chemo-enzymatic approaches it may be possible to generate a widevariety of schistosome-related glycans and glycan determinants that would be ideal for screening of immune responses to glycan antigens in human and animal (271,272). Finally, knowledge of the schistosome genes could lead to their use in recombinant forms expressed in mammalian or insect cells to elaborate the schistosome glycome in a heterologous cells for use in immunization and functional studies (272).
# Chapter 2. IgG monoclonal antibody F2D2 binds the difucosylated FLDNF glycan epitope

Portions of this chapter were derived from (351) and are the result of a collaboration between R.D.C. and A.K.N. Manuscript is currently under preparation for submission.

Nelum Dorabawila<sup>1</sup>, Msano Mandalasi<sup>1</sup>, Megan L. Mickum<sup>2</sup>, Jorge Rodriguez<sup>1</sup>, Bernadette Ezeabikwa<sup>1</sup>, Lance Wells<sup>3</sup>, David F. Smith<sup>2</sup>, Richard D. Cummings<sup>2</sup> and A. Kwame Nyame<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Natural Sciences, University of Maryland Eastern Shores, Princess Anne, MD; <sup>2</sup>Department of Biochemistry and the Emory Glycomics Center, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322; <sup>3</sup>The Complex Carbohydrate Research Center, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, The University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia, USA

#### 2.1 Introduction

Schistosomiasis is a chronic, debilitating, infectious disease of humans and animals caused by parasitic blood trematodes of the genus *Schistosoma* (5,7-9). The disease is currently managed by treatment with the drug, Praziquantel and by snail intermediate host control measures (13,38,44-46,48,49). Lacking in the disease management regimen are vaccines for the protection of the approximately 700 million people in the endemic regions of the world at risk of contracting infections and for the prevention of the frequent re-infections observed after drug treatments (14,43-45,352). Vaccines and alternative therapies are also needed urgently to stem the emerging threat of the reduced efficacy of Praziquantel reported in sub-Saharan African subpopulations (353-356). Management and control of schistosomiasis is also greatly hampered by the lack of simple, specific and reliable serodiagnostics for detection of infections (30,31). The rather inconvenient and often unreliable method of examining stool or urine samples for the physical presence of parasite eggs remains the primary methods for diagnosis of infections (27-30).

Many of the current efforts directed at identifying immunogenic schistosome molecules for use as vaccine or serodiagnostic targets have focused primarily on parasite proteins. A variety of different proteins have been identified and proposed as schistosome vaccine candidates based on their immunogenicity in infected hosts (62,63). However, only one of the protein antigens, Bilhvax (Sh28-GST), has been developed to human clinical trial stages at present (64,221,357,358). The lack of success in developing the candidate protein antigens into vaccines may be related to the fact that many of the candidate protein antigens are cytosolic proteins that are not readily accessible to the immune effectors generated against them by vaccination (62,63,65-67).

Glycan structures on schistosome glycoconjugates have gained increasing attention as alternative vaccine and serodiagnostic targets due to observations that major humoral immune responses in infected hosts are directed to the glycan epitopes of the parasites' glycoconjugates (127,129,359). The advantage of using schistosome glycans as vaccine targets is based on the facts that glycan epitopes occur as covalently bonded conjugates on cell surface glycoproteins and glycolipids and thus are accessible for direct interactions with immune effectors released into host body fluids (168). Furthermore, unlike protein targets, a glycan epitope typically occurs on diverse array of glycoconjugates on the parasites' surfaces as observed for mammalian glycoconjugates and thus provide multiple targets for host immune attack (168). Additionally, glycans on secreted schistosome glycoproteins released into host body fluids could provide effective source of glycan antigens for stimulation of host immune responses.

Many immunogenic glycans of schistosomes have now been characterized (7,70-74). These glycans include: Le<sup>x</sup>, LDN, LDNF, LDN-dF, FLDNF, dF-LDN-dF (1,7,89,104-110,298,360,361). Knowledge of the glycan structures has allowed the synthesis, testing, and confirmation of the immunogenicity of Le<sup>x</sup>, LDN, and LDNF, core xylose/core fucose (CX/CF) and trimannosyl core epitopes in infected hosts (115,271,272,298). The immunogenicity of the other identified parasite glycans and the protective efficacy of schistosome glycans in general have not been determined. Furthermore, the role of the glycans in schistosome development and overall parasite immunobiology has not been extensively studied. In mammalian systems, glycans on secreted and membrane glycoconjugates play roles in diverse cellular processes including cell-cell interactions, cell development, protein folding and sorting as well as regulation of cellular signal transduction events (362-364). It is conceivable that schistosome glycans play similar roles in many aspects of the parasites' biology including host-schistosome interactions, and that changes in expression of the glycans by the developing parasites could be involved in the evasion tactics employed by the parasites for survival in their permissive hosts (7,17,178,246,252,365). It must be noted that successful development of vaccines against schistosome infections would require an understanding of many aspects of the molecular mechanisms employed by the parasites to survive within the host in the face of the anti-schistosome immune responses, especially anti-glycan responses, mounted by infected hosts (55,57,189,228,361).

A major limitation in the study of the immunogenicity and biological functions of schistosome glycans has been the lack of adequate quantities of the parasite glycans as well as the lack of specific antibodies needed for purification and tracking of the glycans in developing parasites. A small number of schistosome glycan epitopes have now been synthesized by chemienzymatic methods in adequate amounts to begin the study of their immunogenicities (240,271,342). We have now initiated research to generate high affinity and specific IgG mAbs to schistosome glycans to facilitate the purification and tracking of immunogenic parasite glycans to promote the elucidation of the biological functions of the glycans. We previously reported the use of splenocytes from Swiss Webster mice infected for 10 wk with *S. mansoni* to generate a specific high affinity IgG mAb to Le<sup>x</sup> glycans of the parasites, and showed by the epitope was sparingly expressed on the surface cercariae but was abundantly expressed on the surface of adult schistosome suggesting a potential role of Le<sup>x</sup> glycans in schistosome development (115). We now report the use of the same approach to generate an IgG mAb to difucosylated FLDNF glycan epitope that is developmentally expressed by the parasites and is also expressed on glycoproteins from keyhole limpet hemocyanin and the hemolymph of susceptible stages of *Biomphalaria* glabrata intermediate snail hosts.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Materials

Keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and cholera toxin (CT) were obtained from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA). Peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (y chain-specific), peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM (µ chain-specific) and ABTS/peroxidase substrate were purchased from Kirkegaard and Perry (Gaithersburg, MD). Peroxidase-conjugated goat antimouse IgG isotyping kit was obtained from Southern Biotechnology Associates, Inc. (Birmingham, AL). Precast polyacrylamide gels and SFM media were from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Silver staining kit, nitrocellulose membrane (22µm pore size), SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate and spin columns were obtained from Bio-Rad Laboratories (Hercules, CA). BCA protein assay kit, dialysis tubing and Ultralink-hydrazine biosupport were purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific (Rockford, IL). L-fucose, D-glucose, D-galactose, D-N-acetylglucosamine, D-Nacetylgalactosamine, D-mannose, D-xylose, OPI (1 mM oxaloacetate, 0.45 mM pyruvate and 0.2 U/mL Insulin), HAT (5 mM hypoxanthine, 20 µM aminopterin, 1.6 mM thymine) and HT (10 mM hypoxanthine, 1.6 mM thymine) hybridoma media supplements were from Sigma (St Louis, MO). Peptide N-glycosidase F (PNGase F) was obtained from\_New England Biolabs (Ipswich, MA) and bovine kidney α-fucosidase was from Prozyme (Heyward, CA). Protease inhibitor cocktail tablets were purchased from Roche Applied Science (Indianapolis, IN). MEP HyperCel was from Pall Life Sciences (Ann Arbor, MI). Microtiter ELISA plates (Immulon 4HBX) were from Thermo Electron Corp. (Milford, MA). Iscoves tissue culture media, L-glutamine and fetal bovine serum (FBS) were purchased from MediaTek (Manassas, VA). Tissue culture flasks and plates were from Corning

Life Sciences (Lowell, MA). Cryoprotective medium (15% DMSO in Eagle's medium in Hanks) was obtained from Lonza (Walkersville, MD). Nalge Nunc roller bottles and bovine serum albumin (BSA) was from Fisher Scientific (Pittsburgh, PA)

#### 2.2.2 Parasites

Schistosoma mansoni (Puerto Rico strain) life cycle stages were prepared using published protocols (366). Cercariae were shed into snail water from *Biomphalaria glabrata* snails infected for 4 wk with *S. mansoni* miracidia. The released cercariae were chilled at 4°C to immobilize the larvae and centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The cercariae were recovered in the pellet fractions and used immediately or stored frozen at -80°C. Eggs were isolated from livers of Swiss Webster mice infected for 6 wk with ~250 *S. mansoni* cercariae using protocols described previously (366). The livers were kept overnight at room temperature and then minced to small pieces. The minced livers were suspended in 1.2% NaCl solution and blended for 30 seconds. The liver suspension was applied to a tier of 4 sieves arranged in a decreasing order of mesh sizes from 425, 180, 106, 45µm and sprayed profusely with 1.2% NaCl to push the eggs through the top sieves to the 45 µm sieve where the eggs were retained. The eggs were recovered from the 45µm sieve into a beaker by spraying the mesh with 1.2% NaCl solution. The eggs were washed 3x with 1.2% NaCl solution and 2x with PBS, pH 7.6 and used directly or stored as a wet pellet at -20°C.

#### 2.2.3 Production of Hybridoma

Hybridomas were prepared by fusing SP2/O myeloma cells with splenocytes recovered from Swiss Webster mice infected for 10 wk with 30-35 *S. mansoni* cercariae using protocols described previously (367). Briefly, the hybridomas were distributed into 8, 96-well tissue cultures plates and grown in Iscoves media supplemented with 8 mM L-glutamine, 2x HAT and OPI and grown at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere for 2 wk. Culture supernatants from each well (50 µl) were tested by ELISA using SEA as antigenic target. Hybridomas secreting antibodies to SEA were subsequently analyzed by ELISA against SEA targets that had been pretreated with periodate (NaIO<sub>4</sub>)/borohydride (NaBH<sub>4</sub>) to effect the degradation of glycan epitopes and allow selection of hybridomas secreting mAb to glycan epitopes of SEA, KLH, and BGH. Selected hybridomas were selected and cloned by the limiting dilution technique. Single cell clones secreting antibodies to KLH and BGH were selected and designated F2D2. The F2D2 secreting hybridomas were weaned off HAT by first growing them in Iscoves media containing 20 % FBS, HT (100 µM hypoxanthine, 16 µM thymine) and 8 mM glutamine and finally in Iscoves media containing 20% FBS and 8 mM glutamine. The cloning and selection of single cell clones was repeated 3x in Iscoves/20% FBS/8 mM glutamine to ensure clonal purity of the hybridoma. The single cell clones were sequentially expanded into 24-well plates, 12-well plates and T-75 flasks and either expanded into T150 flasks in Iscoves media containing 20% FBS and 8 mM glutamine for production of mAbs or the cells were recovered by centrifugation at 1,200 rpm for 3 min and re-suspended in 50% FBS in cryoprotective media (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) for storage at -150°C.

#### 2.2.4 Propagation of Hybridoma Cells in Serum Free Media

Hybridoma clones secreting mAb F2D2 were grown in 4, T-150 tissue culture flasks in Iscoves media containing 20% FBS, 8 mM glutamine to 80% confluence density and the contents of each flask were split equally into two T-150 flasks to obtain eight flasks of cells and equal volumes of SFM/8 mM glutamine were added to each flask to dilute the FBS content of the media in each flask to 10% FBS and the cells were grown to 80% confluence density. The contents of each flask were split equally once again into two T-150 flasks as described above to obtain a total of 16 flasks of cells and equal volumes of SFM/8 mM glutamine were added to make the FBS content of each flask 5% FBS and the cells were grown to 80% confluence density. The contents from all 16, T-150 flasks were recovered into sterile 50 ml tubes and centrifuged at 1,200 rpm for 3 min. The cell pellets were recovered and suspended in 1 L SFM/8 mM glutamine media and transferred into a 2 L tissue culture roller bottle. The cells were grown in a Wheaton roll-in incubator at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere with a roller motor setting of 20 V over a period of

approximately 1 month till the live cell density dropped to 5%. The contents of the roller bottle were centrifuged at 1,200 rpm for 5 min to remove cells and the culture supernatant was recovered and centrifuged at 15,000 rpm to remove particulate material. The supernatant was recovered and filtered through Whatman No.1 filter paper. Benzamidine was added to the filtrate to a final concentration of 1mM benzamidine and saved for purification of the secreted mAb.

#### 2.2.5 Purification of Secreted mAb F2D2 by MEP HyperCel

Monoclonal antibody F2D2 secreted into SFM was purified by hydrophobic charge induction chromatography (HCIC) over columns of MEP HyperCel using instructions provided by the manufacturer (). Briefly, filtered SFM media derived from roller bottles were applied to a 10 ml column of MEP HyperCel (1 x 20 cm column) pre-equilibrated with wash buffer (50 mM Tris-HCI, pH 8.0) and the media was allowed to percolate through the column. Unbound material was washed off the column with wash buffer and 10-ml fractions were collected. The fractions were monitored for protein by UV absorbance measurements at 280 nm to verify complete removal of unbound proteins from the column. Bound mAb was then eluted with 50 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.5, and 5 ml fractions were collected. The eluted column fractions were monitored for protein by UV absorbance at 280 nm as described above and the purity of the eluted protein fractions were determined by SDS-PAGE. Fractions containing mAb were pooled and dialyzed against TBS. The dialysate was centrifuged at 13000 rpm and the supernatant fraction was recovered. The protein content of the fraction was determined by BCA assay and the mAb was aliquoted and stored at 4°C.

#### 2.2.6 Preparation of Neoglycoproteins

The human milk oligosaccharides, lacto-N-neo-tetraose (LNnT; Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) and lacto-N-fucopentaose III (LNFPIII; Gal $\beta$ 1-4[Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3]GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) were purchased from V-Labs (Covington, LA). LacdiNAc tetratose (LDNT; GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) and lacdiNAc fucopentaose (LDNFP; GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4[Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3]GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) were synthesized by chemi-enzymatic remodeling of LNnT by a modification of protocols described previously (Nyame *et al.*, 1999). Briefly, the terminal galactose residue of LNnT was cleaved by treatment with  $\beta$ -galactosidase and replaced with GalNAc in  $\beta$ 1-4 linkage using  $\beta$ 1-4-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase and UDP-GalNAc to generate LDNT. LDNFP was synthesized from LDNT using  $\alpha$ 1-3-fucosyltransferase and GDP-Fuc. After synthesis of each glycan, the reaction mixtures were passed over columns of QAE-Sephadex to remove proteins, free sugar nucleotides and nucleotides. The unbound fractions which contained the uncharged neutral synthesized oligosaccharides were recovered and dried in a vacuum evaporator. The residue was re-suspended in water and applied to a column BioGel P-2 and the column fractions were monitored for sugar by absorbance at 215 nm. The synthesized LDNT and LDNFP oligosaccharides were recovered in the void fractions and dried down in vacuum evaporator and re-suspended in water. The sugar content was determined by phenol sulfuric assay and the structure of the synthesized oligosaccharides were confirmed by MALDI-TOF MS. The LDNT and LDNFP oligosaccharides were subsequently conjugated chemically to BSA by the reductive amination procedure (262,268).

#### 2.2.7 Preparation of soluble egg extracts and other detergent extracts

Soluble egg antigen (SEA) was prepared using protocols described previously (366). *S. mansoni* eggs were suspended in minimal volume of cold PBS, pH 7.6 supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail at 10x the manufacturer's suggested concentration (1 tablet/1 ml PBS) and sonicated on ice at 55% amplitude with 0.8 sec pulse on/0.2 sec pulse off for 1 min. The homogenate was allowed to cool for 1 min after each round of sonication until no intact eggs could be observed by microscopic examination. The pulverized egg homogenate was centrifuged at  $13,000 \times g$  for 30 min at 4 °C and the supernatant fraction containing the soluble egg antigens was recovered. The protein content of the preparation was determined by BCA assay and the extract was aliquoted were stored and frozen at -20 °C.

*S. mansoni* cercariae were sonicated in cold PBS containing 10x protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Indianapolis, IN) essentially as described above for SEA. Triton X-100 was added to the homogenates to a final concentration of 0.5 % detergent and incubated at room temperature for 30 min to solubilize membrane-bound proteins. The parasite homogenates were centrifuged at 13,000 x g to remove insoluble material and the supernatant fractions were recovered as detergent extracts of the parasites. Protein contents of the extracts were determined by the BCA protein assay and the extracts were aliquoted and stored frozen at -20°C.

#### 2.2.8 Preparation of Cross-Reactive Proteins

Keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH), cholera toxin B-chain (CT), honeybee phospholipase  $A_2$  (PLA<sub>2</sub>), and horse radish peroxidase (HRP) were prepared in PBS, pH 7.2 at final concentrations of 5 mg/ml. Bovine milk glycoprotein (BMGP) was purified from nonfat dry milk by chromatography on 10 mg/ml column of concanavalin A-Sepharose (Pharmacia, ) as described previously (368). Bound BMGPs were eluted from the column with 500 mM  $\alpha$ -methyl-D-mannoside and dialyzed against PBS, pH 7.2. Protein content of the BMGP preparation was determined by BCA assay. All the cross reactive protein samples were aliquoted and stored frozen at -20°C.

#### 2.2.9 Preparation of Snail Hemolymph

Hemolymph was derived from young *Biomphalaria glabrata* snails by puncturing the foothead and recovering the released hemolymph with a micropipette. The recovered hemolymph was centrifuged at 16,000 rpm for 30 min to remove particulate material and the supernatant fraction was recovered. The protein content of the hemolymphs were determined by BCA protein assay and the samples were store frozen at -20°C.

#### 2.2.10 ELISA of Proteins and Nepglycoconjugates

Soluble egg antigen (SEA; 5 µg/ml), keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH; 40 µg/ml), horse radish peroxidase (HRP; 10 µg/ml), bovine milk glycoproteins (BMGP; 10 µg/ml) and honeybee phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>; 10 µg/ml), cholera toxin (CT; 10 µg/ml), Biomphalaria glabrata hemolymph (BGH, 1:20 dilution); mutant BS-90 Biomphalaria glabrata hemolymph (BS90H, 1:10 dilution) and Bulinus truncatus hemolymph (BTH) in phosphate buffer saline (PBS; 6.7 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.6, 0.15 M NaCl), pH 7.6 at were used as antigenic targets. Neoglycoconjugate antigens, LDNT-BSA, LDNFP-BSA, and LNFPIII-BSA which bear defined schistosome-type glycan antigens and LNnT-BSA were prepared in PBS at concentrations of 2µg/ml respectively. Microtiter wells (96 wells) were coated with 50 µl of each antigen solution in triplicate and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. The wells were washed and blocked with 250 µl of 3 % BSA solution in PBS for 30 min. The wells were washed incubated with 50 µl of 10 µg/ml solution of mAb F2D2 in dilution solution for 30 min. The wells were washed to remove unbound mAb and incubated for 30 min with 50  $\mu$ l of 1:10,000 dilution of HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG ( $\gamma$ chain specific) secondary antibody in dilution solution. The wells were washed to remove unbound secondary antibodies and the bound antibodies were revealed by incubating the wells with 100  $\mu$ l of ABTS/peroxidase substrate for 5 min followed by absorbance reading of the wells at 405 nm using a Victor3 microtiter plate reader (PerkinElmer, Downers Grove, IL).

Antibody dilutions were carried out in a dilution solution of PBS/1 % BSA/ 0.3 % Tween-20. For ELISA involving cross-reactive antigens, KLH, BGH, HRP, PLA2, BMGP and CT, bound antibodies were detected by incubation with 50  $\mu$ l of 1:2000 dilution of alkaline phosphatase conjugated goat-anti-mouse IgG ( $\gamma$ -chain specific) secondary antibody followed by incubation with 100  $\mu$ l of 1 mg/ml solution of *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate in 100 mM Tris-glycine buffer, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 9.0 and absorbance measurements of the wells was conducted at 405 nm. The subclass of mAb F2D2 was determined by coating microtiter wells with SEA and blocking the wells with BSA followed by incubation with mAb F2D2 as described above. The subclass of the bound mAb was determined by incubations with 50  $\mu$ l of 1:500 dilutions of alkaline phosphatase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM, IgG, IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b or IgG3 and *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate. All the ELISA incubations were performed at room temperature for 30 min/per incubation. The microtiter wells were washed 6x between each incubation using PBS/0.3% Tween-30 buffer and Ultra Wash Plus microtiter plate washer (Dynex Technologies, Chantilly, VA). Each antigen was analyzed in triplicate and the results represent averages of the triplicates.

#### 2.2.11 ELISA of Periodate/Borohydride Treated Antigens

Microtiter wells were coated in with SEA, KLH or BGH as described above, and washed 1x with PBS, pH 7.2, followed by 2 washes with 50 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.5. The wells were subsequently incubated with 250 µl of 5 mM solution of sodium periodate (NaIO4) in 50 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.5 at room temperature in the dark for 1 h. Control wells were incubated with 250 µl of 50 mM sodium acetate buffer pH 4.5 without sodium periodate. The wells were washed 1x with 50 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.5, 2x with PBS, pH 7.2 and incubated with 250 µl of 50 mM sodium borohydride (NaBH4) in PBS, pH 7.2 buffer at room temperature for 30 min to convert the reactive aldehydes generated by the periodate treatment to alcohols. The wells were washed 6x with ELISA wash buffer and blocked by incubation with 3% BSA/PBS solution for 1 h. The wells were washed and incubated with 50 µl of 10 µg/ml mAb F2D2 for 30 min and ABTS/H2O2 substrate for 5 min. The absorbance readings of the wells were carried out as described above.

#### 2.2.12 ELISA in the Presence of Free Haptenic Sugars

Microtiter wells were coated in triplicate with 50  $\mu$ l of either 5  $\mu$ g/ml SEA, 10  $\mu$ g/mL of KLH or 1:20 dilution of BGH and blocked with 3% solution of BSA in PBS at room temperature for 30 min as described above. Stock solutions of 1  $\mu$ g/ml mAb F2D2 in ELISA dilution solution

containing 800 mM of either fucose (Fuc), mannose (Man), xylose (Xyl), galactose (Gal), glucose (Glc), N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) or N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) were prepared and serially diluted 2-fold with 1 µg/ml solution of mAb F2D2 in dilution solution to generate a set of 1 µg/ml solutions of mAb F2D2 containing 800, 400, 200, 100, 50, 25, 12.5, 6.25 mM of the different monosaccharides respectively. A 1 µg/ml F2D2 solution in dilution solution without any monosaccharide was prepared as a control. The antigen coated, BSA blocked microtiter wells were incubated with 50 µl of each dilution of the antibody/monosaccharide solutions in triplicate and bound antibodies were detected by incubations with HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG and ABTS/peroxidase substrate as described above followed by absorbance measurements of the wells at 405 nm. The antibody incubations were carried out at room temperature for 30 min/incubation while substrate incubations were carried out at room temperature for 5 min. The microtiter wells were washed 6x between incubations as described above.

#### 2.2.13 Glycosidase Treatments

Approximately 5  $\mu$ g of SEA was treated with bovine kidney  $\alpha$ -fucosidase (Prozyme, San Francisco, CA) at 37°C in a total volume of 20  $\mu$ l using buffers and instructions provided by the manufacturer. As a control 5  $\mu$ g of SEA was mock treated by omitting the  $\alpha$ -fucosidase from the reaction mixture. SDS-PAGE sample buffer was added to the samples and boiled for 10 min for analysis by SDS-PAGE and Western blot. For the PNGase F treatments, approximately 5  $\mu$ g of SEA, KLH, or BGH were mixed with denaturing buffer provided by the manufacturer (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) and boiled for 10 min to denature proteins. The samples were cooled to room temperature, mixed with enzyme sample buffer and treated with PNGase F at 37°C according to instructions provided by the manufacturer. SDS-PAGE sample buffer was subsequently added and the enzyme treated samples boiled for 10 min for analysis by SDS-PAGE and Western blot.

#### 2.2.14 SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis

Samples were boiled for 10 minutes in SDS-PAGE sample buffer and separated on 4-20% precast polyacrylamide gels (Invitrogen) at 125 V for 2 h. The gels were either stained with Coomasie blue stain for imaging of protein bands or the separated proteins were transferred from the gels onto nitrocellulose or PVDF membrane at 20 V for 12h at room temperature using a transfer buffer of 48 mM Tris, 39 mM glycine pH 9.2, with 20% methanol. The membrane was blocked by incubation in 5 % BSA solution in Tris-buffer saline (TBS; 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 150 mM NaCl) for 1 h at room temperature with gentle shaking. The membrane was washed 3x in wash buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 0.3 m NaCl, 0.05% Tween-20) by gentle agitation for 10 min per each wash and incubated in 10 μg/ml solution of mAb F2D2 in dilution buffer (TBS, 0.3% Tween-20, 1% BSA) for 1 h at room temperature. The membrane was washed 3x with Western blot wash buffer and incubated in 1: 10,000 dilution of HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (γ-chain specific) secondary antibody in dilution buffer for 30 min at room temperature. The membrane was washed 3x with wash buffer and antibody bound bands were revealed by incubation in SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate for 30 to 60 s depending on blot and then imaged on an UVP EC-3 digital imager or exposure to x-ray film.

#### 2.2.15 Periodate/Borohydride Treatment and Western Blot Analysis

SEA, KLH and BGH were separated by SDS-PAGE in duplicate and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes as described above. One membrane was incubated with 100 ml of 5 mM solution of sodium periodate (NaIO<sub>4</sub>) in 50 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.5 at room temperature in the dark with agitation for 1 h. The other membrane was mock treated by incubation with 50 mM sodium acetate buffer pH 4.5 without sodium periodate. The membranes were washed 1x with 50 mM sodium acetate buffer, pH 4.5, 2x with PBS, pH 7.2 and incubated with 100 ml of 50 mM sodium borohydride (NaBH<sub>4</sub>) in PBS, pH 7.2 buffer at room temperature for 30 min. The membranes were washed 3x with TBS, blocked with 5% BSA in TBS and incubated with10 µg/ml

mAb F2D2 in Western blot dilution solution. Bound antibodies were revealed by incubation with HRP conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG followed by incubation with SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate and imaging on a UVP EC-3 imager.

#### 2.2.16 Beta-Elimination and Western Blotting

SEA, detergent extracts of cercariae and desialylated Jurkat cells, BGH and KLH were separated by SDS-PAGE in duplicate and the protein bands were transferred on PVDF membrane as described above. One duplicate membrane was subjected to β-elimination by overnight incubation in 55 mM solution of NaOH in water at 40°C with gentle agitation. The other membrane was mock treated in water under the same incubation conditions as the NaOH treated membrane. The treated and mock treated membranes were washed 3x in TBS, pH 7.4, blocked in 5% BSA/TBS for 1 h washed 3x with Western blot wash buffer and incubated for 1 h with 10 µg/ml mAb F2D2 or 2 µg/ml WFA in Western blot dilution buffer. The membranes were washed 3x high salt TTBS and incubated with 1:10,000 dilution of goat anti-mouse IgG HRP conjugate or 1:5000 dilution of HRP conjugated streptavidin in Western blot dilution buffer for 1 h. The membranes were washed 3x with TTBS and reactive bands were revealed by incubation in SuperSignal chemiluminescent and imaging on UVP-EC3 imager as described above.

#### 2.2.17 Enzymatic Release and Labeling of N-glycans from KLH

KLH (1 g) was dissolved in 35 ml of deionized-water (di-water) in a glass tube. Methanol (2.67 volumes) and chloroform (1.33 volumes) were added to the KLH solution sequentially with sonication to yield a final mixture of KLH in chloroform: methanol: water in a ratio of 4:8:3. The mixture was centrifuged at 9,000 rpm at ambient temperature for 10 min. The protein pellet was recovered, dried briefly under a jet of nitrogen gas to remove traces of organic solvent and dissolved in 10 ml of 0.2 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.2. Stock solutions of guanidinium chloride and dithiotreitol (DTT) in 0.2 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.2 were added sequentially to a final concentration of 5.33 M guanidinium

chloride and 0.06 M DTT respectively and the mixture was rotated gently for 1 h at room temperature to denature the KLH and reduce disulfide bonds. Thiol groups in KLH were alkylated with iodoacetamide by adjusting the solution to a final concentration of <u>0.045</u> M DTT, 6 M guanidinium chloride and 0.045 M iodoacetamide with a stock solution of in 0.2 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.2 and incubating the sample at 37°C for 30 min. The mixture was transferred into a dialysis tubing (6,000-8,000 molecular weight cut-off) and dialyzed against running di-water overnight at 4 °C. The dialyzed KLH was lyophilized and dissolved in 15 ml of 50 mM phosphate buffer pH 8.2.

Trypsin (25 mg) was mixed into the KLH solution and incubated overnight at 37 °C with gentle rotation. The mixture was boiled at 100 °C for 10 min to inactivate the trypsin and then cooled to room temperature. PNGase F (25  $\mu$ l of 500,000 U/ml stock) was gently mixed into the solution. Sodium azide (NaN<sub>3</sub>) was added to a final concentration of 0.02% NaN<sub>3</sub> and the solution was incubated at 37 °C for 48 h with gentle rotation. Another 25  $\mu$ l of PNGase F was added and the mixture was incubated further for 24 h at 37°C with gentle rotation. Aliquots of the enzyme reaction mixture (200  $\mu$ l) were sampled sequentially at 0, 24, 48 and 72 h intervals during the PNGase F digestion to determine complete digestion.

After digestion, the solution was sequentially passed through conditioned C18 Sep-Pak cartridge and a Carbograph cartridge. The Carbograph column was washed (6 CVs), and the bound glycans were eluted with 3 CVs of 50% acetonitrile in 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) and dried under vacuum before labeling. The AEAB-KLH preparations were labeled with the bifunctional fluorescent linker AEAB (2-amino-N-(2-aminoethyl)-benzamide) as described (268). Dried AEAB-KLH glycans were resuspended in 0.1ml of 0.35M AEAB plus 0.1ml of 1M NaCNBH<sub>3</sub> in DMSO:AcOH (7:3 v/v), and incubated at 65°C for 2h. After cooling, 2ml of acetonitrile was added, the sample incubated at -20°C for 30min, and centrifuged at 9,000rpm for 10min. The pellet was then dissolved in 0.2ml water for separation by F2D2 immunoaffinity.

#### 2.2.18 Immobilization of monoclonal antibody F2D2 to Ultralink hydrazine biosupport

Monoclonal antibody F2D2 was immobilized onto Ultralink hydrazide beads according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 27 mg of mAb F2D2 in Tris-buffer saline (TBS; 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 0.15 M NaCl) was exchanged into 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.2, and concentrated to 2 ml using an Amicon ultra-15 centrifugal filter unit (Millipore, Billerica, MA). The antibody solution was mixed with 12 mg of sodium periodate (NaIO<sub>4</sub>) and incubated for 30 min at room temperature in the dark with periodic swirling. The mixture was passed over a 10 ml desalting column to remove the periodate, and the void fractions were recovered and added to 5 ml of Ultralink hydrazide beads pre-equilibrated in 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer pH 7.2 in a 5 ml chromatographic column. The Ultralink hydrazide-mAb F2D2 mixture was incubated at RT for 1 h and then overnight at 4 °C with gentle rotation. Uncoupled mAb was drained from the column and the F2D2-Ultralink matrix was washed 3x alternately with phosphate buffer saline (PBS; 6.7 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.6, 0.15 M NaCl, pH 7.2) and 1 M NaCl to remove traces of unconjugated mAb. Approximately 12.2 mg of uncoupled mAb was recovered in the material drained from the column matrix as determined by BCA protein assay. Thus, it was estimated that 14.8 mg of the 27 mg of mAb F2D2 used for coupling was immobilized to the Ultralink matrix. Given that 5 ml of Ultralink matrix was used, the coupling density of the column was calculated to be approximately 2.9 mg of mAb/ml matrix.

## 2.2.19 Affinity Purification of PNGase F Released AEAB-labeled KLH Glycans on F2D2-Ultralink Column

Approximately 2.3 µmols of AEAB-KLH glycans or AEAB-lactose in PBS, pH 7.6 were applied to 2 ml of packed F2D2-Ultralink (2.9 mg antibody/ml Ultralink) in a 4 ml (0.5 x 20 cm) glass columns (Bio Rad, Hercules, CA) and 1 ml fractions were collected. Unbound material was washed from the column with 5 column volumes of PBS, and 1 ml fractions were collected. Bound AEAB-KLH glycans were batch eluted by applying 900 µl of 0.1 M glycine-HCl, pH 2.5 to the

column at a time and allowing the buffer to drain through the column into tubes containing 100 µl of 1 M Tris-base, pH 11. The contents of the tubes were vortexed to mixed and neutralize the eluted material. Ten batch eluted fractions were collected. The fluorescence associated with the unbound and bound column fractions were determined on a Victor3 fluoresecence microtiter plate reader (PerkinElmer) at 355 nm excitation /460 nm emission and the data was plotted on a graph. Peak column fractions from the bound material were pooled separately and desalted using mini carbograph cartridges as previously described. The affinity purified AEAB-KLH glycans were dried in a Speed-vac evaporator and dissolved in 1 ml water mass analysis.

#### 2.2.20 Mass Spectrometry Analysis of KLH Glycans

For MS and MS<sup>n</sup> analysis, samples were directly infused into a linear ion trap mass spectrometer (LTQ-XL, Thermo Scientific) at a flow rate of 0.4–0.6  $\mu$ L/min. From the acquired full MS scans, select *m/z* values were selected to undergo MS/MS fragmentation by collision-induced dissociation (CID). The MS/MS fragmentation spectra were generated by applying 35% collision energy and collected over 30 seconds. The acquired MS/MS spectra were processed using XCalibur (Thermo, San Jose).

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 F2D2 is an IgG monoclonal antibody that recognizes a unique glycan epitope in SEA

Monoclonal antibody F2D2 was produced from a hybridoma clone prepared from splenocytes of Swiss Webster mice infected for 10 wk with *S. mansoni*. Splenocytes from 10 wk old infections were used because previous studies revealed that optimum IgG and minimum IgM responses of *S. mansoni*-infected Swiss Webster mice to glycan antigens of the parasites occur at wk 10 post infection and that splenocytes from mice infected for 10 wk with the trematodes had been used earlier to generate IgG mAb to Le<sup>x</sup> antigens (115). The hybridoma secreting mAb F2D2

was identified and selected by ELISA analysis of hybridoma culture supernatants using SEA, defined schistosome glycan antigens and glycoproteins/proteins reported to share cross-reactive epitopes with *S. mansoni* as antigenic targets. This first screening was performed by incubating microtiter wells coated with SEA and neoglycocongugates LNFPIII-BSA, LDN-BSA, LDNFP-BSA which bear the defined Le<sup>X</sup>, LDN and LDNF schistosome-type glycan epitopes respectively with hybridoma culture supernatants and probing for bound antibodies (**Figure 2.1A**). The antibodies in the culture supernatant bound to SEA but did not bind to any of the three defined schistosome-type glycans antigens (**Figure 2.1A**).



# Figure 2.1. Purification and characterization of the binding specificity and isotype of monoclonal antibody F2D2 by ELISA and Western blot.

Microtiter wells were coated with SEA and BSA conjugates of the indicated defined glycan antigens (50  $\mu$ l of 5  $\mu$ g/ml solution) and left untreated (**A**), mock treated, or treated with periodate/sodium borohydride incubated (**B**). Plates were then incubated with F2D2 hybridoma culture supernatant and bound antibodies were probe by peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG or IgM and ABTS/peroxidase substrate. (**C**) Serum free media containing secreted mAb F2D2 was applied to a column MEP-Hypercel and bound mAb was eluted with 50 mM acetate buffer, pH 4.5. Fractions containing antibodies as assessed by UV absorbance at 280 nm. (**D**) The purity of the F2D2 preparation was determined by analysis of 10  $\mu$ g aliquot by SDS-PAGE on 4-20% polyacrylamide gradient gel and stained by Coomassie blue. Mouse IgG was analyzed as a control. (**E**) Micro titer wells were coated with SEA (50  $\mu$ l of 5  $\mu$ g/ml solution) and incubated with purified F2D2 (50  $\mu$ l of 10  $\mu$ g/ml

solution). Bound antibodies were probed with peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b or IgG3 and ABTS/peroxidase substrate. All the ELISAs were performed in triplicate and the results represent averages of the triplicates.

To control for antibodies reacting to the glycan compenent of SEA, coated microtiter wells were treated with periodate to effect destruction of glycan epitopes by cleavage of vicinal diols within the sugar epitopes followed by treatment with borohydride to convert the reactive aldehydes generated by the periodate reaction to non-reactive alcohols (363). For controls, SEA coated microtiter wells were mock treated by incubating the wells with buffer lacking periodate, followed by incubation with borohydride. The treated and mock treated wells were blocked with BSA, incubated with F2D2 hybridoma culture supernatants and probed for bound antibodies. No antibody binding was observed for ELISA wells treated with periodate/borohydride while the mock treated wells bound the antibody (**Figure 2.1B**) indicating that the antibody in the culture supernatant bound glycan epitopes in SEA. This combination with the neoglyconjugate ELISA suggests F2D2 antibody target is a glycan epitope in SEA distinct from the three defined glycan antigens. We therefore proceeded to clone, purify and characterize the antibody further.

#### 2.3.2 Purification and Characterization of mAb F2D2

To further characterize the antigenic specificity of the antibodies secreted by the hybridoma, the cells were cloned by standard cloning protocol described previously (115) to generate a single cell clones secreting antibodies to SEA but not to Le<sup>X</sup>, LDN or LDNF epitopes (data not shown) and the mAb was designated F2D2. The clone was weaned for propagation in serum free media as described in "Materials and Methods" and grown in 1 L SFM in roller bottles over a period of 1 month. The culture media was recovered by centrifugation and applied to a column of Mep Hypercel to which the secreted antibodies in the SFM bound. Unbound, non antibody material was washed off the column with PBS and the bound mAb F2D2 was eluted with acetate buffer, pH 4.5 (**Figure 2.1C**) into tubes containing 1 M Tris base to neutralize the eluted

fractions. The bound column fractions were monitored for protein by UV absorbance at 280 nm and fractions containing protein were pooled and the purity of the mAb preparation was determined by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions using commercially available normal mouse IgG as a control (**Figure 2.1D**).

Two protein bands with apparent MW of 50 kDa and 25kDa representing heavy and light chains of the IgG mAb were observed for both F2D2 and the mouse IgG control (Figure 1D) showing that a pure IgG mAb was derived by the hydrophobic charge induction purification procedure over the Mep Hypercel column. A total of approximately 80-120 mg of purified mAb F2D2 was recovered from 1 l of SFM. The subclass of the purified mAb F2D2 was determined by ELISA using both SEA and KLH as antigens. Microtiter wells were coated with SEA or KLH, blocked with BSA and incubated with the purified mAb F2D2. Bound antibodies were detected by incubations with alkaline phosphatase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM, IgG, IgG1, IgG2a, IgG2b or IgG3. F2D2 binding was observed in ELISAs probed with anti-mouse IgG3 antibody (**Figure 2.1E**).

# 2.3.3 F2D2 binds to glycan epitopes from keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and Biomphalaria glabrata hemolymph (BGH)

To characterize the epitope bound by F2D2 further, the mAb was used in ELISA to screen for binding towards a variety of proteins/glycoproteins reported to share cross-binding epitopes with schistosomes. These glycoproteins/proteins included bovine milk glycoproteins (BMGP) which bear LDN epitopes (368), cholera toxin (CT) (369,370), horse radish peroxidase (HRP) which bear core Xyl epitope on N-glycans (371), keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) which bear N-glycans with FLDNF, core Xyl and core  $\alpha$ 1-3Fuc epitopes on N-glycans (109,110,333), *Biomphalaria glabrata* hemolymph (BGH) which bear FLDNF epitopes (109,333,372,373) and phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>) which bears core  $\alpha$ 1-3 Fuc epitope (281). Microtiter wells were coated with BMGP, CT, HRP, KLH, BGH and PLA<sub>2</sub> then incubated with mAb F2D2. Since HRP was being analyzed as antigen, bound antibodies in this ELISA were detected using alkaline phosphatase-conjugated goat-anti mouse IgG and *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate. F2D2 bound with very high affinity to BGH and KLH but not to the any of the other cross-reactive proteins/glycoproteins analyzed (**Figure 2.2A**).





(A) Microtiter wells were coated with keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH; 25  $\mu$ g/ml), *Biomphalaria grabrata* hemolymph (BGH; 1:10 dilution) bovine milk glycoproteins (BMGPs; 40  $\mu$ g/ml), cholera toxin (CT, 25  $\mu$ g/ml), horse radish peroxidase (HRP; 25  $\mu$ g/ml), honeybee phospholipase A2 (PLA2; 25  $\mu$ g/ml), BS-90 resistant *Biomphalaria glabrata* hemolymph (BS90; 1:10 dilution), *Bulinus truncatus* hemolymph (BTH, 1:10 dilution) and incubated with 10 mg/ml of purified mAb. Bound antibodies were detected with alkaline phosphatase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG followed by incubation with *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate substrate. Assays were conducted in triplicates and the results

represent averages of the triplicates. SEA (5  $\mu$ g), KLH, BGH, BMGPs, PLA2, CT, HRP (25  $\mu$ g each) BS-90 and BTH (30  $\mu$ l each) were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto nitrocellulose membrane. Membranes were untreated (**B**) or incubated in acetate containing sodium periodate (**C**) with a control mock treated by incubation in acetate buffer without sodium periodate (NaIO<sub>4</sub>). The membranes were blocked in BSA solution and incubated with 10 mg/ml mAb F2D2. Bound F2D2 was detected by peroxidase conjugated goat antimouse IgG and SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate followed by imaging on a UVP EC-4 digital imager.

The specificity of the binding of F2D2 was confirmed by Western blotting analysis. SEA, KLH, BGH, BMGP, PLA<sub>2</sub>, HRP and CT were separated by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions and blotted on nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane was blocked in BSA and incubated with mAb F2D2. F2D2 bound to a broad range of glycoproteins from KLH and BGH (**Figure 2.2B**) and consistent with the ELISA studies, F2D2 did not bind to any of the other cross-binding antigens. Further, the binding of F2D2 to KLH and BGH was completely sensitive to periodate treatment (**Figure 2.2C**) confirming both the ELISA result and the utility of the antibody in both ELISA and Western blot analyses. Taken together, the ELISA and Western blot results show that mAb F2D2 recognizes a glycan antigen distinct from the schistosome glycan antigens we had defined previously and that glycan epitope bound by the mAb is shared with glycan epitopes on glycoproteins from the hemolymphs of *Biomphalaria* snails and keyhole limpets.

#### 2.3.4 *Fucose is a major determinant of the mAb F2D2-binding epitope*

To elucidate the structural aspects of the glycan epitope bound by mAb F2D2, ELISA of F2D2 against SEA, KLH and BGH targets were carried out in the presence of free monosaccharides commonly found in schistosome glycan structures (70) to assess their potency at inhibiting the binding of the mAb to the glycan epitopes in three antigen targets. The free monosaccharides used included mannose (Man), fucose (Fuc), galactose (Gal), xylose (Xyl), N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) and N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc). Glucose (Glc) which is not commonly found in schistosome glycoconjugates was used as a negative control. Microtiter wells coated with SEA,

KLH and BGH and blocked with BSA were incubated with 1  $\mu$ g/ml solutions of mAb F2D2 prepared in dilution solutions without any monosaccharide or in dilution solutions containing concentrations of the listed monosaccharides starting from 6.25 mM and increasing 2-fold to 12.5 mM, 25 mM, 50 mM, 100 mM, 200 mM, 400 mM and 800 mM. The binding of F2D2 to SEA, KLH and BGH was inhibited by fucose at all the concentrations used (**Figure 2.3A-C**). In contrast, the other monosaccharides caused only modest to no inhibition on mAb F2D2 to the three antigens even at concentrations as high as 800 mM. This result indicates that fucose is a major monosaccharide associated with the glycan epitope on all the three antigenic samples.



Figure 2.3. Identification of the glycan epitopes recognized by mAb F2D2 by hapten inhibition ELISA and glycosidase treatment.

Microtiter wells were coated with (A) SEA (5  $\mu$ g/ml), (B) KLH (25  $\mu$ g/ml) or (C) BGH (1:10 dilution), blocked with BSA and incubated with 1  $\mu$ g/ml solution of mAb F2D2 containing 0, 50, 100, 200, 400 or 800 mM of either Fucose, Galactose, Glucose, Mannose, N-acetylglucosamine, N-acetylgalactosamine or Xylose. Bound F2D2 was detected by incubations with peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG and ABTS/peroxidase substrate. Assays were carried out in triplicates and the results represents averages of the triplicates. (D) Fucosidase treated or mock treated SEA (1  $\mu$ g each) was separated by SDS-PAGE, blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes, blocked in BSA, incubated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml mAb F2D2 and probed for bound F2D2 by incubations in peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG and SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate.

To confirm fucose as major sugar with the antigenic epitope, SEA was treated with bovine kidney  $\alpha$ -fucosidase which is reported to cleave a broad spectrum of terminal  $\alpha$ -linked fucose glycosidic bonds (374). As a control, a sample of SEA was mock treated by omitting the  $\alpha$ -fucosidase from the digestion mixture. The fucosidase and the mock treated samples were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and analyzed by Western blot. As expected, a broad range of reactive glycoprotein bands were observed in the mock treated samples but binding was lost in the  $\alpha$ -fucosidase treated SEA (**Figure 2.3D**), confirming that fucose is a major monosaccharide with the antigenic epitope bound by F2D2.

# 2.3.5 The glycan epitope bound by mAb F2D2 is present on N-glycans of glycoproteins from SEA, KLH AND BGH.

We next determined the nature of the linkage type of the glycan epitopes bound by mAb F2D2 by determine whether the epitope was present on N-linked or O-linked glycans. To determine whether the epitopes were on N-glycans, SEA, KLH, and BGH were treated with PNGase F to cleave N-linked glycans from their N-glycosidically bonded polypeptides and assessed for loss of mAb F2D2 binding by Western blotting. As controls, another batch of SEA, KLH, and BGH samples were mock treated by omitting PNGase F from the reaction mixture. PNGase F is an endoglycosidase that releases N-glycans from polypeptides by cleaving the N-glycosidic bond between the inner GlcNAc residue of N-glycans from the covalently bonded Asn residue if the GlcNAc residue is not modified  $\alpha$ 1-3 with a Fuc, a core fucose modification commonly found in plant and invertebrate N-glycans (164,281). The PNGase F treated and untreated samples were separated by SDS-PAGE, blotted onto nitrocellulose membrane, blocked in BSA and incubated with mAb F2D2 (**Figure 2.4**).



Figure 2.4. Western blot analysis of extracts of *Schistosoma mansoni*, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and *Biomphalaria grablata* hemolymph after mock treatment or PNGase F treatment.

(A) SEA (5  $\mu$ g), (B) KLH (25  $\mu$ g) and (C) BGH (20  $\mu$ l) were either treated with PNGase F (+) or mock treated (-) by omitting PNGase F from the reaction mixture. The samples were separated by SDS-PAGE, blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes, blocked with BSA and incubated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of mAb F2D2. Bound antibodies were revealed by incubations with peroxidase conjugate goat anti-mouse IgG and SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate.

Numerous F2D2-binding bands of diverse MW were observed in the mock treated SEA and only a few of bands, mostly in the low MW range, were lost from the PNGase F treated SEA. Shifts in the MW of the bands from the SEA were apparent in the PNGase F treated sample indicating that the endoglycosidase treatment did release N glycans from glycoproteins suggesting that the glycan structures bearing the F2D2 binding epitopes in SEA are considerably resistant to PNGase F cleavage (**Figure 2.4A**). Numerous glycoproteins from the mock treated KLH and BGH hemolymphs ranging in size from high and low MW bands were bound by mAb F2D2 and majority of the bands were lost after PNGase F treatment (**Figure 2.4B, C**) indicating that the major F2D2binding glycan epitopes from KLH and BGH were present on N-glycans. The results from the PNGase F treatment indicated that majority of the F2D2-binding glycan epitopes from adult *S. mansoni*, KLH and BGH were present on N-linked glycans but the majority of the F2D2-binding glycans from SEA extracts PNGase F treatment could not conclusively predict whether the epitopes were N-linked.

#### 2.3.6 $\beta$ -elimination of SEA, KLH and BGH

The observation that the majority of the F2D2 binding glycan epitopes in SEA and a few in KLH and BGH were resistant to PNGase F treatment raised the possibility that some of the F2D2-binding epitopes in the samples were on O-linked glycan structures. To investigate this possibility, we analyzed SEA, cercarial extract as another parasite sample, along with KLH and BGH for release of F2D2-binding glycans from polypeptides in the samples by  $\beta$ -elimination reaction. To carry out the  $\beta$ -elimination reaction, SEA, KLH, and BGH were separated by SDS-PAGE in duplicate and transferred onto PVDF membranes. One membrane was incubated overnight at 40 °C in 55 mM NaOH to effect in situ release of O-glycans by  $\beta$ -elimination while the other membrane was mock treated by carrying out the incubation in water without NaOH. SEA, KLH, and BGH retained their binding interaction with mAb F2D2 after the mild base treatment and had the same glycoprotein band profile as the mock treated samples (**Figure 2.5A-B**).



### F2D2 Blots

## WFA Blots

# Figure 2.5. F2D2 western blot analysis of extracts after mock treatment or treatment with sodium hydroxide NaOH.

(A) SEA (5  $\mu$ g) and detergent extract of cercariae (25  $\mu$ g) and (B) KLH (25  $\mu$ g) and BGH (20  $\mu$ l) were separated in duplicate by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto PVDF membranes. One set of membranes were incubated overnight at 37°C in 55 mM NaOH and the other set of membranes were mock treated by carrying out the incubations in water. The membranes were washed with water, blocked with BSA and incubated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of mAb F2D2. Bound antibodies were probed by incubation with peroxidase conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG followed by incubation with SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate and imaging on UVP EC-3 digital imager. (C) SEA ( $\mu$ g), detergent extract of cercariae (25  $\mu$ g) and detergent extract of desialylated jurkat cells (ds-Jurkats) were separated by SDS-PAGE in duplicate, blotted onto PVDF membranes and incubated in 55 mM NaOH or water as described. The membranes were washed, blocked in BSA solution and incubated in biotinylated WFA (2 $\mu$ g/ml). Bound lectin was detected by incubation with peroxidase conjugated streptavidin followed by incubation with SuperSignal chemiluminescence substrate.

To control for the process of  $\beta$ -elimination, detergent extracts of Jurkat cells which have a genetic defect in the O-glycosylation pathway that results in the generation of truncated, terminal O-GalNAc and sialylated O-GalNAc were also analyzed (375). The Jurkat cells were treated with neuraminidase to remove sialic acid residues and generate more O-GalNAcs structures for

detection of loss of O-GalNAc epitopes by WFA that binds terminal GalNAc residues (376). Loss of the majority of WFA binding following mild NaOH treatment of Jurkat cell extracts provides a positive control for validation of the *in situ*  $\beta$ -elimination of O-linked glycans on the PVDF membrane (**Figure 2.5C**). Taken together, the PNGase F and mild base treatments show that the fucosylated epitopes bound by mAb F2D2 are present on N-glycans rather than O-glycans and the observed resistance to PNGase F treatment may be due modifications on the chitobiose core of the N-glycans that are known to render N-glycans resistant to cleavage by the endoglycosidase (164,281).

### 2.3.7 Identification of the structure of the glycan epitope bound by mAb F2D2 using AEABlabeled KLH derived glycans

Due to limited quantities of schistosome material and the resistance of the F2D2 binding glycans in SEA to PNGase F cleavage, KLH was used as a source for the purification and elucidation of the structures of fucosylated N-glycans bound by mAb F2D2. Structural studies of KLH glycans have revealed some unique, heterogeneous glycosylation with the cross reactive epitope, Fucα3GalNAc, existing on less than 5% of the total glycans (109,110,310). To determine whether this is the structure that F2D2 is binding, KLH glycans were isolated, affinity purified using immobilized F2D2, and structurally characterized by MS.





В

Α



82





Figure 2.6. Mass spectra for F2D2 purified glycans from KLH containing the FLDNF structure.

Overall mass spectra (A) and MS/MS ( $MS^2$ ) of peaks 989.881 (B), 1056.40 (C), and 1071.41 (D) from F2D2 purified KLH glycans, with proposed structure assignments for peaks and major fragments. High charge state fragments (2x Na+) in black, with single

С

D

charge in grey (Na+). Reducing end fragments are shown linked to AEAB; non-reducing end fragments are shown as free oligosaccharides.

The KLH glycans were released from denatured, trypsinized proteins by treatment with Nglycosidase PNGase F followed by separation of released glycans from unreleased peptidic material over C18 Sep-Pak and Carbograph columns as described in "Marterials and Methods". The recovered free-reducing N-glycans were conjugated to AEAB, and affinity purified via an F2D2-ultralink column. Mass analysis of the F2D2-bound KLH GAEABs resulted in several samples with peaks suggesting glycan compositions that correlate with documented KLH/Schistosoma cross reactive N-glycans (Figures 2.6) (109,110,310). These peaks, magnitudes 989.881, 1056.402, and 1071.407, suggest determinants containing 2 deoxyhexose (deoxyHex), 4-5 hexose (Hex), 4 N-acetylhexoseamine (HexNAc) residues, and some glycans contain a pentose, presumably xylose. MS/MS of these peaks, shown in Figure 2.6B-D, support the proposed structures consisting of terminal FLDNF on a biantennary N-glycan core, 1-2 Gal moieties, and core β-xylose in higher molecular weight peaks. Our deduction about the glycan composition, linkage, and branching are based on previously published, well characterized KLH glycan structures (109,110,310). From this data we propose that FLDNF is the glycan epitope of F2D2 and an immunodominant target in S. mansoni egg glycans that is recognized by antibodies in sera from infected animals.

#### 2.4 Discussion

Monoclonal antibody F2D2 was generated from hybridoma clones prepared from splenocytes of Swiss Webster mice infected for 10 wk with *S. mansoni* cercariae as described previously (115,367) and were selected by ELISA against periodate-sensitive epitopes of SEA (**Figure 2.1A, B**). The carbohydrate binding specificity was defined by testing the binding of mAb F2D2 towards both defined schistosome-type glycan antigens and to glycoproteins and proteins

reported to contain epitopes that are shared with schistosomes. F2D2 was distinct because it did not bind to any of the defined schistosome glycan antigens, including Le<sup>X</sup>, LDN and LDNF. Alternatively, F2D2 bound to glycan epitopes on glycoproteins from the hemolymphs of keyhole limpets and *Biomphalaria glabrata* snail hosts of *S. mansoni* (Figure 2.2A). The binding of F2D2 to SEA, KLH and BGH were all inhibited by free fucose, abolished by  $\alpha$ -fucosidase treatments (Figure 2.3), and were also sensitive to PNGase F treatments demonstrating the epitope was a fucosylated N-glycan (Figure 2.4). MS analysis of PNGase F released glycan fraction from KLH affinity purified over columns of immobilized mAb F2D2 gave glycan mass values consistent with N-glycans with a difucosylated LDN outer branch (Figure 2.6).

It has long been known that schistosome share a cross-reactive immunogenic glycan epitope with keyhole limpet hemocyanin (372,377,378), and recent studies show that the crossreactive epitope is FLDNF epitope (109,110,269). Based on the finding in our study that F2D2 binds to both SEA and KLH, it can be deduced that the epitope in SEA bound by the mAb is FLDNF rather than LDN-dF, considering LDN-dF epitope has not been proven to be present in KLH (109) and antibodies to LDN-dF do not bind to KLH. KLH has been proposed for use as a serodiagnostic antigen for schistosomiasis based on it's reactivity towards sera from infected humans and animals (377,379-381). However, the use of KLH for the diagnosis of schistosome infection has not been feasible thus far, primarily because of the observation that sera from Trichinella spiralis infected patients also bind KLH (382). It is possible that the sera from T. spiralis patients bind to a distinct set of the complex glycan structures present on KLH glycoproteins, which are separate and distinct from the FLDNF structures (383). The availability of mAb F2D2 that affinity binds the cognate targets in KLH quantitatively should now allow the direct purification of the cross-reactive glycans for assessment of their serodiagnostic potential. At the present time, it is not clear whether there are antigenic glycan epitopes other than FLDNF glycans in KLH. The availability of mAb F2D2 provides a means to affinity deplete FLDNF

epitopes from KLH for testing for the presence of any other antigenic glycans reactive towards sera from *S. mansoni* infected humans and animals. The use of mAb F2D2 for immunoaffinity purification and depletion of FLDNF epitopes is technically feasible because of the high yield of stable antibody from purification processes.

The immunoaffinity purified glycans and glycoproteins can also be used in immunization studies. It was reported previously that immunization of rats with KLH provided up to 70% protection against *S. mansoni* infections and that the cross-reactive epitope was glycan in nature (231). The nature of the immunogenic glycan epitope responsible for the protection was not known. KLH glycoproteins affinity purified over columns of immobilized mAb F2D2 can be used directly for immunization studies. Alternatively, immobilized F2D2 could be utilized to purify FLDNF glycans from released KLH glycans and formulated into conjugates to determine the protective efficacy of the FLDNF glycans themselves. Affinity purified glycans can also be used to study the structure of the cross-reactive epitope in KLH and validate FLDNF glycan as the epitope in SEA bound by mAb F2D2.

Monoclonal antibody F2D2 should also serve as a very useful analytical tool in the study of many aspects of the biological function of the epitope. The antibody should now permit the study of the expression of the epitope during schistosome development in both the vertebrate and snail hosts. Interestingly, Western blot analysis of hemolymph from *S. mansoni* infected and uninfected *B. glabrata* snails reveal several low molecular weight glycoproteins in the hemolymph of the infected snail. It will be interesting to use mAb F2D2 to affinity purify and sequence the proteins from the hemolyph of infected snails to determine whether the proteins are of snail or parasite origin. A recent study reports a correlation between susceptibility and expression of FLDNF epitopes on snail hemolymph glycoproteins (384). The authors report that hemolymph from susceptible Puerto Rican *B. glabrata* snails expressed FLDNF epitopes on numerous glycoproteins while hemolymph from the resistant *B. glabrata* BS-90 strain were negative for FLDNF epitopes as determined by Western blots. Thus, mAb F2D2 will be a very useful reagent in studying snail

susceptibility and resistance particularly in regard to snail age and susceptibility to infection with miracidia. Finally, mAb F2D2 will be useful in assaying for the activity of the fucosyltransferase involved in the biosynthesis of the epitope as well as the expression cloning of the fucosyltransferase.

In conclusion, mAb F2D2 will provide a useful tool for the study of many aspects of the role played by the difucosylated glycan in the development and immunobiology of the parasites in both the vertebrate and molluscan hosts.

### 2.5 Acknowledgments

This work is a product of collaboration between the Cumming's lab (Emory University) and the Kwame lab (University of Maryland Eastern Shore). This work was supported by grants from NIH AI101982 to R.D.C., P41GM103694 to R.D.C., and by NIH GM085448 to D.F.S. and R.D.C.
# Chapter 3. Identification of antigenic glycans from *Schistosoma mansoni* using a shotgun egg glycan microarray

This chapter was originally published in Infection and Immunity and is reproduced here with permission: Copyright © American Society for Microbiology, Infection and Immunity, 84(5), 2016, DOI:10.1128/IAI.01349-15

Megan L. Mickum<sup>1</sup>, Nina Salinger Prasanphanich<sup>1</sup>, Xuezheng Song<sup>1</sup>, Nelum Dorabawila<sup>2</sup>, Msano Mandalasi<sup>2</sup>, Yi Lasanajak<sup>1</sup>, Anthony Luyai<sup>1,3</sup>, W. Evan Secor<sup>3</sup>, Patricia P. Wilkins<sup>3</sup>, Irma Van Die<sup>5</sup>, David F. Smith<sup>1</sup>, A. Kwame Nyame<sup>2</sup>, Richard D. Cummings<sup>1,6</sup> and Carlos A. Rivera-Marrero<sup>1,4</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Department of Biochemistry and the Emory Glycomics Center, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322;
<sup>2</sup>Department of Natural Sciences, University of Maryland Eastern Shores, Princess Anne, MD; <sup>3</sup>Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Division of Parasitic Diseases and Malaria, Atlanta, GA 30322; <sup>4</sup>Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Division of Select Agents and Toxins, Atlanta, GA 30322;
<sup>5</sup>Department of Molecular Cell Biology & Immunology, Glycoimmunology Group, VU University Medical Center, PO Box 7057, 1007 MB Amsterdam, Netherlands <sup>6</sup>Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Department of Surgery, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115

# 3.1 Introduction

Schistosomiasis is a major health problem in endemic tropical and subtropical areas, with more than 200 million people actively infected and 800 million at risk of contracting the disease (11,44,385). Current treatment for disease is limited to the drug praziquantel (38), but cases of drug resistance have been reported (39). Decades of research on schistosomiasis vaccines have yielded only two candidates for clinical trials, and no encouraging results are yet published (57,62,64,386). Thus, there is an urgent need to develop more sensitive diagnostic methods and to identify new vaccine candidates.

Recent studies have shown that a major part of the host immune response to infection is directed against carbohydrate (glycan) antigens in glycoproteins and glycolipids (1,77,80,127,387-390). A wide variety of unusual antigenic determinants include glycans containing the LDN, fucosylated LDN sequences (LDNF, LDN-dF, FLDN, and FLDNF),  $Le^x$ , poly- $Le^x$ , core  $\alpha$ 3 fucose, and core  $\beta$ 2 xylose structures (**Table 3.1**) (1,77,80), many of which are expressed by all developmental stages of schistosomes (168). Interestingly, mAbs specific to these glycans recognize these antigens on the surface of 3 hour-old schistosomula and some anti-glycan antibodies can mediate killing *in vitro* in a complement dependent fashion (116,168,231,235). *S. mansoni* infected rhesus monkeys, which are known to self-cure after infection, have IgG to many glycan antigens, including Le<sup>x</sup>, LDN, LDNF, core fucose, and core xylose determinants, and their sera are effective in complement-mediated cytolysis of cells expressing Le<sup>x</sup> as well as schistosomula larvae *in vitro* (34,271,305). However, it is unknown whether anti-glycan antibodies contribute to parasite killing by animal sera *in vivo*.

Glycan Sequence	Shorthand	Structure										
I. LacNAc termini												
Galβ1-4GlcNAc-R	LN	<mark>O-</mark> ∎-R										
Galβ1-4(Fucα1,3)GlcNAc-R	Lewis X (LeX)											
II. LacdiNAc termini												
GalNAcβ1-4GlcNAc-R	LDN	<b>□⊡</b> R										
GalNAcβ1-4(Fucα1-3)GlcNAc-R	LDNF											
GalNAcβ1-4(Fucα1-2Fucα1-3)GlcNAc-R	LDN-dF											
Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc R	FLDN											
Fucα1-3GalNAcβ1-4(Fucα1-3)GlcNAc-R	FLDNF											
III. Core modifications												
Manα1-6(Manα1-3)Manβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-4 GlcNAc-R	Man3GlcNAc2 (M3GN2)	R										
Manα1-6(Manα1-3)Manβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-4 (Fucα1-6)GlcNAc-R	Core α6 Fucose (c6F)	R										
Manα1-6(Manα1-3)Manβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-4 (Fucα1-3)GlcNAc-R	Core α3 Fucose (c3F)	R										
Manα1-6(Manα1-3)(Xylβ1-2)Manβ1-4 GlcNAcβ1-4GlcNAc-R	Core Xylose (cX)	● ● ■ ■ − R										
🗖 GalNAc 🛛 GlcNAc 🔵 Gal	● Man ▲ Fuc	🛧 Xyl										

# Table 3.1. Common glycan structures in S. mansoni.

Sequences, shorthand notation, and cartoon depiction of common Schistosoma glycans.

The induced humoral responses in infected animals and people are generally proportional to the severity of the disease and consist of many different antibody classes and antibody titers to glycan antigens ((271) and reviewed (77,80)). *S. mansoni* infected patients with either intestinal or hepatosplenic disease generate mainly IgM, but also produce IgG and IgA to LDN, LDNF, and Le<sup>x</sup> (168). Antibodies to LDN-dF and FLDN, among other glycan structures both known and unknown,

were also found in infected individuals, with higher titers observed in children than in adults (240,243). Although the role of these glycans and the significance of anti-glycan antibodies in schistosomiasis are not known, glycan antigens may be used as diagnostic tools and/or inform upon new vaccine candidates.

Several studies have focused on defining the schistosome glycome by employing highresolution liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry techniques (17,74). These global profiling studies have confirmed the major glycan structures previously identified and provided new information on the diversity of glycans and the heterogeneity found among the life stages of the parasite and their secretions (74,111,391,392). Several studies have also demonstrated the feasibility of profiling schistosome glycans using various microarray printing technologies and probing with glycan-binding proteins, antibodies, and antisera, demonstrating that such techniques can be powerful tools for profiling the immune response to this disease (240,265,269,272) and the development or characterization of novel anti-glycan reagents.

The combination of these techniques, i.e. glycomics and/or glycan structural profiling which is guided by the use of immunologically relevant reagents such as antisera and mAbs, has great potential to improve our understanding of the anti-glycan response and uncover novel, immunologically relevant diagnostic and vaccine candidates. We recently found that there were both similarities and substantial differences in the specificity, titers, and isotype composition of anti-glycan antibodies among rhesus monkeys (naturally protected hosts), humans, and mice (chronically infected hosts) based on a small collection of semi-synthetic, schistosome-type biantennary N-glycans (271). In the present study, utilizing methods for fluorescent covalent tagging, separation, and printing of glycans (267,268), we generated a natural N-glycan microarray from *S. mansoni* egg glycoproteins. By interrogating these arrays with sera from different species infected with *S. mansoni*, we identified immunologically relevant fractions for further characterization. Using a combination of mass spectrometry, and lectin and antibody binding studies (metadata-assisted glycan sequencing; MAGS) (266,270), we have identified several glycan

structures that represent the egg N-glycans most prominently recognized by these infected hosts. The shotgun glycan microarray led us to focus on one mAb, F2D2, which targets FLDNF and replicates the binding pattern of infected hosts. This antibody binds all stages of *S. mansoni* and it mediates killing of schistosomula *in vitro*. The results demonstrate the power of incorporating glycomics and immunology to identify disease-relevant glycan antigens.

# 3.2 Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Materials

All chemicals and glycoproteins were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) and used without further purification. HPLC solvents were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). PNGase F was purchased from New England Biolabs (Ipswich, MA) and PNGase A was from Sigma-Aldrich. Plant lectins were purchased from Vector Labs (Burlingame, CA) including: PHA-L, Phaseolus vulgaris agglutinin L; PHA-E, Phaseolus vulgaris agglutinin E; PNA, peanut agglutinin; WFA, Wisteria floribunda agglutinin; WGA, wheat germ agglutinin; LTL, Lotus tetragonolobus lectin; AAL, Aleuria aurantia lectin; SNA, Sambucus nigra agglutinin; RCA I, Ricinus communis agglutinin I; ConA, concanavalin A; UEA I, Ulex europaeus I; MAA, Maackia amurensis agglutinin, BPL, Bauhinia purpurea lectin, and GSI-B4, Griffonia simplicifolia lectin-I. The lectin HPA, *Helix pomatia* agglutinin was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. An anti-LDN antibody (IgG - clone Y1H5), an anti-LDNF (IgG - clone L6B8), an anti-Le<sup>X</sup> (IgM - clone 5F1), two anti-LDN-dF (IgM - clone 290-2D9-A, IgM - clone 290-4A8), an anti-Man<sub>3</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub> mAb (M3GN2, IgM – clone 100-4G11-A), and an anti-FLNDF antibody (IgG – clone F2D2) were developed as mAbs by production of hybridomas from spleens of mice that had been infected with S. mansoni, using methods described previously (244,351,390,393,394). The anti-HRP antibody (anti-peroxidase, polyclonal rabbit IgG, P7899) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and used to detect core  $\alpha$ 3 fucose and core xylose (CF/CX) determinants (395,396). Secondary antibody conjugates goat anti-human, anti-mouse, and anti-rabbit (Alexa-488 anti-human IgM, Alexa-555 anti-mouse IgG, Alexa-488 anti-mouse IgM, Alexa-555 anti-mouse IgG, Alexa-633 anti-mouse IgG, Alexa-488 anti-rabbit IgG) and Cy5-streptavidin were from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Goat anti-mouse HRP-conjugated secondary antibody was purchased from KPL (Gaithersburg, MD). SuperSignal West chemiluminescent substrates were purchased from Thermo Scientific (Rockford, IL). N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS)-activated slides were purchased from Schott (Elmsford, NY). Printing of glycan arrays was performed using a Piezorray Printer (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA) and analysis of glycan arrays was accomplished by scanning with a ProScanArray Scanner (Perkin Elmer) equipped with 4 lasers. Percoll was purchased from GE Healthcare (Piscataway, NJ). DMEM was purchased from Cellgro (Manassas, VA). Penicillin/streptomycin was purchased from Gibco (Grand Island, NY). Standard guinea pig complement was purchased from Cedarlane (Burlington, NC). Fetal bovine serum was purchased from Atlanta Biologicals (Lawrenceville, GA). DAPI was purchased from Life Technologies (Foster City, CA). 96-well microplates were purchased from Greiner Bio-One (Frickenhausen, Germany).

# 3.2.2 Isolation of Schistosoma mansoni Eggs and Life Stages

*S. mansoni* eggs were obtained from livers of infected Swiss Webster female mice (n=30) 7wks after infection with 150 cercariae per mouse. Livers were perfused with perfusion fluid (0.85% NaCl, 0.75% trisodium citrate dihydrate), homogenized in 1.7% NaCl, and the eggs collected by filtration over a series of mesh filters as described (366). Eggs were washed repeatedly by low speed centrifugation to remove any liver tissue and wet pellets of 1-2g were stored frozen at -70°C.

*S. mansoni*-infected *Biomphalaria glabrata* snails, strain NMRI NR-21962, were provided by the Schistosome Research Reagent Resource Center through BEI Resources, NIAID, NIH. Snail maintenance, collection of cercariae, transformation to schistosomula, and isolation of adult worms from mice was conducted as previously described (272,397). The schistosomula were cultured for 2-3 days in DMEM with 10% FBS, penicillin/streptomycin at a density of 500-1000 organisms/mL in tissue-culture dishes. All work with *B. glabrata* and *S. mansoni* was approved by the Emory University Office of Occupational Health and Safety, and conducted in BSL-II animal surgery facilities and laboratories in compliance with University-approved Biosafety and IACUC protocols.

#### 3.2.3 Infected Sera

Mouse serum was obtained and pooled from Swiss Webster mice (n=10) infected with ~60 cercariae of *S. mansoni* Puerto Rican strain after 7wks or 8wks, and 20wks of infection under an approved IACUC protocol at Emory University. Rhesus monkey sera was obtained from 4 monkeys (Chinese rhesus macaques, *M. mulatta*) infected percutaneously with 500 cercariae and sera collected during the course of the infection at various time points from 8wks-78wks post-infection from an IACUC-approved study conducted at the Division of Parasitic Diseases and Malaria at the National Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Infections were monitored by examination of eggs in stool samples. Sera from infected humans, four occupationally exposed Kenyan individuals (H-19, H-26, H-42, H-59) who were employed as sand harvesters in the Lake Victoria area and five Peace Corp volunteers in Africa (H1-H5), was provided by the CDC with approval by the ethical review boards of the Kenya Medical Research Institute.

#### 3.2.4 Schistosome Egg Glycan Isolation and Labeling

*S. mansoni* eggs (1.0g pellet) were resuspended in 4ml  $H_2O$ , homogenized using a glass homogenizer and sonicated (6 pulses/10sec, Misonix 3000) in an ice bath. The glycolipids were extracted by the method of Folch (398). Methanol was added to 2.7 volumes and the sample was sonicated (2 pulses/10sec). Chloroform was added to 1.33 volumes, bringing the extract to 4:8:3 chloroform:methanol:water, and the extract was sonicated (2 pulses/10sec) and centrifuged at 6,000xg for 10min to separate the aqueous phase containing glycolipids from the pellet containing the glycoproteins. The glycolipids were stored for other analyses, while the glycoprotein pellet was resuspended in 2ml 0.2M Tris-HCl, pH 8.2 and dried under vacuum to remove residual chloroform. The dried extract was resuspended in 2ml of denaturing buffer (8M guanidinium hydrochloride (GnHCl) in 0.2M Tris-HCl, pH 8.2) and 2ml of reducing buffer (0.18M DTT in 0.2M Tris-HCl, 8M GnHCl, pH 8.2) and incubated for 1h at 25°C. Alkylation was done by addition of 7.75ml of 0.18M iodoacetamide in 0.2M Tris-HCl, 8M GnHCl, pH 8.2 and incubated for 30min at 25°C. The extract was then dialyzed against 8L of water using a 10,000 Da molecular weight limit membrane at 4°C overnight and freeze-dried under vacuum. The dried material was then resuspended in 3ml of 50mM phosphate buffer, pH 8.2, and digested with trypsin (TPCK treated, Sigma), at 100µg/ml for 12h at 37°C.

N-glycans were released from tryptic glycopeptides by treatment with PNGase F. The 3ml glycopeptide mixture was first boiled for 5min to inactivate the trypsin, adjusted to pH 7.5, and 10µl of PNGase F (NEB 500,000 U/ml) plus NaN<sub>3</sub> (0.2%) was added and incubated at 37°C for 24h. After digestion, the solution was boiled for 5min, passed through a C18 Sep-Pak cartridge (2g) with 2 column volumes (CVs) of water, and the flow-through was collected and passed through a 500mg Carbograph cartridge (Grace Discovery Science), to which free glycans bound. The Carbograph column was washed with water (6 CVs), and the bound glycans were eluted with 3 CVs of 50% acetonitrile in 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) and dried under vacuum before labeling. To release potential N-glycans that are resistant to PNGase F, as has been seen for N-glycans containing core  $\alpha$ 3-fucose residues, the glycopeptides retained in the C18 column were eluted with methanol (2 CVs), dried under vacuum, and digested with the glycosidase PNGase A. Digestion was performed by resuspending the dried glycans in 1.0ml of 0.1M citrate-phosphate buffer, pH 5.0, addition of 10µl of PNGase A (from almonds, 60 U/µl) and incubation at 37°C for 24h. The PNGase A released glycans were purified over C18 Sep-Pak and Carbograph columns as before, and dried under vacuum before labeling.

The N-glycan preparations (PNGase A and F digested) were labeled with the bifunctional fluorescent linker 2-amino-N-(2-aminoethyl)-benzamide (AEAB) which was synthesized in the lab and used as described (268). Dried glycans were resuspended in 0.1ml of 0.35M AEAB plus 0.1ml of 1M NaCNBH<sub>3</sub> in DMSO:AcOH (7:3 v/v), and incubated at 65°C for 2h. After cooling, 2ml of acetonitrile was added, the sample incubated at -20°C for 30min, and centrifuged at 6,000xg for 10min. The pellets were then dissolved in 0.2ml water for separation by HPLC.

3.2.5 Separation of AEAB-labeled Glycans (GAEABs) by HPLC and Mass Spectrometry Analysis

HPLC separations were performed with a Shimadzu HPLC CBM-20A system coupled to a UV detector SPD-20A (set at 330nm) and a fluorescence detector RF-10Axl (set at 330nm/420nm excitation/emission). Both UV absorption and fluorescence intensity were used for the quantification of GAEABs using LNFPIII-AEAB as a standard. The first dimension HPLC separation was done by injection of 199µl of sample into a reverse phase C18 column (250mm x 4.6mm) with mobile phases consisting of acetonitrile and water with 1% TFA. The concentration of acetonitrile increased from 1% to 5% in 40min, and 5% to 20% in 15min. Each peak fraction was collected, quantified by fluorescence, dried under vacuum, and resuspended to a final concentration of 200mM before being used for microarray printing. In addition, each fraction was analyzed by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry in an Ultraflex II system from Bruker Daltonics (Billerica, MA). GAEAB fractions obtained in the first dimension HPLC, and showing positive results by microarray when probed with lectins and sera, were further separated in a second dimension. The second dimension HPLC was performed using a PGC column (150mm x 4.6mm, Thermo Scientific). The mobile phase was acetonitrile and water with 0.1% TFA, with the acetonitrile gradient increasing from 25% to 55% in 40min. Fractions were collected, quantified by fluorescence, dried under vacuum, and resuspended in water to a final concentration of 100mM before being used for microarray printing.

#### 3.2.6 Array printing, Binding Assays, and Scanning

Non-contact printing was performed using a Piezorray Printer. All samples were printed in phosphate buffer (300mM sodium phosphates, pH 8.5). The average spot volume was within 10% variation (intra-tip) of 1/3 nanoliter. Each compound was printed at 100mM and in replicates of six. After printing, slides were placed in a high moisture chamber at 50°C and incubated for 1h. The slides were washed and blocked with 50mM ethanolamine in 0.1M Tris base, pH 9.0, for 1h, subsequently dried by centrifugation, and stored desiccated at -20°C. Before assay, the slides were rehydrated for 5min in TSM buffer (20mM Tris-HCl, 150mM NaCl, 2mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 2mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>).

Biotinylated lectins and mAbs were used in binding assays to validate each slide for printing efficiency using control GAEABs and for the characterization of schistosome GAEABs. Microarray slides were first assembled in a 16 chamber cassette and washed for 5min with 200µl/well of TSM buffer plus 0.05% Tween-20. Lectins were added at 10µg/ml in TSM binding buffer (TSM buffer plus 0.05% Tween-20, 1% BSA), incubated for 1h at 25°C, and the slides washed 3 times/5min each in TSM wash buffer (TSM plus 0.05% Tween-20). Slides were then washed 4 times in TSM, and Cy5-SA was added at  $5\mu g/ml$ , and incubated for 1h at 25°C in the dark. mAbs and polyclonal antibodies were added at 0.125-20µg/ml in TSM binding buffer or as undiluted hybridoma supernatant, incubated for 1h at 25°C, and the slides washed 3 times/5min each in TSM wash buffer. Appropriate fluorescently labeled secondary antibodies (Alexa-488 antimouse IgM, Alexa-633 anti-mouse IgG, or Alexa-488 anti-rabbit IgG) were added at 2.5-5µg/ml, and incubated for 1h at 25°C in the dark. After final incubation, the slides were washed 4 times in TSM wash buffer, once in water, dried by centrifugation, and scanned. For serum screening, 200µl of sera diluted in TSM binding buffer (1:100 dilution mouse sera, 1:1000 dilution for rhesus and human sera) was added per well and the slides incubated for 1h at 25°C. Slides were washed 3 times/5min each in TSM wash buffer, and fluorescently labeled secondary antibodies (Alexa-488 anti-mouse IgM, Alexa-555 anti-mouse IgG, or Alexa-633 anti-mouse IgG) at 5µg/ml in TSM

binding buffer were added for 1h at 25°C. Following 4 washes in TSM, a rinse in water, and drying by centrifugation, the slides were scanned.

For multi-panel experiments on a single slide, the array layout was designed using Piezorray software according to the dimension of a standard 16-chamber adaptor. The adaptor was affixed to the slide to separate a single slide into 16 chambers sealed from each other during the assay. The slides were scanned with a Perkin Elmer ProScanArray microarray scanner equipped with 4 lasers spanning an excitation range from 488 to 647nm. The scanned images were analyzed with ScanArray Express software and basic statistical methods were applied. Fluorescence scanning for Cy5 was at 649nm/670nm (excitation/emission), and as specified for Alexa-488 and Alexa-555 labeled antibodies.

### 3.2.7 Parasite Lysates, SDS-Page, and Western blots

Cercariae, schistosomula, adult worms, and eggs were isolated and processed for parasite life stage lysates or soluble egg antigen (SEA) as previously described (272,399). For SDS–PAGE and western blotting, 1µg of SEA and 5µg parasite lysates were boiled in 1× NuPAGE SDS sample buffer + 2.5% β-mercaptoethanol for 10min and then run in 10-well Mini-PROTEAN-TGX gels at 200 V for 30min with broad range protein standards (Spectra multicolor). Protein was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using Trans-Blot Turbo semi-dry transfer system. Unless noted otherwise, all subsequent incubations and washes were shaking at ambient temperature. Membranes were blocked for 1 hour in 5% (w/v) BSA (bovine serum albumin fraction V) in TBS wash buffer (20 mM Tris, 300 mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween-20). Incubations with F2D2 antibody were overnight at 4°C at 1µg/ml in BSA diluent (0.5–1% BSA in TBS wash buffer). The membranes were then washed three times for 10 min each in TBS wash buffer. Secondary detection antibody, HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse-IgG, was added for 1 hour at 1:20,000 in TBS wash buffer. The same wash procedure was repeated, and then SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate was added for 30s. The membranes were dabbed dry and exposed to film.

#### 3.2.8 *Immunofluorescence Imaging*

Intact cercariae, schistosomula, and adult worms were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24h at 4°C. All subsequent incubations and washes were performed at ambient temperatures and gentle shaking. Parasites were washed 4 times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and blocked with 3% BSA in PBS for 1h. F2D2 antibody was added at 10µg/mL and incubated for an additional 1h. As controls, a set of the parasites was incubated with an isotype control mouse IgG antibody. Samples were washed four times in PBS and secondary antibody, Alexa-488-labeled goat anti-mouse IgG, diluted 1:100 in 3% BSA in PBS for 1h. The parasites were washed 4 times with PBS to remove unbound excess antibodies and set on glass slides in mounting media. Slides were imaged at 20X magnification.

#### 3.2.9 Schistosomula Killing Assay

Schistosomula were isolated as described previously (272,399). After vortextransformation, separation from tails via Percoll and washing in DMEM, the newly-transformed schistosomula were cultured for 3 hours at 37°C in 96-well plates, with 50-100 parasites in 40µl of DMEM with penicillin/streptomycin in each well. The specified antibodies were then added, diluted in 12µl DMEM. At 3.5 hours, 15µl of freshly-thawed, active or heat inactivated (1 hour at 55°C) guinea pig complement was added (final concentration 1:5) followed by 7.5µl fetal bovine serum (final concentration 10%) and penicillin/streptomycin to final concentration 100U/mL. Each antibody and killing condition was assayed in duplicate or triplicate wells within each assay. The total number of live schistosomula were counted at 0 hours. At approximately 22 hours, 1µl of 100µg/mL DAPI stain was added to each well. Dead schistosomula were counted as DAPI positive at 24, 48, and 72 hours.

# 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Preparation of N-glycans from Schistosoma mansoni Eggs

We prepared N-glycans from schistosome eggs for initial HPLC separation (termed 1dimensional) in order to identify potential immunologically relevant fractions for further study. The overall workflow for the release, conjugation, separation and glycan microarray analysis of Nglycans from *S. mansoni* eggs is shown in **Figure 3.1**, and is described in Materials and Methods. N-glycans were released by consecutive treatments with PNGase F and PNGase A based on previous studies showing the presence of core  $\alpha$ 3-fucose in schistosome egg glycans (17,74,105,111). PNGase F treatment releases N-glycans that lack  $\alpha$ 3-fucosylation in the chitobiosyl core, but susceptible glycans may be  $\alpha$ 6-fucosylated and  $\beta$ -xylosylated in their cores. Successive treatment with PNGase A can efficiently release  $\alpha$ 3-fucosylated N-glycans (400), and any residual N-glycans if the first digestion is incomplete. The N-glycans released by PNGase F and A were enriched by not binding to C18 Sep-Pak and binding to Carbograph cartridges and then conjugated by reductive amination to the bifunctional fluorescent linker AEAB, which permits direct detection and quantitation of total glycan amounts (267,268). The first dimension separation was performed in a C18 reverse phase column with an acetonitrile gradient and the elution monitored by fluorescence.



Figure 3.1. Strategy for the preparation of S. mansoni egg glycan microarrays.

*S. mansoni* egg N-glycans are released from total glycoproteins, conjugated to the bifunctional fluorescent linker AEAB, and the derivatized glycans (GAEABs) separated by 2 dimensional HPLC and printed on NHS-activated glass slides for interrogation.

HPLC purification showed 20 major PNGase F-released glycan peaks designated as fractions F1-F20 (**Figure 3.2A**), and 14 PNGase A-released peaks designated as fractions A1-A14 (**Figure 3.2B**). Each collected fraction was quantified by absorbance at 330nm and the area under each peak used for determining the total concentration of glycans released and purified. From 1.1 grams of egg pellet processed, the total amount of N-glycans recovered after separation by HPLC was 321 nmol released by PNGase F and 85 nmol released by PNGase A, on the order of 0.01 - 0.1% of the total material by weight. Each peak fraction was printed onto NHS-activated glass slides at 100µM in the master plate. Since none of the glycans were identified prior to printing on

slides at equal concentrations, the microarray was termed a schistosome shotgun glycan microarray (SSGM) and represents the 1<sup>st</sup> dimension (1D-SSGM).



Figure 3.2. First dimension HPLC separation of S. mansoni egg GAEABs.

N-glycosidase released glycans from total egg glycoproteins were conjugated to AEAB and the derivatized glycans (GAEABs) separated by reverse phase HPLC on a C18 column. A total of 20 peak fractions were obtained from the (**A**) PNGase F treated material, while the (**B**) PNGase A treated material resulted in 14 peak fractions as detected by 330nm fluorescence.

Microarray slides consisting of the fractions F1-F20, A1-A14, and negative controls (PBS, biotin), were printed with hexa-replicate samples. The 1D-SSGM slides were incubated with a

panel of 13 different lectins of known specificity to establish features of the glycan determinants and validate glycan printing. As shown in Figure 3.3A, most PNGase F-released GAEABs were recognized by the fucose-binding lectin AAL (401), with the most prominent binding in fractions F7-F15. Most fractions were also recognized by the mannose-binding lectin ConA, which binds high mannose-, hybrid- and biantennary complex-type N-glycans (402,403), with the strongest binding in fractions F5-F14. Lectins that bound select fractions at lower levels included WGA, which recognizes GlcNAc and N-acetyl-5-neuraminic acid (F1, F3, F11, F15, and F18), WFA, which recognizes terminal  $\alpha/\beta$ -linked GalNAc (F18), and PHA-E and MAA, which recognize bisected, terminal galactosylated N-glycans and  $\alpha 2,3$ -linked sialic acids, respectively (F14). PNGase A-released GAEABs fractions A3-A9 were also recognized by AAL and fractions A6 and A8 were moderately recognized by Con A (Figure 3.3B). Fractions F19, F20, and A14, which are the last fractions eluted from the C18 column, showed low levels of binding to all lectins tested. Aside from F19, F20, and A14, the lectin binding studies showed background levels or only weak binding to egg glycans with the lectins PHA-L, PNA, HPA, SNA, UEA-I, LTL, and RCA-I, which recognize various determinants such as branched and galactosylated N-glycans, blood group H, and terminal sialic acid. This was anticipated, since such epitopes are not characteristic of schistosome glycans but can occur in mouse-derived glycans (266,404), which is a concern since the eggs are prepared from infected mouse organs. Thus, the results indicate that there was not appreciable contamination of the SSGM with mouse-derived glycans and that the schistosome GAEABs separated by the 1D HPLC were primarily recognized by mannose- and fucose-binding lectins. The minimally-purified glycans at this stage represent the PNGase F/A releasable Nglycome and is consistent with previous studies showing the presence of a variety of fucosylated and mannosylated N-glycans in schistosome eggs, miracidia, and egg secretions (17,74,105,111). The development of this array indicates that our methods of isolation and tagging of glycans

generate a glycan library that is representative of the N-glycome of *S. mansoni*, and their interrogation can point to immunologically relevant fractions.



Figure 3.3. *S. mansoni* egg glycans on 1D microarrays are mostly recognized by fucose and mannose binding lectins.

Microarrays containing (A) PNGase F obtained GAEAB fractions F1-F20 and (B) PNGase A obtained GAEAB fractions A1-A14, when interrogated with a panel of 13 lectins, show that most glycan fractions are recognized by fucose (AAL) and mannose (ConA) binding lectins.

#### 3.3.2 Identification of Antigenic Egg N-glycan Fractions for Further Purification

The 1D-SSGM was interrogated with representative sera from acutely and chronically infected mice (pooled), one rhesus monkey, and one human infected with S. mansoni to explore whether specific GAEAB fractions might be immunologically relevant (Figure 3.4). As shown in Figure 3.4A, unexpectedly we found very specific recognition of only a few glycan fractions. For example, only F7-F13 were recognized by IgG in 20wk infected mouse sera, and only F11 was recognized by IgG in 7wk infected mouse sera. F7-F13 were also strongly recognized by IgG in serum from an infected rhesus 8wks post-infection, and binding declined by 78wks after infection (Figure 3.4B), at which point the monkeys are considered self-cured, since they showed no detectable eggs in the stool. Serum from an infected human showed a strong IgG response to F7-F13 and F15, with slightly lower levels of reactivity to A13, F1, F3, and F18. IgG binding to most of these fractions was higher before treatment with praziquantel compared to after treatment (Figure 3.4C). These results demonstrate that F7-F13 contain natural egg glycan epitopes, predominantly characterized by AAL and ConA binding that are immunologically relevant during infection in mice, rhesus monkeys, and humans. These targets could be significant as antigenic targets for protective antibodies, as immune-modulatory molecules or involved in host-pathogen interactions. Based on this data, we chose these fractions for further purification and analysis.





Screening of the 1D microarrays with sera from infected hosts shows that GAEAB fractions F7-F13 are recognized by IgG in (A) both acute and chronic mice, pooled, (B) patent, but not post-patent rhesus, and (C) human serum before (BT) and after treatment (AT). Mouse sera were screened at 1:100 while human and rhesus sera were screened at 1:1000.

# 3.3.3 Preparation and Characterization of the 2-Dimensional Schistosome Egg Shotgun Nglycan Microarray (2D-SSGM)

F7-F13 were further separated in a second dimension by HPLC using a reverse phase PGC column and each fraction contained 7-11 peaks for a total of 60 fractions (Figure 3.5). Fractions appearing to contain one or a few major GAEABs, or co-eluting GAEABs, were collected and quantified. Fifteen glycan fractions that contained enough material were brought to 100µM and printed on the 2D-SSGM. These fractions, along with parent 1D fractions (F7-0, F10-0, F11-0, F13-0) and 4 controls (LNnT; Man<sub>5</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>; asialo-bGP (Na2); biotin) were then interrogated with a panel of lectins and several previously characterized mAbs and polyclonal antibodies (Figure 3.6, Table 3.1). Most glycan fractions were strongly recognized by ConA and AAL (Figure 3.6A-B). Several fractions (F9-4, F11-0, F11-4, F11-5, F11-6) were also recognized by GlcNAc-binding lectin WGA (405,406) and GalNAc-binding lectin BPL (407), while some (F7-4, F7-5, F9-4, F11-4, F11-6) were recognized by the  $\beta$ -Gal-binding lectin RCA-I (402,408). The controls were recognized as predicted by RCA-I, ConA, BPL, and WFA (409-411). The lectins PHA-L, UEA-I, LTL, PNA, GSI-B4, MAA, and HPA showed no significant reactivity of the further separated egg glycans. Therefore, the separation of GAEABs by 2D HPLC allowed the isolation of immunologically relevant glycans with unique lectin binding properties – some of which were not seen in the 1D-separated glycans, probably because in the mixture the relevant glycans were not highly abundant.



Figure 3.5. Separation of S. mansoni egg glycan by 2D HPLC for the 2D-SSGM.

Further separation of GAEAB fractions F7-F13 by reverse phase HPLC utilizing a PGC column reveals a total of 60 peak fractions as detected by 330nm fluorescence.

The array was next interrogated with defined anti-glycan mAbs and polyclonal antibodies (Figure 3.6C). We screened with six mouse mAbs derived from schistosome-infected mice, as referenced: anti-LDNF (clone L6B8), anti-LDN (clone Y1H5), anti-Le<sup>X</sup> (clone 5F1), anti-M3GN2 (clone 100-4g11-A), and two anti-LDN-dF (clones 290-2D9-A and 290-4A8) (244,272,350,351,394). Anti-LDNF bound fractions F9-4 and F11-4. Interestingly, the anti-LDN, both anti-LDN-dF, and anti-Le<sup>X</sup>, the latter of which identifies both terminal and internal Le<sup>X</sup> structures, did not bind glycans on this array. Recent glycomics profiling has shown that while PNGase F releasable egg glycans do contain the minimal determinants for LDN, Le<sup>x</sup>, and LND-dF determinants (392). However, our studies show that the anti-Le<sup>x</sup>, LDN, and LDNF antibodies prefer these determinants on extended chains or non-complex-type N-glycan cores, which may explain the lack of binding to the 2D-SSGM (272,394). In addition, of course, some glycans that may be recognized by these mAb may not occur in significant levels in egg glycoproteins. The anti-M3GN2 antibody (clone 100-4g11-A) recognized fractions F11-0, F11-4, F11-6, and F13-6. In addition to the mAbs generated from infected mice, we also screened with a commercial anti-HRP antibody produced in rabbits (P7899), which is directed against core  $\beta$ -xylose and core  $\alpha$ 3-fucose determinants (395,396). The specificity of P7899 for core  $\beta$ -xylose and core  $\alpha$ 3-fucose determinants was also confirmed in our hands using defined glycan microarrays. On the 2D-SSGM, P7899 bound F10-4, F11-0, F11-5, F13-0, F13-4, and F13-7. This data indicates that the 2D-SSGM contains N-glycans containing terminal fucose, galactose, GalNAc, and GlcNAc, likely forming LDNF, core  $\beta$ -xylose, and truncated Man3 determinants, as well as many yet-undefined fucosylated N-glycan antigens. The array therefore represents a useful tool for discovering novel targets of anti-glycan immunity from a natural library of parasite glycans.



Figure 3.6. Separation of *S. mansoni* egg glycans by 2D HPLC reveals lectin and monoclonal antibody binding specificities.

(A, B) Microarrays containing 19 purified GAEAB fractions tested with a panel of 14 lectins show that while most fractions are highly recognized by fucose (AAL) and mannose (ConA) binding lectins, the separation of fractions uncovered the binding specificities of additional lectins (WGA, BPL, RCA-I). Positive controls LNnT, Man<sub>5</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>, asialobGP (NA2) were typically recognized by lectins RCA-I, ConA, and WFA, respectively. (C) Defined and highly specific antibodies also recognized fractions containing LDNF, CX/C3F, and Man<sub>3</sub>GN2. Antibodies to LDN, LDN-dF, and Le<sup>X</sup> did not bind.

# 3.3.4 Anti-FLDNF Antibody Shares Common Binding Pattern with Sera from S. mansoniinfected Animals and Humans on 2D-SSGM

The 2D-SSGM was interrogated with pooled sera from infected mice (acute vs. chronic), sera from 4 infected rhesus monkeys (patent vs. post-patent period), and sera from 9 infected individuals (Figure 3.7A-C). Results shown in Figure 3.7A demonstrate that infected mice have IgG at 8wk and 20wk post-infection that recognized glycan fractions F9-4, F11-4, and F11-5. Notably, F11-5 was highly recognized by 20wk infected serum. In rhesus monkeys (Figure 3.7B), relatively high titer IgGs were found against most glycans (F9-4, F9-5, F10-4, F11-0, F11-4, F11-5, F13-4) with sera obtained during the patent period at 8wks post-infection. However, significant variability was observed among the 4 infected monkeys, with rhesus 1 and 3 always showing the highest response to these glycans. In humans, the 9 individuals tested showed generally lower levels of anti-glycan antibodies in comparison to rhesus monkeys, with two individuals (H-2 and H-4) showing the strongest binding for IgG in sera with fractions F9-4, F11-4, F11-5, and F13-4 (Figure **3.7C**). These results show that mice, rhesus, and humans differentially recognize the various egg glycans in a pattern that is strikingly similar among the three hosts, but important glycan fractions F9-4, F11-4, and F11-5 were the most highly recognized by IgG antibodies in all three hosts. Notably the F2D2 antibody, which targets FLDNF (412), also bound robustly to fractions F9-4, F11-0, F11-4, F11-5, F13-4 and mildly to F10-4 (Figure 3.7D) generating a similar pattern to the mouse, rhesus, and human anti-sera (Figure 3.7A-C). The strongest binding occurred with fractions F9-4, F11-4, and F11-5, with F11-5 being the most prominent down to dilutions of 0.125µg/mL (Figure 3.7D). We therefore hypothesized that FLDNF may be a major immune target of the anti-glycan response during S. mansoni infection.



Figure 3.7. Infected sera from mice, rhesus, and humans bind *S. mansoni* egg glycans in a similar pattern to F2D2 antibody.

Microarrays containing 19 purified GAEAB fractions interrogated with sera from infected hosts show that fractions F11-4 and F11-5 are among the most commonly recognized by IgG in sera from (**A**) mice (acute and chronic, pooled), (**B**) rhesus monkeys (patent and post-patent period), and (**C**) humans. Mouse sera were screened at 1:100 while human and

rhesus sera were screened at 1:1000. (**D**) The binding pattern of targeted fractions matches that of the F2D2 antibody which targets FLDNF structures. When titered down, F2D2 retains the most binding to fraction F11-5.

#### 3.3.5 FLNDF Epitope is Expressed on S. mansoni Intramammalian Life Stages

Given the similarity of F2D2 specificity with infection antisera on the 2D-SSGM, we hypothesized that this antibody would show binding to intramammalian developmental stages of the parasite. The localization of the FLDNF epitope on *S. mansoni* was investigated by probing whole, fixed parasites, including cercariae, 48 hour old cultured schistosomula, and 8wk old adults. Bound antibody was detected with Alexa-488-conjugated anti-mouse IgG secondary and imaged by fluorescent microscopy. Fluorescence patterns indicated robust expression on the surface of all life stages investigated (**Figure 3.8A**). The FLDNF motif is potently expressed by cercariae, then appears to wane slightly after transformation to schistosomula and subsequent culture. In adults, the expression of FLDNF is markedly different in male versus female worms, with females expressing more glycan antigen.

Immune relevant glycan epitopes have been shown to occur on both glycoproteins and glycolipids. To determine if FLDNF is expressed on glycoproteins, soluble extracts of S. *mansoni* eggs (SEA) and lysates of cercariae, 3 day old schistosomula, and adults were separated by SDS-PAGE probed by western blot with F2D2 (**Figure 3.8B**). Five times less SEA relative to the other extracts was used in the analysis due to the intense expression of the epitope in the parasite eggs. F2D2 bound diverse and unique glycoprotein bands from each of the developmental stages, including glycoproteins from ~35 kDa to >260 kDa in both cercariae and SEA, however the banding pattern is markedly different in these two samples. FLNDF expression appears more restricted in schistosomula and mixed sex adults. In schistosomula, the major glycoprotein is ~40 kDa with several fainter bands ~20 kDa, ~30 kDa, and ~200 kDa. Adults also express the F2D2 epitope on few molecular species, primarily a glycoprotein ~70 kDa with faint expression on proteins of the ~45 kDa and ~230 kDa. Given the robust expression via immunostaining in

schistosomula and adults (**Figure 3.8B**), it is possible that the glycan epitope is also expressed on glycolipids which is consistent with previous reports of lipid antigens (82,110,310,388,413).



Figure 3.8. The F2D2 antibody target, FLDNF, is expressed on all mammalian life stages and can kill schistosomula *in vitro*.

(A) Immunostaining of fixed parasites with either F2D2 antibody  $(10\mu g/ml)$  or isotype control IgG showing abundant surface expression of FLDNF on intramammalian life stages. Imaged at 20x magnification. (B) Western blot of F2D2 binding to parasite life stages showing FLDNF is expressed on glycoproteins in all samples but in a distinct pattern of expression that differs between life stages. SEA at  $1\mu g/ml$ , all other lysates at  $5\mu g/ml$ .

(C) In vitro killing assays show that F2D2 antibody is lethal to schistosomula, in a complement-dependent manner. A representative dose series (left) and three replicates at 50µg/mL (right) after 48 hours are shown. The killing was significantly dependent on F2D2 antibody compared to control IgG (normal mouse IgG) and on presence of active versus heat-inactivated guinea pig complement by 2-way ANOVA (\*\*  $p \le 0.005$ , \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ ). Mean ± SD are shown.

# 3.3.6 F2D2 Kills Schistosomula in vitro

Given the evidence that schistosomula express antigens bound by F2D2, which are thought to be the most vulnerable target of host immunity, we tested whether F2D2 was able to kill *in vitro*transformed schistosomula. Three-hour old schistosomula were cultured for up to 48 hours with F2D2 in the presence of active or heat-inactivated guinea pig complement. The antibody was lethal to schistosomula in a dose-dependent manner at concentrations of 10-100µg/mL (**Figure 3.8C**). At 50µg/mL antibody and at 48 hours, 30-60% of the schistosomula were dead, as indicated by gross morphology and DAPI uptake. F2D2 killing of schistosomula was significantly higher than the baseline toxicity of mouse IgG, and dependent on the presence of active complement (**Figure 3.8C**). These data show that the target of F2D2 could be important to the host immune response.

3.3.7 Proposed Structures for Antisera Glycan Targets using Metadata-Assisted Glycan Sequencing (MAGS)

We characterized several of the 2D-GAEAB fractions by MALDI-TOF MS and compiled the compositional mass spectrometry (MS) data with lectin and antibody binding characteristics in order to tentatively predict their composition and propose possible structures, using Metadata-Assisted Glycan Sequencing (MAGS) (266,270). MS profiles for each fraction are shown in **Figures 3.9-3.11**. **Table 3.2** shows the compiled lectin and antibody binding patterns of each 2D fraction along with compositional predictions from MS. The proposed structures, monosaccharide compositions, sequence, and branching were also based on motifs identified in previous literature (269,281,392,413,414).



Figure 3.9. MALDI-TOF MS profiles of the 2D-SSGM fractions: 7-3, 7-4, 7-5, 9-4, and 9-5.

AEAB-linked fractions were mixed with DHB and analyzed in negative ion mode. The observed molecular weight is shown above each peak and proposed structures that match glycan compositional data are shown +/- 0.5 Da. Proposed structures reflect molecular weights, MAGS data from the 2D-SSGM, and reported structures in the literature, as well as MS<sup>2</sup> data that was available for select peaks. Where peaks with and without sodium ion were detectable, only one is shown.

For example, F11-5, which was among the most highly reactive with antisera and F2D2 antibody, represents a mixture of primarily core xylosylated glycans with 3-4 Hex, 4-5 HexNAc, and 1-3 deoxyHex residues (**Figure 3.12, Table 3.2**). In addition to robust AAL and ConA binding, F11-5 is also bound by WGA and BPL lectins, and LDNF and anti-HRP antibodies (**Figure 3.6, Table 3.2**), suggesting that it contains determinants with terminal GlcNAc, terminal GalNAc, LDNF, and core  $\beta$ -xylose. F11-5 also contained glycan compositions consistent with a multifucosylated truncated N-glycan core and glycans of undetermined composition. MALDI-TOF/TOF of the highest magnitude peak (1926.564) supported the MAGS data, suggesting a core fucose and LDNF (**Figure 3.13**). Although TOF/TOF data was unavailable for some of the smaller peaks of high molecular weight (2072.610, 2275.669), their compositions were consistent with either multifucosylated LDN epitopes (FLDNF, LDN-dF) or two singly-fucosylated GlcNAcs on the antennae (**Figure 3.13**). Recognition of F11-5 by anti-LDN-dF and anti-M3GN2 antibodies, however, was low. This MAGS information lead us to hypothesize that antenna in many N-glycans in F11-5 were extended past GlcNAc and that the multi-fucosylated antennae were likely FLDNF rather than LDN-dF.



Figure 3.10. MALDI-TOF MS profiles of the 2D-SSGM fractions: 9-8, 10-4, 10-6, 11-4, and 11-5.

AEAB-linked fractions were mixed with DHB and analyzed in negative ion mode. The observed molecular weight is shown above each peak and proposed structures which match oligosaccharide compositional data are shown +/- 0.5 Da. Proposed structures reflect molecular weights, MAGS data from the 2D-SSGM and reported structures in the literature, as well as MS<sup>2</sup> data which was available for select peaks. Where peaks with and without sodium ion were detectable, only one is shown.

Several other fractions were moderately to strongly reactive with F2D2 (F9-4, 11-4, F11-5, F13-4) (**Figure 3.7D, Table 3.2**). These glycan fractions also had compositional and MAGS data consistent with fucosylated LDN determinants (F9-4: 1973, F11-4: 1626.5; F13-4: 1626.5, 2196). In particular, F13-4, which was not reactive with LDNF or LDN-dF antibodies, demonstrated compositions consistent with LDN and 4 Fuc residues, suggesting the presence of fucosylated GalNAc residues (**Figure 3.12**). Serum reactivity with some fractions where F2D2 reactivity was significantly lower or non-existent (F7-3, F9-5, F10-4, F13-0) suggested other immunologically relevant epitopes such as high mannose and core  $\beta$ -xylose containing structures on the glycan array.

These results demonstrate that the most immunodominant egg N-glycans recognized by infected hosts share common determinants containing core  $\beta$ -xylose, 1-4 fucose residues, and are consistent with fucosylated LDN structures. Other epitopes likely contained in the serum immunodominant fractions are high mannose, core  $\beta$ -xylose, core  $\alpha$ 6-fucose, Le<sup>x</sup>, and LDNF. Using both defined reagents and immunologically relevant samples therefore allowed us to partially characterize the egg glycans printed on the array and predict possible immunodominant glycan targets of the response to *S. mansoni*.



Figure 3.11. MALDI-TOF MS profiles of the 2D-SSGM fractions: 11-6, 13-4, 13-6, 13-7, and 13-8.

AEAB-linked fractions were mixed with DHB and analyzed in negative ion mode. The observed molecular weight is shown above each peak and proposed structures which match oligosaccharide compositional data are shown +/- 0.5 Da. Proposed structures reflect molecular weights, MAGS data from the 2D-SSGM and reported structures in the literature, as well as MS<sup>2</sup> data which was available for select peaks. Where peaks with and without sodium ion were detectable, only one is shown.

# 3.4 Discussion

Our studies show that specific antigenic epitopes within N-glycans in egg glycoproteins from *S. mansoni* are the targets of adaptive immunity in some animal species and people infected by the parasite. While schistosomes synthesize many types of unusual glycans and both monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies have been found to recognize specific glycan determinants, the overall screening of such responses has been difficult due to the lack of parasite-derived glycan reagents and technologies. The studies here employing total N-glycans from egg glycoproteins, defined glycan microarrays based on schistosome glycan antigens, along with mAbs to glycan antigens, have allowed us to identify key glycan antigens in this parasite, and most notably the recognition of the fucosylated glycan determinant FLDNF. These studies have broad implications for understanding the overall animal and human responses upon infection to glycan antigens from this parasite, and may lead to new diagnostic and vaccine targets.

10-0	F12.8	F13-7		F13-6			F13_4		F11-6		F11-5							F114	10-0	210.0				F9-8		r-9-0		7	E0.4	F7-5		F7-4		F7-3	Fraction
	_																					_													PHA-L
$\vdash$	_			_						_								_				_			_										PNA
$\vdash$	_			_	$\vdash$			_	-	_												-			_		_	_	_	$\vdash$					HPA WFA
$\vdash$	_			_	$\vdash$																	-			_		_			$\vdash$	$\vdash$				WGA
$\vdash$	_			_	$\vdash$																	-			_		_			$\vdash$	$\vdash$				LTL
																									_										AAL
																																_			SNA
$\vdash$																																_			RCAI
																																			ConA
																																			UEA
																																			MAL1
																																			BPL
																																			GS1B4
																																			Y1H5 (LDN)
																																			L6B8 (LDNF)
												_	_	_	_									_										H	F2D2
																				_													_		5F1 (LeX) P7899 (CX/CF) 100-4g11-A
																																	_		P7899
	_							_												_				_								_	_		100-4g11-A
_	-											_	_	_	_	_				_			_	_	_		_		_	$\vdash$	$\vdash$	_	_		(Man3GlcNAc2) 290-2D9-A (LDN-DF)
$\vdash$	_				$\vdash$	_	_	_	$\vdash$			_	_	_	_	_				_				_								_	_		290-4A8 (LDN-DF)
1242, 1258, 1624, 1756 H(	852, 880, 1360, 1404, 1448, 1492, 1536, 1580, 1668, 1712 N.D.	1352, 1390 H(	1404, 1536 H(	958, 967, 1052, 1280, 1319, 1417 N.D.	2196 H	1593 H	1423, 1555, 1626 H(	944, 1031, 1232 N.D.	1440 H(	885, 1016, 1280, 1304, 1402 N.D.	2072, 2275 H	1942, 2088 , 2291 H(	1626, 1794, 1926 H(	1502, 1634, 1837 H(	1644 H(	919, 964, 1271 N.D.	1644 H(	1626 H(	1650, 1798 N.D.	1096, 1258, 1420 H(	1116, 1278, 1410 H(	924, 1402 N.D.	1436, 1649 N.D.	1550 H(	1398 H	1438, 1623, 1785 H(	1055, 1280 N.D.	1811, 1973 H(	1457 N.D.	914, 1014, 1176, 1338, 1500 N.D.	1560 H(	1406 H(	1119 N.D.	1550, 1722, 1884 H(	(LUN-OF)
H(3-5)N(2-3)F(0-1)X(0-1)-AEAB	D.	H(3-4)N(2)F(0-1)X(1)-AEAB	H(4)N(2)F(1)X(0-1)-AEAB	0	H(3)N(4)F(4)X(1)-AEAB	H(4)N(3)X(1)-AEAB	H(3)N(3-4)F(1)X(0-1)-AEAB	o,	H(4)N(3)-AEAB	0.	H(3)N(4-5)F(3)X(1)-AEAB	H(4)N(4-5)F(1-2)X(1)-AEAB	H(3)N(4)F(1-2)X(0-1)-AEAB	H(3)N(4-5)X(0-1)-AEAB	H(3)N(2)F(3)X(1)-AEAB	ō.	H(3)N(2)F(3)X(1)-AEAB	H(3)N(4)F(1)-AEAB	0.	H(3-5)N(2)-AEAB	H(2-3)N(3)X(0-1)-AEAB	0	D.	H(4)N(2)F(2)-AEAB	H(S)N(2)-AEAB	H(4-6)N(3)-AEAB	0.	H(4-5)N(4)F(1)-AEAB	0.	0.	H(6)N(2)-AEAB	H(2)N(3)-AEAB	0.	H(6-8)N(2)-AEAB	Proposed Compositions

Low Moderate Moderate Strong Strong

122

# Table 3.2. Summary of MAGS data for the 2D-SSGM.

Each 2D fraction is shown with lectin and antibody binding magnitudes (**Figure 3.6**), molecular weight peaks obtained from MALDI-TOF MS, and compositional predictions when possible. H, Hexose; N, N-acetylhexosamine; X, xylose; F, fucose; N.D.; no known oligosaccharide mass within 1 Da of the observed molecular weight, or the matching composition does not match structural precedents in the literature. MALDI-TOF MS profiles with predicted cartoon structures are shown in **Figures 3.9-3.11 and 3.13**.

It is well established that schistosome infection of humans, primates, and rodents induces strong humoral responses against parasite antigens, and while antibody titers to glycan antigens are generally proportional to severity of the infection (80), it is not yet clear whether such responses provide protection. Clearly, antibodies to carbohydrate antigens, especially glycoprotein N-glycans, dominate the humoral response in particular during egg deposition (127,415), suggesting that egg N-glycans play an important role in the immunopathogenesis of the disease. Antigenic responses to glycan determinants or epitopes such as Le<sup>X</sup>, LDN, LDNF, and LDN-dF give rise to different intensity levels and antibody isotypes (80,127,168,208,238,243,244,371). Recent elegant studies on structural glycomics profiling of schistosomes have shown that schistosome eggs contain a diverse repertoire of high mannose, truncated and complex N-glycans with core motifs such as  $\alpha 3$  fucose,  $\alpha 6$  fucose, and  $\beta 2$  xylose (17,74,105,111). There is also growing evidence that worm products have immunomodulatory roles and can alter functions and activation of dendritic cells, macrophages, and intestinal epithelial cells (143,163,416-418). However, the precise structures of the molecules that are bioactive in that regard are not yet clear.


Figure 3.12. MALDI-TOF/TOF profile of peak 1926.564 in Fraction F11-5.

One of the major peaks, 1926.564, of the immunodominant F11-5, with proposed structure assignments for major MS/MS fragments. Reducing end fragments are shown linked to AEAB; non-reducing end fragments are shown as free oligosaccharides.

In targeting the N-glycans of egg glycoproteins, we used both PNGase F and A to release N-glycans from these glycans, and we generated 1D and 2D shotgun glycan microarrays after glycan separation of the fluorescent-labeled glycans by HPLC fractionation. The interactions of glycans on these microarrays with a panel of lectins and antibodies indicated that egg N-glycans are characterized by a high content of  $\alpha$ -linked fucose and mannose residues, and are consistent with previous studies showing an abundance of glycans with these modifications in schistosome

eggs (17,74,105,111). To help focus our studies, we interrogated the 1D microarrays with sera from mice, rhesus, and humans, to determine which of these glycan fractions were most relevant to the induction of humoral responses during disease progression in these hosts. We found that fractions F7-F13 were recognized by IgG from all three species (Figure 3.4), demonstrating the N-glycans released by PNGase F contain key antigenic determinants. By contrast, we found that PNGase Areleased glycans, which were recognized by lectins AAL and ConA, were poorly recognized by infected mouse, rhesus, or human sera. PNGase A can release N-glycans containing unusual core modifications that block PNGase F release. It is possible that cleavage of glycans with PNGase A may result in alteration in the conformation of antigenic features within the glycan cores that are recognized by antibodies, especially in light of results from Luyai et al (2014), demonstrating that rhesus and human sera strongly recognized core  $\alpha$ 3-fucosylated and core  $\beta$ 2-xylosylated glycans when presented as glycopeptides on a defined glycan microarray, implying the possible need for a peptide moiety in the recognition (271). The glycan microarrays we prepared here from SEA were developed by reductive amination with AEAB and free glycans, and thus lack a peptide component. Alternatively, the subset of schistosome glycans that receive core  $\alpha$ 3-fucose modifications may contain fewer terminal immunodominant epitopes. Interestingly, a recent glycomics study demonstrated that there were major differences in the PNGase F- and PNGase A-released Nglycans of both eggs and miracidia. PNGase A-released glycans from eggs were primarily multiantennary with singly-fucosylated termini (LDN, LDNF, Le<sup>X</sup>) while PNGase F-released glycans were primarily biantennary with several multi-fucosylated LDN motifs (392). Our data suggest that the latter type of glycan may be more immunodominant in schistosomiasis-infected hosts.



Figure 3.13. MALDI-TOF profile of F2D2 and sera targeted S. mansoni egg glycans.

Mass spectrometry analysis of F11-5 predicts glycans with mono and biantennary structures containing LacdiNAc termini, multiple fucose, and core xylose epitopes. Possible fucosylated motifs include LDNF, LDN-dF, FLDN, FLDNF, Le<sup>X</sup>, and core  $\alpha$ 6 fucose (pictured in **Table 3.2**).

Screening of 1D microarrays with serum from infected rhesus macaques showed a very strong IgG response (**Figure 3.4B**), primarily to fractions F7-F13, but only during the patent period at 8wks post-infection. No significant antibody response to these glycans was obtained with the 78wk infected serum in either this study or a recent one from our group (271). The results suggest that anti-glycan responses to some antigens dissipate by this stage of the infection in rhesus. A salient feature of the rhesus is that an infection becomes patent but, above a threshold worm burden, egg output declines over the ensuing weeks to months (419,420) and the rhesus clears the infection and becomes resistant to re-infection (199). Recent studies showed that in rhesus, an early IgG antibody response is associated with the elimination of worms and that peak titers of IgG to core

 $\alpha$ 3-fucose and core  $\beta$ 2-xylose at 8-11 weeks coincide with schistosomula killing by rhesus sera *in vitro* (197). Therefore, it is possible that the strong humoral IgG response to egg glycans induced during the patent phase plays a role in natural worm elimination and acquired resistance in rhesus.

In agreement with these studies, we also observed rhesus serum reactivity against PNGase A-released egg N-glycan fractions A3 and A6, which was of much lower magnitude than we observed toward PNGase F-released glycans. Complex type N-glycans possessing core  $\alpha$ 3-fucose and core  $\beta$ 2-xylose, associated with resistance to PNGase F, but not PNGase A, have been detected in schistosomes (17,74,105,111,244,281,392). Smit *et al* (392) showed that the core  $\alpha$ 3-fucosylated egg N-glycans were primarily complex, in contrast to the truncated trimannose used on the defined array in Luyai *et al* (271), to which a robust rhesus response was seen. The low reactivity of rhesus antibodies with our PNGase A-released fractions could therefore be explained by a preference for truncated rather than complex core  $\alpha$ 3 fucosylated N-glycans, which may be expressed earlier than the egg stage. Core  $\alpha$ 3-fucosylated egg derived glycans are also known to induce a strong Th2 cytokine response in infected mice (164). Thus, both PNGase F- and A-released glycans from the worm appear to be important immunogens and antigens in the response against schistosomiasis.

IgG within one human serum sample recognized fractions F1, F3, F7-F13 and F15, with fractions F11 and F15 showing the highest recognition (**Figure 3.4C**). Compared to the rhesus serum, the human sample lacked the relatively lower reactivity seen to PNGase A-released fractions in the rhesus, but did possess low reactivity to A13 before and after treatment. Reactivity to different PNGase F- and A-released fractions and the presence of IgG at disparate stages of disease progression suggests differences in the immune response to egg glycan antigens among these three mammalian hosts (**Figure 3.4**). Luyai *et al* (271) also found that there were both similarities and substantial differences in the specificity, titers, and isotype composition of anti-glycan antibodies among humans, rhesus monkeys, and mice (271). An important issue for future studies will be to determine whether the differentially recognized egg glycan epitopes contained in these fractions

represent markers of infection status and/or contribute to productive immune responses in protected hosts.

Further separation of the immunologically relevant GAEAB fractions F7-F13 in a second dimension resulted in a total of 60 purified fractions (**Figure 3.5**), with 15 printed on the 2D microarrays and interrogated with lectins, anti-glycan antibodies, and sera (**Figure 3.6**). We have shown that although many glycans separated by multidimensional HPLC have similar carbohydrate compositions, their separation indicates structural differences that also cause differences in the binding specificity of lectins and antibodies (268). Similar to the 1D parent fractions, most 2D fractions were highly fucosylated and mannose-containing, as demonstrated by their strong binding to the lectins AAL and ConA. Interestingly, further purification by 2D HPLC enriched for N-glycans bound by lectins that only bound weakly to the mixed glycans in the 1D parent fractions, such as the GlcNAc-binding lectin WGA, the GalNAc-binding lectin BPL, and the  $\beta$ -Gal binding lectin RCA-I (**Fig. 3.6A-B, Table 3.2**). Serial purification of heterogeneous glycans is therefore important to define the characteristics of distinct structures. One caveat to our approach may be that using serum to prioritize 1D-separated fractions for further analysis could mask important epitopes in the heterogeneous mixture. In any case, robust analyses of more highly purified fractions is always recommended.

The differential responses of infected animal and human sera to the 2D-SSGM microarrays was striking. When tested with pooled infected mouse serum, sera from 4 infected rhesus, and sera from 9 infected humans, showed that glycan fractions F9-4, F11-0, F11-4, F11-5, and F13-4 were recognized in all species (**Figure 3.7**). Mice responded prominently to fraction F11-5, composed of Hex<sub>3-4</sub>HexNAc<sub>2-5</sub>DeoxyHex<sub>0-3</sub>Xyl<sub>0-1</sub> (**Figure 3.7A**), while rhesus (**Figure 3.7B**) and humans (**Figure 3.7C**) showed high reactivity to multiple fractions during the patent phase of disease. In some rhesus monkeys, IgG reactivity against F11-4 and F11-5 was also observed at 26wks and 78wks post-infection, demonstrating that the humoral response to glycans declines after the egg-

laying patent phase but low levels of IgG against particular glycans can remain after egg deposition ceases, worms are eliminated and animals become self-cured.

Due to the striking similarity of the F2D2 mAb binding pattern with antisera (**Figure 3.7**), in particular that of the acutely infected, naturally resistant rhesus monkey, we explored the expression of the FLDNF epitope and the antibody's effector abilities. The F2D2 epitope, FLDNF, is highly expressed on cercarial and egg glycoproteins, and has more restricted expression in cultured schistosomula and adult worms (**Figure 3.8B**). This data, in combination with immunostaining depicting vast surface expression (**Figure 3.8A**), is in agreement with several reports profiling the expression of fucosylated LDN determinants (82,245,350,392), particularly FLDN and FLDNF, which are reported to exist on glycoproteins and glycolipids of the cercarial and egg stage, and predominantly on glycolipids in adults. Importantly, we found that the F2D2 antibody was lethal to schistosomula *in vitro* in a complement-dependent manner. Rhesus serum also has schistosomula-lethal activity from two months post-infection (198,271). It is still unknown whether anti-glycan antibodies contribute to parasite resistance in the context of a host response, but it is tempting to speculate that glycan targets present on schistosomula, such as the F2D2 epitope, could be protective if targeted early in infection.

The predicted structures of glycans contained in F11-5, the fraction most strongly bound by F2D2 and serum samples, suggest they contain a combination of antigenic epitopes such as variably fucosylated LacdiNAc (LDNF, LDN-dF, FLDN, FLDNF), Le<sup>X</sup>, and those containing core  $\alpha$ 3-fucose and  $\beta$ 2-xylose (**Figure 3.13, Table 3.2**). The MAGS data for other F2D2 binding fractions suggested the presence of fucosylated LDN motifs (**Figure 3.13, Table 3.2**). Tandem MS data was not available for the highly fucosylated peaks in fractions 11 (2072.6; X1F3H3N4; Na+ ion) and 13 (2196.7; X1F4H3N4, H+ ion), due to the lack of abundance, but the compositions predicted for these peaks matches those of PNGase F-released cercarial and egg glycans recently identified by Smit *et al* (392). In that study they performed exoglycosidase digestions on cercarial and egg N-glycans, which suggested that FLDNF and FLDN-dF were antigenic determinants, respectively, within these glycans, which was also consistent with the F2D2 epitope.

Several studies in multiple species have attempted to define the various roles that different anti-glycan antibodies to LDN, LDNF, FLDN, FLDNF, LDN-dF, and Le<sup>X</sup> may have in disease progression and immunity (127,208,240,243,244,271,272). Chimpanzees vaccinated with radiation-attenuated cercariae or naturally infected developed a strong cellular and humoral immune response predominantly directed against glycans associated with both cercariae and eggs, including LDN, LDNF, Le<sup>x</sup>, and undefined glycans present on KLH. Vaccinated chimps showed a 40% reduction in infection intensity compared to infected control chimpanzees (127). Later studies revealed that antibody levels to LDN-dF and FLDN epitopes were strikingly higher than those against LDN, LDNF, and monomeric Le<sup>X</sup> in vaccinated or infected chimps and infected human cohorts. Interestingly, the anti-LDN-dF and anti-FLDN antibodies were predominantly IgGs, whereas anti-Le<sup>X</sup>, anti-LDN, and anti-LDNF were IgMs, however this was not always consistent in human studies (208,240,243,244). Note that in mice, the acute infection is marked by IgM antibodies to LDNF, LDN, and Le<sup>X</sup> (271). Similarly, mice generated predominately IgM and low levels of IgG to LDN and LDNF post immunization with LDN/LDNF expressing cells (272). The differential responses in infected animals raise important questions to address in the future, especially in relation to the specific glycan target, isotype responses, time courses of responses, and whether the specificity and titer of anti-glycan antibodies play a role in disease outcome and overall susceptibility to infection in the host animal.

# 3.5 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant from NIH AI101982 to R.D.C., and the Georgia Research Alliance to R.D.C, C.R-M, D.F.S., W.E.S., P.P.W. and by NIH GM085448 to D.F.S. and R.D.C. We thank Margaret Willard (Emory University) for technical support, and Dr. Jamie

Heimburg-Molinaro for critical reading of the manuscript. The authors declare they have no financial interest.

# Chapter 4. Schistosoma mansoni α1,3-Fucosyltransferase-F Generates the Lewis X Antigen

This chapter was originally published in Glycobiology (421) and is reproduced here with permission.

Megan L. Mickum<sup>1</sup>, Teerapat Rojsajjakul<sup>1,2</sup>, Ying Yu<sup>1</sup>, and Richard D. Cummings<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biochemistry and the Emory Glycomics Center, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA <sup>2</sup>Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Department of Surgery, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA

# 4.1 Introduction

Schistosomiasis is a debilitating vascular disease caused by an infection with parasitic helminths of the *Schistosoma species*. It causes a wide range of clinical manifestations that dramatically affect quality of life and is a major public health concern in over seventy tropical and subtropical countries. The World Health Organization (WHO) considers schistosomiasis second in socioeconomic importance among diseases worldwide and the third most important parasitic disease in terms of public health impact (7,13,16,422). Despite years of research on schistosome biology, millions are still infected and many more at risk due to insufficient prevention, diagnostics, treatments, and absence of a vaccine.

All life stages of Schistosoma species produce abundant glycoconjugates on their surfaces and in secretions that are exposed to the host immune system. In fact, the *S. mansoni* cercarial glycocalyx is mostly carbohydrate by weight (85,175). The glycome includes many N-glycans and O-glycans linked to proteins, and glycolipids, which are structurally distinct from their definitive host. It has long been accepted that glycans and glycoconjugates may be bioactive, and many of the schistosome glycans are known to interact with the host immune system in a variety of complex mechanisms, most of which are poorly understood (7,70-72,132,170).

A major constituent of the Schistosoma glycome is L-fucose. Fucose is abundant in N- and O-glycans in glycoproteins and in glycolipids of S. mansoni, and has been found in  $\alpha 1, 2, \alpha 1, 3, 3$ .  $\alpha$ 1,4-, and  $\alpha$ 1,6-linkages (70,423,424). Fucosylated glycoconjugates are prominently involved in the host humoral and cellular immune responses to infection. Antibodies have been identified against a diverse group of immunologically important fucosylated structures on non-reducing ends of protein- and lipid-conjugated oligosaccharides in both mammalian and snail host-associated developmental stages in infected animals and humans. These glycans include LDNF (GalNAc<sub>β</sub>1-4(Fuca1-3)GlcNAc), LDN-dF  $(GalNAc\beta1-4(Fuc\alpha1-2Fuc\alpha1-3)GlcNAc), FLDN$ (Fuca1-3GalNAcβ1-4GlcNAc), FLDNF (Fucα1-3GalNAcβ1-4(Fucα1-3)GlcNAc), dF-LDN-dF (Fucα1- $2Fuca1-3GalNAc\beta1-4(Fuca1-2Fuca1-3)GlcNAc)$ , and Lewis X (Le<sup>X</sup>; Gal $\beta$ 1-4(Fuca1-3)GlcNAc) (105,110,234,243,246,350,425-427). The genes encoding potential fucosyltransferases have been partly identified recently (2,332,337), but as of yet, there is no information about the enzymatic activities and specificities for these putative smFuTs. The lack of information has created a major limitation in the study of the functions of the fucosylated glycans and how they interact with the host, due to an inability to use enzymatic approaches to synthesize the unusual fucosylated glycans in an affordable and facile manner.

The first phase of sequencing the *S. mansoni* genome in 2009 identified over twenty genes encoding putative fucosyltransferase (FuTs), many of which are predicted to be putative  $\alpha$ 1,3- or  $\alpha$ 1,6-FuTs. However, analysis of the corresponding database showed incomplete gene sequences and truncated, possibly non-functional enzymes which required further work to identify the full length gene transcripts (2,283,287). More recent studies have identified the potential breadth of the fucosyltransferase multigene family resulting in six  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuTs, six  $\alpha$ 1,6-FuTs, and two O-FuTs. Interestingly, however, no putative  $\alpha$ 1,2-FuTs were identified (289,332), although such linkages of Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2-R are known to occur in *S. mansoni* glycoproteins and glycolipids. This raises a question as to whether some of the putative  $\alpha 1,3$ - or  $\alpha 1,6$ -FuTs might actually have  $\alpha 1,2$ -FuT activities, or if the  $\alpha 1,2$ -FuTs have been grouped in another glycosyltransferase family. As previously stated, the functions and biosynthesis of fucosylated oligosaccharides in schistosomes are not yet understood. To learn more about the biosynthesis, regulation, and expression of fucosylated epitopes we focused on the characterization of the *S. mansoni*  $\alpha 1,3$ -FuT family. In this report, we describe our study of the enzymatic activity of the  $\alpha 1,3$ -FuT-F activity in S. mansoni (smFuT-F), which we found to be capable of synthesizing the terminal Le<sup>X</sup> structures. To our knowledge, this represents the first parasitic worm  $\alpha 1,3$ -fucosyltransferase heterologously expressed and characterized to date

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

# 4.2.1 Materials

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) and used without further purification unless otherwise noted. Water and Acetonitrile (HPLC grade) were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). Expression vector pGen2 was generated by Dr. Kelley Moremen and the glyco-enzyme repository. Restriction enzymes and ligase were purchased from New England Biolabs, Inc (Beverly, MA). Primers were from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coraville, IA). Lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT) and 2-amino-N-(2-aminoethyl)benzamide (AEAB) were synthesized (428). Lacto-N-tetraose (LNT) was purchased from V-labs, Inc (Covington, LA). All other glycans were purchased from ELICITYL OligoTech (Grenoble, France). GDP-fucose was purchased from Carbosynth (Berkshire, UK). Polyethylenimine (PEI, 25kDa linear, cat. # 23966) was purchased from Polysciences, Inc and prepared as a stock solution at a concentration of 1mg/mL in a buffer containing 25mM HEPES, pH7.5 and 150mM NaCl. The anti-GFP antibody (clone GT859) was purchased from GeneTex (Irvine, CA) and the secondary antibody HRP conjugate goat anti-mouse was purchased from KPL (Gaithersburg, MD). SuperSignal West chemiluminescent substrates were purchased from Thermo Scientific (Rockford, IL). Plant lectins were purchased from Vector Labs (Burlingame, CA) including: AAL, Aleuria aurantia lectin and RCA-I, Ricinus communis agglutinin I. An anti-LDNF antibody (IgG - clone L6B8) and an anti-Le<sup>x</sup> (IgG - clone F8A1.1) were developed as monoclonal antibodies by production of hybridomas from spleens of mice that had been infected with S. mansoni, as described previously (115,234). Secondary antibody conjugate goat anti-mouse IgG Alexa-633 and Cy5-streptavidin (Cy5-SA) were from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). An Ultraflex-II MALDI-TOF/TOF system from Bruker Daltonics (Billerica, MA) was used for analysis of glycan conjugates. An Orbitrap Fusion Tribrid system from Thermo Fisher Scientific (San Jose, CA) was used for MSn fragmentation analysis of glycans. A FACSCalibur from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA) with CellQuestPro acquisition software was used for flow cytometry, and FlowJo software was used for data analysis.

# 4.2.2 Cloning of S. mansoni FuT-F

The coding region for truncated *S. mansoni* FuT-F, smFuT-F (residues 53-435) was synthesized by Genewiz, INC (South Plainfield, NJ) with an additional NH2-terminal fusion of the 7 amino acid recognition sequence of the tobacco etch virus (TEV) protease. The synthetic DNA contained a flanking 5' EcoRI site and a 3' BamHI site and was subcloned into similarly digested chemically synthesized vector, termed pGen2, containing the following features: promoter, intron, post-regulatory element, termination, and terminal repeat sequences (429,430). The coding region of the resulting fusion protein was comprised of a 25 amino acid NH2-terminal signal sequence from the *T. cruzi* lysosomal  $\alpha$ -mannosidase followed by an 8xHis tag, 17 amino acid AviTag, "superfolder" GFP, TEV protease cleavage site, and truncated smFuT-F (431-433). This expression vector was designated smFuT-F-pGEn2 and the recombinant product termed smFuT-F-GFP.

#### 4.2.3 Expression of smFuT-F-pGen2 in HEK Freestyle Cells

To determine if smFuT-F-pGen2 encoded a soluble, active  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuT, smFuT-F-pGen2 was transiently transfected into HEK freestyle cells (HEK293f, Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). Cells were grown to a density of 2.5x106 cells/mL in Freestyle 293 Expression Medium (Life Technologies) in suspension on a platform shaker in a humidified 37°C incubator. Before transfection, cells were spun down at 300xg for 5min and re-suspended in fresh media. To generate the transfection solutions, smFuT-F-pGen2 was diluted to 4µg/mL in Freestyle 293 Expression Medium and PEI was diluted to 9µg/mL for a final concentration of 0.5µg DNA or PEI/µL media in transfection solution. The DNA solution was added to cells, and the culture allowed to shake in 37°C incubator for 5min. The PEI solution was then added and the cells returned to the shaking incubator. After 24h, the cells were diluted 1:1 with fresh media and supplemented with valproic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, #4543) to a final concentration of 2.2mM. Cells were monitored via flow cytometry by gating on live cells and monitoring GFP positivity at 24h time points. As a control, HEK293f cells were mock transfected under similar conditions with PEI alone (no DNA). After 72h, media was clarified by centrifugation at 3000xg for 10min. Conditioned media and cell pellets were stored at -200C prior to use.

# 4.2.4 SDS-Page and Western Blot of smFuT-F-GFP Expression

For SDS–PAGE and western blotting, 15µl aliquots of transfection culture or control culture were sampled. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000xg for 5min and conditioned media was retained. Cells were suspended in 15µl of fresh media. 1× NuPAGE SDS sample buffer (Invitrogen) with or without 2.5%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol ( $\beta$ ME) was added to conditioned media or cells boiled for 10min. Samples were run in 10-well Mini-PROTEAN-TGX gels at 110 volts with broad range protein standards (Spectra multicolor). Protein was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using Trans-Blot Turbo semi-dry transfer system. Unless noted otherwise, all subsequent incubations and washes were shaking at ambient temperature. Membranes were

blocked for 1h in 5% (w/v) bovine serum albumin fraction V (BSA) in TBS wash buffer (20mM Tris, 300mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween-20). Membrane was washed three times with TBS wash buffer and incubated with anti-GFP antibody 1:10,000 in 1% (w/v) BSA in TBS wash buffer. The membrane was then washed three times in TBS wash buffer. Secondary detection antibody, HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse-IgG, was added for 1h at 1:20,000 in TBS wash buffer. The same wash procedure was repeated, and then SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate was added for 30 seconds. The membranes were dabbed dry and exposed to film.

#### 4.2.5 Purification of Recombinant smFuT-F-GFP

Cell pellets were re-suspended in a Binding Buffer (50mM NaH2PO4, 150mM NaCl, 10mM imidazole, 2% (v/v) Tween-20, 1X EDTA protease inhibitor, pH8.0) and sonicated over ice to lyse cells. Insoluble debris was removed by centrifugation at 10,000xg for 10min. The pellet was re-suspended in Binding Buffer, sonicated, and spun down two more times. The supernatant was adjusted to 0.5% Tween-20 with detergent free Binding Buffer and loaded onto a column containing 1mL Ni-NTA superflow (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) equilibrated with wash buffer (50mM NaH2PO4, 500mM NaCl, 20 mM imidazole, pH8.0). Following the loading of the sample, the column was washed with 50mL of Wash buffer and eluted in 2mL fractions with Elution buffer (50mM NaH2PO4, 500mM NaCl, 500mM imidazole, pH8.0). Fractions containing GFP were pooled and dialyzed into 25mM HEPES, 300mM NaCl, 50mM imidazole, pH7.5 with a 10 kDa molecular weight cutoff. The dialyzed samples was concentrated using Amicon Ultra 0.5mL Centrifugal Filters with 10kDa molecular weight cutoff (Millipore). Final protein concentration was determined by BCA assay.

#### 4.2.6 Glycan AEAB Labeling and Purification

Glycan acceptors were selected and conjugated with AEAB as described previously (394,428,434). Briefly, 1–10 mg of glycan was mixed with  $50-250\mu$ l of freshly prepared 0.35M AEAB hydrochloride salt and an equal volume of 1M NaCNBH4 in DMSO/AcOH (v/v =

7/3). The conjugation reaction was left to proceed for 2h at 65oC and was stopped by the addition of 10 volumes of cold acetonitrile and allowed to stand for 30min at -20oC. The precipitated glycan-AEAB (GAEAB) derivatives were collected after centrifugation at 10,000xg for 5min. The GAEAB pellet was dried under a vacuum for 10min, reconstituted in water, and centrifuged at 10,000xg for 2min to remove any insoluble material.

A Shimadzu HPLC CBM-20A system coupled with a fluorescence detector RF-10AXL (330nm/420nm excitation/emission) was used for HPLC analysis and separation of GAEABs. The GAEABs were purified by reverse phase HPLC on a porous graphitized carbon column (PGC, 150  $\times$  4.6 mm, Thermo Fisher Scientific) with a gradient of 15-45% acetonitrile (0.1% trifluoroacetic acid) in 40min to separate the GAEABs from any unincorporated label. The effluents were monitored by fluorescence where the GAEAB peak fractions were collected, quantified by fluorescence, and dried under vacuum. GAEABs were reconstituted to 1-5mM stocks in water and stored at -20oC until use.

#### 4.2.7 Fucosyltransferase Assays

The fucosyltransferase assays were performed in 50µl reaction mixtures containing 50mM sodium cacodylate, pH7.0, 20mM MnCl2 (or other metal salt), 4mM GDP-fucose, 4µM GAEAB sugar acceptor, and smFuT-F-GFP. No smFuT-F-GFP was added for mock reaction conditions. Reaction mixtures were incubated rotating at room temperature or 37oC for 4d. The enzyme was removed from the reaction mixture via porous graphitized carbon solid phase extraction. Fucosyltransferase GAEAB products were then separated from GAEAB acceptors by reverse phase HPLC on a PGC column. Each peak fraction was collected, quantified by fluorescence, and dried under vacuum. Samples were then processed for either MALDI-TOF MS for molecular mass analysis or Electrospray Ionization Mass spectrometry (porous graphitized carbon column MS) for MS<sup>n</sup> fragmentation.

#### 4.2.8 Mass Spectrometry of FuT Products

For MALDI-TOF MS analysis, purified fucosyltransferase GAEAB products were acetylated using acetic anhydride in saturated sodium bicarbonate for 30min on ice, followed by room temperature incubation for 1h. Glycans were then desalted via porous graphitized carbon solid phase extraction. Any esters formed during acetylation were hydrolyzed by incubation in 0.01 M sodium hydroxide at room temperature for approximately 3-4h and then lyophilized (112,435). The samples were then permethylated according to reported procedures to increase the sensitivity of MS analysis (436,437). Briefly, a lyophilized sample was treated with 200µL DMSO/NaOH slurry and 200µL methyl iodide for 30min, shaking. The supernatant was then partitioned between 500µL water and 500µL chloroform. The organic layer was washed four times with 500µL water, dried, and re-dissolved in 50% methanol:water for MALDI-TOF MS analysis. Mass spectrometry data were collected using an Ultraflex MALDI TOF/TOF (Bruker Daltonics, Billerica, MA).

For ESI MS and MS<sup>n</sup> analysis, AEAB was removed from the fucosyltransferase GAEAB products by incubation in 10mM sodium hypochlorite for 30min at room temperature resulting in a pentose proximal sugar. The reaction was quenched with the addition of formic acid, dried under a vacuum, and then permethylated as described. MS data were collected using an Orbitrap Fusion (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Spray parameter was 3.5 kV. Full MS spectra were acquired with resolution of 60,000 at m/z 200 with an automatic gain control (AGC) target value of 2x105 and maximum ion injection time of 100ms. Ions for MS/MS fragmentation were isolated in the quadrupole with an isolation window of 3 and analyzed in the Orbitrap analyzer. CID fragmentation was performed in the ion trap with normalized collision energy of 35, and rapid scan MS analysis. The raw data was processed using XCalibur (Thermo, San Jose).

# 4.2.9 Glycobead Assay

Purified fucosyltransferase GAEAB products were conjugated to Polybead Carboxylate Microspheres (cat# 17141, 6.0µM, Polysciences, Inc.) using the Polylink protein coupling kit (cat# 24350) with some changes. Briefly, beads were activated by suspension in  $160\mu$ L of Polylink coupling buffer (50mM MES, 0.05% Proclin-300, pH5.2) with the addition of  $20\mu$ L of a 200mg/mL 1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) and 200mg/mL N-hydroxysulfosuccinimide (sulfo-NHS) solution. After rotation at room temperature for 30min, beads were washed once with Polylink wash buffer (10mM Tris, 0.05% BSA, 0.05% Proclin-300, pH8.0). Beads were then incubated in 1mM GAEABs (100mM phosphate buffer, pH8.5) rotating, at room temperature for 1h, washed 3x with Polylink wash buffer, and stored at 4oC until use.

Biotinylated lectins and monoclonal antibodies were used to validate the beads for conjugation efficiency and for the characterization of fucosyltransferase GAEAB products. Beads were washed three times in Polylink wash buffer and incubated, rotating for 1h with lections or mAbs (0.05µg/mL AAL, 2.0µg/mL RCA-I, or 1µg/mL antibody) in Binding buffer (20mM Tris-HCl, 150mM NaCl, 2mM MgCl2, 5mM CaCl2, 0.05% Tween-20, 1% BSA, pH7.4). Beads were washed with three times with Polylink wash buffer and incubated for 1h with Cy5-SA or antimouse IgG AlexaFluor 633 1:400 in Binding buffer. Beads were washed three times in Polylink wash buffer.

#### 4.2.10 Schistosoma Life Stages

S. mansoni-infected Biomphalaria glabrata snails, strain NMRI NR-21962, were provided by the Schistosome Research Reagent Resource Center through BEI Resources, NIAID, NIH. Snail maintenance, collection of cercariae, transformation to schistosomula, and isolation of adult worms from mice was conducted as previously described (272,438). Briefly, snails maintained in a dark room were placed into beakers of conditioned water, under a bright light, for 2h. The water was filtered through 70 $\mu$ m nylon cell strainers to collect cercariae. After counting, the cercariae were incubated on ice for 30 min, and centrifuged at 500×g for 10min at 4°C. For transformation to schistosomula, the cercarial pellet was resuspended in 5–10mL of cold DMEM and vortexed on high for 2×45 s periods, with a 3min ice incubation in between; or the pellet was resuspended to 1000 cercaria/mL in cold DMEM and transformed by passage 8 times though a syringe and 22-G needle, in 10mL batches. The suspension of detached schistosomula and tails was allowed to settle and the bottom few milliliters were loaded onto a 60% Percoll gradient in DMEM. The gradient was centrifuged for 15min at 500×g, 4°C. The supernatant was carefully removed, and the schistosomula pellet was washed three times by spinning at 300 × g in cold DMEM. The schistosomula were cultured for 3d in DMEM with 10% FBS, penicillin/streptomycin at a density of 500 organisms/mL in tissue-culture dishes. All work with B. glabrata and S. mansoni was approved by the Emory University Office of Occupational Health and Safety, and conducted in BSL-II animal surgery facilities and laboratories in compliance with University-approved Biosafety and IACUC protocols.

For adult worms, Swiss-Webster mice (6–8 weeks old) were obtained from the Schistosomiasis Resource Center of the Biomedical Research Institute in Rockville, MD. Female Swiss-Webster mice (4–6 weeks old) from Taconic Farms were infected with an average 200 (high dose) cercaria per mouse, and shipped to our facility. Infected mice were monitored for abdominal distention and piloerection and sacrificed if experiencing excessive stress. High-dose infected mice were sacrificed at 7.5wks post-infection for collection of adult worms and eggs. Euthanasia was by intraperitoneal overdose with 300µL of 65mg/mL sodium pentobarbital with 200 U/mL heparin sodium salt, followed by mesenteric perfusion (0.85% NaCl, 0.75% trisodium citrate dihydrate) for worm collection. Worms were washed several times with PBS. All experiments involving mice were approved by the Emory University IACUC.

#### 4.2.11 Quantitative RT-PCR of FuT Transcription Levels

Relative transcript abundance in cercariae, newly transformed and 3-day cultured schistosomula, and adults was assessed using the comparative CT ( $\Delta\Delta$ CT) method, where  $\beta$ -tubulin was used as an endogenous calibrator gene to normalize the CT values for a gene of interest. The compatibility of the tubulin calibrator and FuT primers under normal reaction conditions was

assessed by plotting  $\Delta$ CT at various dilutions of cDNA input and determining the slope of the resultant line, and primer efficiencies were deemed compatible if the absolute value of the slope was less than 0.1. Primers used in this study for qPCR are listed in **Table 4.1**. Cercariae, newly transformed schistosomula, 3-day cultured schistosomula, and adult worms were washed 5 times with PBS and total RNA extracted using the RNAeasy kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA was converted to first-strand cDNA using the Superscript III-First-Strand Synthesis System.

Real-time qPCR reactions (20mL/rxn) were prepared in triplicate, comprising 1X SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems), 5µM each forward and reverse gene-specific primers, and 15ng RNA input-equivalents parasite cDNA. Reactions were run on a Step One plus Real-time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) with the following cycle profile: initial denaturation at 95°C/10 min followed by 50 cycles of 95°C/15 sec, 50°C/11 sec, and 60°C/1 min. PCR product accumulation was monitored in real time, and amplification fidelity was assessed by post-cycling thermal dissociation and electrophoretic fractionation. To assess FuT expression by the  $\Delta\Delta$ CT method, the geometric mean of tubulin used to normalize FuT CT such that  $\Delta$ CT=CT<sub>FuT</sub>- CT<sub>tubulin</sub>. Student's T-tests were used to compare  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuT expression in adults versus cercariae and somules across three independent biological replicates, with significance set at p<#0.05.

Name	Sequence
FuT A Forward	5'- TATTCCCTGAACGACCAGAATG
FuT A Reverse	5'- TTAGCCTCCTTCCATGACAAC
FuT B Forward	5'- ACAGCAGATCCAGTTTTGTGTC
FuT B Reverse	5'- GAACTACCCGTACAACTAAATGC
FuT C Forward	5'- GTAAGTGGCAATGGAGACAATATC
FuT C Reverse	5'- CCAAGATTGATTCCTCGGTTTG
FuT D Forward	5'- GAGCTGTCGCTTGGATAGTAAG
FuT D Reverse	5'- GACCACATCGACCATACACATC
FuT E Forward	5'- GTGTCTACTGGCACATACATCTC
FuT E Reverse	5'- CGCAATTTCCGACCATTACATC
FuT F Forward	5'- GTGTCTACTGGCACATACATCTC
FuT F Reverse	5'- CGCAATTTCCGACCATTACATC
β-tubulin Forward	5'- TGATCCAACTGGCACATACC
β-tubulin Reverse	5'- TAGCACGAGGCACATACTTTC

# Table 4.1 qPCR Primers for transcription analysis

Sequences of selected primers for FuT-A through -F and  $\beta$ -tubulin used in real-time PCR assays.

# 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Identification and cloning of a possible Lewis type fucosyltransferase

Several recent studies have taken a genomic/transcriptomic approach to identify and explore the fucosyltransferase multigene family in *Schistosoma mansoni*, which has previously been incompletely annotated in the gene database (287,289,332). Peterson *et. al.* (332) recently determined the extent of the FuT family by elucidating the full length gene transcripts for seven putative  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuT genes (FuT-A-G) resulting in five new full length transcripts (FuT-B-F), one previously identified FuT (FuT-A) (337), and one pseudogene (FuT-G). Phylogenetic and sequence analysis of the six putative FuT genes A-F suggest two lineages, which can be further divided into

three tentative groups based on predicted functionality (**Figure 4.1A**). One lineage consists of a possible core FuT (FuT-C) and the other (FuT-A, -B, -D, -E, and -F) may synthesize more distal glycan motifs (332,340,439,440). However, further dissection of the larger grouping allowed us to tentatively separate out genes that have the highest identity with well-characterized Lewis-type FuTs in other species. Based on these observations, we predicted that FuT-F and FuT-E might generate various Lewis X motifs (Le<sup>X</sup>, poly-Le<sup>X</sup>) in *Schistosoma* glycoconjugates, whereas the remaining genes may produce other fucosylated motifs (LDNF, FLDN, di-fucose, etc.). Because of these relationships and predictions, we focused on *S. mansoni* FuT-F, also abbreviated smFuT-F.

Typically in animal cells the  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuTs are Golgi-anchored, type-II transmembrane proteins featuring a single transmembrane domain (TMD), which is flanked by a short cytoplasmic N-terminal tail and a lumenal C-terminus that comprises a globular catalytic domain and a flexible hypervariable stem (301,332,340,423). Sequence analysis of smFuT-F revealed the presence of these well conserved domains found in  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuTs (**Figure 4.1B**). Importantly, smFuT-F contains the canonical GPD-fucose binding sequence, YxFxL/VxFENSxxxYXTEK (301,423,441). Analyses of transmembrane topology with TMHMM Server v. 2.0 suggest that smFuT-F is a traditional type-II transmembrane protein containing a single N-terminal TMD. Using NetNGlyc 1.0, there are five predicted N-glycosylation sites at asparagine (N) residues with the sequon NxS/T where x≠P. The presence of a DXD motif is conserved among glycosyltransferase enzymes and believed to play a role in metal ion binding and catalysis (442,443). While markedly different than the motif of  $\alpha$ 1,3/4-FuTs in humans and other species, VxxHH(W/R)(D/E), Peterson *et. al.* (332) were able to annotate a region in the stem which may contribute to smFuT-F's acceptor specificity (444,445). Thus, the encoded protein of smFuT-F contains all the hallmarks for a Golgi-localized Type II membrane glycosyltransferase, which likely utilizes GDP-fucose as a donor sugar. To determine whether the smFuT-F gene encodes a functional fucosyltransferase, we generated a truncated version of the gene (residues 53-435) to remove the transmembrane domain (**Figure 4.1B**), and added an N-terminal TEV cleavage sequon flanked by restriction enzyme cut sites. The synthetic gene was then inserted into the mammalian expression vector pGen2 and the resulting plasmid was smFuT-F-pGen2. The subsequent recombinant protein product, smFuT-F-GFP, included a GFP domain, Avi and 8xHis tags, and a *T. cruzi* single peptide targeting smFuT-F-GFP for secretion into the media (**Figure 4.1C**).



#### Figure 4.1. Selection, cloning, and expression of Schistosoma mansoni FuT-F.

(A) Sequence analysis of the  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuT family allows for separation into roughly three groupings with suggested functions and glycan motifs. (B) Sequence analysis of smFuT-F revealed the presence of these well conserved domains found in  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuTs including a transmembrane domain (TMD), five sites of potential N-glycosylation, canonical GDPfucose biding region, a metal binding DXD motif, and a possible sequence which could affect acceptor specificity. The truncation site for removing the TMD for pGen2 cloning is also annotated. (C) Cartoon depiction of the soluble (ss=T. cruzi secretion signal), tagged (His tag and Avi Tag), GFP fusion protein (smFuT-F-GFP) that resulted from cloning of truncated smFuT-F into the pGen2 expression vector. GFP positivity of HEK freestyle cells by flow cytometry (**D**) and fluorescent microscopy (**E**), after transfection with smFuT-FpGen2or mock transfections (control). By 72h post transfections, over 90% of transfected cells are expressing GFP and can be harvested for smFuT-F-GFP purification. (F) Anti-GFP western blot of smFuT-F-pGen2 transfected or control HEK cells and conditioned media 72h post-transfection. smFuT-F-GFP is found in transfected cells but not secreted into the media, possibly due to the higher molecular weight oligomers seen in non-reducing conditions.

# 4.3.2 Expression of smFuT-F-pGen2 generates a recombinant GFP fusion protein

Recombinant protein was generated by transient transfection of the expression construct, smFuT-F-pGen2, into HEK293f cells. Cells were monitored by flow cytometry and microscopy for GFP fluorescence at 24h time points. After 72h, over 90% of transfected cells were strongly GFP positive (**Figure 4.1D, 4.1E**). The expression and localization of the recombinant smFuT-F-GFP protein was confirmed by SDS–PAGE and Western blotting using an antibody directed to the GFP superfolder protein domain. The immunoblot revealed a protein band with apparent MW between 70-100 kDa, which would be expected of a variably glycosylated polypeptide of 74.6 kDa predicted from the full-length GFP fusion protein (**Figure 4.1F**). Surprisingly, smFuT-F-GFP was not secreted into the media as we expected, and Western blotting under non-reducing conditions revealed higher order oligomers (**Figure 4.1F**). Thus, it is possible that smFuT-F-GFP may be oligomerizing with itself or with other Golgi-localized proteins, or glycan acceptors that prevent

its release from the cell. The lack of secretion has not been observed when other, non-schistosomal, glycosyltransferase genes are expressed in the pGen2 vector (data not shown).



Figure 4.2. Analysis of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards common *Schistosoma* terminal motifs.

HPLC chromatograms of smFuT-F or mock reactions utilizing acceptors LNnT (A), LNT (B), LDN (C), and lactose (lac) as a control (D), and separated over a PGC column. A product peak is seen in the smFuT-F LNnT reaction and noted by the arrow. MALDI-TOF MS spectra of LNnT mock product (m/z=1202.58) (E) and the smFuT-F LNnT product (m/z=1375.93) (F) showing the addition of a fucose moiety (LNnT+Fuc). AEAB labeled samples were peracetylated and permethylated prior to MALDI-TOF analysis.

#### 4.3.3 smFuT-F-GFP adds fucose to type II glycan chains

To characterize the activity of smFuT-F-GFP, it was purified from the HEF293f cells using Ni-NTA agarose and initially tested with a small panel of glycan acceptors. LacNAc (LN; Nacetyllactosamine), which contains a type II glycan sequence, and LacdiNAc (LDN) are common terminal motifs in *Schistosoma* glycoproteins, however the additional modifications (sialylation, sulfation, fucosylation) often differ between host and parasite (105,132,236,253,446,447), e.g. schistosomes lack sialic acid. Previous work, based on glycan structural analyses, indicated that Schistosoma  $\alpha$ 1,3- or  $\alpha$ 1,4-FuTs might preferentially utilize type II glycans chain, since type I chains Gal $\beta$ 1-3GlcNAc are not found (423,448,449). To this end, and to compare type I versus type II chains, we selected LNnT, LNT, LDN, and lactose (glycan sequences shown in **Table II**) in our initial screening panel of acceptors (Figure 4.2A-D). smFuT-F-GFP generated a product from the type II acceptor LNnT (Figure 4.2A, Table 4.2). The smFuT-F product from LNnT was examined by MALDI-TOF MS; the size confirmed that a single fucose had been added - size shift from 1202.575 to 1375.927 m/z (Figure 4.2E, 4.2F). It was unclear, however, which residue was modified by fucose; interestingly, the lack of product generated from lactose suggested one of the more distal sugars, GlcNAc or galactose, may be the location of the added fucose. In addition, no detectable product was found for reactions involving the oligosaccharides LNT, LDN, or lactose (Figure 4.2B-2D, Table 4.2).

Acceptor substrate	Shorthand	Relative activity (%)
Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc-AEAB	LNnT	83
Galβ1-3GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc-AEAB	LNT	n.d.
GalNAcβ1-3GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc- AEAB	LDN	n.d.
Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1- 3Galβ1-4Glc-AEAB	Para-LNnH (PLNnH)	94
Neu5Acα2-3Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1- 4Glc-AEAB	LSTd	6
Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-3(Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1- 6)Galβ1-4Glc-AEAB	LNnH	100
Galβ1-3GlcNAcβ1-3(Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1- 6)Galβ1-4Glc-AEAB	LNH	49
Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-2Manα1-3(Galβ1- 4GlcNAcβ1-2Manα1-6)Manβ1- 4GlcNAcβ1-4GlcNAc-AEAB	Na2	76
Galβl-4Glc-AEAB	Lactose (Lac)	n.d.

- Acceptor demonstrating highest activity set at 100%

- n.d. = no detectable activity

# Table 4.2. Activity of smFuT-F-GFP towards selected glycan acceptors

Glycan sequence, shorthand, and relative activity of recombinant smFuT-F-GFP towards each glycan tested. Glycan acceptor demonstrating the highest activity was set at 100%.

To determine linear sequence and branching of the LNnT product from the smFuT-F reaction, a multistage  $MS^n$  analysis was used after chemical removal of the AEAB tag and sample methylation. The  $MS^2$  spectrum of a singly charged [M + Na]+ precursor ion (1056.60 m/z) of the pentasaccharide LNnT smFuT-F product is shown in **Fig. 3A**. Major fragmentations are diagrammed, showing the ions represented by cleavage of the glycosidic bonds (**Fig. 3B**) (450-

452). The peak at 660.33 m/z matches the calculated mass of a trisaccharide comprised of Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc with a fucose of undetermined location. From the MS<sup>2</sup> spectrum (**Fig. 3A**), peak 660.33 m/z was isolated and selected as the precursor ion for MS<sup>3</sup> (**Fig. 3C**). Spectral analysis determined the peak pattern consistent with both glycosidic and cross-ring fragmentation of Gal $\beta$ 1-4(Fuc1-3)GlcNAc (**Fig. 3D**) (450-452). The predicted structure for the LNnT smFuT-F product in illustrated in **Figure 3E**.



Figure 4.3. MS<sup>n</sup> fragmentation of smFuT-F LNnT pentose product.

ESI MS<sup>n</sup> spectra of smFuT-F LNnT product after chemical removal of AEAB, resulting in a proximal pentose sugar, and sample permethylation. (**A**) For MS<sup>2</sup> the major product ion (m/z=1056.60) was isolated for fragmentation in the quadrupole and subjected to CID fragmentation in the ion trap with normalized collision energy of 35. The resulting fragments correspond to the glycosidic bond breakages depicted in (**B**), including a peak at m/z=660.33 which is consistent with the structure Gal $\beta$ 1-3GlcNAc with fucose. (**C**) This ion (m/z=660.33) was selected for MS<sup>3</sup> analysis under conditions similar to the MS<sup>2</sup> spectra. The resulting fragments correspond to the glycosidic bond breakages and cross ring fragmentation depicted in (**D**), including a peak at m/z=355.07 which is consistent with the cross ring fragment of GlcNAc with fucose linked to carbon 3. (**E**) Cartoon depiction of the fucose location on smFuT-F LNnT product with predicted linkage.

#### 4.3.4 *smFuT-F generates the Lewis X motif*

To confirm the fucose-GlcNAc bond orientation produced by smFuT-F-GFP, LNnT smFuT-F product or mock reacted LNnT were HPLC purified, conjugated to beads, and stained with highly defined lectins and mAbs. Carboxyl beads were activated with EDC and sulfo-NHS to form amine-reactive sulfo-NHS esters which conjugates to the bifunctional linker AEAB with high efficiency (428). To verify the conjugation of glycans to the beads, biotinylated Gal- and Fuc-specific lectins (RCA-I, AAL) were used to confirm the presence of mock reacted LNnT and a fucosylated LNnT smFuT-F product (**Figure 4.4**). As the presence of fucose on the product of smFuT-F using LNnT as the acceptor was confirmed by both mass spectrometry and lectin binding, we utilized highly specific anti-glycan antibodies to confirm the motif and, by extension, the glycosidic bond orientation. To test for the generation of Le<sup>X</sup> we used mAb F8A1.1, which binds terminal motifs, and L6B8, an anti-LDNF antibody, acted as an isotype control (**Figure 4.4**) (115,272). The smFuT-F reaction product beads bound F8A1.1 and did not bind the control antibody, confirming the glycans sequence of the enzyme product is Galβ1-4(Fuca1-3)GlcNAc and the Le<sup>X</sup> epitope generating the structure LNFPIII from LNnT and confirming the product predicted in the cartoon **Figure 4.3E**.



Figure 4.4 smFuT-F-GFP generates  $Le^{X}$  antigen and is bound by monoclonal antibody F8A1.1.

Lectin and anti-glycan antibody staining of mock or smFuT-F reacted LNnT conjugated to carboxybeads and monitored by flow cytometry. Control beads (LNnT mock) were bound by RCA-I (Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) but not AAL (Fuc), F8A1.1 (Le<sup>X</sup>), or L6B8 (LDNF), which is consistent with the LNnT glycan. SmFuT-F LNnT reacted beads bound AAL (Fuc) and F8A1.1 (Le<sup>X</sup>) but not RCA-I (Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc) or L6B8 (LDNF), which is consistent with the fucose residue added to the 3 carbon of the GlcNAc being in the  $\alpha$ -orientation forming the Le<sup>X</sup> structure.

# 4.3.5 Acceptor specificity of smFuT-F-GFP

To determine the range of type II glycan acceptors that smFuT-F-GFP might utilize, a panel of five additional acceptors with further modifications on linear chains and branched structures were tested (glycan sequences shown in **Table 4.2**). Despite previous work showing *Schistosoma* 

 $\alpha$ 1,3/4-FuTs are able to utilize  $\alpha$ 2,3-sialylated type II structures, smFuT-F-GFP did not efficiently fucosylate LSTd, an  $\alpha$ 2,3-sialylated LNnT structure (**Figure 4.5A, Table 4.2**) (423,448). However, this may not be surprising as *S. mansoni* neither synthesizes sialic acid nor acquires it from their hosts (70,71). Mass spectra of the LSTd product were consistent with LNnT results as MALDI-TOF MS causes loss of sialic acid (**Figure 4.5C**) (453,454).

Schistosoma express Le<sup>X</sup> terminally and within poly-Le<sup>X</sup> structures comprised both internal and terminal motifs (2,34,115). To determine whether smFuT-F-GFP generate one or both of these structures, we examined its reactivity to poly-N-acetyllactosamine type glycan, PLNnH (**Figure 4.5B**). The minor reaction product 1 had the mass equivalent with PLNnH plus two fucose residues, whereas the major product 2 acquired a single fucose which could have been on the internal or terminal LN (Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc) sites (**Figure 4.5D**, **4.5E**). MS<sup>2</sup> spectrum of a singly charged [M + Na]+ precursor ion (1505.74 m/z) of the PLNnH smFuT-F product 2 (**Figure 4.5F**) and spectral analysis of major peaks from both glycosidic and cross-ring fragmentation concluded that the fucose was located on the terminal LN (**Figure 4.5G**) (450-452). On the basis of this data we propose the primary smFuT-F product generated from PLNnH is Gal $\beta$ 1-4(Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3)GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc depicted in **Figure 4.5H**, and that smFuT-F-GFP preferentially modifies terminal LN sites.



# Figure 4.5. Characterization of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards sialylated and poly-N-acetyllactosamine acceptors.

HLPC chromatograms of smFuT-F or mock reactions utilizing acceptors LSTd (A) or PLNnH (B) and separated over a PGC column. Product peaks are seen in both reactions, with a single product in the case of LSTd and two products for PLNnH and are noted by arrows. MALDI-TOF MS spectrum of smFuT-F LSTd product (m/z=1376.87) (C) showing the addition of a fucose moiety and the loss of sialic acid (Neu5Ac) (LSTd+Fuc-Neu5Ac). MALDI-TOF MS spectrum for smFuT-F PLNnH product 1 (m/z=1999.19) (**D**) shows the accumulation of two fucose residues (PLNnH+2Fuc), and smFuT-F PLNnH product 2 (m/z=1825.98) (E) with a single fucose addition on one of the LN motifs (PLNnH+Fuc). AEAB labeled samples were peracetylated and permethylated prior to MALDI-TOF MS analysis. AEAB labeled samples were peracetylated and permethylated prior to MALDI-TOF MS analysis. (F) ESI MS<sup>2</sup> spectra of smFuT-F PLNnH product 2 after chemical removal of AEAB, resulting in a proximal pentose sugar, and sample permethylation. The major product ion (m/z=1505.74) was isolated for MS<sup>2</sup> fragmentation in the quadrupole and subjected to CID fragmentation in the ion trap with normalized collision energy of 35. The resulting fragments correspond to the glycosidic bond breakages and cross-ring fragmentation depicted in (G). (H) Cartoon depiction of smFuT-F PLNnH product 2 with the fucose moiety on the terminal LN sequence.

To explore the ability of smFuT-F-GFP to modify branched structures, LNH and LNnH, containing branches with type I and type II chains, were assessed as glycan acceptors. As expected from the LNT and LNnT results, smFuT-F-GFP added fucose to only one branch of LNH, likely the type II chain (**Figure 4.6A, 4.6C**). With LNnH, which has two branches with type II structures, three products were generated (**Figure 4.6B**). From the mass spectrometry results, the first product has two fucose residues, suggesting that both branches were modified by smFuT-F-GFP (**Figure 4.6D**). The second and third products (**Figure 4.6E, 4.6F**) contained a single fucose each on a different branch, which in combination with the orientation of the AEAB tag generated distinctive enough products to allow for the HPLC separation seen in **Figure 4.6B**. Similar results were obtained with the Na2 acceptor, which verified smFuT-F-GFP generation of Le<sup>X</sup> on N-glycans (**Figure 4.7**). Overall activity of smFuT-F-GFP to the panel of glycan acceptors, and acceptor sequences, can be seen in **Table 4.2**.



Figure 4.6. Characterization of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards branched type I and type II acceptors.

HLPC chromatograms of smFuT-F or mock reactions utilizing acceptors LNH (**A**) or LNnH (**B**) and separated over a PGC column. Product peaks are seen in both reactions, with a single product in the case of LNH and three products for LNnH and are noted by arrows. MALDI-TOF MS spectrum of smFuT-F LNH product (m/z=1825.24) (**C**) showing the addition of a fucose moiety to the type II branch (LNH+fuc). MALDI-TOF MS spectrum for smFuT-F LNnH product 1 (m/z=2000.16) (**D**) shows the accumulation of two fucose monosaccharides (LNnH+2Fuc). MALDI-TOF MS for smFuT-F PLNnH product 2 (m/z=1825.18) (**E**) and smFuT-F PLNnH product 3 (m/z=1825.20) (**F**) which each correspond with a single fucose addition, likely on alternate branches. AEAB labeled samples were peracetylated and permethylated prior to MALDI MS analysis.



Figure 4.7. Characterization of smFuT-F-GFP activity towards N-glycans acceptors.

HPLC chromatograms of smFuT-F or mock reactions utilizing acceptor Na2 (**A**) separated over a PGC column. Three product peaks are noted by arrows. MALDI-TOF MS spectrum of smFuT-F LNH Na2 product 1 (m/z= 2694.37) (**B**) shows the accumulation of two fucose residues (Na2+2Fuc). MALDI-TOF MS for smFuT-F NA2 product 2 (m/z=2520.42) (**C**) and smFuT-F NA2 product 3 (m/z=2520.52) (**D**) which each correspond with a single fucose addition, likely on alternate branches. AEAB labeled samples were peracetylated and permethylated prior to MALDI-TOF MS analysis.
#### 4.3.6 Temperature and cation requirement smFuT-F-GFP

Further analyses were conducted to find the optimum conditions for smFuT-F-GFP including activity assays that were carried out at room temperature or at 37°C due to the environmental conditions of the worm during a two part (mollusk and mammalian) life cycle. Interestingly, the activity of smFuT-F-GFP was comparable at both temperatures (**Table 4.4**). As smFuT-F-GFP has a DXD motif, cation requirement assays for the smFuT-F-GFP were performed at room temperature (25°C) using a selection of metals at 20mM (**Table 4.3**). Recombinant enzyme smFuT-F-GFP prefers Mn<sup>2+</sup> for optimum activity, whereas Ni<sup>2+</sup> greatly reduced its activity. Other metal ions, Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, that might be utilized by glycosyltransferases also promote smFuT-F-GFP activity, however to a lesser degree than seen with Mn<sup>2+</sup>. Similar levels of activity in the presence of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid/ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EDTA/EGTA) and with no addition of metal chlorides. It is possible that smFuT-F co-purifies with a small amount of metal that cannot be removed by chelation, or that the enzyme mechanism is metal-independent and stimulated by divalent cations through alternative means.

Effect of temperature conditions on smFF activity

	25°C	37°C
Relative activity (%)	100	96

Effect of divalent cations on smFF activity

	$Mn^{2+}$	$Mg^{2+}$	Ca <sup>2+</sup>	$Zn^{2+}$	EDTA/ EGTA	No addition	mock
Relative activity (%)	100	89	83	4	30	31	n.d.

- Acceptor demonstrating the highest activity was set at 100%
- n.d. = no detectable activity

#### Table 4.3. Effect of various assay conditions on smFuT-F activity

Effects of temperature and divalent cations on recombinant smFuT-F-GFP activity. Divalent cation assays were conducted at room temperature (25°C). Glycan acceptor demonstrating the highest activity was set at 100%.

#### 4.3.7 Expression of smFuT-F mRNA in various intra-mammalian life stages

The available information shows that there is an abundance of Le<sup>X</sup>–containing and other fucosylated glycans expressed in intra-mammalian life stages; there is great interest in elucidating their immunomodulatory roles in human and animal hosts (34,78,89,116,118,455). To explore the corresponding  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuT transcript expression, RT-qPCR of the FuT family was determined in cercariae, newly transformed somules, 3-day *in vitro*-cultured somules, and adult worms (**Figure 4.8**). Real Time qPCR data indicate that FuT-F transcript abundance decreasing during maturation from larvae to adulthood, which inversely correlates with surface expression of Le<sup>X</sup>

(115,168,350,456). Similar trends are observed for FuT-E, which is also predicted to generate Lewis type structures (**Figure 4.1A, Figure 4.8**). In contrast, FuT-A appears to increase along with transformation and subsequent culture, reaching its peak in adulthood. For FuT-C, transcript abundance briefly increased after mechanical transformation and then declined once the worms reached adulthood. No significant variations in transcript abundance were observed for FuT-B and FuT-D in these experiments.



# Figure 4.8. *α*1,3-fucosyltransferase gene transcription in intra-mammalian *Schistosoma mansoni* life stages.

Real-time qPCR was used to examine steady-state levels of  $\alpha 1,3$ -FuT transcription in cercariae (cerc), newly transformed schistosomula (new som), 3 day *in vitro*-cultured schistosomula (3day som), and adults. Transcript abundance in larval stages was assessed relative to adults, which was arbitrarily set at 1. Data represent the average of three independent biological replicates, and star (\*) indicate significantly altered gene transcription (p<0.05).

#### 4.4 Discussion

It has long been recognized based on glycan structural analyses that schistosomes contain an  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuT that fucosylates LN (Ga1 $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc) to generate the Le<sup>X</sup> determinant rather than acquiring it from blood, as has been proposed for several blood group antigens (89,116,457,458). In schistosomes, the Le<sup>X</sup> antigen was first found on complex-type N-glycans of glycoproteins, but it also exists on lipids and secretions (34,89,110). Some glycans contain the repeating LN disaccharide within the sequence of poly-N-acetyllactosamine, which can have multiple sites of fucosylation on the GlcNAc residues generating the so-called poly-Le<sup>X</sup> structures (89). Poly-Le<sup>X</sup> has also been reported in O-glycans derived from circulating cathodic antigens (CCA) and has more recently been investigated as an important antigen for diagnostics (34,35,238,341).

Thus, it is important to identify, clone, and biochemical characterize the FuTs that are responsible for biosynthesis of Le<sup>X</sup> and the extension of poly-Le<sup>X</sup>, on N-glycans and poly-Le<sup>X</sup> on O-linked CCA. There is a need for developing a better understanding of the genetic basis of these polymeric antigens, as they are thought to be important antigenic targets, immunomodulators and, in the case of CCA, a validated diagnostic antigen (34,35,238,341). Previous information on FuTs in the gene database has been incompletely annotated; however, more recent studies have taken a glycomics approach to identify and explore the FuT family in *S. mansoni* (287,289,332). In 2013, Peterson *et. al.* (332) published the full length gene transcripts for six  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuT genes (FuT-A-F) allowing us to finally explore the functionality of schistosome FuTs and more accurately recapitulate portions of the schistosome glycome.

Our study shows that the *S. mansoni* gene FuT-F (smFuT-F) is capable of generating the Le<sup>x</sup> antigen on linear and branched glycans (**Figure 4.2-7, Table 4.2**). The sequence of FuT-F contains all the hallmarks of a type II transmembrane FuT (**Figure 4.1B**), but only sequence similarity to other well-characterized enzymes gave insight into its function. For example, amino acids in the hypervariable region of human FuTs determine acceptor specificity between type I and

type II chains, with tryptophan (Trp) common for type I and arginine (Arg) for type II (444,445). Peterson *et. al* (332) was able to annotate a similar region in the *S. mansoni* FuT family stems, with the region in smFuT-F containing lysine (Lys) (**Figure 4.1B**). Two *H. pylori* FuTs also contain Lys, which is charged similarly to Arg, and utilize type II chains like smFuT-F-GFP (**Figure 4.2**) (459,460). Given the differences among the six schistosome FuTs (332), the presence of Lys in the acceptor motif of FuT-F may be serendipitous. However, FuT-E which may also generate Lewis-type structures (**Figure 4.1A**), also contains Lys in the acceptor motif region whereas FuT-A, -B, -C, and -D do not (332).

Recombinant smFuT-F-GFP adds fucose  $\alpha 1,3$  to GlcNAc in LN motifs to produce the Le<sup>X</sup> structure (Figure 4.2-4). A more extensive panel of glycan acceptors allowed us to further characterize the type of Lewis structures generated (**Table 4.2**). The relative amounts of product generated from each acceptor tested may provide some insight into the limitations of smFuT-F in regard to LN motifs it can fucosylate and its preferred acceptors. For example, only 6% of the LSTd acceptor gained a fucose compared to 94% for PLNnH (Table 4.2, Figure 4.5A, 4.5B). It is clear that sialylation, a common modification of LN in mammals (132,446), is unfavorable for smFuT-F-GFP activity. PLNnH is a poly-N-acetyllactosamine type glycan with an internal and terminal LN. Over 98% of the product generated contains a single fucose on the terminal LN, illustrating smFuT-F-GFP is unlikely to be responsible for synthesizing poly- $Le^{x}$ , a common schistosome glycan both on N-glycans and secreted as CCA (Figure 4.5B, 4.5D-H) (34,89,341). Thus, it is likely that one of the other FuTs has a complementary function to FuT-F and generates poly-Le<sup>X</sup> and/or CCA. smFuT-F-GFP was also able to fucosylate branched glycans as well as linear (Figure **4.6**, **4.7**, **Table 4.2**). The presence of a type I chain did not prevent fucosylation of an available type II branch, as seen in the LNH reactions (Figure 4.6A). When both branches contained type II chains with terminal LN, such as LNnH and Na2, there was a clear preference for one branch compared to the second, but a significant amount of product was double fucosylated (Figure 4.6B, 4.7A). In

the future as more of these putative smFuTs are identified, their collective activities to a wide panel of acceptors will need to be explored.

Fucosylated glycoconjugates are observed in all developmental stages of S. mansoni; however, previous studies report that much higher levels of FuT expression was found in egg extracts in comparison with cercarial or adult worm extracts, suggesting that FuT activities are differentially regulated during development (423,448). In the case of Le<sup>X</sup> expression, adult schistosomes synthesize the Le<sup>x</sup> determinant, whereas is appears to be absent or highly restricted in cercariae and freshly transformed schistosomula (115,168,350,456). When comparing mRNA levels in various intramammalian stages there was limited (2-fold maximum) variation between some but not all FuTs (Figure 4.8). The observed variation in transcript levels in these life stages is markedly different than the variation seen in snail-associated larvae, where transformation from miracidia to sporocytes correlated with a decrease in FuT expression for all genes (332). However, Le<sup>x</sup> expression and localization in the intramolluscan stages are known to developmentallyregulated whereas mother and daughter sporocysts do not express Le<sup>X</sup> (246,247). This may be reflected in the FuT-E transcript abundance, if future experiments prove it also functions as a Lewis type FuT, but not for FuT-F where the decrease was minimal (332). This suggests that glycan expression may be regulated in more complicated ways (i.e. tissue specific, internal versus external expression) in which RT-PCR of whole organisms may not be the best methodology. It is also unclear if any significant changes in relative transcript amounts have any observable difference in glycan synthesis or abundance. Also, the above observations in our intramammalian samples and published data for intramolluscan larvae are both incongruous with the results of a preceding transcription study, possibly due to disparities in methodologies (289). Now with the recombinant smFuT-F enzyme, an antibody to the FuT-F enzyme could be generated in order to explore for protein expression as opposed to transcript levels. Future studies are needed on fucosylated glycan structures, antibody specificities for the Le<sup>x</sup> antigen, FuT-F protein expression, and transcript utilization, to address the apparent lack of strict correlation between transcript expression for smFuT-F and expression of Le<sup>x</sup>.

It is not well understood what role the regulated expression of Le<sup>x</sup> glycan plays in the immunobiology of schistosomes. Some studies suggest that Le<sup>x</sup> may be expressed on glycans that contain an immunoregulatory function. The free sugar LNFPIII (Gal $\beta$ 1-4(Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3)GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4Glc), which is the sugar smFuT-F generated from LNnT, is reported to stimulate macrophages *in vitro* to express CD69, secrete IFN- $\gamma$ , and activate NK cells (141). Van Die *et. al.* (78) reported that Le<sup>x</sup> glycans from SEA interact with the human dendritic cell lectin DC-SIGN. There is also evidence that Le<sup>x</sup> can also modulate the release of factors that mediate the Th-1 to Th-2 switch observed during chronic *S. mansoni* infections (144). However, infected humans and animals generate IgG and IgM antibodies to Le<sup>x</sup> (89,116,118). Le<sup>x</sup> is a critical component of the ligands on neutrophils and monocytes recognized by selectins and important in inflammation and leucocyte recruitment (365). Anti-Le<sup>x</sup> antibodies were shown to cause complement-dependent cytolysis of leukocytes and possibly other Le<sup>x</sup> expressing cells, suggesting that an autoimmune disorder may accompany schistosomiasis (118).

However,  $Le^x$  is only a small portion of the glycan repertoire on *S. mansoni* surfaces and glycocalyces and secreted glycoconjugates that are exposed to the host immune system. Other structures including LDNF, FLDN, FLDNF, dF-LDN, etc. are relatively unique to the parasite, yet to be enzymatically or chemically synthesized, and prominently involved in the host humoral and cellular immune responses to infection (105,110,234,240,243,246,350,425,427). Further studies on and function of schistosome  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuTs-A through E are currently underway to determine their role in fucosylated glycan synthesis and give insights into development of the worm and its possible function in the pathogenesis of the disease. The ability to produce the unique glycans of *S. mansoni* and more accurately recapitulate the fucosylated schistosome glycome will be an invaluable tool in the continued exploration of the roles schistosomal glycans play in both worm biology and their interactions with host species.

## 4.5 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by R01AI101982 to RDC. We thank Dr. Jamie Heimburg-Molinaro (Emory) for critical reading of the manuscript and Kristoffer Leon (Emory) for technical support. The authors declare they have no financial interest.

## Chapter 5. Schistosoma mansoni β1,4-GalNAcTransferase generates LacdiNAc glycans

Portions of this chapter were derived from (461) and reproduced here with permission.

Krisstofer Leon<sup>1</sup>, Megan L. Mickum<sup>1</sup>, and Richard D. Cummings<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biochemistry and the Emory Glycomics Center, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA <sup>2</sup>Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Department of Surgery, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA

#### 5.1 Introduction

Schistosomiasis is a disease in both humans and animals by helminths of the genus *Schistosoma* and results in a multitude of pathologies (7,13,16,70,422). Similar to other parasitic helminths, schistosome produce many complex carbohydrate (glycan) structures linked to proteins and lipids, including N-glycans, O-glycans, and glycolipids, which play an essential role in the biology of the parasite and at a the host-pathogen interface (1,7,17). Recent studies have shown that a major part of the host immune response to infection is directed against glycan antigens in glycoproteins and glycolipids (1,77,80,127,387-390). Within the past 50 years, there has been tremendous progress in understanding the molecular nature of the plethora of *schistosoma* glycoconjugates that interact with the host immune system in a variety of complex mechanisms, and may contribute to its ability to module the host immune system (7,70-72,132,170).

While there are many unique glycans produced by schistosomes, the LacdiNAc (LDN) motif is of particular interest as an antigen, and as a parent structure that is further modified by the addition of one or more fucose (Fuc) residues (234,462,463). While glycans containing the LDN motif are expressed by many invertebrates, the LDN determinants present in parasite glycans have been shown to generate a humoral response by the human immune system and can initiate the

formation of a granuloma in humans (272,464,465). Although it is yet unknown whether they directly contribute to protection *in vivo*, a monoclonal antibody to LDN kills schistosomula *in vitro* (168). Several multifucosylated versions of LDN including  $\alpha$ 2- and  $\alpha$ 3-linked multifucosylated glycans with polyfucose elements Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3-R and the Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3GalNAc-motifs (F-LDN, F-LDN-F, LDN-dF, and dF-LDN-dF) appear to be completely unique to schistosomes (105,110,332,462). These structures induce high antibody responses in humans and primates (76,208,240,243,244,466). For these reasons, we believe that the LDN family of antigens includes potential vaccine and diagnostic candidates.

The complete functions and biosynthesis of schistosome glycans are not yet understood, however improving our knowledge of glycan structure has great potential uncover novel, immunologically relevant diagnostic and vaccine candidates and to enhance our understanding of the anti-glycan response. Before the development of a successful vaccines against schistosome infections, understanding of many aspects of the molecular mechanisms employed by the parasites to survive within the host in the face of the anti-schistosome immune responses, especially antiglycan responses, is required (55,57,189,228,361). A major limitation in the study of the biological functions of schistosome glycans and their immunogenicity has been the lack of adequate quantities of the parasite glycans. However, only a small number of schistosome glycan epitopes have now been synthesized by chemi-enzymatic methods in order to begin the study of their immunogenicities (271,342,343,421). Recently, Mickum et. al. (421) has used the genome database in order to recombinant express a schistosome glycosyltransferase that could best recapitulate part of the schistosome glycome. We have now initiated research to generate recombinant glycosyltransferases to facilitate the generation and elucidation of the biological functions of unusual schistosome glycans in an affordable and facile manner. In chapter 4, we reported the characterization of a1,3-Fucosyltransferase F activity in S. mansoni (smFuT-F), which we found to be capable of synthesizing the terminal  $Le^{x}$  structures (421). We now report the use of the same

approach to identify the enzymatic activity of a  $\beta$ 1-4 N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases ( $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT) from *S. mansoni* which creates the LDN motif.

#### 5.2 Materials and Methods

#### 5.2.1 *Materials*

All chemicals and enzymes were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO) and used according to manufacturer recommendations and without further purification unless otherwise noted. Water and Acetonitrile (HPLC grade) were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). Expression vector pGen2 was kindly provided by Dr. Kelley Moremen and the glycol-enzyme repository. Restriction enzymes and ligase were purchased from New England Biolabs, Inc (Beverly, MA). Primers were from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coraville, IA). Lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT) and 2-Amino-N-(2-aminoethyl)benzamide (AEAB) were synthesized in the lab (428). Polyethylenimine (PEI, 25 kDa linear, cat. # 23966) was purchased from Polysciences, Inc and prepared as a stock solution at a concentration of 1 mg/ml in a buffer containing 25 mM HEPES, pH 7.5 and 150 mM NaCl. The anti-GFP antibody (clone GT859) was purchased from GeneTex (Irvine, CA) and the secondary antibody HRP conjugate goat anti-mouse was purchased from KPL (Gaithersburg, MD). SuperSignal West chemiluminescent substrates were purchased from Thermo Scientific (Rockford, IL). An Ultraflex-II MALDI-TOF/TOF system from Bruker Daltonics (Billerica, MA) was used for analysis of glycan conjugates. An Orbitrap Fusion Tribrid system from Thermo Fisher Scientific (San Jose, CA) was used for MS<sup>n</sup> fragmentation analysis of glycans. A FACSCalibur from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA) with CellQuestPro acquisition software was used for flow cytometry, and FlowJo software was used for data analysis.

#### 5.2.2 Cloning of S. mansoni βGalNAcT

The coding region for *S. mansoni* β1-4GalNAcT (smβGalNAcT) was synthesized by Genewiz, INC (South Plainfield, NJ). The synthetic DNA also contained an additional NH2-terminal fusion of the 7 amino acid recognition sequence of the tobacco etch virus (TEV) protease and a flanking 5' EcoRI site and a 3' BamHI site. SmβGalNAcT was subcloned into similarly digested chemically synthesized vector, termed pGen2, as previously described in chapter 4 (421). This expression vector was designated smβGalNAcT-pGEn2 and its protein product, a tagged, soluble, GFP-fusion protein targeted for secretion, was termed smβGalNAcT-GFP.

### 5.2.3 Expression of smβGalNAcT-pGen2 in HEK Freestyle Cells

To determine if  $sm\beta GalNAcT$ -pGen2 encoded a soluble, active  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT, smßGalNAcT-pGen2 was transiently transfected into HEK freestyle cells (HEK293f, Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) as previously described (421). Using a platform shaker in a humidified  $37^{\circ}$ C incubator, suspension cells were grown to a density of  $1.8 \times 10^{6}$  cells/ml in Freestyle 293 Expression Medium (Life Technologies). Prior to transfection, cells were prepped by centrifugation at 300xg for 5 min and re-suspension in fresh Freestyle media. To generate the transfection solutions, smβGalNAcT-pGen2 was diluted to 3 µg/mL in Freestyle 293 Expression Medium and PEI was diluted to 9 µg/mL for a final concentration of 0.5 µg DNA or PEI/µL media in transfection solution. The DNA solution was added to cells, and the culture allowed to shake in 37°C incubator for 5 minutes. The PEI solution was then added and the cells returned to the shaking incubator. After 24 hours, the cells were diluted 1:1 with fresh media and supplemented with valproic acid (Sigma, #4543) to a final concentration of 2.2 mM. Cells were monitored by fluorescent microscopy (Olympus IX51, 10x zoom) for GFP positivity at 24 hour time points. As a control, HEK293f cells were mock transfected under similar conditions with PEI alone (no DNA). After 120 hours, media was clarified by centrifugation at 3000xg for 10 minutes. Conditioned media and cell pellets were stored at -20°C prior to use.

#### 5.2.4 Purification of Recombinant smβGalNAcT-GFP

To purify smβGalNAcT-GFP, transfected cell pellets were re-suspended in a Binding Buffer (50 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM imidazole, 0.25% (v/v) Tween-20, 1X EDTA protease inhibitor, pH 8.0) and sonicated over ice to lyse cells. Centrifugation at 3220xg for 5 minutes was used to remove insoluble debris. Clarified supernatant was loaded onto a column containing 2 ml Ni-NTA superflow (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) equilibrated with wash buffer (50 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 500 mM NaCl, 20 mM imidazole, pH 8). After loading the sample, the column was washed with 50 mL of Wash buffer and eluted in 2 mL fractions with Elution buffer (50 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 500 mM NaCl, 500 mM imidazole, pH 8.0). Fractions containing GFP were pooled and dialyzed into 25 mM HEPES, 300 mM NaCl, 50 mM imidazole, pH 7.5 with a 10 kDa molecular weight cutoff. The dialyzed samples was concentrated using Amicon Ultra 0.5 mL Centrifugal Filters with 10 kDa molecular weight cutoff (Millipore). Final protein concentration was determined by BCA assay.

#### 5.2.5 SDS-Page and Western Blot of smβGalNAcT-GFP

For gels and blots,  $1 \times$  NuPAGE SDS sample buffer (Invitrogen) with 2.5%  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol ( $\beta$ ME) added to samples and boiled for 10 minutes. Samples were run in 10-well Mini-PROTEAN-TGX gels at 110 volts with protein standards. For western blots, protein was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using Trans-Blot Turbo semi-dry transfer system. Unless noted otherwise, all subsequent incubations and washes were shaking at ambient temperature. Membranes were blocked for 1 hour in 5% (w/v) bovine serum albumin fraction V (BSA) in TBS wash buffer (20 mM Tris, 300 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20). Membrane was washed three times with TBS wash buffer and incubated with anti-GFP antibody 1:10,000 in TBS wash buffer. The membrane was then washed three times in TBS wash buffer. Secondary detection antibody, HRPconjugated goat anti-mouse-IgG, was added for 1 hour at 1:5,000 in TBS wash buffer. The same wash procedure was repeated, and then SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate was added for 30 seconds. The membranes were dabbed dry and exposed to film.

#### 5.2.6 Glycan Digestion, AEAB Labeling, and Purification

Glycan acceptors were selected and conjugated with AEAB as described previously (394,421,428,434). Prior to AEAB conjugation, Na2 and LNnT were digested with neuraminidase and Aspergillus oryzae  $\beta$ -galactosidase (Sigma) according to manufacturer's recommendations to reveal terminal GlcNAc. These two glycan acceptors and were termed dNa2 and triose respectively. Glycan samples, 1-10 mg, were mixed with 50–250 µl of freshly prepared 0.35 M AEAB hydrochloride salt and an equal volume of 1 M NaCNBH<sub>4</sub> in DMSO/AcOH (v/v = 7/3). The conjugation reaction was left to proceed for 2 h at 65°C and then stopped by the addition of 10 volumes of cold acetonitrile. After addition of acetonitrile, the reaction was allowed to stand for 30 min at -20°C. The precipitated glycan-AEAB (GAEAB) derivatives were collected after centrifugation at 10,000x*g* for 5 min. The GAEAB pellet was dried under a vacuum for 10 minutes, reconstituted in water, and centrifuged at 10,000x*g* for 2 minutes to remove any insoluble material.

A Shimadzu HPLC CBM-20A system coupled with a fluorescence detector RF-10AXL (330nm/420nm excitation/emission) was used for HPLC analysis and separation of GAEABs. The GAEABs were purified by reverse phase HPLC on a porous graphitized carbon column (PGC, 150  $\times$  4.6 mm, Thermo Fisher Scientific) with a gradient of 15-45% acetonitrile (0.1% trifluoroacetic acid) in 40 min to separate the GAEABs from any unincorporated label. The effluents were monitored by fluorescence where the GAEAB peak fractions were collected, quantified by fluorescence, and dried under vacuum. GAEABs were reconstituted to 1-5 mM stocks in water and stored at -20°C until use.

#### 5.2.7 GalNAcT Enzymatic Assay

The enzymatic assays were performed in 25  $\mu$ l reaction mixtures containing 50 mM sodium cacodylate, pH 7.0, 10 mM MnCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM UDP-GalNac (or other nucleotide sugar), 40  $\mu$ M

GAEAB sugar acceptor, and 1-5 µg smβGalNAcT-GFP. No smβGalNAcT-GFP was added for mock reaction conditions. Reaction mixtures were incubated rotating at room temperature or 37°C more than 24 hours. The enzyme was removed from the reaction mixture via porous graphitized carbon solid phase extraction. Enzymatic reaction GAEAB products were then separated from GAEAB acceptors by reverse phase HPLC on a PGC column. Each peak fraction was collected, quantified by fluorescence, and dried under vacuum. Samples were then processed for either MALDI-TOF MS for molecular mass analysis or Electrospray Ionization Mass spectrometry (ESI MS) for MS<sup>n</sup> fragmentation.

#### 5.2.8 Mass Spectrometry of Glycans

Prior to MALDI-TOF MS analysis, purified GAEAB samples were acetylated and permethylated as previously described in chapter 4 (421). For acetylation, GAEABs were added to acetic anhydride in saturated sodium bicarbonate for 30 minutes on ice and incubated in ambient temperature for 1 hour. Glycans were then desalted via porous graphitized carbon solid phase extraction. Any esters formed during acetylation were hydrolyzed by incubation in 0.01 M sodium hydroxide at ambient temperature for approximately 3-4 hours and then lyophilized (112,435). For permethylation, a lyophilized sample was treated with 200 µL DMSO/NaOH slurry and 200 µL methyl iodide for 30 minutes, shaking. The supernatant was then partitioned between 500 µL water and 500 µL chloroform. The organic layer was washed four times with 500 µL water, dried, and re-dissolved in 50% methanol:water for MALDI-TOF MS analysis. Mass spectrometry data were collected using an Ultraflex MALDI TOF/TOF (Bruker Daltonics, Billerica, MA).

## 5.3 Results

#### 5.3.1 Selection of $sm\beta 1$ -4GalNAcT

The information from the *Schistsoma* gene database represents a great step forward for schistosome research, but its use has revealed highly fragmented data sets which compromised the quality of potential downstream analyses. One such example of this is the incomplete gene sequences listed for various gene families in the glycosylation pathway. Several previous studies have made valuable improvements by utilizing RACE PCR, gene, microarrays, deep DNA sequence data from clonal worms, and RNA sequence data from multiple life stages (17,289,290,332). As of 2014, there are seven genes are annotated in the *S. mansoni* genome database as probable GalNAcTransferases (SMP genes). For those genes, the coding domain sequences were translated *in silico* and analyzed with Geneious V4.7.6. Using Jukes-Cantor to determine genetic distance with a neighbor joining build, a phylogenetic tree was generated from the translated sequences of the seven SMPs along with a known *C. elegans* GalNAcT and human  $\beta$ 4GalNAcT3, which both generate LDN epitopes (**Figure 5.1A**) (343,467,468). Previously published RNA sequencing and transcription data revealed SMP 021370 was selected for further computational analysis.





Figure 5.1 Computational analysis of potential β1-4GalNAcTs.

(A) Phylogenetic tree of the seven *S. mansoni* GalNAcTs proteins sequences with the human and *C. elegans* sequences as a reference. SMP 021370 is closely related to a human  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT3. (B) Predicted structure of SMP 021370 aligned to a murine  $\beta$ 1,4-GalT crystallized with UDP, GalNAc and Mn<sup>2+</sup>. The yellow regions correlate with DXD motifs and the red region marked with a white arrow denotes the location of isoleucine, which promotes preference for UDP-GalNAc over UDP-Gal as the donor sugar.

Like most glycosylatranferases, GalNAcTs are Golgi-anchored, type-II transmembrane proteins featuring a single transmembrane domain (TMD), which is flanked by a short cytoplasmic N-terminal tail and a lumenal C-terminus that comprises a globular catalytic domain and a flexible hypervariable stem (301,332,340,423). It is also well established that  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcTs require several motifs in their catalytic domain in order to be functional (299,300,338,343), including binding regions for the nucleotide sugar and metal ion co-factors. NCBI's conserved domain database revealed predicted regions which include binding motifs for a donor-binding site, and metal binding DXD amino acid sequences. However, there was no transmembrane domain in the SMP 021370 sequence predicted by the TMHMM Server v2.0. Furthermore, SMP 021370 contains an isoleucine residue in the predicted acceptor binding pocket. Isoleucine has been shown to have a role in increasing the preference of UDP-GalNAc over UDP-Gal, which is a major factor in differentiating GalNAcTs from GalTs (468,470). For visualization of the acceptor binding regions, the structure predicted by I-TASSER was then aligned to murine  $\beta$ 1-4Gal-T1 (j-FATCAT Rigid Body Alignment) which had been co-crystallized with UDP-GalNAc and Mn2+ (Figure 5.1B) (471-473). There is remarkable overlap between the two protein sequences with an root-meansquare deviation (RMSD) of 0.903 Å (474,475). Based on the sequence and domain analysis, RNA expression levels, and predicted structural similarity, the gene transcript SMP 021370 was chosen for synthesize and further experimental characterization. SMP 021370 will further be referred to as smβGalNAcT.



and HER simplified where an ansietted HER

Figure 5.2. Expression of the smβGalNAcT-pGen2 construct in HEK-F cells.

GFP positivity of HEK freestyle cells by flow cytometry (**A**) and fluorescent microscopy (**B**), after transfection with sm $\beta$ GalNAcT-pGen2 or mock transfections (control). By 72h post transfections, over 90% of transfected cells are expressing GFP and can be harvested for sm $\beta$ GalNAcT-GFP purification. (**C**) Anti-GFP western blot of sm $\beta$ GalNAcT-pGen2 transfected or control HEK cells.

#### 5.3.2 Expression of recombinant smβGalNAcT-GFP

Recombinant protein was generated by transient transfection into HEK293f cells of the expression construct, smβGalNAcT-pGen2. Cells were monitored by flow cytometry and microscopy for GFP fluorescence at 24h time points (**Figure 5.2A-B**). After 96h, a majority of transfected cells were strongly GFP positive (**Figure 5.2B**). The expression of the smβGalNAcT-

GFP protein in the cells was confirmed by SDS–PAGE and Western blotting using an antibody directed to the GFP superfolder protein domain. The immunoblot revealed protein bands with apparent MW of 75 kDa, which would be expected of a variably glycosylated polypeptide of around 66.4 kDa predicted from the full-length GFP fusion protein in transfected HEK cells (**Figure 5.2C**).

Acceptor substrate	Shorthand	Structure
GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc-AEAB	Triose	AEAB
GlcNAcβ1-4GlcNAc-AEAB	Chitobiose	AEAB
GlcNAcβ1-2Manα1-3(GlcNAcβ1- 2Manα1-6)Manβ1-4GlcNAcβ1- 4GlcNAc-AEAB	dNa2	AEAB
Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc- AEAB	LNnT	● ■ AEAB

#### Table 5.1. Glycan acceptors for smβGalNAcT reactions.

Sequence, shorthand name, and cartoon structures of glycan acceptor.

#### 5.3.3 $sm\beta GalNAcT$ adds GalNAc to terminal GlcNAc in a $\beta$ -linkage

To characterize the activity of sm $\beta$ GalNAcT, the GFP fusion protein was purified from the HEF293f cells using Ni-NTA agarose and tested with a small panel of glycan acceptors. AEAB labeled glycan acceptors included a "triose sugar" derived from  $\beta$ 1-4galactosidase digested LNnT, chitobiose, digested Na2 (dNa2) which is an N-glycan after treatment with neuraminidase and  $\beta$ 1-4galactosidase to reveal a terminal GlcNAc, and LNnT as a control (Acceptors shown in **Table 5.1**). The reactions were monitored for formation of a new glycan product by HPLC (**Figure 5.3**) and MALDI-TOF MS (**Figure 5.4**). New glycan products were observed for all acceptors that terminated in GlcNAc, whereas no product was generated from the LNnT, which contains a terminal Gal (**Figure 5.3**). Additionally, no glycan product was formed when UDP-Gal was utilized as the donor sugar in place of UDP-GalNAc, indicating that there is no overlap in GalT and

GalNAcT activity for sm $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT (data not shown). The sm $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT products from the triose and chitobiose reactions were examined by MALDI-TOF MS. The size shift of peaks 997.96 m/z to 1242.97 m/z for triose, and 835.77 m/z to 1080.41 m/z for chitobiose, confirmed the addition of a single GalNAc sugar to each acceptor (**Figure 5.4**).



Figure 5.3. Activity of smβ1,4-GalNAcT toward glycans acceptors.

HPLC chromatograms of  $sm\beta1,4$ -GalNAcT or mock reactions utilizing acceptors triose (**A**), chitobiose (**B**), dNa2 (digested Na2) (**C**), and LNnT as a control (**D**), and separated over a PGC column. Product peaks seen in the  $sm\beta1,4$ -GalNAcT reactions are noted by an arrow.

To confirm that the terminal GlcNAc was added in the  $\beta$  confirmation, enzymatic analysis and MS data was collected.  $\beta$ -N-acetylhexosaminidase is an enzyme which can hydrolyzed  $\beta$ linked, but not  $\alpha$ -linked terminal HexNAc sugars (476-478). The sm $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT triose product was treated with  $\beta$ -N-acetylhexosaminidase, and monitored by HPLC. Post digestion resulted in a slight peak sift indicating one or more sugar have been removed. MALDI-TOF MS was used to determine the final product was lactose, indicating the terminal GalNac was  $\beta$ -linked the in internal

GlcNAc, which was also removed by  $\beta$ -N-acetylhexosaminidase digestion (**Figure 5.5B**). As schistosome do not link GalNAc $\beta$ 1-3GlcNAc, the likely product generated is terminal LDN (GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc) which could be further confirmed by antibody staining or by MS cross ring fragmentation.



Figure 5.4 smβGalNAcT adds HexNAcs to glycan acceptors.

MALDI-TOF MS spectra of triose mock reacted glycan (m/z=997.96) (**A**) and the sm $\beta$ GalNAcT triose product (m/z= 1242.96) (**B**) showing the addition of a HexNAc moiety. Similar results found for chitobiose mock reacted glycan (**C**) and the sm $\beta$ GalNAcT triose product (**D**). AEAB labeled samples were peracetylated and permethylated prior to MALDI-TOF analysis.

### 5.4 Discussion

There is a growing appreciation for the role glycans and glycol-conjugates play in modulating a plethora of biological processes, especially in the realm of parasitic infections. A critical liming factor in the study of these glycans in the difficulty in obtaining many of the relevant structures, either via purification or semi-synthetic synthesis approaches. With the advent of next generation sequencing technologies, the ability to sequence the entire genome of any organism becomes an incredible tool in the identification of genes and proteins important in various biological functions, including glycan biosynthesis. The schistosome genome was sequenced in 2009 and much of the data categorized in the GeneDatabase (GeneDB), however the data is incompletely annotated and improvement are still necessary (2,17,283-285). Computational tools available now are sophisticated and crucial in helping identity gene functions when the prediction algorithms fall short or the sequence information is still limited. In the case of parasite glycobiology, these tools have been pivotal in this work to identify the first  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcTransferase from *S. mansoni*.



Figure 5.4. Analysis of the triose product synthesized by smβ1,4-GalNAcT.

(A) HPLC profile of the triose product before and after digestion with  $\beta$ -N-acetylhexosaminidase. The shift in glycan peak seen by HPLC confirms the  $\beta$  linkage of both terminal HexNAc sugars. The product generated by the  $\beta$ -N-acetylhexosaminidase digestion (denoted by the arrow in (A)) was lactose AEAB and confirmed by MALDI-TOF MS (B).

LacdiNAc is the base glycan for many of the multifucosylated schitsome glycans as well as being immunogenically relevant on its own (234,272,462-465). In humans, biosynthesis of LDN can occur by two different  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcTs:  $\beta$ 4GalNAcT3, which is expressed in stomach, colon, and testes (468), and  $\beta$ GalNAcT4, which is found in ovaries and the brain (479). The nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, has a  $\beta$ 4GalNAcT, which when expressed in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) Lec8 cells has led to the production of N-glycans with LDN repeats (343). Given the inability to purify LDN based glycans direct from the worm, current methods include utilizing these other species enzymes to generate a library of LDN type glycans (342,343). However, this does not accurate reflect the glycome of the schistosome. Thus, it is important to identify, clone, and biochemically characterize the GalNAcTs that are responsible for synthesizing LDN and allows for the extension of further modified LDN based glycan antigens (FLDN, LDNF, FLDNF, dF-LDN, et cetera).

The phylogenetic tree of the seven GalNAcTs annotated on GeneDB showed two distinct groups of sequences when compared to C. elegans and human  $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcTs, which both generate LDN motifs (Figure 5.1A) (343,467,468). The four amino acid sequences that create a monophyletic group in Figure 5.1A do not align well with either reference sequence are SMP 057620, SMP 159490, SMP 005500, SMP 139230. Given the difficulty in differentiating between GalTs and GalNAcTs, and the existence of GalNAcTs with other functions, such as those that transfer a GalNAc directly to a peptide, these four genes were passed over for this study (480-483). SMP 021370 was a strong candidate for synthesis because it closely resembles well characterized proteins, both in amino acid alignment and the predicted protein structure (Figure 5.1). SMP 021370 also shares an isoleucine residue within the acceptor binding pocket that was correlated with an increased preference in binding UDP-GalNAc (Figure 5.1B) (468,470). The I-TASSER predicted structure was also helpful in showing the similarity to a murine  $\beta$ 1-4GalNT with a bound  $Mn^{2+}$  and UDP-GalNAc, with the metal and donor sugar binding sites found close proximity after alignment (471-473). It is important to note that the SMP 021370 sequence lacks a transmembrane domain, which is unsurprising given in the incomplete nature of the GeneDB, and was of little concern given the goal of generating non-membrane bound protein for rapid purification. Using previously reported transcription data, it appears that SMP 021370 is also the most expressed transcript among four life stages, making it the most biologically relevant transcript as well. Thus, this gene was the most rationale target to focus on for this current study.

Our study showed that the SMP 021370 gene product (referred to as smβGalNAcT-GFP) was able to add GalNAc onto GlcNAc terminating structures, synthesizing LDN motifs (**Figure 5.3-5.5**). Given the limited number of acceptor tested, it's is unclear how restricted or promiscuous smβGalNAcT-GFP may be with the glycan acceptors. SmβGalNAcT-GFP recognized three different acceptors, and a new glycan product was generated in each reaction when the acceptor contained a terminal GlcNac sugar. This included both short linear chains (triose and chitobiose) and the branched N-glycan (dNa2) (**Figure 5.3**). This may show a proclivity for multiple acceptor

sequences or demonstrate a basic requirement for a terminal GlcNAc with no preference for the preceding sequence. Conversion of dNa2, a bi-antennary N-glycan with a terminal GlcNAc, is important since the majority of *S. mansoni* glycans with LDN are found on N-glycans (104,247,446). Due to similarities between the GalNAcTs and GalTs (468,470), UDP-Gal was also used in several activity assays in place of UDP-GalNAc. There was no synthesis of LacNAc (LN) or any conversion of the acceptor, which supports the conclusion that smβGalNAcT does not utilize UDP-Gal and is selective for the donor UDP-GalNAc (data not shown). Digestions of the smβGalNAcT triose product to lactose by β-N-acetylhexosaminidase indicated the two terminal HexNAc sugars were both linked in β conformations leading us to believe the product generated was LDN (**Figure 5.5**) (476-478). To further confirm the identity of the smβGalNAcT product,  $\alpha$ -LDN antibodies or cross-ring MS fragmentation could be done, howveer a GalNAcβ1-3GlcNAc motif has never been found in schitosomes.

LDN is a major building block for a large portion glycan repertoire on *S. mansoni* surfaces and glycocalyces and secreted glycoconjugates that are exposed to the host immune system. Some of these structures including LDNF, FLDN, FLDNF, dF-LDN, dF-LDNF-dF, etc. have not yet been enzymatically or chemically synthesized, and prominently involved in the host humoral and cellular immune responses to infection (105,110,234,240,243,246,350,425,427). Using smβGalNAcT to generate the LDN base unit, further studies on and function of schistosome  $\alpha$ 1,3-FuTs are currently underway to determine their role in the creation of the fucosylated LDN glycans. Given the current limitations in worm glycan purification, the ability to produce the unique glycans of *S. mansoni* and more accurately recapitulate the schistosome glycome is a huge step forward. This knowledge allows for the continued exploration of the roles schistosomal glycans play in both worm biology and their modualtion of host immune systems, as well as the development of important glycotechnologies including, but not limited to, chemo-enzymatic synthesis, glycogonjugates and vaccine development, and schistosome glycan microarrays.

## 5.5 Acknowledgments

This work was supported by R01AI101982 to RDC and a SIRE student grant from Emory University to KL.

#### Chapter 6. Discussion

The biology and immunology of schistosomes has been a focus in the field of parasitology for many years, however the science has yet to translate into more sophisticated solutions for diagnosis, treatment or prevention. This stems from a poor understanding of protective immunological mechanisms, insufficient knowledge of unique molecular structures of helminths, and a lack of innovative vaccine strategies to protect against complex, multicellular pathogens. We believe this work supports the idea that the identification of novel glycans synthesized by schistosomes and their recognition as antigens represent an exciting opportunity to fill these gaps for *Schistosoma* species. Elucidation of the schistosome genome has also provided a link between the genome and the worm glycome, which has important consequences for the future of glycan studies.

#### 6.1 Aim I: Identification of immunogenic glycan antigens and reagent development

It has long been recognized that helminths, including schistosomes, possess an abundance of complex and unique glycoconjugates that interact with both the innate and adaptive arms of the host in incredibly complex ways. These glycoconjugates represent a major untapped reservoir of immunomodulatory compounds, which may have the potential to treat autoimmune and inflammatory disorders, and antigenic glycans, which could be exploited as vaccines and diagnostics. Prior to success in a glycan-based vaccine approach, further innovations are necessary. Through the course of an immune response helminth glycans can induce both protective and nonprotective antibodies. It is pivotal that we develop technologies to identify particular immunogenic glycan structures and which anti-glycan specificities that may afford protection. Schistosomes synthesize many types of unusual glycans, and both monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies have been found to recognize specific glycan determinants. The overall screening of antibody responses and their targets, has been difficult due to the lack of parasite-derived glycan reagents and technologies.

An emergent theme from the reagent development studies (Chapter 2 and Chapter 3) is the importance of fucose in schistosome glycans. In Chapter 2 we described the creation of a monoclonal antibody, F2D2 which targets the glycan epitope FLDNF. Previous studies show that FLDNF is the glycan responsible for the cross-reactivity of schistosomes with KLH (109,110,269). While KLH has been proposed for use as a serodiagnostic antigen for schistosomiasis, its use has not been feasible so far because of cross reactivity with sera from T. spiralis patients (377,379-382). The availability of mAb F2D2 will now allow the direct purification of the cross-reactive glycans from KLH, causing a depletion of FLDNF epitopes, in order to assess the FLDNF glycan and/or KLH for its serodiagnostic potential and testing for the presence of any other antigenic glycans on KLH. Monoclonal antibody F2D2 will also serve as a very useful analytical tool in the study of many aspects of FLDNF expression. The antibody will also permit the study of the expression of the epitope during schistosome development in both the vertebrate and snail hosts in order to illuminate its biological function. The role of fucosylated glycans in the parasite development and immunobiology is still unclear, however there is some evidence that FLDNF may play a role in mollusk susceptibility to miracidia infection (384). When this mechanism is further understood, it could lead to some additional methods of parasite control.

In Chapter 3 we described the use of shotgun glycomics to create a shotgun array with total N-glycans from egg glycoproteins (2D-SSGM). We used data from a defined glycan microarray based on schistosome glycan antigens, along with anti-glycan antibodies and mass spectrometry results to identify key glycan antigens in this parasite. The most notable was the multi-species recognition of the fucosylated glycan determinant FLDNF, which is highly expressed on multiple life stages (**Figure 3.8**). This discovery has broad implications for understanding the overall animal and human responses upon infection to glycan antigens from this parasite. Additionally, the F2D2 antibody was also found to be lethal to schistosomula *in vitro* which further

suggests this motif as a possible vaccine candidate. With the ability to produce large amounts of stable F2D2 antibody, we can explore F2D2's ability to protect against parasite challenge with a passive transfer study. This could determine if the *in vitro* killing, seen in Chapter 3, by anti-glycan antibodies may contribute to protection. Success would have great significance for the glycol-based vaccine strategies for multi-cellular pathogens.

The conclusion from both of these studies is that fucosylated LDN derivatives are highly targeted by humoral immune responses in multiple infection models and may lead to new diagnostic and vaccine targets. It has been previously determined that humoral responses to glycan determinants or epitopes such as Le<sup>X</sup>, LDN, LDNF, and LDN-dF give rise to different intensity levels and antibody isotypes (80,127,168,208,238,243,244,371). It is not yet clear whether such responses provide protection. This could be due to the particular glycan antigen, the antibody isotype, or even the intensity of the humoral response within the timeline of worm maturation. It may be possible that a robust response to multi-fucosylated variants such as FLDNF could contribute to host resistance or even be an early indicator of infection which could lead to better drug administration protocols. Recent glycomics profiling of schistosomes have shown that the parasite produces a diverse repertoire of complex N-glycans with  $\alpha$ 3 fucose,  $\alpha$ 6 fucose, and  $\beta$ 2 xylose motifs (17,74,105,111) and support the idea that fucosylated glycans should be a focus of future studies.

This works also demonstrates the value of glycan-based technology innovation. The glycan microarrays developed by our group are uniquely poised to identify functional glycans as ligands for glycan-binding proteins (GBP) and expand our knowledge of glycans targeted in infection models. This technology enables us to verify the targets of antisera, define glycan-specific monoclonal antibodies, and GBPs in an unbiased and sensitive manner. One of the overarching questions about the function of anti-glycan antibodies is - what role do they play in protective models? Shotgun glycomics should be applied to multiple life stages of schistosome and using sera from various models to map out the humoral responses during the course of infection and to

highlight differences between the species. Whether a species is permissive or resistant is likely a complicated and multifactor question, however it would be interesting to see if there were major differences between the glycan epitopes targeted, their intensity and isotype, and the maturation of the parasite. Furthermore, the development of hybridomas to interesting glycan antigens should help address the function of anti-glycan antibodies. The role of these antibodies should be assessed in several ways including passive transfer followed by challenged with parasites and by schistosomula killing assays (described in Chapter 3).

## 6.2 Aim II: Development of semi-synthetic approach for heterologous expression of glycosyltransferases

Anti-glycan antibodies to parasite glycans are present and abundant in all investigated models of schistosomiasis. However, the mechanisms of host immunomodulation by the parasite glycans and the role of glycan epitopes in adaptive immunity of this disease is still poorly understood. The purpose of our studies in Chapters 4 and 5 was to develop novel methods of producing and presenting eukaryotic glycans which could be applied to a several future ventures in glycan library generation and vaccination strategies. Our approach employed heterologous expression of parasite genes in mammalian cells and identified newly generated antigens using specific mono- and polyclonal antibodies to glycan antigens, enzymatic digestion, and mass spectrometry. These studies will promote developments in the future of novel glycoconjugates for diagnostic and vaccine purposes.

*S. mansoni*, and other helminths, produce of many different complex N- and O-glycans which are unusual and structurally distinct from host glycans (7,70-74). These glycans are of prime importance at the host-pathogen interface, and circulating glycan antigens (CCA, CAA) have proven useful as diagnostics in human and animal hosts (33,35,79,80). In Chapters 2 and 3, we also highlighted the importance of single- and multi-fucosylated LDN motifs for their roles as humoral targets in multispecies infection models. A deeper understanding of these glycans and

glycoconjugates, and their ability to modulate the immune system is pivotal for innovative new strategies for lessening the mortality and morbidity caused by these parasites. Prior to this work, our ability to access these glycan structures has been limited due to the difficulty and labor intensive protocol required to purify a glycan from the worm. Many of the structures are not found in an alternative source and there has been limited success in synthesizing the unique and complex glycan structures.

Our overarching goal from Chapters 4 and 5 was to develop a method which would allow us to identify the glycosyltransferases responsible for creating the interesting fucosylated glycans found in *S. mansoni*. Several considerations had to be made- first, many of the structures seen in schistosome glycans are unique to the parasite and the glycosyltransferases we believe to be responsible for their creation do not have known orthologs in other systems. Additionally there are many glycosidic linkages in parasites that appear as crucial components of several schistosome antigens, such as Fuc $\alpha$ 1-2Fuc, that have no known glycosyltransferase in the genome database (2,17,283,285,332). This could be due to insufficient sequence information or an overlap with one of the  $\alpha$ 3/6 FuT's functionality. Thus, when focusing on the FuT multifamily, it was practical to begin with an enzyme function that is well characterized in other species: Le<sup>X</sup>.

In Chapter 4, we report the molecular cloning of fucosyltransferase-F (smFuT-F) from *S. mansoni*, as a soluble, GFP fusion protein with its acceptor specificity. The gene smFuT-F was expressed in HEK freestyle cells, purified by affinity chromatography, and analyzed toward a broad panel of glycan acceptors. The enzyme product of smFuT-F effectively utilizes a type II chain acceptor Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc-R, but notably not the LDN sequence GalNAc $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc-R, to generate Le<sup>X</sup> type-glycans. To our knowledge, this represents the first  $\alpha$ 1,3-fucosyltransferase cloned, recombinantly expressed, and enzymatically characterized to date in parasitic worms. This is also a valuable proof-of-concept for our plans to define specific components of the glycome that contribute to immune responses and identify key *S. mansoni* genes involved in glycan synthesis.

Chapter 5 reports the use of the same approach to identify the enzymatic activity of a  $\beta$ 1-4 N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases ( $\beta$ 1-4GalNAcT) from *S. mansoni* which creates the LDN motif. This knowledge will synergize with the *S. mansoni* FuT family activities to accurately generate the single- and multi-fucosylated LDN motifs we previously identified as valuable targets for future studies. By exploiting the now available genomic resources, we can employ our approach to develop a more thorough understanding of the schistosome glycome. This could promise faster identification of targets for diagnostics and drug development, as well as a collaborative approach to antigen chemo-enzymatic synthesis and discovery for glycan-based vaccine platform.

#### 6.3 Future directions

A major goal for this project includes cloning the remainder of the schistosome FuT family, FuT A through E, in order to determine their functionality and the repertoire of glycans they produce. Additionally, Chapter 3 highlighted that glycans with core  $\beta$ -xylose and 1-4 fucose residues generating single- and multi-fucosylated LDN structures are potent targets in multiple infection models. Identification of other glycosyltransferases, such as the xylosyltransferase, may be necessary. With the acquired knowledge of the smFuT A-F family, sm $\beta$ GalNAcT enzymes, and others we could develop a library of glycans that accurately represent the schistosome glycome. Such a library would be a resource for future projects including, but not limited to, the generation of a variety of glycan based technologies. For example, glycans conjugated to AEAB could then be linked to protein carriers for studies focused on immune activation and glycoconjugates vaccination strategies. After the synthesis of those glycans, immunization studies in mice could generate a panel of antibodies that focus on various fucosylated glycan motifs that require further exploration. Current methods to generate schistosome-specific monoclonal antibodies via natural infection or from immunization with a proxy glycoprotein has been laborious and has had limited success. Schistosome glycans could also be linked to NHS activated slides to form new versions of defined glycan microarrays (Chapter 1, section 1.3.2) (271). The development of such arrays will allow us to explore immune responses to glycan antigens in a variety of infected animal species, direct studies focusing on glycans based diagnostics, and define newly developed anti-glycan antibodies in a facile and sensitive manner. These glycans could also be used to facilitate enzymatic studies, aid in antibody characterization, or even be used to absorb out various glycan binding specifies from serum samples. Depletion of particular glycan targets from antisera could help elucidate the role played by anti-glycan antibodies in protective animal models. The generation of a comprehensive schistosome glycan library could be a powerful resource for a variety of experimental strategies.

Previous work from our lab demonstrated that the manner in which glycan epitopes are presented affected the overall immunogenicity of that glycan (262,272,484). This is in agreement with the long held understanding that whole-organism immunogen based vaccines, such as attenuated or inactivated bacteria or viruses, induces a more potent and longer-lasting immunity than purified components or recombinant proteins (485,486). It is possible that the mechanisms which contribute to the success of whole-organism vaccines could lead to triumphs for recombinant whole-cell vaccinations, and could be applied to glycan based vaccination stragteies (272,484). Prasanphanich *et al* (272) validated several attractive features in whole-cell vaccination which is applicable in the development of a potent glycan vaccine towards a multicellular pathogen. Whole-cells provide a dense, membrane-bound presentation of antigens with multivalent epitopes within the same glycan branch as well as along the surface of the cell. In addition, cells contain diverse peptide epitopes for induction of T-dependent immunity and possibly other signals to cue the innate immune response and offer diversity of immune targets.

To explore the feasibility of whole-cell glycan vaccinations, Prasanphanich *et al* (272) immunized mice with whole CHO cells that had been engineered to express a foreign surface glycan and is similar to glycans found on a schistosome (Lec8, Lec8GT, and Lec8GTFT) (**Figure** 

**6.1A**) (342,343). These immunizations induced a polyclonal antibody response that was focused on the major glycan epitope, as opposed to the multiple cellular targets possible with whole-cell vaccination. Lec8 CHO immunization induced a response to Lec8 cells in mice and likely contributed to the immunogenicity of the Lec8GT and Lec8GTFT cells as well. Lec8GT immunizations resulted in antibodies targeting the LDN glycan motif. Similarly, the antibodies made by Lec8GTFT immunized mice were predominantly against LDNF, with very little cross-reactivity to Lec8 cells or to kifunensine-treated cells, which have inhibited glycan production. It was concluded that while the cells likely provided a broad set of T-cell epitopes, the humoral response was clearly focused on the immunodominant LDNF epitopes carried by the variety of CHO N-glycans. However, it is currently unclear if these anti-glycan antibodies could protect mice against parasite challenge.



▲ Fucose ■GlcNAc ■GalNAc ● Mannose

Figure 6.1. Cellular engineering for the production of specific immunity to schistosome glycan determinants.

(Adapted from communications with R.D.C.)

The recombinantly-engineered Lec8GT and LEc8GTFT cells induced a response which was highly focused on the single over-expressed glycan they each expressed, LDN or LDNF. It's important to note that these cells were developed with enzymes from *C. elegans* and from humans which have their own breadth of possible glycan acceptors. This generated a cell glycome that, while processing the motif of interest, does not faithfully mimic what is seen by the host during infection with a schistosome. Previous work from our lab has made it increasingly clear that anti-
glycan antibodies are highly specific for the antigens to which they are generated. Also, slight modifications in the presentation of the glycan can affect the specificity of the response in drastic ways (262,272,484). We commonly refer to tri- and tetra-saccharides as glycan epitopes (or glycotopes), although the presence of the glycan motif does not confirm antibody binding. In the case of Le<sup>X</sup>, some antibodies have the capacity to bind internal motifs while others are restricted to the presence of terminal tri-saccharides (115). Another example is the HIV-neutralizing antibody 2G12, which contacts several monosaccharide residues on each of 4 high-mannose glycans of GP120 (487). Simply including a particular glycan structure is not enough to generate a highly successful carbohydrate-based vaccine. A well-designed schistosome cell-based vaccine would benefit from use of the appropriate enzymes to make the glycan target of choice.

The cloning and enzyme characterization studies described in Chapters 4 and 5 begin to demonstrate the breadth of the *Schistosoma mansoni*  $\alpha$ 1-3FuT multifamily. This knowledge could be used to engineer various eukaryotic cell lines which each produce a particular schistosome glycan of interest. A major limitation the field has previously encountered is that schistosomes cannot be maintained in culture and purification of these glycans from the worm is not feasible. Development of CHO cells using the desired schistosome glycosyltransferases would be useful in several ways. Firstly, these cells could be engineered to produce single- and multi-fucosylated LDN structures which we know to be important immune targets in multiple infection models. The resulting cell glycome would better recapitulate what is created by the worm, which is vital for inducing a robust and effective anti-glycan immune response. These new smGTFT type cells should be a better alternative for whole-cell vaccines and/or used to produce highly targeted hybridomas to each glycan (**Figure 6.1B**). Cells, which can be grown to high density in culture, could be used to generate the glycan libraries should chemo-enzymatic approach produce a less than desired yield. Likely, there would be heterogeneity in the glycans produced, however this may not be a source of concern due to the vast variety seen in the worm glycome.

Another interesting future direction that could be crucial to successful vaccination against multi-cellular pathogens is incorporation of multiple targets into one vaccine. This approach is already successful for coverage of many serotypes by bacterial polysaccharide conjugate vaccines (488,489). Several glycan epitopes could each be incorporated into cell lines and mixed to create a multi-target, multi-stage schistosome vaccine. Yet another possible approach could be to include a major secreted schistosome glycoprotein. With our increased knowledge of the genome, the cDNA of a relevant tegmental or secreted glycoprotein, which would normally carry glycan antigens, could be added to generate a "natural" schistosome glycoconjugate and avoid any complications seen with glycan-protein linkers (**Figure 6.1C**) (262). Including a protein carrier (or even a variety of protein carriers) with the important glycan antigens could serve to generate a robust memory response focused on the glycans.

Given the lack of overlap between mammalian/host glycans and the highly fucosylated LDN structures, the glycosyltransferases responsible (FuT family in particular) could represent an underutilized therapeutic target. With recombinant enzymes we have the opportunity to study the crystallization of enzymes and explore possible inhibitors to the acceptor binding sites. This could lead to targeted drugs and therapies which may aid in parasite clearance. While it is unclear if inhibiting the glycan biosynthesis would be directly involved in worm survival, because of limited knowledge of the role each glycan plays in schistosome biology, inhibiting particular glycosyltransferases could have an effect on the worm's ability to modulate the host's immune response. Interruption to this mechanism could lead to better understanding of worm glycolbiology and better outcomes from infection.



Figure 6.2. Summary of possible future directions.

## 6.4 Conclusions

With this work, we have shown demonstrated the importance of fucosylation in complex schistosome glycans (particularly single- and multi-fucosylated LDN derivatives), the success of shotgun glycomics to elucidate host immune targets, and the extremely complex and still enigmatic specificity and functionality of the glycosyltransferases responsible for the generation of interesting glycan antigens. Although we still have much to learn about the glycobiology of the schistosome, this work should encourage and support future studies on *Schistosoma's* uniquely fucosylated glycans. It is vital in the development of novel diagnostic approaches and glyco-conjugate vaccine platforms that we reveal glycan biosynthesis pathways and explore their feasibility as immune and drug targets (**Figure 6.2**). We hope this work will inspire the scientific community to devote its valuable time and resources to developing glyco-technologies which have the potential to help with the global challenges posed by schistosomiasis and other helminth infections.

## References

- 1. Prasanphanich, N. S., Mickum, M. L., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., and Cummings, R. D. (2013) Glycoconjugates in host-helminth interactions. *Front Immunol* **4**, 240
- Mickum, M. L., Prasanphanich, N. S., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Leon, K. E., and Cummings, R. D. (2014) Deciphering the glycogenome of schistosomes. *Frontiers in Genetics* 5, 1-15
- 3. Hotez, P. J., Fenwick, A., Savioli, L., and Molyneux, D. H. (2009) Rescuing the bottom billion through control of neglected tropical diseases. *Lancet* **373**, 1570-1575
- 4. Mathers, C., Fat, D. M., and Boerma, J. T. (2008) *The global burden of disease: 2004 update*, World Health Organization
- 5. Savioli, L., Daumerie, D., and Who, F. (2010) Working to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases First WHO report on neglected tropical diseases.
- Bethony, J., Brooker, S., Albonico, M., Geiger, S. M., Loukas, A., Diemert, D., and Hotez, P. J. (2006) Soil-transmitted helminth infections: ascariasis, trichuriasis, and hookworm. *Lancet* 367, 1521-1532
- 7. Cummings, R. D., and Nyame, A. K. (1996) Glycobiology of schistosomiasis. *The FASEB Journal* **10**, 838-848
- 8. Barsoum, R. S., Esmat, G., and El-Baz, T. (2013) Human Schistosomiasis: Clinical Perspective: Review. *Journal of Advanced Research* **4**, 433-444
- 9. Harhay, M. O., Horton, J., and Olliaro, P. L. (2010) Epidemiology and control of human gastrointestinal parasites in children. *Expert review of anti-infective therapy* **8**, 219-234
- 10. van der Werf, M. J., de Vlas, S., Brooker, S., Looman, C. W. N., Nagelkerke, N. J. D., Habbema, J., and Engels, D. (2003) Quantification of clinical morbidity associated with schistosome infection in sub-Saharan Africa. *Acta Tropica* **86**, 125-139
- 11. Chitsulo, L., Loverde, P., and Engels, D. (2004) Schistosomiasis. *Nature reviews* 2, 12-13
- 12. King, C. H., Dickman, K., and Tisch, D. J. (2005) Reassessment of the cost of chronic helmintic infection: a meta-analysis of disability-related outcomes in endemic schistosomiasis. *Lancet* **365**, 1561-1569
- 13. Hotez, P. J., Engels, D., Fenwick, A., and Savioli, L. (2010) Africa is desperate for praziquantel. *The Lancet* **376**, 496-498
- 14. King, C. H., Sturrock, R. F., Kariuki, H. C., and Hamburger, J. (2006) Transmission control for schistosomiasis why it matters now. *Trends in parasitology* **22**, 575-582
- 15. King, C. H., and Dangerfield-Cha, M. (2008) The unacknowledged impact of chronic schistosomiasis. *Chronic illness* **4**, 65-79
- 16. Elbaz, T., and Esmat, G. (2013) Hepatic and intestinal schistosomiasis: review. *Journal of advanced research* **4**, 445-452
- 17. Hokke, C. H., Fitzpatrick, J. M., and Hoffmann, K. F. (2007) Integrating transcriptome, proteome and glycome analyses of Schistosoma biology. *Trends Parasitol* **23**, 165-174
- 18. Foley, M., Kusel, J. R., and Garland, P. B. (1988) Changes in the organization of the surface membrane upon transformation of cercariae to schistosomula of the helminth parasite Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasitology* **96** (**Pt 1**), 85-97

- 19. Gilbert, B., Da Rosa, M. N., Borojević, R., and Pellegrino, J. (1972) Schistosoma mansoni: in vitro transformation of cercariae into schistosomula. *Parasitology* **64**, 333-339
- 20. Homeida, M., Ahmed, S., Dafalla, a., Suliman, S., Eltom, I., Nash, T., and Bennett, J. L. (1988) Morbidity associated with Schistosoma mansoni infection as determined by ultrasound: a study in Gezira, Sudan. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **39**, 196-201
- Samuels, A. M., Matey, E., Mwinzi, P. N. M., Wiegand, R. E., Muchiri, G., Ireri, E., Hyde, M., Montgomery, S. P., Karanja, D. M. S., and Secor, W. E. (2012) Schistosoma mansoni morbidity among school-aged children: a SCORE project in Kenya. *The American journal* of tropical medicine and hygiene 87, 874-882
- Ross, A. G. P., Bartley, P. B., Sleigh, A. C., Olds, G. R. I., Li, Y., Williams, G. M., and McManus, D. P. (2002) Current Concepts: Schistosomiasis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 346, 1212-1220
- Verani, J. R., Abudho, B., Montgomery, S. P., Mwinzi, P. N. M., Shane, H. L., Butler, S. E., Karanja, D. M. S., and Secor, W. E. (2011) Schistosomiasis among young children in Usoma, Kenya. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 84, 787-791
- 24. Wilson, S., Vennervald, B. J., and Dunne, D. W. (2011) Chronic hepatosplenomegaly in African school children: a common but neglected morbidity associated with schistosomiasis and malaria. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases* **5**, e1149-e1149
- Gray, D. J., McManus, D. P., Li, Y., Williams, G. M., Bergquist, R., and Ross, A. G. (2010) Schistosomiasis elimination: lessons from the past guide the future. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 10, 733-736
- 26. King, C. H. (2010) Parasites and poverty: the case of schistosomiasis. *Acta tropica* **113**, 95-104
- Knopp, S., Speich, B., Hattendorf, J., Rinaldi, L., Mohammed, K. A., Khamis, I. S., Mohammed, A. S., Albonico, M., Rollinson, D., Marti, H., Cringoli, G., and Utzinger, J. (2011) Diagnostic accuracy of Kato-Katz and FLOTAC for assessing anthelmintic drug efficacy. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases* 5, e1036-e1036
- 28. Booth, M., Vounatsou, P., Ngoran, E. K., Tanner, M., and Utzinger, J. (2003) The influence of sampling effort and the performance of the Kato-Katz technique in diagnosing Schistosoma mansoni and hookworm co-infections in rural Cte dIvoire. *Parasitology* **127**, 525-531
- 29. Utzinger, J., and Jennifer, K. (2008) Efficacy of Current Drugs Against Soil-Transmitted Helminth Infections. *JAMA* **299**, 1937-1948
- 30. Gryseels, B., Polman, K., Clerinx, J., and Kestens, L. (2006) Human schistosomiasis. *Lancet* **368**, 1106-1118
- Robijn, M. L. M., Planken, J., Kornelis, D., Hokke, C. H., and Deelder, A. M. (2008) Mass spectrometric detection of urinary oligosaccharides as markers of Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 102, 79-83
- 32. DPDx: Laboratory Identification of Parasitic Diseases of Public Health Concern. in *Diagnostics reference recources* (Malaria, D. o. P. D. a. ed., Center for Disease Control and Prevention

- 33. van Dam, G. J., Wichers, J. H., Ferreira, T. M. F., Ghati, D., van Amerongen, A., and Deelder, A. M. (2004) Diagnosis of Schistosomiasis by Reagent Strip Test for Detection of Circulating Cathodic Antigen. *Journal of Clinical Microbriology* 42, 5458-5461
- 34. van Dam, G. J., Claas, F., Yazdanbakhsh, M., Kruize, Y., Van Keulen, A., Ferreira, S., Rotmans, J., and Deelder, A. (1996) Schistosoma mansoni excretory circulating cathodic antigen shares Lewis-x epitopes with a human granulocyte surface antigen and evokes host antibodies mediating complement-dependent lysis of granulocytes. *Blood* 88, 4246-4251
- 35. Sousa-Figueiredo, J. C., Betson, M., Kabatereine, N. B., and Stothard, J. R. (2013) The urine circulating cathodic antigen (CCA) dipstick: a valid substitute for microscopy for mapping and point-of-care diagnosis of intestinal schistosomiasis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 7, e2008
- 36. Stothard, J. R., Sousa-Figueiredo, J. C. D., Sousa-Figuereido, J. C., Betson, M., Adriko, M., Arinaitwe, M., Rowell, C., Besiyge, F., and Kabatereine, N. B. (2011) Schistosoma mansoni Infections in young children: when are schistosome antigens in urine, eggs in stool and antibodies to eggs first detectable? *PLoS neglected tropical diseases* 5, e938-e938
- Stelma, F., Talla, I., Sow, S., Kongs, A., Niang, M., Polman, K., Deelder, A., and Gryseels,
  B. (1995) Efficacy and side effects of praziquantel in an epidemic focus of Schistosoma mansoni. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 53, 167-170
- 38. Cioli, D., and Pica-Mattoccia, L. (2003) Praziquantel. Parasitol Res 90 Supp 1, S3-9
- 39. Lawn, S. D., Lucas, S. B., and Chiodini, P. L. (2003) Case report: Schistosoma mansoni infection: failure of standard treatment with praziquantel in a returned traveller. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **97**, 100-101
- 40. William, S., Botros, S., Ismail, M., Farghally, A., Day, T., and Bennett, J. (2001) Praziquantel-induced tegumental damage in vitro is diminished in schistosomes derived from praziquantel-resistant infections. *Parasitology* **122**, 63-66
- 41. Olveda, R. M., Daniel, B. L., Ramirez, B. D., Aligui, G. D., Acosta, L. P., Fevidal, P., Tiu, E., de Veyra, F., Peters, P. A., and Romulo, R. (1996) Schistosomiasis japonica in the Philippines: the long-term impact of population-based chemotherapy on infection, transmission, and morbidity. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **174**, 163-172
- 42. Liang, S., Yang, C., Zhong, B., and Qiu, D. (2006) Re-emerging schistosomiasis in hilly and mountainous areas of Sichuan, China. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* **84**, 139-144
- 43. Nock, I. H., Aken'Ova, T., and Galadima, M. (2006) Deworming: adding public health education to the equation. *Trends in parasitology* **22**, 7-7
- 44. Chitsulo, L., Engels, D., Montresor, A., and Savioli, L. (2000) The global status of schistosomiasis and its control. *Acta Trop* **77**, 41-51
- 45. Utzinger, J., Bergquist, R., Shu-Hua, X., Singer, B. H., and Tanner, M. (2003) Sustainable schistosomiasis control—the way forward. *The Lancet* **362**, 1932-1934
- 46. McCullough, F., Gayral, P., Duncan, J., and Christie, J. (1980) Molluscicides in schistosomiasis control. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* **58**, 681
- 47. Cheng, T. C. (1974) *Molluscicides in schistosomiasis control*, Academic Press
- Perrett, S., and Whitfield, P. (1996) Currently available molluscicides. *Parasitology Today* 12, 156-159

- 49. Doenhoff, M. J., and Pica-Mattoccia, L. (2006) Praziquantel for the treatment of schistosomiasis: its use for control in areas with endemic disease and prospects for drug resistance.
- 50. Fenwick, A., and Webster, J. P. (2006) Schistosomiasis: challenges for control, treatment and drug resistance. *Current opinion in infectious diseases* **19**, 577-582
- 51. Wang, W., Wang, L., and Liang, Y.-S. (2012) Susceptibility or resistance of praziquantel in human schistosomiasis: a review. *Parasitology research* **111**, 1871-1877
- 52. Melman, S. D., Steinauer, M. L., Cunningham, C., Kubatko, L. S., Mwangi, I. N., Wynn, N. B., Mutuku, M. W., Karanja, D., Colley, D. G., and Black, C. L. (2009) Reduced susceptibility to praziquantel among naturally occurring Kenyan isolates of Schistosoma mansoni. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **3**, e504
- 53. Keiser, J., Shu-Hua, X., Chollet, J., Tanner, M., and Utzinger, J. (2007) Evaluation of the in vivo activity of tribendimidine against Schistosoma mansoni, Fasciola hepatica, Clonorchis sinensis, and Opisthorchis viverrini. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy* **51**, 1096-1098
- 54. Xiao, S.-H., Hui-Ming, W., Tanner, M., Utzinger, J., and Chong, W. (2005) Tribendimidine: a promising, safe and broad-spectrum anthelmintic agent from China. *Acta tropica* **94**, 1-14
- 55. Bergquist, N. R., and Colley, D. G. (1998) Schistosomiasis Vaccines : Research to Development. *Parasitology today* **4**, 99-104
- 56. Knox, D. P., and Redmond, D. L. (2006) Parasite vaccines recent progress and problems associated with their development. *Parasitology* **133 Suppl**, S1-8
- 57. Kupferschmidt, K. (2013) A worm vaccine, coming at a snail's pace. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **339**, 502-503
- 58. Ford, M., Bickle, Q., Taylor, M., and Andrews, B. (1984) Passive transfer of resistance and the site of immune-dependent elimination of the challenge infection in rats vaccinated with highly irradiated cercarie of Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasitology* **89**, 461-482
- 59. James, S. L. (1987) Schistosoma spp.: progress toward a defined vaccine. *Experimental parasitology* **63**, 247-252
- Taylor, M., James, E., Nelson, G., Bickle, Q., Andrews, B., Dobinson, A., and Webbe, G. (1976) Immunisation of baboons against Schistosoma mansoni using irradiated S. mansoni cercariae and schistosomula and non-irradiated S. rodhaini cercariae. *Journal of helminthology* 50, 215-221
- 61. Taylor, M., James, E., Nelson, G., Bickle, Q., Dunne, D., and Webbe, G. (1976) Immunisation of sheep against Schistosoma mattheei using either irradiated cercariae or irradiated schistosomula. *Journal of Helminthology* **50**, 1-9
- 62. McManus, D. P., and Loukas, A. (2008) Current status of vaccines for schistosomiasis. *Clinical microbiology reviews* **21**, 225-242
- 63. Wilson, R. A., and Coulson, P. S. (2006) Schistosome vaccines: a critical appraisal. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **101**, 13-20
- 64. Riveau, G., Deplanque, D., Remoue, F., Schacht, A. M., Vodougnon, H., Capron, M., Thiry, M., Martial, J., Libersa, C., and Capron, A. (2012) Safety and immunogenicity of rSh28GST antigen in humans: phase 1 randomized clinical study of a vaccine candidate against urinary schistosomiasis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **6**, e1704

- Bethony, J. M., Simon, G., Diemert, D. J., Parenti, D., Desrosiers, A., Schuck, S., Fujiwara, R., Santiago, H., and Hotez, P. J. (2008) Randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial of the Na-ASP-2 hookworm vaccine in unexposed adults. *Vaccine* 26, 2408-2417
- 66. Diemert, D. J., Pinto, A. G., Freire, J., Jariwala, A., Santiago, H., Hamilton, R. G., Periago, M. V., Loukas, A., Tribolet, L., and Mulvenna, J. (2012) Generalized urticaria induced by the Na-ASP-2 hookworm vaccine: implications for the development of vaccines against helminths. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **130**, 169-176. e166
- 67. Hotez, P. J., Bethony, J. M., Diemert, D. J., Pearson, M., and Loukas, A. (2010) Developing vaccines to combat hookworm infection and intestinal schistosomiasis. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **8**, 814-826
- 68. Loukas, A., Tran, M., and Pearson, M. S. (2007) Schistosome membrane proteins as vaccines. *International journal for parasitology* **37**, 257-263
- 69. Braschi, S., Borges, W. C., and Wilson, R. A. (2006) Proteomic analysis of the shistosome tegument and its surface membranes. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz.* **101**, 205-212
- 70. Cummings, R. D., and Nyame, A. K. (1999) Schistosome glycoconjugates. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease* **1455**, 363-374
- 71. Prasanphanich, N. S., Mickum, M. L., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., and Cummings, R. D. (2013) Glycoconjugates in host-helminth interactions. *Frontiers in Immunology* **4**, 1-22
- 72. Hokke, C., and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (2005) Schistosome glycans and innate immunity. *Parasite immunology* **27**, 257-264
- 73. Hokke, C. H., and Deelder, A. M. (2001) Schistosome glycoconjugates in host-parasite interplay. *Glycoconjugate journal* **18**, 573-587
- 74. Hokke, C. H., Deelder, A. M., Hoffmann, K. F., and Wuhrer, M. (2007) Glycomics-driven discoveries in schistosome research. *Experimental parasitology* **117**, 275-283
- 75. Zhu, B., Trikudanathan, S., Zozulya, A. L., Sandoval-Garcia, C., Kennedy, J. K., Atochina, O., Norberg, T., Castagner, B., Seeberger, P., Fabry, Z., Harn, D., Khoury, S. J., and Guleria, I. (2012) Immune modulation by Lacto-N-fucopentaose III in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clinical immunology (Orlando, Fla.)* 142, 351-361
- 76. Meevissen, M. H., Driessen, N. N., Smits, H. H., Versteegh, R., van Vliet, S. J., van Kooyk, Y., Schramm, G., Deelder, A. M., Haas, H., Yazdanbakhsh, M., and Hokke, C. H. (2012) Specific glycan elements determine differential binding of individual egg glycoproteins of the human parasite Schistosoma mansoni by host C-type lectin receptors. *Int J Parasitol* 42, 269-277
- 77. van Diepen, A., Van der Velden, N. S., Smit, C. H., Meevissen, M. H., and Hokke, C. H. (2012) Parasite glycans and antibody-mediated immune responses in Schistosoma infection. *Parasitology* 139, 1219-1230
- 78. van Die, I., van Vliet, S. J., Nyame, A. K., Cummings, R. D., Bank, C. M., Appelmelk, B., Geijtenbeek, T. B., and van Kooyk, Y. (2003) The dendritic cell–specific C-type lectin DC-SIGN is a receptor for Schistosoma mansoni egg antigens and recognizes the glycan antigen Lewis x. *Glycobiology* 13, 471-478
- 79. van Dam, G. J., Xu, J., Bergquist, R., de Dood, C. J., Utzinger, J., Qin, Z.-Q., Guan, W., Feng, T., Yu, X.-L., Zhou, J., Zheng, M., Zhou, X.-N., and Corstjens, P. L. A. M. (2014) An ultra-sensitive assay targeting the circulating anodic antigen for the diagnosis of

Schistosoma japonicum in a low-endemic area, People's Republic of China. *Acta tropica* **141**, 190-197

- 80. Nyame, A. K., Kawar, Z. S., and Cummings, R. D. (2004) Antigenic Glycans in Parasitic Infections: Implications for Vaccines and Diagnostics. *Arch Biochem Biophys* In Press
- 81. Simpson, a. J., Payares, G., Walker, T., Knight, M., and Smithers, S. R. (1984) The modulation of expression of polypeptide surface antigens on developing schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* **133**, 2725-2730
- Robijn, M. L., Wuhrer, M., Kornelis, D., Deelder, A. M., Geyer, R., and Hokke, C. H. (2005) Mapping fucosylated epitopes on glycoproteins and glycolipids of Schistosoma mansoni cercariae, adult worms and eggs. *Parasitology* 130, 67-77
- 83. Dalton, J. P., Lewis, S. a., Aronstein, W. S., and Strand, M. (1987) Schistosoma mansoni: immunogenic glycoproteins of the cercarial glycocalyx. *Experimental parasitology* **63**, 215-226
- 84. Abou-Zakham, A. A., Romia, S. A., El-Naggar, H. S., and El-Khouly, E. S. (1990) Ultra structure study of schistosomula recovered after cercarial penetration of isolated skin. *Journal of the Egyptian Society of Parasitology* **20**, 579-587
- 85. Samuelson, J. C., and Caulfield, J. P. (1985) The cercarial glycocalyx of Schistosoma mansoni. *The Journal of cell biology* **100**, 1423-1434
- Kusel, J. R., Al-Adhami, B. H., and Doenhoff, M. J. (2007) The schistosome in the mammalian host: understanding the mechanisms of adaptation. *Parasitology* 134, 1477-1526
- 87. Nyame, K., Smith, D. F., Damian, R. T., and Cummings, R. D. (1989) Complex-type asparagine-linked oligosaccharides in glycoproteins synthesized by Schistosoma mansoni adult males contain terminal beta-linked N-acetylgalactosamine. *J Biol Chem* **264**, 3235-3243
- 88. Makaaru, C. K., Damian, R. T., Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. D. (1992) The human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni synthesizes a novel type of glycosphingolipid. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **267**, 2251-2257
- 89. Srivatsan, J., Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. (1992) The human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni synthesizes glycoproteins containing the Lewis X antigen. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **267**, 20196-20203
- 90. Kang, S., Cummings, R. D., and McCall, J. W. (1993) Characterization of the N-linked oligosaccharides in glycoproteins synthesized by microfilariae of Dirofilaria immitis. *The Journal of parasitology*, 815-828
- Ellis, L. A., Reason, A. J., Morris, H. R., Dell, A., Iglesias, R., Ubeira, F. M., and Appleton, J. A. (1994) Glycans as targets for monoclonal antibodies that protect rats against Trichinella spiralis. *Glycobiology* 4, 585-592
- 92. Ellis, L. A., McVay, C. S., Probert, M. A., Bundle, D. R., and Appleton, J. A. (1997) Terminal β-linked tyvelose creates unique epitopes in Trichinella spiralis glycan antigens. *Glycobiology* 7, 383-390
- 93. Reason, A. J., Ellis, L. A., Appleton, J. A., Wisnewski, N., Grieve, R. B., McNeil, M., Wassom, D. L., Morris, H. R., and Dell, A. (1994) Novel tyvelose-containing tri-and tetraantennary N-glycans in the immunodominant antigens of the intracellular parasite Trichinella spiralis. *Glycobiology* 4, 593-603

- 94. McVay, C. S., Bracken, P., Gagliardo, L. F., and Appleton, J. (2000) Antibodies to tyvelose exhibit multiple modes of interference with the epithelial niche of Trichinella spiralis. *Infection and immunity* **68**, 1912-1918
- 95. Bruschi, F., Moretti, A., Wassom, D., and Fioretti, D. P. (2001) The use of a synthetic antigen for the serological diagnosis of human trichinellosis. *Parasite* **8**, S141-S143
- 96. Møller, L. N., Petersen, E., Gamble, H., and Kapel, C. M. (2005) Comparison of two antigens for demonstration of Trichinella spp. antibodies in blood and muscle fluid of foxes, pigs and wild boars. *Veterinary parasitology* **132**, 81-84
- 97. Paschinger, K., Gonzalez-Sapienza, G. G., and Wilson, I. B. (2012) Mass spectrometric analysis of the immunodominant glycan epitope of Echinococcus granulosus antigen Ag5. *International journal for parasitology* **42**, 279-285
- 98. Shepherd, J. C., and McManus, D. P. (1987) Specific and cross-reactive antigens of Echinococcus granulosus hydatid cyst fluid. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **25**, 143-154
- 99. Cipollo, J. F., Awad, A. M., Costello, C. E., and Hirschberg, C. B. (2005) N-Glycans of Caenorhabditis elegans are specific to developmental stages. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **280**, 26063-26072
- 100. Grabitzki, J., Ahrend, M., Schachter, H., Geyer, R., and Lochnit, G. (2008) The PCome of Caenorhabditis elegans as a prototypic model system for parasitic nematodes: identification of phosphorylcholine-substituted proteins. *Molecular and biochemical parasitology* **161**, 101-111
- Lochnit, G. (1998) Structural analysis and immunohistochemical localization of two acidic glycosphingolipids from the porcine, parasitic nematode, Ascaris suum. *Glycobiology* 8, 891-899
- 102. Khoo, K.-H., Maizels, R. M., Page, A. P., Taylor, G. W., Rendell, N. B., and Dell, A. (1991) Characterization of nematode glycoproteins: the major O-glycans of Toxocara excretory-secretory antigens are O-methylated trisaccharides. *Glycobiology* **1**, 163-171
- 103. Koizumi, A., Yamano, K., Tsuchiya, T., Schweizer, F., Kiuchi, F., and Hada, N. (2012) Synthesis, antigenicity against human sera and structure-activity relationships of carbohydrate moieties from Toxocara larvae and their analogues. *Molecules* **17**, 9023-9042
- 104. Srivatsan, J., Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. D. (1992) Schistosoma mansoni synthesizes novel biantennary Asn-linked oligosaccharides containing terminal beta-linked Nacetylgalactosamine. *Glycobiology* **2**, 445-452
- 105. Khoo, K. H., Chatterjee, D., Caulfield, J. P., Morris, H. R., and Dell, A. (1997) Structural mapping of the glycans from the egg glycoproteins of Schistosoma mansoni and Schistosoma japonicum: identification of novel core structures and terminal sequences. *Glycobiology* **7**, 663-677
- 106. Khoo, K. H., Sarda, S., Xu, X., Caulfield, J. P., McNeil, M. R., Homans, S. W., Morris, H. R., and Dell, A. (1995) A unique multifucosylated -3GalNAc beta 1-->4GlcNAc beta 1-->3Gal alpha 1- motif constitutes the repeating unit of the complex O-glycans derived from the cercarial glycocalyx of Schistosoma mansoni. *J Biol Chem* 270, 17114-17123
- 107. Wuhrer, M., Koeleman, C. a. M., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2006) Repeats of LacdiNAc and fucosylated LacdiNAc on N-glycans of the human parasite Schistosoma mansoni. *The FEBS journal* **273**, 347-361

- Wuhrer, M., Koeleman, C. A. M., Fitzpatrick, J. M., Hoffmann, K. F., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2006) Gender-specific expression of complex-type N-glycans in schistosomes. *Glycobiology* 16, 991-1006
- 109. Geyer, H., Wuhrer, M., Resemann, A., and Geyer, R. (2005) Identification and Characterization of Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin N-Glycans Mediating Cross-reactivity with Schistosoma mansoni. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* **280**, 40731-40748
- 110. Kantelhardt, S. R., Wuhrer, M., Dennis, R. D., Doenhoff, M. J., Bickle, Q., and Geyer, R. (2002) Fuc(alpha1-->3)GalNAc-: the major antigenic motif of Schistosoma mansoni glycolipids implicated in infection sera and keyhole-limpet haemocyanin cross-reactivity. *The Biochemical journal* 366, 217-223
- 111. Jang-Lee, J., Curwen, R. S., Ashton, P. D., Tissot, B., Mathieson, W., Panico, M., Dell, A., Wilson, R. A., and Haslam, S. M. (2007) Glycomics analysis of Schistosoma mansoni egg and cercarial secretions. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 6, 1485-1499
- 112. Hanneman, A. J., Rosa, J. C., Ashline, D., and Reinhold, V. N. (2006) Isomer and glycomer complexities of core GlcNAcs in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Glycobiology* **16**, 874-890
- 113. Yan, S., Bleuler-Martinez, S., Plaza, D. F., Künzler, M., Aebi, M., Joachim, A., Razzazi-Fazeli, E., Jantsch, V., Geyer, R., and Wilson, I. B. (2012) Galactosylated Fucose Epitopes in Nematodes Increases Expression in a Caenorbditis Mutant Associated With Altered Lectin Sensitivity and Occurence in Parasitic Species. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287, 28276-28290
- 114. Paschinger, K., Gutternigg, M., Rendić, D., and Wilson, I. B. (2008) The N-glycosylation pattern of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Carbohydrate research* **343**, 2041-2049
- 115. Mandalasi, M., Dorabawila, N., Smith, D. F., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Cummings, R. D., and Nyame, A. K. (2013) Development and characterization of a specific IgG monoclonal antibody toward the Lewis x antigen using splenocytes of Schistosoma mansoni-infected mice. *Glycobiology* **23**, 877-892
- 116. Ko, A. I., Dräger, U., and Harn, D. A. (1990) A Schistosoma mansoni epitope recognized by a protective monoclonal antibody is identical to the stage-specific embryonic antigen 1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **87**, 4159-4163
- 117. Haslam, S. M., Coles, G. C., Morris, H. R., and Dell, A. (2000) Structural characterization of the N-glycans of Dictyocaulus viviparus: discovery of the Lewis(x) structure in a nematode. *Glycobiology* **10**, 223-229
- 118. Nyame, A. K., Pilcher, J. B., Tsang, V. C., and Cummings, R. D. (1996) Schistosoma mansoniInfection in Humans and Primates Induces Cytolytic Antibodies to Surface Le x Determinants on Myeloid Cells. *Experimental parasitology* **82**, 191-200
- 119. Bergwerff, A. A., Dam, G. J. V., Rotmans, J. P., Deelder, A. M., Kamerling, J. P., and Vliegenthart, J. F. G. (1994) The Immunologically Reactive Part of Immunopurified Circulating Anodic Antigen from Schistosoma mansoni Is a Threonine-linked Polysaccharide Consisting of 1- Repeating Units \*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 269, 31510-31517
- 120. Damian, R. T. (1964) Molecular mimicry: antigen sharing by parasite and host and its consequences. *Am Naturalist* **98**, 129-149
- 121. Damian, R. T. (1997) Parasite immune evasion and exploitation: reflections and projections. *Parasitology* **115**, 169-175

- 122. Damian, R. T. (1965) Molecular Mimicry in Biological Adaptation. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **147**, 824
- 123. Damian, R. T. (1987) Molecular mimicry revisited. Parasitol Today 3, 263-266
- 124. Talabnin, K., Aoki, K., Saichua, P., Wongkham, S., Kaewkes, S., Boons, G.-J., Sripa, B., and Tiemeyer, M. (2013) Stage-specific expression and antigenicity of glycoprotein glycans isolated from the human liver fluke, Opisthorchis viverrini. *International Journal* for Parasitology **43**, 37-50
- 125. Yamano, K., Goto, A., Nakamura-Uchiyama, F., Nawa, Y., Hada, N., and Takeda, T. (2009) GalB1-6Gal, antigenic epitope which accounts for serological cross-reaction in diagnosis of Echinococcus multilocularis infection. *Parasite immunology* **31**, 481-487
- 126. Wuhrer, M., Grimm, C., Dennis, R. D., Idris, M. a., and Geyer, R. (2004) The parasitic trematode Fasciola hepatica exhibits mammalian-type glycolipids as well as Gal(beta1-6)Gal-terminating glycolipids that account for cestode serological cross-reactivity. *Glycobiology* 14, 115-126
- 127. Eberl, M., <sup>1</sup>Jan A. M. Langermans,<sup>2</sup>, Richard A. Vervenne,<sup>2</sup> A. Kwame Nyame,<sup>3</sup> Richard D. Cummings,<sup>3</sup> Alan W.Thomas,<sup>2</sup> Patricia S. Coulson,<sup>1</sup> and R. Alan Wilson. (2001) Antibodies to Glycans Dominate the Host Response to Schistosome Larvae and Eggs: Is Their Role Protective or Subversive. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 183, 1238-1247
- 128. Bolás-Fernandez, F., and del Corral Bezara, L. (2006) TSL-1 antigens of Trichinella: an overview of their potential role in parasite invasion, survival and serodiagnosis of trichinellosis. *Research in veterinary science* **81**, 297-303
- 129. Kariuki, T. M., Farah, I. O., Wilson, R. A., and Coulson, P. S. (2008) Antibodies elicited by the secretions from schistosome cercariae and eggs are predominantly against glycan epitopes. *Parasite Immunology* **30**, 554-562
- Yu, R. K., Ariga, T., Usuki, S., and Kaida, K. (2011) Pathological roles of ganglioside mimicry in Guillain-Barre syndrome and related neuropathies. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 705, 349-365
- 131. Yuki, N., Susuki, K., Koga, M., Nishimoto, Y., Odaka, M., Hirata, K., Taguchi, K., Miyatake, T., Furukawa, K., Kobata, T., and Yamada, M. (2004) Carbohydrate mimicry between human ganglioside GM1 and Campylobacter jejuni lipooligosaccharide causes Guillain-Barre syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 11404-11409
- 132. van Die, I., and Cummings, R. D. (2010) Glycan gimmickry by parasitic helminths: a strategy for modulating the host immune response? *Glycobiology* **20**, 2-12
- 133. Thomas, P. G., Carter, M. R., Atochina, O., Da'Dara, A. a., Piskorska, D., McGuire, E., and Harn, D. a. (2003) Maturation of dendritic cell 2 phenotype by a helminth glycan uses a Toll-like receptor 4-dependent mechanism. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* **171**, 5837-5841
- 134. Thomas, P. G., Carter, M. R., Da'dara, A. A., DeSimone, T. M., and Harn, D. A. (2005) A helminth glycan induces APC maturation via alternative NF-kappa B activation independent of I kappa B alpha degradation. *J Immunol* **175**, 2082-2090
- La Flamme, A. C., Canagasabey, K., Harvie, M., and Bäckström, B. T. (2004) Schistosomiasis protects against multiple sclerosis. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 99, 33-36

- 136. Smith, P., Mangan, N. E., Walsh, C. M., Fallon, R. E., McKenzie, A. N. J., van Rooijen, N., and Fallon, P. G. (2007) Infection with a Helminth Parasite Prevents Experimental Colitis via a Macrophage-Mediated Mechanism. *The Journal of Immunology* **178**, 4557-4566
- Zaccone, P., Fehérvári, Z., Jones, F. M., Sidobre, S., Kronenberg, M., Dunne, D. W., and Cooke, A. (2003) Schistosoma mansoni antigens modulate the activity of the innate immune response and prevent onset of type 1 diabetes. *European journal of immunology* 33, 1439-1449
- 138. Velupillai, P., dos Reis, E. A., dos Reis, M. G., and Harn, D. A. (2000) Lewisx-containing oligosaccharide attenuates schistosome egg antigen-induced immune depression in human schistosomiasis. *Human Immunology* **61**, 225-232
- 139. Okano, M., Satoskar, A. R., Nishizaki, K., Abe, M., and Harn Jr, D. A. (1999) Induction of Th2 responses and IgE is largely due to carbohydrates functioning as adjuvants on Schistosoma mansoni egg antigens. *Journal of immunology* **163**, 6712-6717
- 140. Okano, M., Satoskar, A. R., Nishizaki, K., and Harn Jr, D. A. (2001) Lacto-N-fucopentaose III found on Schistosoma mansoni egg antigens functions as adjuvant for proteins by inducing Th2-type response. *J Immunol* 167, 442-450
- Atochina, O., and Harn, D. (2005) LNFPIII/LeX-stimulated macrophages activate natural killer cells via CD40-CD40L interaction. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology* 12, 1041-1049
- 142. van Liempt, E., Bank, C. M. C., Mehta, P., Garciá-Vallejo, J. J., Kawar, Z. S., Geyer, R., Alvarez, R. a., Cummings, R. D., Kooyk, Y. V., and van Die, I. (2006) Specificity of DC-SIGN for mannose- and fucose-containing glycans. *FEBS letters* 580, 6123-6131
- 143. van Liempt, E., van Vliet, S. J., Engering, A., García Vallejo, J. J., Bank, C. M. C., Sanchez-Hernandez, M., van Kooyk, Y., and van Die, I. (2007) Schistosoma mansoni soluble egg antigens are internalized by human dendritic cells through multiple C-type lectins and suppress TLR-induced dendritic cell activation. *Molecular immunology* 44, 2605-2615
- 144. Velupillai, P., and Harn, D. A. (1994) Oligosaccharide-specific induction of interleukin 10 production by B220+ cells from schistosome-infected mice: a mechanism for regulation of CD4+ T-cell subsets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **91**, 18-22
- 145. Allen, J. E., and Maizels, R. M. (2011) Diversity and dialogue in immunity to helminths. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **11**, 375-388
- 146. Caldas, I. R., Campi-Azevedo, A. C., Oliveira, L. F. A., Silveira, A. M. S., Oliveira, R. C., and Gazzinelli, G. (2008) Human schistosomiasis mansoni: immune responses during acute and chronic phases of the infection. *Acta tropica* **108**, 109-117
- 147. Kapsenberg, M. L. (2003) Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **3**, 984-993
- 148. Mosser, D. M., and Edwards, J. P. (2008) Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **8**, 958-969
- 149. Maizels, R. M., Balic, A., Gomez-Escobar, N., Nair, M., Taylor, M. D., and Allen, J. E. (2004) Helminth parasites-masters of regulation. *Immunological Reviews* **201**, 89-116

- 150. Maizels, R. M., and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (2008) T-cell regulation in helminth parasite infections: implications for inflammatory diseases. *Chemical Immunology and Allergy* **94**, 112-123
- 151. Reyes, J. L., and Terrazas, L. I. (2007) The divergent roles of alternatively activated macrophages in helminthic infections. *Parasite immunology* **29**, 609-619
- 152. Tundup, S., Srivastava, L., and Harn, D. A. (2012) Polarization of host immune responses by helminth-expressed glycans. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1253**, E1-E13
- 153. Geijtenbeek, T. B. H., Van Vliet, S. J., Engering, A., T Hart, B. A., and Van Kooyk, Y. (2004) Self- and nonself-recognition by C-type lectins on dendritic cells. *Annual Review* of *Immunology* **22**, 33-54
- 154. Medzhitov, R. (2001) Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **78**, 1-56
- 155. Banchereau, J., and Steinman, R. M. (1998) Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* **392**, 245-252
- 156. Mascanfroni, I. D., Cerliani, J. P., Dergan-Dylon, S., Croci, D. O., Ilarregui, J. M., and Rabinovich, G. A. (2011) Endogenous lectins shape the function of dendritic cells and tailor adaptive immunity: mechanisms and biomedical applications. *Int Immunopharmacol* 11, 833-841
- 157. van den Berg, L. M., Gringhuis, S. I., and Geijtenbeek, T. B. (2012) An evolutionary perspective on C-type lectins in infection and immunity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1253**, 149-158
- 158. Quintin, J., Saeed, S., Martens, J. H. a., Giamarellos-Bourboulis, E. J., Ifrim, D. C., Logie, C., Jacobs, L., Jansen, T., Kullberg, B.-J., Wijmenga, C., Joosten, L. a. B., Xavier, R. J., van der Meer, J. W. M., Stunnenberg, H. G., and Netea, M. G. (2012) Candida albicans Infection Affords Protection against Reinfection via Functional Reprogramming of Monocytes. *Cell host & microbe* 12, 223-232
- 159. Geijtenbeek, T. B. H., and Gringhuis, S. I. (2009) Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. *Nature reviews. Immunology* **9**, 465-479
- 160. van Vliet, S. J., García-Vallejo, J. J., and van Kooyk, Y. (2008) Dendritic cells and C-type lectin receptors: coupling innate to adaptive immune responses. *Immunology and cell biology* **86**, 580-587
- 161. Grzych, J.-m., Pearce, E., Cheever, A., Caulada, Z. A., Caspar, P., Lewis, F., and Sher, A. (1991) Egg deposition is the major stimulus for the production of Th2 cytokines in murine Schistosomiasis mansoni. *The Journal of Immunology* 146, 1322-1327
- 162. Kuijk, L. M., Klaver, E. J., Kooij, G., van der Pol, S. M. a., Heijnen, P., Bruijns, S. C. M., Kringel, H., Pinelli, E., Kraal, G., de Vries, H. E., Dijkstra, C. D., Bouma, G., and van Die, I. (2012) Soluble helminth products suppress clinical signs in murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and differentially modulate human dendritic cell activation. *Molecular immunology* **51**, 210-218
- Klaver, E. J., Kuijk, L. M., Laan, L. C., Kringel, H., van Vliet, S. J., Bouma, G., Cummings, R. D., Kraal, G., and van Die, I. (2013) Trichuris suis-induced modulation of human dendritic cell function is glycan-mediated. *Int J Parasitol* 43, 191-200
- 164. Faveeuw, C., Mallevaey, T., Paschinger, K., Wilson, I. B., Fontaine, J., Mollicone, R., Oriol, R., Altmann, F., Lerouge, P., Capron, M., and Trottein, F. (2003) Schistosome N-

glycans containing core alpha 3-fucose and core beta 2-xylose epitopes are strong inducers of Th2 responses in mice. *Eur J Immunol* **33**, 1271-1281

- 165. van der Kleij, D., van Remoortere, A., Schuitemaker, J. H., Kapsenberg, M. L., Deelder, A. M., Tielens, A. G., Hokke, C. H., and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (2002) Triggering of innate immune responses by schistosome egg glycolipids and their carbohydrate epitope GalNAc beta 1-4(Fuc alpha 1-2Fuc alpha 1-3)GlcNAc. *J Infect Dis* 185, 531-539
- 166. van Vliet, S. J., van Liempt, E., Saeland, E., Aarnoudse, C. a., Appelmelk, B., Irimura, T., Geijtenbeek, T. B. H., Blixt, O., Alvarez, R., van Die, I., and van Kooyk, Y. (2005) Carbohydrate profiling reveals a distinctive role for the C-type lectin MGL in the recognition of helminth parasites and tumor antigens by dendritic cells. *International immunology* **17**, 661-669
- 167. van Vliet, S. J., Saeland, E., and van Kooyk, Y. (2008) Sweet preferences of MGL: carbohydrate specificity and function. *Trends in immunology* **29**, 83-90
- Nyame, A. K., Lewis, F. A., Doughty, B. L., Correa-Oliveira, R., and Cummings, R. (2003) Immunity to Schistosomiasis: Glycans are Potential Antigenic Targets for Immune Intervention. *Experimental parasitology*, 1-13
- 169. Sancho, D., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2012) Signaling by myeloid C-type lectin receptors in immunity and homeostasis. *Annual review of immunology* **30**, 491-529
- 170. van Die, I., and Cummings, R. (2006) Glycans modulate immune responses in helminth infections and allergy.
- 171. Kuijk, L. M., and van Die, I. (2010) Worms to the rescue: can worm glycans protect from autoimmune diseases? *IUBMB Life* **62**, 303-312
- 172. van Stijn, C. M. W., Meyer, S., van den Broek, M., Bruijns, S. C. M., van Kooyk, Y., Geyer, R., and van Die, I. (2010) Schistosoma mansoni worm glycolipids induce an inflammatory phenotype in human dendritic cells by cooperation of TLR4 and DC-SIGN. *Molecular immunology* **47**, 1544-1552
- 173. Meevissen, M. H., Wuhrer, M., Doenhoff, M. J., Schramm, G., Haas, H., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2010) Structural characterization of glycans on omega-1, a major Schistosoma mansoni egg glycoprotein that drives Th2 responses. *J Proteome Res* **9**, 2630-2642
- Everts, B., Hussaarts, L., Driessen, N. N., Meevissen, M. H., Schramm, G., van der Ham, A. J., van der Hoeven, B., Scholzen, T., Burgdorf, S., Mohrs, M., Pearce, E. J., Hokke, C. H., Haas, H., Smits, H. H., and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (2012) Schistosome-derived omega-1 drives Th2 polarization by suppressing protein synthesis following internalization by the mannose receptor. *J Exp Med* 209, 1753-1767, S1751
- 175. Caulfield, J. P., Cianci, C. M., McDiarmid, S. S., Suyemitsu, T., and Schmid, K. (1987) Ultrastructure, carbohydrate, and amino acid analysis of two preparations of the cercarial glycocalyx of Schistosoma mansoni. *The Journal of parasitology*, 514-522
- Gomez-Garcia, L., Lopez-Marin, L., Saavedra, R., Reyes, J., Rodriguesz-Sosa, M., and Terrazas, L. (2005) Intact glycans from cestode antigens are involved in innate activation of myeloid suppressor cells. *Parasite immunology* 27, 395-405
- 177. de Jesus, A. R., Silva, A., Santana, L. B., Magalhães, A., de Jesus, A. A., de Almeida, R. P., Rêgo, M. A., Burattini, M. N., Pearce, E. J., and Carvalho, E. M. (2002) Clinical and

immunologic evaluation of 31 patients with acute schistosomiasis mansoni. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **185**, 98-105

- 178. Pearce, E. J., and MacDonald, A. S. (2002) The immunobiology of schistosomiasis. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **2**, 499-511
- King, C. L., Malhotra, I., Mungai, P., Wamachi, A., Kioko, J., Ouma, J. H., and Kazura, J. W. (1998) B cell sensitization to helminthic infection develops in utero in humans. *The Journal of Immunology* 160, 3578-3584
- 180. Wright, V., and Bickle, Q. (2005) Immune responses following experimental human hookworm infection. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* **142**, 398-403
- 181. McSorley, H., and Loukas, A. (2010) The immunology of human hookworm infections. *Parasite immunology* **32**, 549-559
- 182. Bogitsh, B. J. (1971) Schistosoma mansoni: Cytochemistry of eosinophils in egg-caused early hepatic granulomes of mice. *Experimental parasitology* **29**, 493-500
- 183. Everts, B., Smits, H. H., Hokke, C. H., and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (2010) Helminths and dendritic cells: sensing and regulating via pattern recognition receptors, Th2 and Treg responses. *European journal of immunology* **40**, 1525-1537
- 184. Hoerauf, A., Satoguina, J., Saeftel, M., and Specht, S. (2005) Immunomodulation by filarial nematodes. *Parasite immunology* **27**, 417-429
- 185. Rodríguez-Sosa, M., Satoskar, A. R., Calderón, R., Gomez-Garcia, L., Saavedra, R., Bojalil, R., and Terrazas, L. I. (2002) Chronic helminth infection induces alternatively activated macrophages expressing high levels of CCR5 with low interleukin-12 production and Th2-biasing ability. *Infection and Immunity* **70**, 3656-3664
- 186. Donnelly, S., Stack, C. M., O'Neill, S. M., Sayed, A. A., Williams, D. L., and Dalton, J. P. (2008) Helminth 2-Cys peroxiredoxin drives Th2 responses through a mechanism involving alternatively activated macrophages. *The FASEB Journal* 22, 4022-4032
- 187. Nair, M. G., Cochrane, D. W., and Allen, J. E. (2003) Macrophages in chronic type 2 inflammation have a novel phenotype characterized by the abundant expression of Ym1 and Fizz1 that can be partly replicated in vitro. *Immunology letters* **85**, 173-180
- 188. Nel, H. J., Hams, E., Saunders, S. P., Mangan, N. E., Smith, P., Atzberger, A., Flavell, R. A., Akira, S., McKenzie, A. N., and Fallon, P. G. (2011) Impaired basophil induction leads to an age-dependent innate defect in type 2 immunity during helminth infection in mice. *The Journal of Immunology* **186**, 4631-4639
- 189. Artis, D. (2006) New weapons in the war on worms: identification of putative mechanisms of immune-mediated expulsion of gastrointestinal nematodes. *International journal for parasitology* **36**, 723-733
- Perrigoue, J. G., Marshall, F. A., and Artis, D. (2008) On the hunt for helminths: innate immune cells in the recognition and response to helminth parasites. *Cellular microbiology* 10, 1757-1764
- 191. Ford, M., Dissous, C., Pierce, R., Taylor, M., Bickle, Q., and Capron, A. (1987) The isotypes of antibody responsible for the 'late'passive transfer of immunity in rats vaccinated with highly irradiated cercariae. *Parasitology* **94**, 509-522
- 192. Cutts, L., and Wilson, R. (1997) Elimination of a primary schistosome infection from rats coincides with elevated IgE titres and mast cell degranulation. *Parasite immunology* 19, 91-102

- 193. Miller, H., Newlands, G., McKellar, A., Inglis, L., Coulson, P., and Wilson, R. (1994) Hepatic recruitment of mast cells occurs in rats but not mice infected with Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasite immunology* **16**, 145-155
- Vignali, D., Bickle, Q., Taylor, M., Tennent, G., and Pepys, M. (1988) Comparison of the role of complement in immunity to Schistosoma mansoni in rats and mice. *Immunology* 63, 55
- 195. Grzych, J.-M., Capron, M., Bazin, H., and Capron, A. (1982) In vitro and in vivo effector function of rat IgG2a monoclonal anti-S. mansoni antibodies. *The Journal of Immunology* 129, 2739-2743
- 196. Ramalho-Pinto, F., McLaren, D. J., and Smithers, S. (1978) Complement-mediated killing of schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni by rat eosinophils in vitro. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **147**, 147-156
- 197. Wilson, R. A., Langermans, J. A., van Dam, G. J., Vervenne, R. A., Hall, S. L., Borges, W. C., Dillon, G. P., Thomas, A. W., and Coulson, P. S. (2008) Elimination of Schistosoma mansoni Adult Worms by Rhesus Macaques: Basis for a Therapeutic Vaccine? *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2, e290
- 198. Clegg, J. A., and Smithers, S. R. (1972) The effects of immune rhesus monkey serum on schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni during cultivation in vitro. *Int J Parasitol* **2**, 79-98
- 199. Smithers, S. R. (1967) Acquired resistance to Schistosoma mansoni in the rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta). *Ann Soc Belg Med Trop* **47**, 87-95
- 200. Piedrafita, D., Parsons, J., Sandeman, R. M., Wood, P., Estuningsih, S., Partoutomo, S., and Spithill, T. (2001) Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity to newly excysted juvenile Fasciola hepatica in vitro is mediated by reactive nitrogen intermediates. *Parasite immunology* **23**, 473-482
- 201. Ligas, J. A., Kerepesi, L. A., Galioto, A. M., Lustigman, S., Nolan, T. J., Schad, G. A., and Abraham, D. (2003) Specificity and mechanism of immunoglobulin M (IgM)-and IgGdependent protective immunity to larval Strongyloides stercoralis in mice. *Infection and immunity* 71, 6835-6843
- 202. Butterworth, A., Sturrock, R., Houba, V., and Taylor, R. (1976) Schistosoma mansoni in baboons. Antibody-dependent cell-mediated damage to 51Cr-labelled schistosomula. *Clinical and experimental immunology* **25**, 95
- 203. Karanja, D. M., Hightower, A. W., Colley, D. G., Mwinzi, P. N., Galil, K., Andove, J., and Secor, W. E. (2002) Resistance to reinfection with Schistosoma mansoni in occupationally exposed adults and effect of HIV-1 co-infection on susceptibility to schistosomiasis: a longitudinal study. *The Lancet* 360, 592-596
- 204. Butterworth, A., Dunne, D., Anthony, F., Capron, M., Khalife, J., Capron, A., Koech, D., Ouma, J., and Sturrock, R. (1988) Immunity in human schistosomiasis mansoni: crossreactive IgM and IgG 2 anti-carbohydrate antibodies block the expression of immunity. *Biochimie* **70**, 1053-1063
- 205. Webster, M., Fulford, A., Braun, G., Ouma, J. H., Kariuki, H. C., Havercroft, J. C., Gachuhi, K., Sturrock, R. F., Butterworth, A. E., and Dunne, D. W. (1996) Human immunoglobulin E responses to a recombinant 22.6-kilodalton antigen from Schistosoma mansoni adult worms are associated with low intensities of reinfection after treatment. *Infection and immunity* 64, 4042-4046

- 206. Demeure, C., Rihet, P., Abel, L., Ouattara, M., Bourgois, A., and Dessein, A. J. (1993) Resistance to Schistosoma mansoni in humans: influence of the IgE/IgG4 balance and IgG2 in immunity to reinfection after chemotherapy. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **168**, 1000-1008
- 207. Naus, C. W., Kimani, G., Ouma, J. H., Fulford, A. J., Webster, M., van Dam, G. J., Deelder, A. M., Butterworth, A. E., and Dunne, D. W. (1999) Development of antibody isotype responses to Schistosoma mansoni in an immunologically naive immigrant population: influence of infection duration, infection intensity, and host age. *Infection and immunity* 67, 3444-3451
- 208. Naus, C. W., van Remoortere, A., Ouma, J. H., Kimani, G., Dunne, D. W., Kamerling, J. P., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2003) Specific antibody responses to three schistosome-related carbohydrate structures in recently exposed immigrants and established residents in an area of Schistosoma mansoni endemicity. *Infect Immun* 71, 5676-5681
- Grzych, J., Grezel, D., Xu, C. B., Neyrinck, J., Capron, M., Ouma, J., Butterworth, A., and Capron, A. (1993) IgA antibodies to a protective antigen in human Schistosomiasis mansoni. *The Journal of Immunology* 150, 527-535
- Butterworth, A., David, J., Franks, D., Mahmoud, A., David, P., Sturrock, R., and Houba, V. (1977) Antibody-dependent eosinophil-mediated damage to 51Cr-labeled schistosomula of Schistosoma mansoni: damage by purieid eosinophils. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 145, 136-150
- 211. Butterworth, A., Sturrock, R., Houba, V., and Rees, P. (1974) Antibody-dependent cellmediated damage to schistosomula in vitro.
- 212. Capron, M., and Capron, A. (1992) Effector functions of eosinophils in schistosomiasis. *Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 87, 167-170
- 213. Ganley-Leal, L. M., Mwinzi, P. N., Cetre-Sossah, C. B., Andove, J., Hightower, A. W., Karanja, D. M., Colley, D. G., and Secor, W. E. (2006) Higher percentages of circulating mast cell precursors correlate with susceptibility to reinfection with Schistosoma mansoni. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* **75**, 1053-1057
- Grzych, J.-M., Capron, M., Dissous, C., and Capron, A. (1984) Blocking activity of rat monoclonal antibodies in experimental schistosomiasis. *The Journal of Immunology* 133, 998-1004
- 215. Dunne, D. W., Butterworth, A. E., Fulford, A. J., Ouma, J. H., and Sturrock, R. F. (1992) Human IgE responses to Schistosoma mansoni and resistance to reinfection. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* 87, 99-103
- 216. Khalife, J., Capron, M., Capron, A., Grzych, J., Butterworth, A. E., Dunne, D. W., and Ouma, J. (1986) Immunity in human schistosomiasis mansoni. Regulation of protective immune mechanisms by IgM blocking antibodies. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 164, 1626-1640
- 217. Mwinzi, P. N., Ganley-Leal, L., Black, C. L., Secor, W. E., Karanja, D. M., and Colley, D. G. (2009) Circulating CD23+ B cell subset correlates with the development of resistance to Schistosoma mansoni reinfection in occupationally exposed adults who have undergone multiple treatments. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 199, 272-279

- 218. Griffith, Q. K., Liang, Y., Onguru, D. O., Mwinzi, P. N., and Ganley-Leal, L. M. (2011) CD23-bound IgE augments and dominates recall responses through human naive B cells. *The Journal of Immunology* 186, 1060-1067
- 219. Goes, A. M., and Ramalho-Pinto, F. (1991) Protective immunity to Schistosoma mansoni in mice is dependent on antibody and complement but not on radiosensitive leukocytes. *Immunology letters* **28**, 57-63
- 220. Zhou, Y., Zhang, H., Sun, X.-J., Zheng, D., Liang, Y.-J., Luo, J., Wang, Y., and Zhang, Z.-S. (2012) Murine CD8+ T cell cytotoxicity against schistosomula induced by inoculation of schistosomal 22.6/26GST coupled Sepharose 4B beads. *Vaccine* 30, 2440-2447
- 221. Wilson, R. A., and Coulson, P. S. (2009) Immune effector mechanisms against schistosomiasis: looking for a chink in the parasite's armour. *Trends in parasitology* **25**, 423-431
- 222. Riengrojpitak, S., Anderson, S., and Wilson, R. (1998) Induction of immunity to Schistosoma mansoni: interaction of schistosomula with accessory leucocytes in murine skin and draining lymph nodes. *Parasitology* **117**, 301-309
- 223. Bickle, Q., Andrews, B., Doenhoff, M., Ford, M., and Taylor, M. (1985) Resistance against Schistosoma mansoni induced by highly irradiated infections: studies on species specificity of immunization and attempts to transfer resistance. *Parasitology* **90**, 301-312
- 224. Kelly, E., and Colley, D. (1988) In vivo effects of monoclonal anti-L3T4 antibody on immune responsiveness of mice infected with Schistosoma mansoni. Reduction of irradiated cercariae-induced resistance. *The Journal of Immunology* **140**, 2737-2745
- 225. Moloney, N., and Webbe, G. (1990) Antibody is responsible for the passive transfer of immunity to mice from rabbits, rats or mice vaccinated with attenuated Schistosoma japonicum cercariae. *Parasitology* **100**, 235-239
- 226. Corrêa-Oliveira, R., Caldas, I. R., and Gazzinelli, G. (2000) Natural versus drug-induced resistance in Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Parasitology Today* **16**, 397-399
- 227. Brito, C., Caldas, I., Coura Filho, P., Correa-Oliveira, R., Oliveira, S., Brito, C., Caldas, I., Coura Filho, P., Correa-Oliveira, R., and Oliveira, S. (2000) CD4+ T Cells of Schistosomiasis Naturally Resistant Individuals Living in an Endemic Area Produce Interferon-g and Tumour Necrosis Factor-a in Response to The Recombinant 14kda Schistosoma mansoni. *Scandinavian journal of immunology* **51**, 595-601
- 228. de Jesus, A. R., Araújo, I., Bacellar, O., Magalhães, A., Pearce, E., Harn, D., Strand, M., and Carvalho, E. M. (2000) Human immune responses to Schistosoma mansoni vaccine candidate antigens. *Infection and immunity* **68**, 2797-2803
- 229. Gatlin, M. R., Black, C. L., Mwinzi, P. N., Secor, W. E., Karanja, D. M., and Colley, D. G. (2009) Association of the gene polymorphisms IFN-gamma+ 874, IL-13-1055 and IL-4-590 with patterns of reinfection with Schistosoma mansoni. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 3, e375
- 230. Lejoly-Boisseau, H., Appriou, M., Seigneur, M., Pruvost, A., Tribouley-Duret, J., and Tribouley, J. (1999) Schistosoma mansoni: In VitroAdhesion of Parasite Eggs to the Vascular Endothelium. Subsequent Inhibition by a Monoclonal Antibody Directed to a Carbohydrate Epitope. *Experimental parasitology* **91**, 20-29
- 231. Grzych, J. M., Dissous, C., Capron, M., Torres, S., Lambert, P. H., and Capron, A. (1987) Schistosoma mansoni shares a protective carbohydrate epitope with keyhole limpet hemocyanin. *J Exp Med* **165**, 865-878

- 232. Dissous, C., and Capron, A. (1983) Schistosoma mansoni: antigenic community between schistosomula surface and adult worm incubation products as a support for concomitant immunity. *FEBS letters* **162**, 355-359
- 233. Grzych, J., Capron, M., Lambert, P., Dissous, C., Torres, S., and Capron, A. (1985) An anti-idiotype vaccine against experimental schistosomiasis.
- 234. Nyame, A. K., Leppanen, A. M., Bogitsh, B. J., and Cummings, R. D. (2000) Antibody responses to the fucosylated LacdiNAc glycan antigen in Schistosoma mansoni-infected mice and expression of the glycan among schistosomes. *Experimental parasitology* **96**, 202-212
- 235. Harn, D. A., M, M., and David, J. R. (1984) Schistosoma manosoni Anti-Egg Monoclonal Antibodies Protect Against Cercarial Challenge In Vivo. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 159, 1371–1387
- 236. van de Vijver, K. K., Deelder, A. M., Jacobs, W., van Marck, E. A., and Hokke, C. H. (2006) LacdiNAc-and LacNAc-containing glycans induce granulomas in an in vivo model for schistosome egg-induced hepatic granuloma formation. *Glycobiology* 16, 237-243
- 237. van de Vijver, K. K., Hokke, C. H., van Remoortere, A., Jacobs, W., Deelder, A. M., and van Marck, E. A. (2004) Glycans of Schistosoma mansoni and keyhole limpet haemocyanin induce hepatic granulomas in vivo. *International journal for parasitology* 34, 951-961
- 238. van Roon, A. M., van de Vijver, K. K., Jacobs, W., van Marck, E. A., van Dam, G. J., Hokke, C. H., and Deelder, A. M. (2004) Discrimination between the anti-monomeric and the anti-multimeric Lewis X response in murine schistosomiasis. *Microbes Infect* **6**, 1125-1132
- 239. van der Kleij, D., Tielens, A. G., and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (1999) Recognition of schistosome glycolipids by immunoglobulin E: possible role in immunity. *Infection and immunity* **67**, 5946-5950
- 240. van Diepen, A., Smit, C. H., van Egmond, L., Kabatereine, N. B., Pinot de Moira, A., Dunne, D. W., and Hokke, C. H. (2012) Differential anti-glycan antibody responses in Schistosoma mansoni-infected children and adults studied by shotgun glycan microarray. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **6**, e1922
- 241. Hewitson, J. P., Filbey, K. J., Grainger, J. R., Dowle, A. A., Pearson, M., Murray, J., Harcus, Y., and Maizels, R. M. (2011) Heligmosomoides polygyrus elicits a dominant nonprotective antibody response directed against restricted glycan and peptide epitopes. *The Journal of Immunology* **187**, 4764-4777
- 242. Omer-Ali, P., Smithers, S. R., Bickle, Q., Phillips, S. M., Harn, D., and Simpson, A. (1988) Analysis of the anti-Schistosoma mansoni surface antibody response during murine infection and its potential contribution to protective immunity. *The Journal of Immunology* **140**, 3273-3279
- 243. van Remoortere, van Dam, A., G. J., Hokke, C. H., van den Eijnden, D. H., van Die, I., and Deelder, A. M. (2001) Profiles of Immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG Antibodies against Defined Carbohydrate Epitopes in Sera of Schistosoma-Infected Individuals Determined by Surface Plasmon Resonance. . *Infection and Immunity* **69**, 2396–2401
- 244. van Remoortere, a., Vermeer, H. J., van Roon, A. M., Langermans, J. a., Thomas, A. W., Wilson, R. A., Van Die, I., van den Eijnden, D. H., Agoston, K., Kérèkgyarto, J., Vliegenthart, J. F. G., Kamerling, J. P., Van Dam, G. J., Hokke, C. H., and Deelder, A. M.

(2003) Dominant antibody responses to Fucalpha1-3GalNAc and Fucalpha1-2Fucalpha1-3GlcNAc containing carbohydrate epitopes in Pan troglodytes vaccinated and infected with Schistosoma mansoni. *Experimental parasitology* **105**, 219-225

- 245. Robijn, M. L. M., Koeleman, C. a. M., Wuhrer, M., Royle, L., Geyer, R., Dwek, R. a., Rudd, P. M., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2007) Targeted identification of a unique glycan epitope of Schistosoma mansoni egg antigens using a diagnostic antibody. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **151**, 148-161
- 246. Peterson, N. A., Hokke, C. H., Deelder, A. M., and Yoshino, T. P. (2009) Glycotope analysis in miracidia and primary sporocysts of Schistosoma mansoni: differential expression during the miracidium-to-sporocyst transformation. *International journal for parasitology* **39**, 1331-1344
- 247. Nyame, A. K., Yoshino, T. P., and Cummings, R. D. (2002) Differential expression of LacdiNAc, fucosylated LacdiNAc, and Lewis X glycan antigens in intramolluscan stages of Schistosoma mansoni. *Journal of Morphology* **88**, 890-897
- 248. Loker, E. S., and Bayne, C. J. (2001) Molecular studies of the molluscan response to digenean infection. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology* **484**, 209-222
- 249. Yoshino, T. P., Boyle, J. P., and Humphries, J. E. (2001) Receptor-ligand interactions and cellular signalling at the host-parasite interface. *Parasitology* **123 Suppl**, S143-157
- 250. Castillo, M. G., Wu, X.-J., Dinguirard, N., Nyame, A. K., Cummings, R. D., and Yoshino, T. P. (2007) Surface membrane proteins of Biomphalaria glabrata embryonic cells bind fucosyl determinants on the tegumental surface of Schistosoma mansoni primary sporocysts. *The Journal of parasitology* **93**, 832-840
- 251. Yoshino, T. P., Dinguirard, N., Kunert, J., and Hokke, C. H. (2008) Molecular and functional characterization of a tandem-repeat galectin from the freshwater snail Biomphalaria glabrata, intermediate host of the human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni. *Gene* **411**, 46-58
- 252. Lehr, T., Beuerlein, K., Doenhoff, M. J., Grevelding, C. G., and Geyer, R. (2008) Localization of carbohydrate determinants common to Biomphalaria glabrata as well as to sporocysts and miracidia of Schistosoma mansoni. *Parasitology* **135**, 931-942
- 253. Yoshino, T. P., Wu, X.-J., Liu, H., Gonzalez, L. A., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2012) Glycotope sharing between snail hemolymph and larval schistosomes: larval transformation products alter shared glycan patterns of plasma proteins. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **6**, e1569
- 254. Thomas, C. J., and Schroder, K. (2013) Pattern recognition receptor function in neutrophils. *Trends in immunology* **34**, 317-328
- 255. Thurston, T. L., Wandel, M. P., von Muhlinen, N., Foeglein, Á., and Randow, F. (2012) Galectin 8 targets damaged vesicles for autophagy to defend cells against bacterial invasion. *Nature* **482**, 414-418
- 256. Bayne, C. J. (2009) Successful parasitism of vector snail Biomphalaria glabrata by the human blood fluke (trematode) Schistosoma mansoni: a 2009 assessment. *Molecular and biochemical parasitology* **165**, 8-18
- 257. Adema, C. M., Hertel, L. a., Miller, R. D., and Loker, E. S. (1997) A family of fibrinogenrelated proteins that precipitates parasite-derived molecules is produced by an invertebrate

after infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94, 8691-8696

- 258. Wu, X.-j., Sabat, G., Brown, J. F., Zhang, M., Taft, A., Harms, A., and Yoshino, T. P. (2010) Proteomic analysis of Schistosoma mansoni proteins released during in vitro miracidium-to-sporocyst transformation. *Molecular and biochemical parasitology* **164**, 32-44
- 259. Roger, E., Grunau, C., Pierce, R. J., Hirai, H., Gourbal, B., Galinier, R., Emans, R., Cesari, I. M., Cosseau, C., and Mitta, G. (2008) Controlled chaos of polymorphic mucins in a metazoan parasite (Schistosoma mansoni) interacting with its invertebrate host (Biomphalaria glabrata). *PLoS neglected tropical diseases* 2, e330-e330
- 260. Seeberger, P. H., Finney, N., Rabuka, D., and Bertozzi, C. R. (2009) Chemical and Enzymatic Synthesis of Glycans and Glycoconjugates.
- 261. Bennett, C. S. (2014) Principles of modern solid-phase oligosaccharide synthesis. *Organic & biomolecular chemistry* **12**, 1686-1698
- 262. Prasanphanich, N. S., Song, X., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Luyai, A. E., Lasanajak, Y., Cutler, C. E., Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. D. (2015) Intact Reducing Glycan Promotes the Specific Immune Response to Lacto-N-neotetraose-BSA Neoglycoconjugates. *Bioconjugate chemistry* 26, 559-571
- 263. Blixt, O., Head, S., Mondala, T., Scanlan, C., Huflejt, M. E., Alvarez, R., Bryan, M. C., Fazio, F., Calarese, D., and Stevens, J. (2004) Printed covalent glycan array for ligand profiling of diverse glycan binding proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**, 17033-17038
- 264. Aranzamendi, C., Tefsen, B., Jansen, M., Chiumiento, L., Bruschi, F., Kortbeek, T., Smith, D. F., Cummings, R. D., Pinelli, E., and Van Die, I. (2011) Glycan microarray profiling of parasite infection sera identifies the LDNF glycan as a potential antigen for serodiagnosis of trichinellosis. *Experimental parasitology* **129**, 221-226
- 265. de Boer, A. R., Hokke, C. H., Deelder, A. M., and Wuhrer, M. (2007) General microarray technique for immobilization and screening of natural glycans. *Analytical chemistry* **79**, 8107-8113
- 266. Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. D. (2013) Application of microarrays for deciphering the structure and function of the human glycome. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **12**, 902-912
- 267. Song, X., Lasanajak, Y., Xia, B., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Rhea, J. M., Ju, H., Zhao, C., Molinaro, R. J., Cummings, R. D., and Smith, D. F. (2011) Shotgun glycomics: a microarray strategy for functional glycomics. *Nat Methods* 8, 85-90
- 268. Song, X., Xia, B., Stowell, S. R., Lasanajak, Y., Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. D. (2009) Novel fluorescent glycan microarray strategy reveals ligands for galectins. *Chemistry & biology* 16, 36-47
- 269. de Boer, A. R., Hokke, C. H., Deelder, A. M., and Wuhrer, M. (2008) Serum antibody screening by surface plasmon resonance using a natural glycan microarray. *Glycoconj J* 25, 75-84
- 270. Yu, Y., Mishra, S., Song, X., Lasanajak, Y., Bradley, K. C., Tappert, M. M., Air, G. M., Steinhauer, D. A., Halder, S., Cotmore, S., Tattersall, P., Agbandje-McKenna, M., Cummings, R. D., and Smith, D. F. (2012) Functional glycomic analysis of human milk

glycans reveals the presence of virus receptors and embryonic stem cell biomarkers. *J Biol Chem* **287**, 44784-44799

- 271. Luyai, A. E., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Prasanphanich, N. S., Mickum, M. L., Lasanajak, Y., Song, X., Nyame, A. K., Wilkins, P., Rivera-Marrero, C. A., Smith, D. F., Van Die, I., Secor, W. E., and Cummings, R. D. (2014) Differential expression of anti-glycan antibodies in schistosome-infected humans, rhesus monkeys and mice. *Glycobiology* 24, 602-618
- 272. Prasanphanich, N. S., Luyai, A., Song, X., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Mandalasi, M., Mickum, M., Smith, D. F., Nyame, A. K., and Cummings, R. D. (2014) Immunization with recombinantly expressed glycan antigens from Schistosoma mansoni induces glycan-specific antibodies against the parasite. *Glycobiology*
- 273. Tefsen, B., and van Die, I. (2013) Glycosyltransferases in chemo-enzymatic synthesis of oligosaccharides. in *Glycosyltransferases*, Springer. pp 357-367
- 274. Wang, Z., Chinoy, Z. S., Ambre, S. G., Peng, W., McBride, R., de Vries, R. P., Glushka, J., Paulson, J. C., and Boons, G.-J. (2013) A general strategy for the chemoenzymatic synthesis of asymmetrically branched N-glycans. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **341**, 379-383
- 275. Kupper, C. E., Rosencrantz, R. R., Henßen, B., Pelantová, H., Thönes, S., Drozdová, A., Křen, V., and Elling, L. (2012) Chemo-enzymatic modification of poly-Nacetyllactosamine (LacNAc) oligomers and N, N-diacetyllactosamine (LacDiNAc) based on galactose oxidase treatment. *Beilstein journal of organic chemistry* 8, 712-725
- 276. Nyame, A. K., Cummings, R. D., Damians, R. T., Nyamel, K., Cummingsqy, D., and Damians, T. (1987) Schistosoma mansoni Synthesizes Glycoproteins Containing Terminal O-Linked N-Acetylglucosamine Residu. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 262, 7990-7995
- 277. Nyame, K., Cummings, R. D., and Damian, R. T. (1988) Characterization of the N- and Olinked oligosaccharides in glycoproteins synthesized by Schistosoma mansoni schistosomula. *The Journal of parasitology* **74**, 562-572
- 278. van Dam, G. J., Bergwerff, A. A., Thomas-Oates, J. E., Rotmans, J. P., Kamerlingm, J. P., Vliegentharts, J. F. G., and Deelder, A. M. (1994) The immunologically reactive O-linked polysaccharide chains derived from circulating cathodic antigen isolated from the human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni have Lewis x as repeating unit. *Eur J Biochem* **225**, 467-482
- 279. Khoo, K. H., Chatterjee, D., Caulfield, J. P., Morris, H. R., and Dell, a. (1997) Structural characterization of glycophingolipids from the eggs of Schistosoma mansoni and Schistosoma japonicum. *Glycobiology* **7**, 653-661
- 280. Nyame, A. K., Debose-Boyd, R., Long, T. D., Tsang, V. C., and Cummings, R. D. (1998) Expression of Lex antigen in Schistosoma japonicum and S. haematobium and immune responses to Lex in infected animals: lack of Lex expression in other trematodes and nematodes. *Glycobiology* 8, 615-624
- 281. van Die, I., Gomord, V., Kooyman, F. N., van den Berg, T. K., Cummings, R. D., and Vervelde, L. (1999) Core alpha1-->3-fucose is a common modification of N-glycans in parasitic helminths and constitutes an important epitope for IgE from Haemonchus contortus infected sheep. *FEBS Lett* **463**, 189-193
- 282. Cummings, R. D., and Pierce, J. M. (2014) The challenge and promise of glycomics. *Chemistry & biology* **21**, 1-15

- 283. Berriman, M., Haas, B. J., LoVerde, P. T., Wilson, R. A., Dillon, G. P., Cerqueira, G. C., Mashiyama, S. T., Al-Lazikani, B., Andrade, L. F., Ashton, P. D., Aslett, M. A., Bartholomeu, D. C., Blandin, G., Caffrey, C. R., Coghlan, A., Coulson, R., Day, T. A., Delcher, A., DeMarco, R., Djikeng, A., Eyre, T., Gamble, J. A., Ghedin, E., Gu, Y., Hertz-Fowler, C., Hirai, H., Hirai, Y., Houston, R., Ivens, A., Johnston, D. A., Lacerda, D., Macedo, C. D., McVeigh, P., Ning, Z., Oliveira, G., Overington, J. P., Parkhill, J., Pertea, M., Pierce, R. J., Protasio, A. V., Quail, M. A., Rajandream, M.-A., Rogers, J., Sajid, M., Salzberg, S. L., Stanke, M., Tivey, A. R., White, O., Williams, D. L., Wortman, J., Wu, W., Zamanian, M., Zerlotini, A., Liggett, C. M. F., Barrell, B. G., and El-Sayed, N. M. (2009) The genome of the blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni. *Nature* 460, 352-358
- 284. Chitale, M., Hawkins, T., Park, C., and Kihara, D. (2009) ESG: extended similarity group method for automated protein function prediction. *Bioinformatics* **25**, 1739-1745
- 285. Criscione, C. D., Valentim, C. L., Hirai, H., LoVerde, P. T., and Anderson, T. J. (2009) Genomic linkage map of the human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni. *Genome biology* 10, R71
- 286. Zhou, Y., Zheng, H., and et al. (2009) The Schistosoma japonicum genome reveals features of host-parasite interplay. *Nature* **460**, 345-351
- 287. Zerlotini, A., Heiges, M., Wang, H., Moraes, R. L. V., Dominitini, A. J., Ruiz, J. C., Kissinger, J. C., and Oliveira, G. (2009) SchistoDB: A Schistosoma mansoni genome resource. *Nucleic Acids Research* 37, 579-582
- 288. Young, N. D., Jex, A. R., Li, B., Liu, S., Yang, L., Xiong, Z., Li, Y., Cantacessi, C., Hall, R. S., and Xu, X. (2012) Whole-genome sequence of Schistosoma haematobium. *Nature* genetics 44, 221-225
- 289. Fitzpatrick, J. M., Peak, E., Perally, S., Chalmers, I. W., Barrett, J., Yoshino, T. P., Ivens, A. C., and Hoffmann, K. F. (2009) Anti-schistosomal intervention targets identified by lifecycle transcriptomic analyses. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 3
- 290. Protasio, A. V., Tsai, I. J., Babbage, A., Nichol, S., Hunt, M., Aslett, M. A., De Silva, N., Velarde, G. S., Anderson, T. J., Clark, R. C., Davidson, C., Dillon, G. P., Holroyd, N. E., LoVerde, P. T., Lloyd, C., McQuillan, J., Oliveira, G., Otto, T. D., Parker-Manuel, S. J., Quail, M. A., Wilson, R. A., Zerlotini, A., Dunne, D. W., and Berriman, M. (2012) A systematically improved high quality genome and transcriptome of the human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 6, e1455
- 291. Hashimoto, K., Goto, S., Kawano, S., Aoki-Kinoshita, K. F., Ueda, N., Hamajima, M., Kawasaki, T., and Kanehisa, M. (2006) KEGG as a glycome informatics resource. *Glycobiology* **16**, 63R-70R
- 292. Kawano, S., Hashimoto, K., Miyama, T., Goto, S., and Kanehisa, M. (2005) Prediction of glycan structures from gene expression data based on glycosyltransferase reactions. *Bioinformatics* **21**, 3976-3982
- Aoki, K. F., Yamaguchi, A., Ueda, N., Akutsu, T., Mamitsuka, H., Goto, S., and Kanehisa, M. (2004) KCaM (KEGG Carbohydrate Matcher): a software tool for analyzing the structures of carbohydrate sugar chains. *Nucleic acids research* 32, W267-W272
- 294. Aoki-Kinoshita, K. F., and Kanehisa, M. (2007) Gene annotation and pathway mapping in KEGG. in *Comparative Genomics*, Springer. pp 71-91

- 295. Kanehisa, M., Goto, S., Furumichi, M., Tanabe, M., and Hirakawa, M. (2010) KEGG for representation and analysis of molecular networks involving diseases and drugs. *Nucleic acids research* **38**, D355-D360
- 296. Balkom, B. W. M. V., Gestel, R. A. V., Brouwers, J. F. H. M., Krijgsveld, J., Tielens, A. G. M., Heck, A. J. R., and Hellemond, J. J. V. (2005) Mass Spectrometric Analysis of the Schistosoma mansoni Tegumental Sub-proteome. *Journal of Proteome Research* 4, 958-966
- 297. Paschinger, K., Fabini, G., Schuster, D., Rendić, D., and Wilson, I. B. H. (2005) Definition of immunogenic carbohydrate epitopes. *Acta biochimica Polonica* **52**, 629-632
- 298. Khoo, K. H., Huang, H. H., and Lee, K. M. (2001) Characteristic structural features of schistosome cercarial N-glycans: expression of Lewis X and core xylosylation. *Glycobiology* **11**, 149-163
- 299. Kapitonov, D., and Yu, R. K. (1999) Conserved domains of glycosyltransferases. *Glycobiology* **9**, 961-978
- 300. Joziasse, D. H. (1992) Mammalian glycosyltransferases: genomic organization and protein structure. *Glycobiology* **2**, 271-277
- 301. Breton, C., Oriol, R., and Imberty, A. (1998) Conserved structural features in eukaryotic and prokaryotic fucosyltransferases. *Glycobiology* **8**, 87-94
- 302. Sharma, C. B., Lehle, L., and Tanner, W. (2005) Solubilization and Characterization of the Initial Enzymes of the Dolichol Pathway from Yeast. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 126, 319-325
- 303. Stanley, P., Schatner, H., and Taniguchi, N. (2009) N-Glycans. (Ajit, V., Cummings, R. D., Esko, J., Freeze, H., Stanley, P., Betozzi, C. R., Hart, G. W., and Etzler, M. E. eds.), 2nd Ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY. pp 101-114
- 304. Ma, J., and Hart, G. W. (2014) O-GlcNAc profiling: from proteins to proteomes. *Clinical proteomics* **11**, 8-8
- 305. Nyame, A. K., Pilcher, J. B., Tsang, V. C., and Cummings, R. D. (1996) Schistosoma mansoni infection in humans and primates induces cytolytic antibodies to surface Le(x) determinants on myeloid cells. *Exp Parasitol* **82**, 191-200
- 306. Ju, T., and Cummings, R. D. (2002) A unique molecular chaperone Cosmc required for activity of the mammalian core 1 beta 3-galactosyltransferase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 16613-16618
- 307. Ju, T., Zheng, Q., and Cummings, R. D. (2006) Identification of core 1 O-glycan Tsynthase from Caenorhabditis elegans. *Glycobiology* **16**, 947-958
- 308. Wandall, H. H., Hassan, H., Mirgorodskaya, E., Kristensen, A. K., Roepstorff, P., Bennett, E. P., Nielsen, P. A., Hollingsworth, M. A., Burchell, J., Taylor-Papadimitriou, J., and Clausen, H. (1997) Substrate Specificities of Three Members of the Human UDP-N-Acetyl-{alpha}-D-galactosamine:Polypeptide N-Acetylgalactosaminyltransferase Family, GalNAc-T1, -T2, and -T3. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 23503-23514
- 309. Wuhrer, M., Dennis, R. D., Doenhoff, M. J., Lochnit, G., and Geyer, R. (2000) Schistosoma mansoni cercarial glycolipids are dominated by Lewis X and pseudo-Lewis Y structures. *Glycobiology* **10**, 89-101
- 310. Wuhrer, M., Kantelhardt, S. R., Dennis, R. D., Doenhoff, M. J., Lochnit, G., and Geyer, R. (2002) Characterization of glycosphingolipids from Schistosoma mansoni eggs carrying

Fuc(alpha1-3)GalNAc-, GalNAc(beta1-4)[Fuc(alpha1-3)]GlcNAc- and Gal(beta1-4)[Fuc(alpha1-3)]GlcNAc- (Lewis X) terminal structures. *Eur J Biochem* **269**, 481-493

- 311. Castro-Borges, W., Simpson, D. M., Dowle, A., Curwen, R. S., Thomas-Oates, J., Beynon, R. J., and Wilson, R. A. (2011) Abundance of tegument surface proteins in the human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni determined by QconCAT proteomics. *Journal of proteomics* 74, 1519-1533
- 312. Ferguson, M. a. (1999) The structure, biosynthesis and functions of glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors, and the contributions of trypanosome research. *Journal of cell science* **112** (**Pt 1**, 2799-2809
- 313. Hawn, T. R., and Strand, M. (1993) Detection and partial characterization of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase activities from Fasciola hepatica and Schistosoma mansoni. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **59**, 73-81
- 314. Sauma, S. Y., Tanaka, T. M., and Strand, M. (1991) Selective release of a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored antigen from the surface of Schistosoma mansoni. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **46**, 73-80
- 315. Espinoza, B., Tarrab-Hazdai, R., Silman, I., and Arnon, R. (1988) Acetylcholinesterase in Schistosoma mansoni is anchored to the membrane via covalently attached phosphatidylinositol. *Molecular and biochemical parasitology* **29**, 171-179
- 316. Hall, T. M., Joseph, G. T., and Strand, M. (1995) Schistosoma mansoni: molecular cloning and sequencing of the 200-kDa chemotherapeutic target antigen. *Experimental parasitology* **80**, 242-249
- 317. Watanabe, R., Inoue, N., Westfall, B., Taron, C. H., Orlean, P., Takeda, J., and Kinoshita, T. (1998) The first step of glycosylphosphatidylinositol biosynthesis is mediated by a complex of PIG-A, PIG-H, PIG-C and GPI1. *The EMBO journal* 17, 877-885
- 318. Maeda, Y., Watanabe, R., Harris, C. L., Hong, Y., Ohishi, K., Kinoshita, K., and Kinoshita, T. (2001) PIG-M transfers the first mannose to glycosylphosphatidylinositol on the lumenal side of the ER. *The EMBO journal* 20, 250-261
- 319. Nakamura, N., Inoue, N., Watanabe, R., Takahashi, M., Takeda, J., Stevens, V. L., and Kinoshita, T. (1997) Expression Cloning of PIG-L, a CandidateN-Acetylglucosaminyl-phosphatidylinositol Deacetylase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 15834-15840
- 320. Ferguson, M., Kinoshita, T., and Hart, G. (2009) Glycosylphosphatidylinositol Anchors. (Ajit, V., Cummings, R. D., Esko, J., Freeze, H., Stanley, P., Betozzi, C. R., Hart, G. W., and Etzler, M. E. eds.), 2nd Ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY. pp 143-161
- 321. Takahashi, M., Inoue, N., Ohishi, K., Maeda, Y., Nakamura, N., Endo, Y., Fujita, T., Takeda, J., and Kinoshita, T. (1996) PIG-B, a membrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum with a large lumenal domain, is involved in transferring the third mannose of the GPI anchor. *The EMBO journal* **15**, 4254-4261
- 322. Kang, J. Y., Hong, Y., Ashida, H., Shishioh, N., Murakami, Y., Morita, Y. S., Maeda, Y., and Kinoshita, T. (2005) PIG-V involved in transferring the second mannose in glycosylphosphatidylinositol. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **280**, 9489-9497
- 323. Robertson, N. P., and Cain, G. D. (1985) Isolation and characterization of glycosaminoglycans from Schistosoma mansoni. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. B, Comparative biochemistry* **82**, 299-306

- 324. Hamed, R. R., Maharen, T. M., and El-Guindy, A. S. (1997) Proteoglycans from adult worms of Schistosoma haematobium. *Journal of helminthology* **71**, 151-160
- 325. Bulik, D. A., Wei, G., Toyoda, H., Kinoshita-toyoda, A., Waldrip, W. R., Esko, J. D., Robbins, P. W., and Selleck, S. B. (2000) sqv-3, -7, and -8, a set of genes affecting morphogenesis in Caenorhabditis elegans, encode enzymes required for glycosaminoglycan biosynthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **97**, 10838-10843
- 326. Ragazzi, M., Ferro, D. R., Perly, B., Torri, G., Casu, B., Sinaÿ, P., Petitou, M., and Choay, J. (1987) Conformation of the pentasaccharide corresponding to the binding site of heparin to Antithrombin-III. *Carbohydrate Research* 165, c1-c5
- 327. Vermeer, H. J., van Dam, G. J., Halkes, K. M., Kamerling, J. P., Vliegenthart, J. F. G., Hokke, C. H., and Deelder, a. M. (2003) Immunodiagnostically applicable monoclonal antibodies to the circulating anodic antigen of Schistosoma mansoni bind to small, defined oligosaccharide epitopes. *Parasitology research* **90**, 330-336
- 328. Deelder, A. M., Kornelis, D., van Marck, E. A. E., Eveleigh, P. C., and van Egmond, J. G. (1980) Schistosoma mansoni : Characterization of Two Circulating Polysaccharide Antigens and the Immunological Response to These Antigens in Mouse, Hamster, and Human Infections. *Experimental parasitology* **50**, 16-32
- 329. Esko, J. D., Kimata, K., and Lindahl, U. (2009) Proteoglycans and Sulfated Glycosaminoglycans. (Ajit, V., Cummings, R. D., Esko, J., Freeze, H., Stanley, P., Betozzi, C. R., Hart, G. W., and Etzler, M. E. eds.), 2nd Ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY. pp 229-248
- 330. Fondeur-gelinotte, M., Lattard, V., Oriol, R., Mollicone, R., Jacquinet, J.-c., Mulliert, G., Gulberti, S., Netter, P., Magdalou, J., Poincare, H., and Nancy, I. (2006) Phylogenetic and mutational analyses reveal key residues for UDP-glucuronic acid binding and activity of b1,3-glucuronosyltransferase I (GlcAT-I). *Protein Science* 15, 1667-1678
- 331. (2014) Schistosomiasis.
- 332. Peterson, N. a., Anderson, T. K., and Yoshino, T. P. (2013) In Silico Analysis of the Fucosylation-Associated Genome of the Human Blood Fluke Schistosoma mansoni: Cloning and Characterization of the Fucosyltransferase Multigene Family. *PLoS ONE* 8, 1-15
- 333. Geyer, H., Wuhrer, M., Kurokawa, T., and Geyer, R. (2004) Characterization of keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) glycans sharing a carbohydrate epitope with *Schistosoma mansoni* glycoconjugates. *Micron* **35**, 105-106
- 334. Paschinger, K., Rendic, D., Lochnit, G., Jantsch, V., and Wilson, I. B. H. (2004) Molecular basis of anti-horseradish peroxidase staining in Caenorhabditis elegans. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**, 49588-49598
- 335. Paschinger, K., Staudacher, E., Stemmer, U., Fabini, G., and Wilson, I. B. H. (2005) Fucosyltransferase substrate specificity and the order of fucosylation in invertebrates. *Glycobiology* **15**, 463-474
- 336. Jr, E. T. A. M., Weiss, J. B., and Strand, M. (1998) Molecular characterization of a fucosyltransferase encoded by Schistosoma mansoni. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **93**, 237-250

- 337. Trottein, F., Mollicone, R., Fontaine, J., de Mendonça, R., Piller, F., Pierce, R., Oriol, R., and Capron, M. (2000) Molecular cloning of a putative alpha3-fucosyltransferase from Schistosoma mansoni. *Molecular and biochemical parasitology* **107**, 279-287
- 338. Lairson, L. L., Henrissat, B., Davies, G. J., and Withers, S. G. (2008) Glycosyltransferases: structures, functions, and mechanisms. *Annual review of biochemistry* **77**, 521-555
- 339. Fukuda, M., Bierhuizen, M. F., and Nakayama, J. (1996) Expression cloning of glycosyltransferases. *Glycobiology* **6**, 683-689
- 340. de Vries, T., Knegtel, R. M., Holmes, E. H., and Macher, B. A. (2001) Fucosyltransferases: structure/function studies. *Glycobiology* **11**, 119R-128R
- 341. Van Dam, G. J., Bergwerf,A.A., Thomas-Oates,J.E., Rotmans,J.P., Kamerling,J.P., Vliegenthart,J.F.G. and Deelder,A.M. (1994) The immunological reactive O-linked polysaccharide chains derived from circulating cathodic antigen isolated from the human blood fluke Schistosoma mansoni have Lewisx as repeating unit. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **225**, 467–482
- 342. Kawar, Z. S., Haslam, S. M., Morris, H. R., Dell, A., and Cummings, R. D. (2005) Novel poly-GalNAcbeta1-4GlcNAc (LacdiNAc) and fucosylated poly-LacdiNAc N-glycans from mammalian cells expressing beta1,4-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase and alpha1,3-fucosyltransferase. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **280**, 12810-12819
- 343. Kawar, Z. S., Van Die, I., and Cummings, R. D. (2002) Molecular cloning and enzymatic characterization of a UDP-GalNAc:GlcNAc(beta)-R beta1,4-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase from Caenorhabditis elegans. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **277**, 34924-34932
- 344. Salo, H., Aitio, O., Ilves, K., Bencomo, E., Toivonen, S., Penttilä, L., Niemelä, R., Grabenhorst, E., Renkonen, R., and Renkonen, O. (2002) Several polylactosaminemodifying glycosyltransferases also use internal GalNAc β 1-4GlcNAc units of synthetic saccharides as acceptors. *Glycobiology* 12, 217-228
- 345. Yates, A. D., and Watkins, W. M. (1983) Enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of glycoconjugates: A UDP-2-Acetamido-2-deoxy-D-glucose: B-D-galactopyranosyl-(1-4)-saccharide (1-3)-2-acetamido-2-deoxy-B-D-glucopyranosyltransferase in human serum. *Carbohydrate Research* **120**, 251-268
- 346. Togayachi, A., and Narimatsu, H. (2012) Functional Analysis of β1,3-N-Acetylglucosaminyltransferases and Regulation of Immunological Function by Polylactosamine. *Trends in Glycoscience and Glycotechnology* 24, 95-111
- 347. Bencúr, P., Steinkellner, H., Svoboda, B., Mucha, J., Strasser, R., Kolarich, D., Hann, S., Köllensperger, G., Glössl, J., Altmann, F., and Mach, L. (2005) Arabidopsis thaliana beta1,2-xylosyltransferase: an unusual glycosyltransferase with the potential to act at multiple stages of the plant N-glycosylation pathway. *The Biochemical journal* **388**, 515-525
- Strasser, R., Mucha, J., Mach, L., Altmann, F., Wilson, I. B., Glössl, J., and Steinkellner, H. (2000) Molecular cloning and functional expression of beta1, 2-xylosyltransferase cDNA from Arabidopsis thaliana. *FEBS letters* 472, 105-108
- 349. Kajiura, H., Okamoto, T., Misaki, R., Matsuura, Y., and Fujiyama, K. (2012) Arabidopsis β1,2-xylosyltransferase: substrate specificity and participation in the plant-specific Nglycosylation pathway. *Journal of bioscience and bioengineering* **113**, 48-54

- 350. van Remoortere, A., Hokke, C. H., van Dam, G. J., van Die, I., Deelder, A. M., and van den Eijnden, D. H. (2000) Various stages of Schistosoma express Lewisx, LacdiNAc, GalNAcβ1–4 (Fucα1–3) GlcNAc and GalNAcβ1–4 (Fucα1–2Fucα1–3) GlcNAc carbohydrate epitopes: detection with monoclonal antibodies that are characterized by enzymatically synthesized neoglycoproteins. *Glycobiology* **10**, 601-609
- 351. Mandalasi, M. (2011) *Immunity to schistosomiasis: Studies on the correlation between* schistosome glycan antigen expression and host humoral responses. Doctoral dissertation, University of Maryland Eastern Shore
- 352. Bethony, J., Diemert, D., Oliveira, S., and Loukas, A. (2008) Can schistosomiasis really be consigned to history without a vaccine? *Vaccine* **26**, 3373-3376
- 353. Danso-Appiah, A., and De Vlas, S. J. (2002) Interpreting low praziquantel cure rates of *Schistosoma mansoni* infections in Senegal. . *Trends in Parasitology* **18**, 125-129
- 354. Botros, S., Sayed, H., Amer, N., El-Ghannam, M., Bennett, J. L., and Day, T. A. (2005) Current status of sensitivity to praziquantel in a focus of potential drug resistance in Egypt. *Intanational Journal of Parasitology* **35**, 787-791
- 355. Ismail, M., Metwally, A., Farghaly, A., Bruce, J., Tao, L. F., and Bennett, J. L. (1996) Characterization of isolates of *Schistosoma mansoni* fromEgyptian villagers that tolerate high doses of praziquantel. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **55**, 214-218
- 356. Ismail, M., Botros, S., Metwally, A., William, S., Farghally, A., and Tao, L., et al. (1999) Resistance to praziquantel: direct evidence from *Schistosoma mansoni* isolated from Egyptian villagers. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygine* **60**, 932-935
- 357. Wilson, R. A., and Coulson, P. S. (2006) Schistosome vaccines: a critical appraisal. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz* **101**, 13-20
- 358. McManus, D. P., and Loukas, A. (2008) Current status of vaccines for schistosomiasis. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **21**, 225-242
- 359. Nyame, K. A., Kawar, Z. S., and Cummings, R. D. (2004) Antigenic glycans in parasitic infections: implications for vaccines and diagnostics. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **426**, 182-200
- 360. Nyame, K. A., Leppanen, A. M., Bogitsh, B. J., and Cummings, R. D. (2000) Antibody Response to the Fucosylated LacdiNAc Glycan Antigen in *Schistosoma mansoni*-infected Mice and Expression of the Glycan among Schistosomes. *Experimental parasitology* **96**, 202-212
- 361. Harn, D. A., McDonald, J., Atochina, O., and Da'dara, A. A. (2009) Modulation of host immune responses by helminth glycans. *Immunological reviews* **230**, 247-257
- 362. Varki, A. (1993) Biological roles of oligosaccharides: all of the theories are correct. *Glycobiology* **3**, 97-130
- 363. Varki, A., Richard D Cummings, Jeffrey D Esko, Hudson H Freeze, Pamela Stanley, Carolyn R Bertozzi, Gerald W Hart, and Etzler, M. E. (eds). (2009) *Essentials of Glycobiology*, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor (NY)
- 364. Gabius, H.-J. (2006) Cell surface glycans: the why and how of their functionality as biochemical signals in lectin-mediated information transfer. *Critical Reviews™ in Immunology* **26**

- McEver, R. P., and Cummings, R. D. (1997) Perspectives series: cell adhesion in vascular biology. Role of PSGL-1 binding to selectins in leukocyte recruitment. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 100, 485
- 366. Lewis, F. (2001) Schistosomiasis. Curr Protoc Immunol Chapter 19, Unit 19 11
- 367. Nyame, K. A., Pilcher, J. B., Tsang, V. C. W., and Cummings, R. D. (1997) Rodents Infected with *Schistosoma mansoni* Produce Cytolytic IgG and IgM Antibodies to the Lewis x Antigen. *Glycobiology* 7, 207-215
- 368. Nyame, K. A., Leppanen, A. M., DeBose-Boyd, R., and Cummings, R. D. (1999) Mice infected with *Schistosoma mansoni* generate antibodies to LacdiNAc (GalNAcβ1- 4 GlcNAc) determinants. *Glycobiology* 9, 1029-1035
- 369. Akhiani, A. A., Nilsson, L. A., and Ouchterlony, O. (1997) Immunological cross reactivity between *Schistosoma mansoni* and cholera toxin. *Parasite Immunology* **19**, 355-361
- 370. Akhiani, A. A., Deelder, A. M., Mansson, J. E., and Nilsson, L. A. (2007) Interaction of Cholera Toxin with Three Life-cycle Stages of *Schistosoma mansoni:* Adult Worm, Egg and Cercaria. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* **65**, 48-53
- 371. van Remoortere, A., Bank, C. M., Nyame, A. K., Cummings, R. D., Deelder, A. M., and van Die, I. (2003) Schistosoma mansoni-infected mice produce antibodies that cross-react with plant, insect, and mammalian glycoproteins and recognize the truncated biantennaryN-glycan Man3GlcNAc2-R. *Glycobiology* **13**, 217-225
- 372. Grzych, J.-M., Dissous, C., Capron, Monique, Torres, S., Lambert, P.-H., and Capron, A. (1987) *Schistosoma mansoni* shares a protective carbohydrate epitope with keyhole limpet hemocyanin. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 165, 865-878
- 373. Kurokawa, T., Wuhrer, M., Lochnit, G., Geyer, H., Markel, J., and Geyer, R. (2002) Hemocyanin from the keyhole limpet Megathura crenulata (KLH) carries a novel type of N-glycans with Gal(beta1-6)Man-motifs. *Eur. J. Biochem* 269, 5459-5473
- 374. Prime, S., Dearnley, J., Ventom, A. M., Parekh, R. B., and Edge, C. J. (1996) Oligosaccharide sequencing based on exo- and endoglycosidase digestion and liquid chromatographic analysis of the products. *Journal of Chromatography A* **720**, 263-274
- 375. Brockhausen, I. (1999) Pathways of O-glycan biosynthesis in cancer cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects* **1473**, 67-95
- 376. Piller, V., Piller, F., and CARTRON, J. P. (1990) Comparison of the carbohydrate-binding specificities of seven N-acetyl-D-galactosamine-recognizing lectins. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 191, 461-466
- 377. Hamilton, J. V., Chiodini, P. L., Fallon, P. G., and Doenhoff, M. J. (1999) Periodatesensitive immunological cross-reactivity between keyhole limpet haemocyanin (KLH) and serodiagnostic *Schistosoma mansoni* egg antigens. *Parasitology* **118**, 83±89
- 378. Wuhrer, M., Dennis, R. D., Doenhoff, M. J., and Geyer, R. (2000) A fucose-containing epitope is shared by keyhole limpet haemocyanin and *Schistosoma mansoni* glycosphingolipids. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology* **110**, 237-246
- 379. Alves-Brito, C. F., Simpson, A. J., and Bahia-Oliveira, L. M. (1992) Analysis of antikeyhole limpet haemocyanin antibody in Brazilians supports its use for the diagnosis of acute *Schistosomiasis mansoni*. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **86**, 53-56

- 380. Mansour, M. M., Ali, P. O., Farid, Z., Simpson, A. J., and Woody, J. W. (1989) Serological differentiation of acute and chronic *schistosomiasis mansoni* by antibody responses to keyhole limpet hemocyanin. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **41**, 338-344
- 381. Yuesheng, L. I., Rabello, A. L. T., Simpson, A. J. G., and Katz, N. (1994) The serological differentiation of acute and chronic *Schistosoma japonicum* infection by ELBA using keyhole limpet haemocyanin as antigen. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* **88**, 249-251
- 382. Thors, C., and Linder, E. (1998) Cross reacting antibodies against keyhole limpet haemocyanin may interfere with the diagnostics of acute schistosomiasis. *Parasite Immunol* **20**, 489-496
- 383. Linder, E., Thors, C., Lundin, L., Ljungström, I., Farah, S., Hagi, H., and Dias, F. (1992) Schistosome antigen gp50 is responsible for serological cross-reactivity with *Trichinella spiralis. Journal of Parasitology* **78**, 999-1005
- 384. Lehr, T., Frank, S., Natsuka, S., Geyer, H., Beuerlein, K., Doenhoff, M. J., Hase, S., and Geyer, R. (2010) N-Glycosylation patterns of hemolymph glycoproteins from Biomphalaria glabrata strains expressing different susceptibility to Schistosoma mansoni infection. *Experimental parasitology* **126**, 592-602
- 385. Steinmann, P., Keiser, J., Bos, R., Tanner, M., and Utzinger, J. (2006) Schistosomiasis and water resources development: systematic review, meta-analysis, and estimates of people at risk. *Lancet Infect Dis* **6**, 411-425
- 386. Bergquist, R. (2008) A century of schistosomiasis research. Acta Trop 108, 65-68
- Richter, D., Incani, R. N., and Harn, D. A. (1996) Lacto-N-fucopentaose III (Lewis x), a target of the antibody response in mice vaccinated with irradiated cercariae of Schistosoma mansoni. *Infect Immun* 64, 1826-1831
- 388. Wuhrer, M., Dennis, R. D., Doenhoff, M. J., and Geyer, R. (2000) A fucose-containing epitope is shared by keyhole limpet haemocyanin and Schistosoma mansoni glycosphingolipids. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **110**, 237-246
- 389. McWilliam, H. E., Driguez, P., Piedrafita, D., Maupin, K. A., Haab, B. B., McManus, D. P., and Meeusen, E. N. (2013) The developing schistosome worms elicit distinct immune responses in different tissue regions. *Immunol Cell Biol* **91**, 477-485
- 390. Mandalasi, M., Dorabawila, N., Smith, D. F., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., Cummings, R. D., and Nyame, A. K. (2013) Development and characterization of a specific IgG monoclonal antibody toward the Lewis x antigen using splenocytes of Schistosoma mansoni-infected mice. *Glycobiology* 23, 877-892
- 391. Ramajo-Hernandez, A., Oleaga, A., Ramajo-Martin, V., and Perez-Sanchez, R. (2007) Carbohydrate profiling and protein identification of tegumental and excreted/secreted glycoproteins of adult Schistosoma bovis worms. *Vet Parasitol* **144**, 45-60
- 392. Smit, C. H., van Diepen, A., Nguyen, D. L., Wuhrer, M., Hoffmann, K. F., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2015) Glycomic Analysis of Life Stages of the Human Parasite Schistosoma mansoni Reveals Developmental Expression Profiles of Functional and Antigenic Glycan Motifs. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 14, 1750-1769
- 393. van Remoortere A, H. C., van Dam GJ, van Die I, Deelder AM, van den Eijnden DH. (2000) Various stages of schistosoma express Lewis(x), LacdiNAc, GalNAcbeta1-4

(Fucalpha1-3)GlcNAc and GalNAcbeta1-4(Fucalpha1-2Fucalpha1-3)GlcNAc carbohydrate epitopes: detection with monoclonal antibodies that are characterized by enzymatically synthesized neoglycoproteins. *Glycobiology* **10**, 601-609

- 394. Yu, Y., Lasanajak, Y., Song, X., Hu, L., Ramani, S., Mickum, M. L., Ashline, D. J., Prasad, B. V., Estes, M. K., Reinhold, V. N., Cummings, R. D., and Smith, D. F. (2014) Human milk contains novel glycans that are potential decoy receptors for neonatal rotaviruses. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 13, 2944-2960
- 395. Faye, L., Gomord, V., Fitchette-Laine, A. C., and Chrispeels, M. J. (1993) Affinity Purification of Antibodies Specific for Asn-Linked Glycans Containing alpha 1-3 Fucose or beta 1-2 Xylose. *Analytical Biochemisty* 209, 104-108
- 396. Fitchette-Laine, A. C., Denmat, L. A., Lerouge, P., and Faye, L. (1988) Analysis of N-and O-glycosylation of plant proteins. *Methods in Biotechnology* **3**, 271-290
- 397. Ward, R. D., Lewis, F. A., Yoshino, T. P., and Dunn, T. S. (1988) Schistosoma mansoni: relationship between cercarial production levels and snail host susceptibility. *Experimental parasitology* **66**, 78-85
- 398. Folch, J., Lees, M., and Sloane-Stanley, G. (1957) A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. *J biol chem* **226**, 497-509
- 399. Tucker, M. S., Karunaratne, L. B., Lewis, F. A., Freitas, T. C., and Liang, Y. S. (2013) Schistosomiasis. *Curr Protoc Immunol* **103**, Unit 19 11
- 400. Tretter, V., Altmann, F., and Marz, L. (1991) Peptide-N4-(N-acetyl-betaglucosaminyl)asparagine amidase F cannot release glycans with fucose attached alpha 1----3 to the asparagine-linked N-acetylglucosamine residue. *Eur J Biochem* **199**, 647-652
- 401. Yamashita, K., Kochibe, N., Ohkura, T., Ueda, I., and Kobata, A. (1985) Fractionation of L-fucose-containing oligosaccharides on immobilized Aleuria aurantia lectin. *J Biol Chem* **260**, 4688-4693
- 402. Baenziger, J. U., and Fiete, D. (1979) Structural determinants of concanavalin A specificity for oligosaccharides. *J Biol Chem* **254**, 2400-2407
- 403. Kornfeld, R., and Ferris, C. (1975) Interaction of immunoglobulin glycopeptides with concanavalin A. *J Biol Chem* **250**, 2614-2619
- 404. Cummings, R. D., and Etzler, M. E. (2009) Antibodies and Lectins in Glycan Analysis. in *Essentials of Glycobiology, 2nd Edition* (Varki, C., et al ed.), 2010/03/20 Ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor (NY). pp
- 405. Burger, M. M. (1969) A difference in the architecture of the surface membrane of normal and virally transformed cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **62**, 994-1001
- 406. Nagata, Y., and Burger, M. M. (1972) Wheat germ agglutinin. Isolation and crystallization. *J Biol Chem* **247**, 2248-2250
- 407. Wu, A. M. (1984) Differential binding characteristics and applications of DGal beta 1----3DGalNAc specific lectins. *Mol Cell Biochem* **61**, 131-141

- 408. Narasimhan, S., Freed, J. C., and Schachter, H. (1986) The effect of a "bisecting" Nacetylglucosaminyl group on the binding of biantennary, complex oligosaccharides to concanavalin A, Phaseolus vulgaris erythroagglutinin (E-PHA), and Ricinus communis agglutinin (RCA-120) immobilized on agarose. *Carbohydr Res* **149**, 65-83
- 409. Goldstein, I. J., and Hayes, C. E. (1978) The lectins: carbohydrate-binding proteins of plants and animals. *Adv Carbohydr Chem Biochem* **35**, 127-340
- 410. Baker, D. A., Sugii, S., Kabat, E. A., Ratcliffe, R. M., Hermentin, P., and Lemieux, R. U. (1983) Immunochemical studies on the combining sites of Forssman hapten reactive hemagglutinins from Dolichos biflorus, Helix pomatia, and Wistaria floribunda. *Biochemistry* **22**, 2741-2750
- 411. Torres, B. V., McCrumb, D. K., and Smith, D. F. (1988) Glycolipid-lectin interactions: reactivity of lectins from Helix pomatia, Wisteria floribunda, and Dolichos biflorus with glycolipids containing N-acetylgalactosamine. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **262**, 1-11
- 412. Dorabawila, N., Mickum, M. L., Mandalasi, M., J., R., Ezeabikwa, B., Wells, L., Smith, D. S., Cummings, R. D., and Nyame, A. K. (2015) IgG monoclonal antibody F2D2 that binds the difucosylated FLDNF glycan epitope *Manuscript in preperation*
- 413. van Die, I., van Stijn, C. M. W., Geyer, H., and Geyer, R. (2010) Structural and Functional Analysis of Glycosphingolipids of Schistosoma mansoni. **480**, 117-140
- 414. Khoo, K. H., and Dell, A. (2001) Glycoconjugates from parasitic helminths: structure diversity and immunobiological implications. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **491**, 185-205
- 415. Dunne, D. W. (1990) Schistosome carbohydrates. Parasitol Today 6, 45-48
- 416. Hiemstra, I. H., Klaver, E. J., Vrijland, K., Kringel, H., Andreasen, A., Bouma, G., Kraal, G., van Die, I., and den Haan, J. M. (2014) Excreted/secreted Trichuris suis products reduce barrier function and suppress inflammatory cytokine production of intestinal epithelial cells. *Mol Immunol* **60**, 1-7
- 417. Klaver, E. J., van der Pouw Kraan, T. C., Laan, L. C., Kringel, H., Cummings, R. D., Bouma, G., Kraal, G., and van Die, I. (2015) Trichuris suis soluble products induce Rab7b expression and limit TLR4 responses in human dendritic cells. *Genes Immun*
- 418. Klaver, E. J., Kuijk, L. M., Lindhorst, T. K., Cummings, R. D., and van Die, I. (2015) Schistosoma mansoni Soluble Egg Antigens Induce Expression of the Negative Regulators SOCS1 and SHP1 in Human Dendritic Cells via Interaction with the Mannose Receptor. *PLoS One* **10**, e0124089
- 419. Cheever, A. W., and Powers, K. G. (1969) Schistosoma mansoni infection in rhesus monkeys: changes in egg production and egg distribution in prolonged infections in intact and splenectomized monkeys. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **63**, 83-93
- 420. McMullen, D. B., Ritchie, L. S., Oliver-Gonzalez, J., and Knight, W. B. (1967) Schistosoma mansoni in Macaca mulatta. Long-term studies on the course of primary and challenge infections. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **16**, 620-627
- 421. Mickum, M. L., Rojsajjakul, T., Yu, Y., and Cummings, R. D. (2015) Schistosoma mansoni α1, 3-fucosyltransferase-F generates the Lewis X antigen. *Glycobiology*, cwv103
- 422. Daumerie, D., Savioli, L., Crompton, D. W. T., and Peters, P. (2010) *Working to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases: first WHO report on neglected tropical diseases*, World Health Organization

- 423. Ma, B., Simala-Grant, J. L., and Taylor, D. E. (2006) Fucosylation in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. *Glycobiology* **16**
- 424. Smit, C. H., van Diepen, A., Nguyen, D. L., Wuhrer, M., Hoffmann, K. F., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2015) Glycomic analysis of life stages of the human parasite Schistosoma mansoni reveals developmental expression profiles of functional and antigenic glycan motifs. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, mcp. M115. 048280
- 425. Naus, C. W., van Remoortere, A., Ouma, J. H., Kimani, G., Dunne, D. W., Kamerling, J. P., Deelder, A. M., and Hokke, C. H. (2003) Specific antibody responses to three schistosome-related carbohydrate structures in recently exposed immigrants and established residents in an area of Schistosoma mansoni endemicity. *Infection and immunity* **71**, 5676-5681
- 426. van Diepen, A., Smit, C. H., van Egmond, L., Kabatereine, N. B., de Moira, A. P., Dunne, D. W., and Hokke, C. H. (2012) Differential anti-glycan antibody responses in Schistosoma mansoni-infected children and adults studied by shotgun glycan microarray.
- 427. Robijn, M. L., Wuhrer, M., Kornelis, D., Deelder, A. M., Geyer, R., and Hokke, C. H. (2005) Mapping fucosylated epitopes on glycoproteins and glycolipids of Schistosoma mansoni cercariae, adult worms and eggs. *Parasitology* **130**, 67-77
- 428. Song, X., Xia, B., Stowell, S. R., Lasanajak, Y., Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. D. (2009) Novel Fluorescent Glycan Microarray Strategy Reveals Ligands for Galectins. *Chemistry and Biology* **16**, 36-47
- 429. Zhang, F., Moniz, H. a., Walcott, B., Moremen, K. W., Linhardt, R. J., and Wang, L. (2013) Characterization of the interaction between Robo1 and heparin and other glycosaminoglycans. *Biochimie* **95**, 2345-2353
- 430. Barb, A. W., Meng, L., Gao, Z., Johnson, R. W., Moremen, K., Prestegard, J. H., and James, H. (2012) NMR characterization of Immunoglobulin G Fc glycan motion on enzymatic sialylation. *Biochemistry* **51**, 4618-4626
- 431. Vandersall-nairn, A. S., Merkle, R. K., Brien, O., Oeltmann, T. N., and Moremen, K. W. (1998) Cloning, expression, purification, and characterization of the acid α -mannosidase from Trypanosoma cruzi. *Glycobiology* 8, 1183-1194
- 432. Beckett, D., Kovaleva, E., and Schatz, P. J. (1999) A minimal peptide substrate in biotin holoenzyme synthetase-catalyzed biotinylation. *Protein science : a publication of the Protein Society* **8**, 921-929
- 433. Pédelacq, J.-D., Cabantous, S., Tran, T., Terwilliger, T. C., and Waldo, G. S. (2006) Engineering and characterization of a superfolder green fluorescent protein. *Nature biotechnology* **24**, 79-88
- 434. Smith, D. F., and Cummings, R. D. (2013) Application of microarrays for deciphering the structure and function of the human glycome. *Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP* **12**, 902-912
- 435. Ashline, D. J., Yu, Y., Lasanajak, Y., Song, X., Hu, L., Ramani, S., Prasad, V., Estes, M. K., Cummings, R. D., Smith, D. F., and Reinhold, V. N. (2014) Structural Characterization by Multistage Mass Spectrometry (MSn) of Human Milk Glycans Recognized by Human Rotaviruses. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics* 13, 2961-2974

- 436. Anumula, K. R., and Taylor, P. B. (1992) A comprehensive procedure for preparation of partially methylated alditol acetates from glycoprotein carbohydrates. *Analytical Biochemistry* **203**, 101-108
- 437. Song, X., Ju, H., Zhao, C., and Lasanajak, Y. (2014) Novel Strategy to Release and Tag N-Glycans for Functional Glycomics. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* **25**, 1881-1887
- 438. Lewis, F. (1988) Schistosomiasis. Current Protocols in Immunology, 19.11.11–19.11.28
- 439. Baboval, T., and Smith, F. I. (2002) Comparison of human and mouse Fuc-TX and Fuc-TXI genes, and expression studies in the mouse. *Mammalian genome* **13**, 538-541
- 440. Mollicone, R., Moore, S. E., Bovin, N., Garcia-Rosasco, M., Candelier, J.-J., Martinez-Duncker, I., and Oriol, R. (2009) Activity, splice variants, conserved peptide motifs, and phylogeny of two new α1, 3-fucosyltransferase families (FUT10 and FUT11). *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284, 4723-4738
- 441. Oriol, R., Mollicone, R., Cailleau, A., Balanzino, L., and Breton, C. (1999) Divergent evolution of fucosyltransferase genes from vertebrates, invertebrates, and bacteria. *Glycobiology* **9**, 323-334
- 442. Boeggeman, E., and Qasba, P. K. (2002) Studies on the metal binding sites in the catalytic domain of β 1, 4-galactosyltransferase. *Glycobiology* **12**, 395-407
- 443. Ünligil, U. M., and Rini, J. M. (2000) Glycosyltransferase structure and mechanism. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology* **10**, 510-517
- 444. Dupuy, F., Germot, A., Julien, R., and Maftah, A. (2004) Structure/functional study of Lewis  $\alpha$ 3- and  $\alpha$  3/4-fucosyltransferases: The  $\alpha$ 1,4 fucosylation requires and aromatic residue in the acceptor-binding domain. *Glycobiology* **14**, 347-356
- 445. Dupuy, F., Petit, J.-m., Mollicone, R., Oriol, R., Julien, R., and Maftah, A. (1999) A Single Amino Acid in the Hypervariable Stem Domain of Vertebrate alpha. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **274**, 12257-12262
- 446. van den Eijnden, D., Bakker, H., Neeleman, A., van den Nieuwenhof, I., and van Die, I. (1997) Novel pathways in complex-type oligosaccharide synthesis: new vistas opened by studies in invertebrates. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **25**, 887-893
- 447. Yoshino, T. P., Wu, X.-J., Gonzalez, L. A., and Hokke, C. H. (2013) Circulating Biomphalaria glabrata hemocyte subpopulations possess shared schistosome glycans and receptors capable of binding larval glycoconjugates. *Experimental parasitology* **133**, 28-36
- 448. Marques Jr, E. T., Ichikawa, Y., Strand, M., August, J. T., Hart, G. W., and Schnaar, R. L. (2001) Fucosyltransferases in Schistosoma mansoni development. *Glycobiology* 11, 249-259
- 449. Hokke, C. H., Neeleman, a. P., Koeleman, C. a., and van den Eijnden, D. H. (1998) Identification of an alpha3-fucosyltransferase and a novel alpha2-fucosyltransferase activity in cercariae of the schistosome Trichobilharzia ocellata: biosynthesis of the Fucalpha1-2Fucalpha1-3[Gal(NAc)beta1-4]GlcNAc sequence. *Glycobiology* **8**, 393-406
- 450. Ceroni, A., Maass, K., Geyer, H., Geyer, R., Dell, A., and Haslam, S. M. (2008) GlycoWorkbench: A tool for the computer-assisted annotation of mass spectra of glycans. *Journal of Proteome Research* **7**, 1650-1659

- 451. Domon, B., and Costello, C. E. (1988) A systematic nomenclature for carbohydrate fragmentations in FAB-MS/MS spectra of glycoconjugates. *Glycoconjugate Journal* **5**, 397-409
- 452. Sheeley, D. M., and Reinhold, V. N. (1998) Structural characterization of carbohydrate sequence, linkage, and branching in a quadrupole Ion trap mass spectrometer: neutral oligosaccharides and N-linked glycans. *Analytical chemistry* **70**, 3053-3059
- 453. Harvey, D. J. (2011) Analysis of carbohydrates and glycoconjugates by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry: An update for the period 2005-2006. *Mass Spectrometry Reviews* **30**, 1-100
- 454. Powell, A. K., and Harvey, D. J. (1996) Stabilization of sialic acids in N-linked oligosaccharides and gangliosides for analysis by positive ion matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry. *Rapid communications in mass spectrometry* **10**, 1027-1032
- 455. Nyame, A. K., Pilcher, J. B., Tsang, V. C., and Cummings, R. D. (1997) Rodents infected with Schistosoma mansoni produce cytolytic IgG and IgM antibodies to the Lewis x antigen. *Glycobiology* **7**, 207-215
- 456. Köster, B., and Strand, M. (1994) Schistosoma mansoni: immunolocalization of two different fucose-containing carbohydrate epitopes. *Parasitology* **108**, 433-446
- 457. Goldring, O., Clegg, J., Smithers, S., and Terry, R. (1976) Acquisition of human blood group antigens by Schistosoma mansoni. *Clinical and experimental immunology* **26**, 181
- 458. DeBose-Boyd, R., Nyame, a. K., and Cummings, R. D. (1996) Schistosoma mansoni: characterization of an alpha 1-3 fucosyltransferase in adult parasites. *Experimental parasitology* **82**, 1-10
- 459. Ge, Z., Chan, N. W., Palcic, M. M., and Taylor, D. E. (1997) Cloning and heterologous expression of an alpha1,3-fucosyltransferase gene from the gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **272**, 21357-21363
- 460. Martin, S. L., Edbrooke, M. R., Hodgman, T. C., van den Eijnden, D. H., and Bird, M. I. (1997) Lewis X biosynthesis in Helicobacter pylori. Molecular cloning of an alpha(1,3)-fucosyltransferase gene. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **272**, 21349-21356
- 461. Leon, K. E., Mickum, M. L., and Cummings, R. D. (2015) *Cloning, expression and characterization of a β1,4-GalNAcTransferase from Schistosoma mansoni*College Honors Thesis, Emory University
- 462. Khoo, K.-H., Sarda, S., Xu, X., Caulfield, J. P., McNeil, M. R., Homans, S. W., Morris, H. R., and Dell, A. (1995) A Unique Multifucosylated –3GalNAc14GlcNAc13Gal1- Motif Constitutes the Repeating Unit of the Complex O-Glycans Derived from the Cercarial Glycocalyx of Schistosoma mansoni. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270, 17114-17123
- 463. Prasanphanich, N. S., Mickum, M. L., Heimburg-Molinaro, J., and Cummings, R. D. (2013) Glycoconjugates in host-helminth interactions. *Frontiers in Immunology* **4**
- 464. Van de Vijver, K. K., Deelder, A. M., Jacobs, W., Van Marck, E. A., and Hokke, C. H. (2006) LacdiNAc- and LacNAc-containing glycans induce granulomas in an in vivo model for schistosome egg-induced hepatic granuloma formation. *Glycobiology* 16, 237-243
- 465. van Remoortere, A., van Dam, G. J., Hokke, C. H., van den Eijnden, D. H., van Die, I., and Deelder, A. (2001) Profiles of Immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG Antibodies against

Defined Carbohydrate Epitopes in Sera of Schistosoma-Infected Individuals Determined by Surface Plasmon Resonance. *Infection and Immunity* **69**, 2396-2401

- 466. van Liempt, E., Bank, C. M., Mehta, P., Garcia-Vallejo, J. J., Kawar, Z. S., Geyer, R., Alvarez, R. A., Cummings, R. D., Kooyk, Y., and van Die, I. (2006) Specificity of DC-SIGN for mannose- and fucose-containing glycans. *FEBS Lett* **580**, 6123-6131
- 467. Ikehara, Y., Sato, T., Niwa, T., Nakamura, S., Gotoh, M., Ikehara, S. K., Kiyohara, K., Aoki, C., Iwai, T., Nakanishi, H., Hirabayashi, J., Tatematsu, M., and Narimatsu, H. (2006) Apical Golgi localization of N,N'-diacetyllactosediamine synthase, beta4GalNAc-T3, is responsible for LacdiNAc expression on gastric mucosa. *Glycobiology* **16**, 777-785
- 468. Sato, T., Gotoh, M., Kiyohara, K., Kameyama, A., Kubota, T., Kikuchi, N., Ishizuka, Y., Iwasaki, H., Togayachi, A., Kudo, T., Ohkura, T., Nakanishi, H., and Narimatsu, H. (2003) Molecular Cloning and Characterization of a Novel Human β1,4-N-Acetylgalactosaminyltransferase, β4GalNAc-T3, Responsible for the Synthesis of N,N'-Diacetyllactosediamine, GalNAcβ1–4GlcNAc. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 47534-47544
- 469. Mortazavi, A., Williams, B. A., McCue, K., Schaeffer, L., and Wold, B. (2008) Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. *Nat Methods* **5**, 621-628
- 470. Ramakrishnan, B., and Qasba, P. K. (2002) Structure-based Design of β1,4-Galactosyltransferase I (β4Gal-T1) with Equally EfficientN-Acetylgalactosaminyltransferase Activity: POINT MUTATION BROADENS β4Gal-T1 DONOR SPECIFICITY. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277, 20833-20839
- 471. Roy, A., Kucukural, A., and Zhang, Y. (2010) I-TASSER: a unified platform for automated protein structure and function prediction. *Nature protocols* **5**, 725-738
- 472. Yang, J., Yan, R., Roy, A., Xu, D., Poisson, J., and Zhang, Y. (2015) The I-TASSER Suite: protein structure and function prediction. *Nat Methods* **12**, 7-8
- 473. Zhang, Y. (2008) I-TASSER server for protein 3D structure prediction. *BMC* bioinformatics 9, 40
- 474. Damm, K. L., and Carlson, H. A. (2006) Gaussian-weighted RMSD superposition of proteins: a structural comparison for flexible proteins and predicted protein structures. *Biophysical journal* **90**, 4558-4573
- 475. Kirchmair, J., Markt, P., Distinto, S., Wolber, G., and Langer, T. (2008) Evaluation of the performance of 3D virtual screening protocols: RMSD comparisons, enrichment assessments, and decoy selection—What can we learn from earlier mistakes? *Journal of computer-aided molecular design* **22**, 213-228
- 476. Li, S.-C., and Li, Y.-T. (1970) Studies on the glycosidases of jack bean meal III. Crystallization and properties of  $\beta$ -N-acetylhexosaminidase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **245**, 5153-5160
- 477. Li, Y.-T., and Li, S.-C. (1972) α-Mannosidase, β-N-acetylhexosaminidase, and βgalactosidase from jack bean meal. *Methods in enzymology* **28**, 702-713
- 478. Yamashita, K., Ohkura, T., Yoshima, H., and Kobata, A. (1981) Substrate specificity of Diplococcal β-N-acetylhexosaminidase, a useful enzyme for the structural studies of complex type asparagine-linked sugar chains. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 100, 226-232

- 479. Gotoh, M., Sato, T., Kiyohara, K., Kameyama, A., Kikuchi, N., Kwon, Y.-D., Ishizuka, Y., Iwai, T., Nakanishi, H., and Narimatsu, H. (2004) Molecular cloning and characterization of β1, 4-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases IV synthesizing N, N'-diacetyllactosediamine1. *FEBS letters* 562, 134-140
- 480. Elhammer, Å. P., Kézdy, F. J., and Kurosaka, A. (1999) The acceptor specificity of UDP-GaINAc: polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases. in *Glycotechnology*, Springer. pp 91-100
- 481. Ten Hagen, K. G., Fritz, T. A., and Tabak, L. A. (2003) All in the family: the UDP-GalNAc: polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases. *Glycobiology* **13**, 1R-16R
- 482. Schwientek, T., Bennett, E. P., Flores, C., Thacker, J., Hollmann, M., Reis, C. A., Behrens, J., Mandel, U., Keck, B., and Schäfer, M. A. (2002) Functional Conservation of Subfamilies of Putative UDP-N-acetylgalactosamine: Polypeptide N-Acetylgalactosaminyltransferases inDrosophila, Caenorhabditis elegans, and Mammals ONE SUBFAMILY COMPOSED OF 1 (2) 35Aa IS ESSENTIAL INDROSOPHILA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 22623-22638
- 483. Marth, J. D. (1996) Complexity in O-linked oligosaccharide biosynthesis engendered by multiple polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases. *Glycobiology* **6**, 701-705
- 484. Prasanphanich, N. S. (2015) Understanding the Immune Response to Glycans of Schistosoma mansoni, Emory University
- 485. Mesquita, L., Silva, P., Pereira, U., Peconick, A., and Barçante, J. (2011) Historical Development and New Perspectives of Vaccines against Bacteria and Parasites–Review. *J Bacteriol Parasitol S6-001. doi* 10, 2155-9597
- 486. Zepp, F. (2010) Principles of vaccine design—lessons from nature. Vaccine 28, C14-C24
- 487. Calarese, D. A., Scanlan, C. N., Zwick, M. B., Deechongkit, S., Mimura, Y., Kunert, R., Zhu, P., Wormald, M. R., Stanfield, R. L., and Roux, K. H. (2003) Antibody domain exchange is an immunological solution to carbohydrate cluster recognition. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **300**, 2065-2071
- 488. Butler, J. C., Breiman, R. F., Lipman, H. B., Hofmann, J., and Facklam, R. R. (1995) Serotype distribution of Streptococcus pneumoniae infections among preschool children in the United States, 1978–1994: implications for development of a conjugate vaccine. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **171**, 885-889
- 489. Pollard, A. J., Perrett, K. P., and Beverley, P. C. (2009) Maintaining protection against invasive bacteria with protein–polysaccharide conjugate vaccines. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 9, 213-220